
 
Please contact Cherry Foreman on 01270 686463 
E-Mail: cherry.foreman@cheshireeast.gov.uk with any apologies or requests for 

further information or to give notice of a question to be asked by a member 
of the public  

 

Cabinet 
 

Agenda 
 

Date: Monday, 5th March, 2012 
Time: 2.00 pm 
Venue: Committee Suite 1,2 & 3, Westfields, Middlewich Road, 

Sandbach CW11 1HZ 
 
The agenda is divided into 2 parts. Part 1 is taken in the presence of the public and press. Part 
2 items will be considered in the absence of the public and press for the reasons indicated on 
the agenda and at the foot of each report. 
 
PART 1 – MATTERS TO BE CONSIDERED WITH THE PUBLIC AND PRESS PRESENT 
 
1. Apologies for Absence   
 
2. Declarations of Interest   
 
 To provide an opportunity for Members and Officers to declare any personal and/or 

prejudicial interests in any item on the agenda. 
 

3. Public Speaking Time/Open Session   
 
 In accordance with Procedure Rules Nos.11 and 35 a total period of 10 minutes is 

allocated for members of the public to address the Committee on any matter relevant 
to the work of the Committee. 
  
Individual members of the public may speak for up to 5 minutes but the Chairman will 
decide how the period of time allocated for public speaking will be apportioned where 
there are a number of speakers. 
  
In order for an informed answer to be given, where a member of the public wishes to 
ask a question of a Cabinet Member three clear working days notice must be given 
and the question must be submitted in writing at the time of notification.  It is not 
required to give notice of the intention to make use of public speaking provision but, 
as a matter of courtesy, a period of 24 hours notice is encouraged. 
 
 

Public Document Pack



4. Minutes of Previous meeting  (Pages 1 - 8) 
 
 To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 6 February 2012. 

 
5. Key Dec 33 Improvements to Adults Social Care Services  (Pages 9 - 202) 
 
 To consider the results of the public consultation on proposed changes, and the 

proposals in the Business Case.   
 
(A copy of the full petition is available on request and will be available at the meeting). 
 

6. Key Dec 36 Superfast Broadband Initiative  (Pages 203 - 262) 
 
 To receive an update on the implementation of the Cheshire and Warrington Local 

Broadband Plan and to consider the investment needed, and the programme of, the 
wider Connecting Cheshire Partnership with Cheshire West and Chester, Warrington 
and Halton Councils. 
 

7. Key Dec 38 Review of Local Development Scheme and Timetable  (Pages 263 - 
274) 

 
 To consider a revised programme for preparing the draft Local Plan for inclusion in 

the Local Development Scheme for 2012-14. 
 

8. Annual Audit Letter 2010/11  (Pages 275 - 292) 
 
 To receive and comment on the Annual Audit Letter for 2010-11. 

 
9. Exclusion of the Press and Public   
 
 The reports relating to the remaining items on the agenda have been withheld from 

public circulation and deposit pursuant to Section 100(B)(2) of the Local Government 
Act 1972 on the grounds that the matters may be determined with the press and 
public excluded.  
  
The Committee may decide that the press and public be excluded from the meeting 
during consideration of the following items pursuant to Section 100(A)4 of the Local 
Government Act 1972 on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in Paragraphs 1, 2 or 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local 
Government Act 1972 and public interest would not be served in publishing the 
information. 
 
 
PART 2 – MATTERS TO BE CONSIDERED WITHOUT THE PUBLIC AND PRESS 
PRESENT 
 
 

10. Key Dec 32 Pyms Lane/Minshull New Road, Crewe - Sale of Land  (Pages 293 - 
304) 

 
 To consider a report of the Strategic Director Places and Organisational Capacity. 

 
11. Key Dec 35 Options for Waste Treatment PFI Project  (Pages 305 - 378) 
 
 To consider a report of the Strategic Director Places and Organisational Capacity. 

 



12. Procurement of Transfer Station Capacity in the North  (Pages 379 - 388) 
 
 To consider a report of the Strategic Director Places and Organisational Capacity 

(Key Decision not on Forward Plan). 
 
In accordance with Access to Information Procedure Rule 14 Members are asked to 
note that this matter has not been included in the Forward Plan of Key Decisions to 
be taken between 1 March 2012 and 30 June 2012. Prompt action is, however, 
required in order to meet the planned implementation date and it would be 
impracticable to defer the decision until it could be included in the next Forward Plan.  
The Chairman of the Environment and Prosperity Scrutiny Committee has been 
notified and public notice given.) 
 

13. Workforce Change  (Pages 389 - 394) 
 
 To consider a report of the Head of Human Resources and Organisational 

Development.   
 



This page is intentionally left blank



CHESHIRE EAST COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the Cabinet  
held on Monday, 6th February, 2012 at Council Chamber, Municipal 

Buildings, Earle Street, Crewe CW1 2BJ 
 

PRESENT 
Councillor W Fitzgerald (Chairman) 
Councillor R Domleo (Vice-Chairman) 
 
Councillors Rachel Bailey, D Brown, J Clowes, H Gaddum, J Macrae, 
P Mason, R Menlove and M Jones. 
 
Councillors in attendance: 
Rhoda Bailey, G Baxendale, D Brickhill, L Brown, S Corcoran, K Edwards,  
P Findlow, D Flude,  S Gardiner, S Hogben, P Groves, P Hoyland, O Hunter, 
F Keegan, A Kolker, B Murphy, P Nurse, P Raynes, A Thwaite, J Weatherill 
and S Wilkinson.   
 
Officers in attendance: 
Chief  Executive; Borough Solicitor; Director of Finance and Business 
Services; Head of Development; Head of Human Resources and 
Organisational Development; Head of Performance, Customer Services and 
Capacity; and Strategic Director Children, Families and Adults. 
 
104 ADJOURNMENT OF MEETING  

 
The Chairman announced that a number of Councillors were attending the 
funeral of Margaret Moran, wife of Councillor Arthur Moran, which was 
taking place at 1.30 pm.  It was, therefore, proposed to open the meeting 
and to carry out the first four items of business after which there would be 
a short adjournment until 3.00pm in order to allow them time to get to the 
meeting.   

105 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Rachel Bailey, who 
was attending the funeral of the wife of Councillor Arthur Moran, and would 
be arriving in time for the resumed session of the meeting at 3.00 pm. 
 

106 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
Business Planning Process 2012-15 Business Plan 
During discussion of this item Councillor D Flude declared a personal 
interest by virtue of being Chairman of the Board of Governors of Pebble 
Brook, a Governor at Westminster Nursery, and a member of the Schools 
Forum. 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 4Page 1



107 PUBLIC SPEAKING TIME/OPEN SESSION  
 
John Hibbert, Chairman of the Board of Governors of Warmingham CE 
Primary School, spoke in respect of Home to School Transport and the 
impact of abolishing the existing subsidy on the future of small rural 
schools, on the wider rural community, on parents and on the limitation of 
choice in their children’s education.  
 
Keiran Kelly, Headteacher of St Nicholas Catholic High School, spoke in 
support of the minority report and in particular the need to consider the 
geographic location of many of the faith schools which necessitated the 
provision of transport. 
 
Edward McHugh, Headteacher of St Thomas More Catholic School, spoke 
in support of the minority report and on the savings that could be made in 
alternative ways to those proposed in the main Task and Finish Group 
report. 
 
John McCann, Assistant Director of Schools for the Diocese of 
Shrewsbury, spoke in support of the minority report, and in particular the 
savings and integrated transport system that could be delivered whilst 
supporting learners, parental choice and access to denominational 
education with minimal disruption to admissions and educational planning. 
 
In addition Councillor Sam Corcoran spoke at this stage of the meeting as 
he was unable to stay until the item was considered due to the 
adjournment; his comments had also been circulated to the Cabinet prior 
to the meeting along with submissions on behalf of St Mary’s Crewe, and 
the Chester Diocesan Board of Education.   
 
The Chairman thanked everybody for their representations which would be 
taken into account when officers considered the recommendations 
contained in the report of the scrutiny committee task and finish group, and 
in the minority report.   
 
Charlotte Peters Rock, on behalf of Knutsford Area for Knutsford Action, 
raised a number of questions concerning Adult Health and Social Care 
mentioning in particular the Durrow Report and the premises at Bexton 
Road, Knutsford; in accordance with her request these questions are 
appended in full to the minutes of this meeting. 
 
 
 

108 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING  
 
RESOLVED 
 
That the minutes of the meeting held on 6 February 2012 be approved as 
a correct record. 
 

Page 2



 
At this stage the meeting adjourned from 2.25 pm – 3.00pm. 

 
 

109 KEY DEC 31 CREWE RAIL EXCHANGE PROJECT FUNDING  
 
Consideration was given to the project plan for the first phase of the 
Council’s ambitions for Crewe Station.  The report highlighted the success 
in securing Station Commercial Project Facility Tranche 2 funding, detailed 
the progress to date and sought a number of approvals necessary for the 
successful delivery of the initiative which was a key driver in the “All 
Change for Crewe” programme.  
 
RESOLVED 
 

1. That approval be given to the Crewe Rail Exchange Project shown 
on Plan 1 as a first phase of the Council’s ambitions for Crewe 
Station. 

 
2. That approval be given to the project shown on Plan 1 based on the 

milestones in section 10.4 of the report, and funding profile in 
section 7.4 of the report, including the financial implications of 
accepting the grant funding and procuring a contractor to deliver 
the works. 

 
3. That approval be given to enter into a 99 year lease at a 

peppercorn rent and nil premium with Network Rail for the Council 
land shown on Plans 2 and 3 and described in section 10.5 of the 
report, which will entitle Network Rail to under let this Council land 
so as to include it in the West Coast Main Line franchising process 
upon completion of the Crewe Rail Exchange Project. 

 
4. That approval be given for the Council to negotiate and enter into 

the necessary legal agreements with Network Rail, in particular the 
design phase Basic Asset Protection Agreement and the 
implementation phase Asset Protection Agreement and to make the 
necessary highway orders to ensure the delivery of the project. 

 
5. That the Strategic Director Places and Organisational Capacity and 

Deputy Chief Executive be given the delegated authority to make 
necessary decisions on approved matters to enable the delivery of 
the project 

 
110 KEY DEC 4 BUSINESS PLANNING PROCESS 2012-2015 

BUSINESS PLAN  
 
During discussion of this item Councillor D Flude declared a personal 
interest. 
 

Page 3



Consideration was given to the report of the Director of Finance and 
Business Services on the Business Plan for 2012/15 which had been 
produced following engagement on the draft Business Plan issued in 
January.  The two main elements of the plan were the Council’s priorities 
and the budget.  The document set out in detail the spending plans and 
income targets for the financial year from 1 April 2012 as well as estimates 
for the following two financial years.   
 
It was noted that the Governments final formula grant allocations for 
2012/13 had not yet been formally confirmed and the Business Plan was 
based on the provisional settlement issued on 8 December 2011.  In 
addition consultation on funding in relation to Academies still needed to be 
fed into the final settlement.  Any changes would however be notified to 
the Council at its meeting on 23 February 2012. 
 
Each Portfolio Holder presented the key points of the budget for the area 
within their purview and answered questions from visiting members on 
specific points.  
 
RESOLVED 
 

1. That the results of the Budget Engagement exercise undertaken by 
the Council (Appendix A of the report) be noted. 

 
2. That the comments of the Director of Finance and Business 

Services (Chief Finance Officer), regarding the robustness of 
estimates and level of reserves held by the Council based on this 
budget (Appendix B of the report, Comment from Director of 
Finance & Business Services) be noted. 

 
3. That Council be recommended to approve: 

 
a) the 2012/2015 Business Plan (Appendix B of the report);  

 
b) the three-year Capital Programme for 2012/2013 to 

2014/2015 (Appendix B, Annex 3, paragraphs 88 to 94 and 
Annex 7, pages 108 to 116 of the report);  
 

c) a Band D Council Tax of £1,216.34 (no change from 
2011/2012) (Appendix B, Annex 3, paragraphs 57 to 58 of 
the report); 
 

d) the Reserves Strategy (Appendix B, Annex 8 of the report); 
 

e) the 2012/2013 non ringfenced Specific Grants (excluding 
DSG) (Appendix B, Annex 4 of the report). (Any 
amendments to particular grants in the light of further 
information received from Government Departments or other 
funding bodies will be reported to Council); 
 

Page 4



f) the Prudential Indicators for Capital Financing (Appendix B, 
Annex 6). 

 
4. That the 2012/2013 Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) of £193.8m 

and the associated policy proposals (Appendix B, Annex 7, page 89 
of  the report) be agreed. 

 
5. That the Children’s and Family Services Portfolio Holder be 

authorised to agree any necessary amendment to the DSG position 
in the light of further information received from DfE, pupil number 
changes, further academy transfers and the actual balance brought 
forward from 2011/2012. 

 
6. That the risk assessment detailed in Appendix B, Chapter 4 of the 

report be noted.  
 

111 TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY 2012 TO 2015, 
ANNUAL INVESTMENT STRATEGY AND MINIMUM REVENUE 
PROVISION 2012-2013  
 
Consideration was given to the report of the Director of Finance and 
Business Services concerning the Treasury Management Policy and 
Strategy Statements for 2012/13 to 2014/15, including the prudential 
indicators and limits required under Part 1 of the Local Government Act 
2003, the Annual Investment Strategy 2012/13, and the Annual Policy on 
Statement on Minimum Revenue Provision for the redemption of debt 
2012/13. 
 
The strategy included the Department for Communities and Local 
Government reporting requirements in accordance with the Local 
Government Investments Guidance under Section 15(1) of the Local 
Government Act 2001. 
 
RESOLVED 
 
That Council be recommended to approve the:- 
 

1. Treasury Management Policy Statement (Appendix A of the 
report); 

  
2. Treasury Management Strategy and the Minimum Revenue 

Provision Statement for 2012/13 (Appendix B of the report); and 
3. Revisions to the Treasury Management Strategy for 2011/12. 
 

112 2011/12 QUARTER THREE REVIEW OF PERFORMANCE  
 
Consideration was given to the joint report of the Director of Finance and 
Business Services, and the Strategic Director Places and Organisational 
Strategy, on the financial and non-financial performance the three quarter 
review stage of 2011/12.   The report provided an update on the overall 

Page 5



financial stability of the Council, projections of service financial 
performance and a summary of key performance headlines all for the 
financial year 2011/12. 
 
Key points emerging were explained in respect of service revenue outturn, 
reserves, the capital programme, debt and performance. 
 
RESOLVED 
 

1.  That the following financial issues be noted: 
 

• the overall financial stability of the Council, including Grants, 
in-year collection rates for Council Tax and Business Rates, 
Treasury Management, and centrally held budgets (Annex 1 
of the report); 

• the impact on the Council’s general reserves position as 
detailed in Annex 1 of the report;  

• the forecast service revenue and capital outturn positions 
(Annex 2 of the report); 

• the Council’s invoiced debt position as shown in Annex 2 of 
the report;   

• progress on delivering the 2011-12 capital programme, 
detailed in Annex 2 and Appendix 1 of the report;  

• Delegated Decisions approved by Directors for 
Supplementary Capital Estimates (SCE) and virement 
requests up to £100,000, as shown in  Annex 2, Appendix 2a 
of the report; and 

• reductions to approved capital budgets, as shown in Annex 
2, Appendix 3 of the report. 

 
2. That the performance issues, contained in Annex 3 of the report be 

noted particularly the successes achieved during the first three 
quarters of 2011/12 and also issues in relation to the 
underperformance against targets.        

 
3. That approval be given to:  

 
• a Supplementary Revenue Estimate of £69,000 for the 
Development service following receipt of Warm Homes for 
Healthy People grant funding for 2011/12, as detailed in 
Annex 1 of the report; and 

• Supplementary Capital Estimates and virement requests over 
£100,000 and up to and including £1,000,000 as shown in 
Annex 2, Appendix 2b of the report. 

 
4.  That Council be recommended to approve: 

 

Page 6



• a Supplementary Revenue Estimate of £0.6m to be met 
from general reserves to meet one-off VR costs in 2011-
12, as detailed in Annex 1 of the report; and  

• a Supplementary Capital Estimate / Virement of over 
£1,000,000 as detailed in Annex 2, Appendix 2c of the 
report.   

 
 
 

113 HOME TO SCHOOL TRANSPORT SCRUTINY REVIEW  
 
In accordance with the Overview and Scrutiny Committee final reporting 
procedure Cabinet was asked to receive the Children and Families 
Scrutiny Committee Task and Finish Group report of Home to School 
Transport, and the minority report endorsed by that Committee.   
 
The Portfolio Holder for Children and Family Services confirmed that the 
recommendations of both reports would be fully investigated and that a full 
response would be made to Cabinet, in approximately 2-3 months time. 
 
RESOLVED 
 
That both reports be received and that the Cabinet member for Children 
and Family Services undertake to come back to a future meeting of the 
Cabinet with a formal response to each recommendation. 
 

114 NOTICE OF MOTION FROM COUNCIL - PROVISION OF 
FINANCIAL INFORMATION TO MEMBERS  
 
Consideration was given to a Notice of Motion submitted to Council on 15 
December 2012 by Councillors S Hogben and D Newton concerning the 
provision of financial information to Members.  The report set out the 
current situation regarding the provision of such information and the 
actions that were now proposed to build on improvements being 
implemented.   
 
RESOLVED 
 

1. That the Notice of Motion be endorsed. 
2. That the report and comment on the current and future provision of 

financial information to Members be noted. 
 

3. That approval be given to the recommended actions recommended 
in Section 10.13 of the report. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 7



115 EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC  
 
RESOLVED 
 
That the press and public be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of the following item pursuant to Section 100(A)4 of the 
Local Government Act 1972 on the grounds that it involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraphs 1 and 2 of Part 
1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 and public interest 
would not be served in publishing the information. 
 

116 MANAGING WORKFORCE CHANGE  
 
Consideration was given to the report of the Head of Human Resources 
and Organisational Development. 
 
RESOLVED 
 

1. That Cabinet supports the decision of the Chief Executive to 
release the employees whose roles are listed at 1 to 3 in Appendix 
A of the report, under the arrangements agreed in relation to 
voluntary severance provisions for employees in the Council.   

 
2. That the voluntary severance of the employees listed at 4 and 5 in 

Appendix A of the report, approved by the Procurement, Assets and 
Shared Services Portfolio Holder under the terms of his delegated 
powers, in response to an urgent request from management, be 
noted. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

The meeting commenced at 2.00 pm and concluded at 5.05 pm 
 

W Fitzgerald (Chairman) 
 

 

Page 8



 

CHESHIRE EAST COUNCIL 
 

REPORT TO: CABINET 
 
 
Date of Meeting: 

 
5 March 2012 

Report of: Lorraine Butcher, Strategic Director  Children, 
Families and Adults 

Subject/Title: Improvements in the Delivery of  Adult Social Care 
Services – Building Based Services – Final Report 
(Phase 1) 

Portfolio Holder: 
 

Cllr Roland Domleo  

      
 
1.0    Report Summary 
 
1.1 Cabinet approved (5 Sept 2011) an earlier report regarding proposals to enhance 

facilities and potentially transfer some day and short breaks services from Bexton 
Court (Knutsford), Peatfields (Macclesfield), Dean Row (Wilmslow), the Stanley 
Centre (Knutsford) and Queens Drive (Nantwich). That report also proposed a 
period of consultation regarding the proposed changes and requested that further 
work be undertaken to prepare detailed business cases for any investment in 
buildings and/or transfer of services with a subsequent report to Cabinet to follow 

 
1.2 An interim report was presented and approved by Cabinet on 9 January 2012. 

That report advised that a final report, including details of the public consultation 
and business case proposals would be available for March. This is that report. In 
developing the final proposals Officers have been proactive in their engagement 
with the community, have listened to the wide range of opinions expressed and 
have incorporated these, where practicable, into the final recommendations 

 
1.3 The earlier report identified that this was but the first stage in the continuing 

work to explore options for future service provision for social care, health & 
wellbeing and ‘Lifestyle’ services across the whole borough including the 
Wilmslow proposals. In addition future work would start to focus on the more 
southerly areas and include developments such as the proposed Cumberland 
Arena investment in Crewe. 

 
 
2.0 Decisions Requested 

 
Cabinet is asked to approve the following proposals: 
 
2.1 To recognise the importance of ensuring that the outcome of the public 

consultation (see attached document) is carefully considered when evaluating the 
proposals contained in the attached business case. 

 
2.2 To accept the recommendations of the attached business case which can be 

summarised (along with the key considerations) as: 

Agenda Item 5Page 9



 

 
KNUTSFORD/WILMSLOW/POYNTON  
Overall 23 options considered. There was additional consultation specifically 
related to the Knutsford developments and the original proposal to close the 
Stanley Centre and re-provide locally has been modified to retain local services 
whilst releasing Stanley House. Work continues to engage with Health 
regarding future opportunities with local development on the Bexton Court site 
a) Invest in new Changing Places facilities and enhanced lifestyle facilities 

at Wilmslow Leisure centre 
b) Separate the Stanley Centre from Stanley House and make  

improvements to bathroom facilities. This will permit Stanley House to be 
returned to the Corporate Landlord property pool whilst retaining local 
Learning Disability day care facilities 

c) Confirm the permanent closure of Bexton Court acknowledging that local 
demand for dementia respite is adequately provided for by the 
independent sector. Work with partners from Health to assess the future 
usage of the site 

d) Invest in modifications to Redesmere to develop it as a multi purpose 
centre and permit the transfer of Learning Disability day care services 
from Dean Row. Subsequently declare Dean Row surplus and return to 
the corporate landlord property pool. The longer term goal is to move 
as soon as possible towards an integrated service which includes an 
integrated SMART, Frontline and ILC alongside the Lifestyle 
developments 

 
MACCLESFIELD  
The alternative, more cost-effective, proposals for Hollins View now avoid 
disruption to customers during developments and significantly enhance local 
dementia services by providing a separate day centre provision which increase 
capacity and retains flexibility for future developments on that site 
e) Invest in new Changing Places facilities and enhanced lifestyle facilities 

at Macclesfield leisure centre 
f) Convert the current Youth Offending Team building at Hollins View into 

specialist dementia daycare facilities with secure garden areas. This 
will permit some local customers to transfer from Mayfields.  

g) Transfer day care services from Peatfields to Mayfields and declare 
Peatfields surplus to requirements and return to the corporate landlord 
property pool 

 
CONGLETON  
Following consultation feedback the original proposals to provide additional 
complex LD respite at Mountview as an alternative to Queens Drive have been 
reconsidered. Therefore significant respite over-capacity will remain and further 
work will be done to explore options including Carter House where short –term 
investment is required. This work will need to examine independent sector 
alternative provision, potential future use of Hollins View and will require close 
monitoring of all service usage for the immediate future. The high level of 
demand for dementia care in this area is acknowledged. 
h) Investment in Mountview to convert some existing OP bedrooms into 10 

additional dementia respite beds  
i) Closure of offices at 48/54 Lawton Street 

Page 10



 

j) Possible investment in Carter House for the essential improvements to 
make it fit for purpose.  

 
CREWE  
Following consultation feedback the original proposals to provide additional 
complex LD respite at Mountview as an alternative to Queens Drive have been 
reconsidered and supplemented with proposals at, the more local, Lincoln 
House 
k) Investment in Lincoln House to create 5 additional Learning/Physical 

Disability respite beds 
l) Transfer of respite services from Queens Drive to both Lincoln House 

and Mountview. Subsequent closure of Queens Drive and return to the 
corporate landlord property pool 

 
 

2.3 To approve the renegotiation of  the Service Level Agreement (SLA) with 
Care4CE realigned with the anticipated future demand and incorporating 
appropriate staff consultations.  
Whilst these proposals will have a significant impact on the current double 
running costs (services being commissioned by individuals personal budgets in 
the independent sector and continued surplus services remaining within internal 
provision via Care4CE) it is anticipated that there will continue to be some 
surplus capacity within Care4CE both in the short and medium term. Continual 
review of capacity will be needed both in the medium and longer term 

 
2.4 To confirm that Places and People Directorates will work together to support the 

alternative, but minimal, transport provisions that might be required as a result 
of these proposed changes  

 
2.5 To agree the joint exploration of additional Lifestyle bases in line with the 

positive endorsements of the Lifestyle concept received during the consultation, 
working with the Places Directorate 
 

2.6 To endorse, as part of the next phase of the review, the exploration of further 
solutions for delivery of Complex Learning Disability respite to possibly include 
additional development of the Hollins View site and options for services 
currently delivered from Warwick Mews. Additionally this work to incorporate the 
changing levels of Intermediate Care demand and possible developments on 
the Tatton site. Any proposals would be subject to consultation and future 
cabinet decisions 

 
2.7 To endorse other ongoing work with Local Engagement Groups and other partners 

exploring future service developments and working to promote the development of a 
mixed economy for service provision providing greater choice and flexibility for 
customers. The outcome of this will result in further proposals been presented to 
Cabinet at a future date 

 
3.     Reasons for Recommendation 
 
3.1 These recommendations are designed to achieve the following: 
 

Page 11



 

3.1.1 To ensure that the views of users of services, their carers and other 
interested parties have been fully considered in the development of 
policy and service design. 
 

3.1.2 To ensure that day and short breaks services are provided in a 
‘personalised’ but cost-effective way and within buildings that are fit for 
purpose and able to respond to changing demand.  
 

3.1.3 To enable the changes to be implemented as soon as possible in the 
new financial year delivering estimated full year revenue savings of 
£318K together with a potential capital receipt of £1.180M at a capital 
cost of £345K (£182K of the cost is already earmarked from the Places 
property budget for the Leisure Centre investments) 
 

3.1.4  To improve the variety and quality of services which are available to 
customers. 
 

3.1.5 To underline the Council’s commitment to enhancing services and to 
ensure that its statutory duty will continue to be met. 

 
 
4.0 Wards Affected 
 
4.1 All affected as the requirement on Officers is to consider all services within 

social care and other relevant Council services, particularly those in Health and 
Wellbeing. 

 
5.0 Local Ward Members  
 
5.1 All   
 
6.0 Policy Implications including - Carbon reduction  
                                                              - Health 
 
6.1 Net Carbon Reduction – proposals that make more intensive use of buildings 

have the potential to reduce overall energy consumption, especially energy 
delivered by carbon producing energy sources. 

 
6.2 Health – these proposals are consistent with developing the role of the Council 

in supporting and improving the health of its population. 

 

Page 12



 

7.0 Financial Implications (Authorised by the Borough Treasurer) 

 

7.1 The proposals, and the business case attached, are aimed at moving towards 
delivering the challenging financial targets already contained in the base budget 
for the current (2011/12) financial year. There were two savings targets in the 
budget for this year, firstly, a reduction of £1.15m "Review Building Based 
Services / Provider Services" and secondly, £0.796m "Big Idea" - Reductions in 
Expenditure / New Income - Lifestyle Developments Phase 1".  The budget 
proposals were extremely ambitious, requiring extensive consultation in respect 
of the building based service budget reductions and rapid fundamental 
transformation in respect of those related to the lifestyle concept.   It is also 
important to note the requirement to improve care provision and value for 
money by removing surplus capacity, vacating and closing under utilised 
buildings and facilities.  Because of Personalisation and Direct Payment 
regulations individuals can decide to choose their own care, which at the 
current time cannot include internal provision offered by Care4CE, but can 
include facilities offered within our Leisure Centres (via the Lifestyle Concept).  
To receive internal Care4CE provision individuals need to reject the opportunity 
provided by Personalisation and request the Council to source their care. 

7.2 In order to help mitigate the inability to deliver the original proposals during 
2011/12 a variety of temporary measures have been undertaken to help ease 
the budgetary pressure. It is estimated that the first reduction of £1.15m has 
been delivered through a combination of the permanent closure of the Jubilee 
Day Centre in Crewe in 2010/11 (as a brought forward remedial action item to 
contribute towards the financial position at that time), the temporary closure of 
Bexton Court and other efficiencies delivered within the Care4CE service. It is 
relevant to note that the temporary nature of the closure of Bexton Court has 
resulted in some staff being temporarily redeployed into roles elsewhere, but 
their costs continue to be charged to the Bexton Court cost centre.  Efficiency 
savings and under spends across Care4CE have increased as a result.  Once 
permanent decisions have been determined the actions to achieve the full 
savings will then be undertaken, including the remaining staff and other 
premises related costs.  Some residual costs may continue until the buildings 
are fully decommissioned. 

 

7.3 The second savings target of £0.796m has not been achieved and is one of the 
key factors in the current year outturn, where Care4CE is working to continue to 
reduce the overspend as much as possible. At the end of January the 
measures had reduced the forecast overspend to £768k.  The table below 
summarises the 2011/12 position. 

 

 2011/12 SUMMARY 

 £000 £000 

Building Based Review Target  1,150 

Less savings achieved   

Page 13



 

Jubilee Day Centre closure (permanent) 150  

Bexton Court closure (temporary) 464  

Other efficiency measures   348  

Savings achieved in year  (1,150) 

Balance  Nil 

   

Big Idea – Lifestyle Concept  796 

Net impact of other efficiencies (at end of Jan)  (28) 

Balance (and in effect Care4CE current outturn)  768 

 

7.4 The current delay in delivery against these targets already has and will continue 
to have significant financial implications into 2012/13 and later years. If the 
recommendation to permanently close Bexton Court isn't ratified then this will 
create a significant permanent financial shortfall of £812k. In delivering 
proposals to cover the £1.15m target it has been assumed in this report, that 
Bexton Court will be permanently closed and fully decommissioned from April 
2012.  If this can’t be achieved continued mitigating action will be required. 

 

7.5  The current range of proposals detailed in the table below will help to deliver 
further savings of £318k against the second target of £796k, leaving a shortfall 
of £478k at this stage.  The implementation of the closure detailed below are 
unlikely to deliver a full year of savings in 2012/13, with the full year effect not 
being available until 2013/14.  Every effort will be made to achieve as much of 
the saving as possible through early closure.  The closure of Carter House, 
which is not proposed at this stage, would allow a further £144k to be delivered 
in a full year, reducing the funding gap to £334k. It is inevitable that a further 
review and consultation will be required early in 2012/13 aiming to review where 
surplus capacity remains that could help to reduce the funding gap.   

 

 2012/13 SUMMARY 

 £000 £000 

Big Idea – Lifestyle Concept Proposal  796 

Less savings proposals   

Dean Row Day Centre closure (permanent) 129  

Peatfields Day Centre closure (permanent) 99  

Page 14



 

Queens Drive closure (permanent) 79  

48/54 Lawton Street (permanent) 11  

Saving proposals  (318) 

Balance remaining  478 

  

7.6 The proposals are fully detailed in the attached business case and are expected 
to result in: 

§ Full year revenue savings from 2013/14 totalling £318,000 (these will 
mainly derive from the reduced running costs of fewer buildings – most 
staff will transfer to other locations along with customers although staffing 
needs will be continually reviewed post-implementation) 

§ The potential for realising capital receipts totalling £1,180,000 (this figure 
can only be an estimate given that the economic climate makes it difficult 
to value property, the value will also depend on any planning restrictions 
and may instead offer alternative use considerations by other 
departments) 

§ Capital investments totalling £345,000 from existing capital budgets in Places 
(£182,000) and Adults (£163,000). 

 

8.0 Legal Implications (Authorised by the Borough Solicitor) 

 
8.1  The public consultation undertaken concluded on 13 December 2011. A 

further smaller user-group consultation has also taken place with members of 
the ‘Brocklehurst’ group who currently attend Mayfields in respect of their 
potential move to Hollins View. This was undertaken since the proposal 
resulted from the initial consultation but was not specifically mentioned within 
it 

 
8.2 It is imperative that the outcome of those consultations is fully considered and 

taken into account in any proposals for future service delivery.  Therefore 
before making a final decision on this matter, Cabinet will need to be confident 
that officers have fully considered the outcome of the consultations, clarified 
issues and produced appropriate proposals.  

 
8.3 In order to comply with the duties contained in the Equalities Act 2010, the 

Authority needs to show that it has considered all individuals when shaping 
policy or delivering services.  Officers have therefore undertaken an Equality 
Impact Assessment which is included as an appendix and should be taken 
into account by members when reaching their final decision in this matter.  

 
 
9.0 Risk Management  
 

Page 15



 

9.1 The processes suggested in this report are important to assist the achievement 
of the budget for adult social care. This is the highest risk budget within the 
Council so timely implementation of action would assist greatly in achieving 
budget savings.  

 
9.2     There is an equal risk to the Council from the failure to deliver statutory levels of care  

to those with critical or substantial care needs. All changes will therefore have to be 
considered against the possible impact on this statutory duty. 

 
10.0 Background  

 
10.1 Customer demand has changed over time for day and respite services. One of 

the key factors in this has been personalisation. This has allowed service 
users to opt to purchase services from the independent sector via a direct 
payment rather than receiving them from the Council. As such, it gives them 
the opportunity for greater choice and control. 

 
10.2 The Council has recognised that it must respond to rising expectations of 

service quality. Following the Cabinet Paper in January 2011 on Lifestyle 
Centres, pilots have taken place for interested service users with lower levels of 
need at Wilmslow and Macclesfield Leisure Centres. These pilots have offered 
service users greater choice and variety in services, offering the potential for 
real enhancement in quality of life. They therefore offer a genuinely empowering 
alternative to existing day services for some service users.  

 
10.3 A consequence of these two factors has been that a number of Council day 

services are experiencing significant under capacity. This means these services 
are disproportionately expensive in relation to the number of customers they 
assist. 
 

10.4 A first stage to addressing these concerns was the consideration of transferring 
services from Bexton Court, Peatfields, Dean Row, the Stanley Centre and 
Queens Drive. This would generate financial efficiency savings and the potential 
for capital receipts subject to the future use of buildings.  There is also a need to 
invest in the remaining building stock since some facilities are below standard. 
This will also allow the lifestyle approach to be developed. 

 
10.5 The second stage of this work will be to explore other, borough-wide options 

including longer term developments around Lifestyle, co-location of teams and 
the development of flexible facilities capable of coping with future, changing 
demand and expectations. This work will also need to incorporate changing 
demand for Intermediate care beds, alternative complex Learning Disability 
respite facilities and new Health proposals emerging around the development 
of the Tatton site in Knutsford 

 
 

 
          The background papers relating to this report can be inspected by contacting the report writer: 

 Name:              Lorraine Butcher 
 Designation:    Strategic Director Children, Families & Adults 

           Tel No:             01270 686021 

Page 16



 

           Email: lorraine.butcher@cheshireeast.gov.uk  
 
 

Appendices:  
 
A: Location Map 
 
B: Business case 
 
C: Business Case Summary Sheets 
 
D: Consultation Report 
 
E: Equality Impact Assessment 
 

Page 17



 

APPENDIX A: LOCATION MAP 
 

 

P
age 18



Improvements to Adult Social Care - Business Case 2012 

 

1 | P a g e  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Improvements to Adult Social Care 
.............. 

The Business Case 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5 March 2012 
 
 
 
Sponsor:  Jacqui Evans 
 
Author:  David Laycock 
 
Contributors: Nik Darwin 

Jill Greenwood 
Pete Kelleher 
Dave Watson 
Simon Rice 
Patrick Rhoden 

Page 19



Improvements to Adult Social Care - Business Case 2012 

 

2 | P a g e  

 

INTRODUCTION 
 
Cabinet approved (5 Sept 2011) a report regarding proposals to enhance facilities 
and potentially transfer some day and short breaks services from Bexton Court, 
Peatfields, Dean Row, the Stanley Centre and Queens Drive. That report also 
proposed a period of consultation regarding the proposed changes and requested 
that further work be undertaken to prepare a detailed business case for any 
investment in buildings and/or transfer of services with a subsequent report to 
Cabinet to follow 
 
This report is that detailed business case which gives the background, explains the 
options considered and suggests the way forward for each of the four localities within 
the borough. These proposals incorporate the suggestions and opinions expressed 
during the period of consultation but the full consultation report is provided as a 
separate document and must be fully taken into account when examining the 
recommendations contained herein 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 20



Improvements to Adult Social Care - Business Case 2012 

 

3 | P a g e  

 

SECTION ONE - BACKGROUND 
 
 
 

 
STRATEGIC ISSUES 

 
DEMAND 

 
DEMOGRAPHICS 

 
INDEPENDENT SECTOR 

 
OCCUPANCY 

 
FUTURE VISION 

 

 

Page 21



Improvements to Adult Social Care - Business Case 2012 

 

4 | P a g e  

 

 
1.1  STRATEGIC ISSUES 
 
Several key factors have combined to develop the situation in which the review of 
buildings used for delivering Adult social care was deemed necessary: 
 
1.1.1  PERSONALISATION 
 
Putting People First was a document published by the Government in October 2008 
with cross party support. This sets out the agenda for a transformation of the way the 
social care system works, by an adopting the ‘personalisation’ model.   This aims to 
respond to the demographic challenges presented by an ageing society and the 
rising expectations of those who depend on social care for their quality of life and 
capacity to have full and purposeful lives.   
Perhaps the most important element of Personalisation is its aim to give people 
choice over how they receive social care services. This is brought about by allowing 
Councils to offer individuals a personal budget which they can choose how to spend. 
This includes opting for Local Authority services or services offered by the 
independent or 3rd sector via a direct payment (so long as services meet their care 
needs). This option has radically altered both the way Councils have to think about 
service delivery and what customers expect from services. 
A relevant passage from the Government’s recent Think Local Act Personal policy 
document (January 2011) is: 
“Personalisation and community are the key building blocks of a reform agenda, 
shaped around an individual’s own expertise and resources. When people need 
ongoing support, this should help them to retain or regain the benefits of community 
membership including living in their own homes, maintaining or gaining employment 
and making a positive contribution to the communities they live in.” 
 
 
1.1.2 CARE4CE SERVICES 
 
As a result of personalisation and in response to the increasing demand for care 
services, the Council agreed (Nov 2009) to a refocusing of the Council’s in-house 
care services on three specific priorities:  

• Crisis response 
• Reablement service 
• Complex longer term support.  

This decision has been followed up by the drafting of a service level agreement with 
Care4CE (the staff who work directly with service users such as care workers). 
These priorities reflect the need to concentrate resources where they can have the 
best effect; this is primarily on prevention and providing services where the market is 
unable to. The day and respite services review is bound up with delivering on these 
priorities and transitioning away from services which no longer fit with the overall 
strategy. 
 
 

Page 22



Improvements to Adult Social Care - Business Case 2012 

 

5 | P a g e  

 

1.1.3 SOCIAL CARE REDESIGN 
 
The redesign of Adult Social Care has been one of the largest transformation 
projects undertaken by Cheshire East Council. It has been a long term programme 
aimed at achieving full personalisation within Cheshire East Adult Services. A 
fundamental element within this has been a shift away from reliance upon building 
based services and promoting delivery by a range of independent providers. In this 
way real choice is aspired to for service users. 
 
 
1.1.4 LIFESTYLE CENTRES 
 
Cabinet agreed to the principle of lifestyle centres on 11 January 2011 which will see 
leisure, library and social care operating under one building. It also agreed to the 
principle of adult social care service users without intensive needs being relocated to 
‘lifestyle programmes’ within these centres. This would: 

• "Encourage integration and independence; 
• Stimulate activity and fitness so providing longer-term, low intensity 

reablement & prevention thus reducing demand for more intensive social 
care; 

• Open up access to activities to the broader population rather than just those 
deemed in need of attending ‘ring-fenced’ Day Centres” 

Pilot schemes are now successfully operating in both Wilmslow and Macclesfield 
leisure centres. These utilise those centres a ‘check-in’ points before customers 
embark on a wide range of community-based activities.  
 
 
1.1.5 COUNCIL BUDGET 
 
Cheshire East, like most other authorities in the country, is still experiencing severe 
pressure on its adult social care services. It is trying to respond to this by reviewing 
the services it provides to make the best use of its limited resources. 
In 2010/11, the last full financial year of operation, the Cheshire East adult social 
care service exceeded its budget by £9.7m. Significant investment has been built 
into the budget for 2011/12, part of which will be offset by savings that are required 
of £10m. 
 
This financial pressure comes from a number of different areas.  
 
Firstly, the Government has stated that local authorities will have their funding 
reduced by 28% over a four year period from 2011/12. This will mean that the 
Council has to carefully prioritise where it spends its money over this period. 
 
Secondly, Cheshire East has an ageing population which is putting further pressure 
on resources. By 2016, the number of citizens aged 85 or over will increase by 42%. 
This is an additional 3,400 people in a potentially vulnerable group. 
 

Page 23



Improvements to Adult Social Care - Business Case 2012 

 

6 | P a g e  

 

Thirdly, personalisation has allowed service users to opt out of Council services and 
instead receive a personal budget to spend on external services. This means the 
Council in effect is paying for services twice. This is because the Council must 
continue to run internal services for others who choose to remain with the Council, 
despite the fact less people are attending these centres. One solution to this problem 
is to re-size the Council’s services so that they better fit current demand.  
However, ultimately the scale of service changes would depend on assessing 
whether modifications would bring about a disproportionate effect on different groups 
of service users in line with Equality legislation. Any proposed changes also need to 
have undergone a full and rigorous consultation exercise 
 
Since the inception of the Council the directorate has grappled to contain the growth 
in care costs being incurred as a result of the demographics within the Borough. 
These are set to continue as the population ages, with those aged 65-74 anticipated 
to grow by over 17% and those over 85 anticipated to grow by almost 20% over the 
next 5 years alone. 
 
Since 1st April 2009 care costs in Cheshire East have increased by 6% 
year on year compared with 4% nationally. The issues are not just confined to the 
ageing population. Learning Disability (LD) clients coming through transition from 
Children’s Services to Adults are increasing, in terms of both numbers and in the 
complexity of conditions presented. Whilst the projected percentage increase is 
small (just over 3% over the next 5 years) the increase in costs can be 
disproportionately high as these are the highest cost service users. This is illustrated 
by the stark reality that 5 cases alone coming through transition from Children’s 
Services accounted for the full £400k growth built into the Adults budget 
in 2010/11 to cope with increased demand. This is notable for example 
in respect of autism which often requires complex support. 
 
However, it is the increasing number of older service users that has placed the most 
significant extra financial costs on the authority. For example, expenditure being 
incurred on over 85’s in the current financial year is projected at over £20m. This is 
the beginning of a trend that shows this age category doubling over the next 15 
years within the Borough. The latest projection in terms of Older People’s service 
users is a year on year increase in costs in 2010/11 of £1.5m. 
 
External factors outside the control of the department are also adding to the financial 
pressures. The current tough economic climate means people generally have less 
money. Personal capital and savings, which would previously have funded individual 
contributions to care costs, are being eroded. Even after rigorous financial 
assessment procedures and support to secure all the benefits available, many 
individuals are able to contribute less to the cost of their care, meaning greater costs 
to the Council. Returning self funders have significantly increased, previously from 
averaging about 6 per care period (80 per annum) to over 140 per annum.  
 
Restrictions on other funding sources and changes in national benefits legislation 
also increase the local financial burden. This is illustrated by changes to the 

Page 24



Improvements to Adult Social Care - Business Case 2012 

 

7 | P a g e  

 

Independent Living Fund (ILF) where no new awards are being made. It is estimated 
this has resulted in a reduction of income to clients within the Borough who 
previously would have been eligible to some £1.2m in the current financial year. This 
is income from central government which would have reduced our net 
costs of care. 
 
 
1.1.6 CHESHIRE EAST DEMENTIA STRATEGY 
 
Following a decision by Council on 2 March 2009, Cheshire East Council and 
Central and Eastern Cheshire PCT were commissioned to implement a local 
dementia care strategy in line with national guidance. The aim of this strategy is to 
ensure that appropriate services and timely are available for people with dementia 
throughout their lifespan. This strategy was taken to cabinet for briefing on 16 June 
2009. Key decisions were also agreed here on a way forward for the Council’s 
Community Support Centres. This included the idea of a having a base for dementia 
services in the North and South of Cheshire East. 
 
An important theme of the Strategy is that people with dementia and their carers 
should have a range of options for services to support them. These include care both 
in their own homes and in residential settings such as Hollins View, thereby requiring 
a shift in the current delivery of services. 
 

Page 25



Improvements to Adult Social Care - Business Case 2012 

 

8 | P a g e  

 

1.2 DEMAND FACTORS – BOROUGH-WIDE 
 
1.2.1 AGEING POPULATION 
The population of the borough is ageing and many day and respite services are 
currently being used by less people than they could be. Eleven of these services are 
below 70% capacity. This compares with the Council target for occupancy of 85%.  
 
Although Cheshire East has an ageing population which is already meaning 
increased numbers of POTENTIAL service users, this is not reflected in these 
occupancy figures. One key reason for this is that people are choosing to receive 
care in other ways, for instance, by receiving care at home or by employing a 
Personal Assistant 
 
 
1.2.2 POPULATION GROWTH 
 
The population of Cheshire East is forecast to grow modestly over the next 30 years. 
This will see a rise from 362,700 in 2009 to 384,000 in 2029 (see table 1).  This 
growth inevitably has a knock on effect of increasing demand for public services. 
 
* Population 
Table 1: Cheshire East Population Forecast 
 2011  2014 2019 2024 2029 
0-15 65440 64,600 64,400 63,500 63,300 
16-44 122100 116,700 110,600 113,300 116,300 
45-64 103520 104,900 106,700 102,700 95,900 
65+ 72880 79,600 88,200 97,000 108,500 
Total 363,940 365,800 369,800 376,500 384,000 
 
Source: Population forecasts (Population Forecasts January 2011 ; Research, Intelligence and 
Consultation Team Cheshire West and Chester Council). Note: 2011 figures have been interpolated 
from 2009 and 2014 figures. 
 
For Adult Social Care Services it is particularly important to know not just the overall 
rise, but the rise for particular age groups. This is because some conditions are more 
prevalent for certain age bands e.g. the incidence of dementia rises significantly with 
age, likewise there is a greater proportion of people with learning disabilities in the 
lower age brackets. 
 
One way to predict demand for services is to look at what ratio of the current 
population meets eligibility criteria for social care services and then to apply this 
same ratio to a larger population size. See ‘Forecasting’  (section 1.2.5) for more 
information. 
 

 

Page 26



Improvements to Adult Social Care - Business Case 2012 

 

9 | P a g e  

 

 
1.2.3 FUTURE DEMAND 
 
The population figures above suggest that demand for services should be 
increasing, however this is not the case in respect of most of the Council’s own 
building-based services.  
 
The charts below show how the number of customers for daycare and respite 
services has fallen significantly over the past 30 months (equals 33 charging 
periods). The only exception to this downward trend is usage of short break services 
for customers with a Physical Disability or Mental Health issues – however the base 
numbers here are low with customers per period currently standing at 15 and 8 
respectively 
 
Care4CE Daycare usage trends 

 
 

 

TOTAL USAGE  
APR-JUNE2009 

TOTAL USAGE  
AUG-OCT 2011 CHANGE 

LD 1819 1293 -28.9% 

MH 65 35 -46.2% 

OP 2384 1203 -49.5% 

PD 331 253 -23.6% 

 

Page 27



Improvements to Adult Social Care - Business Case 2012 

 

10 | P a g e  

 

 
Care4CE short breaks usage trends 

 
 

  
TOTAL USAGE  
APR-JUNE2009 

TOTAL USAGE  
AUG-OCT 

2011 
CHANGE 

LD 104 88 -15.4% 
MH 14 24 +71.4% 
OP 660 423 -35.9% 
PD 30 46 +53.3% 

 
 
The reasons for this overall reduction can be identified as follows: 

• The increased take-up of Direct Payments has moved ‘demand’ into the 
private sector where increasing competition is offering lower cost services 
(especially respite) in higher quality establishments 

• Direct payments cannot be spent on Council-run services 
• People are using the principles of choice and control to find innovative 

alternatives to traditional service offerings 
• The offer of free reablement services as part of initial assessment or review is 

helping to reduce the demand for long-term support 
• Improved information, prevention and signposting is redirecting some people 

to other solutions 
• The rigorous application of Fair Access to Care guidance and Council policy  

is ensuring that council-funded support is only  directed towards those with 
the greatest need 

Page 28



Improvements to Adult Social Care - Business Case 2012 

 

11 | P a g e  

 

 
The only growth areas are those of Mental Health and Physical Disability respite. 
• These reflect the increasing demand due to the growing prevalence of Dementia; 

indeed the % increase is likely to be an underestimate since the customer type 
used in the Councils’ systems are likely to have recorded an initial customer type 
of ‘Older Person’ which has subsequently become a more dementia-prevalent 
case.  

• Physical Disability groupings are quite small in volume but reflect a growth in 
increasingly complex and severe disabilities chiefly resulting from better post-
natal care enabling  those with more severe conditions to survive beyond 
childhood 
 
 

1.2.4 GROWTH IN DIRECT PAYMENTS 
Direct Payments give customers the opportunity to opt out of in-house Council care 
services, and instead receive a cash payment to spend on alternative methods of 
having their care needs met.  As such they should be regarded as distinct from 
personal budgets which allow a customer to continue to receive Local Authority 
services whilst also ‘buying in’ other services.  
The chart below shows the increase in Direct Payments that has occurred over time 
in Cheshire East since April 2009.   
 

 
 

A number of factors are concerned in bringing about present/future growth. These 
include: 

• Government legislation/guidance e.g. Government target of all service users 
being on personal budgets in local authorities by 2013 which is likely to have 
a knock on effect on direct payments 

• Growth of the independent sector market  
• Proportion of service users who would most directly benefit from taking up 

internal rather than external services 

Page 29



Improvements to Adult Social Care - Business Case 2012 

 

12 | P a g e  

 

• Ability of customer/their carers to be proactive with their care management 
• Internal Local Authority culture (including pro-activeness of commissioning 

staff in promoting this option) 
• Advice and support given by advocacy groups. 

. 
 
1.2.5 FORECASTING 
The following data is an attempt to forecast the growth of service take-up in the 
coming years. It should not be understood as a prediction because many 
simplifications and assumptions have to be applied to the calculations to make them 
serviceable. All conclusions reached from this data should therefore be drawn with 
caution. 
 
Different methodologies have been applied in some instances so Borough-wide and 
LAP figures may not tally. 
 
Direct Payments Scenarios 
 
Use of an alternative provider to the Council for day services is classified under the 
category of a direct payment for the purposes of this analysis: 
 
Two scenarios have been developed which forecast the potential future growth of 
direct payment usage based on a number of basic assumptions (see previous 
section). These are designed to illustrate rather than to predict. These scenarios are: 
 
DP1: Maximising Choice  
This scenario is based on an ‘optimistic’ view of the growth of the independent sector 
market . It is based on the idea that successive Governments maintain their drive for 
this to expand and that service users embrace the opportunity for greater choice and 
personalisation in their care service provision.  
 
Increases in direct payments take up are calculated by levels of service user need. 
The hypothesis is that those with lower level needs are more likely to embrace the 
independent sector care market and it will be those lacking in capacity (and with 
limited access to support e.g. from a carer or relative) who will remain within Council 
care services. 
 
DP2: Gradual Adoption 
This scenario envisages a less steep growth in usage of the independent sector. 
However, take up is still pronounced due to the afore-mentioned factors such as 
targets from central government. 

Page 30



Improvements to Adult Social Care - Business Case 2012 

 

13 | P a g e  

 

 
It should be noted that whilst these two scenarios have been created for the 
purposes of guiding decision making, the Council have not endorsed either 
approach.  
 
Learning Disability – Borough Wide (population growth methodology) 

 2011 
(actual) 2015 2020 2025 2030 

18-34 152 93 95 95 97 
35-54 188 255 245 246 255 
55-74 79 103 111 115 114 
75-86 12 4 4 5 6 
Total 431 454 455 461 473 
DP1 431 400 237 175 113 
DP2 431 418 401 240 189 

Methodology: Population data applied from POPPI to current proportions (by age) of 
LD day service usage.  
 
Learning Disability – Borough Wide (alternative methodology) 

 2011 
(Actual) 

2015 2020 

16-44 245 255 277 
45-64 143 149 158 
65+ 43 47 42 

TOTAL 431 452 477 
DP1 431 398 248 
DP2 431 377 337 

 
Notes: Growth in service usage calculated from children with special educational needs statements, 
this figure is offset by expected attrition of current service users (using prescribed mortality rates). 
Methodology adapted from the Centre for Disability Research “Estimating Future Need for Adult 
Social Care Services for People with Learning Disabilities in England”.  

 
 

Page 31



Improvements to Adult Social Care - Business Case 2012 

 

14 | P a g e  

 

 
Learning Disability by LAP (Local Area Partnership area) 
Summary Table 

Note: all LAP calculations follow an adapted version of Centre for Disability Research methodology 

 
Dementia Borough Wide (population growth methodology) 

 2011 2015 2020 2025 2030 

Total population aged 
65 and over predicted 
to have dementia 

5,091 5,765 6,792 8,068 9,514 

Day Care Usage 66.0 74.7 88.1 104.6 123.3 

DP1 66 67 70.4 83.7 92.5 

DP2 66 71.0 80.1 91.0 101.1 

Note: This applies a narrow criteria to dementia day care with only clients who are classified as 
having this as a primarily client type being used for the purposes of calculations.   Data taken from 
POPPI, current proportions of service take up applied to future population growth. 

 
Day Service Usage (population growth + dementia register) 

  

Total on 
Dementia 
Register 

 
2011 Day 
Service Total 
(actual) 

2017 
Dementia  
(wider 
definition) 

2017 
forecast 

 
DP1 
2017 

 
DP2 
2017 

Congleton 184  22 216 19.8 17.8 18.8 
Knutsford 39 4 42 3.8 3.4 3.6 
 Macclesfield 182 22 203 18.6 16.7 17.7 
 Crewe and 
Nantwich 226 15 257 23.6 21.2 22.4 
 Wilmslow and 
Poynton 89 3 97 8.9 8 8.5 
Note: population data for LAPs is only available up to 2017 (supplied by Research and Intelligence). A 
log of dementia users with wider criteria is used to get a more accurate reflection of dementia in a 
particular area as actual current numbers of dementia daycare customers (with this as a primary client 

LAP Actual 2015 2020 
DP1 
2015 

DP1 
2020 

DP2 
2015 

DP2 
2020 

Crewe and 
Nantwich 

125 142 156 125 81 130 137 

Congleton 92 84 73 74 38 77 64 
Macclesfield 115 117 120 103 62 108 105 
Poynton and 
Wilmslow 

47 59 72 52 38 54 64 

Knutsford 44 41 36 36 19 37 32 

Page 32



Improvements to Adult Social Care - Business Case 2012 

 

15 | P a g e  

 

type) are low. Current service users have been disregarded because of high mortality rates for the 
condition. 

 
Physical Disability 
Note: Physical disability calculations include service users classified as having a 
visual impairment, a hearing impairment, frail/temporary illness, other physical and 
sensory loss and dual sensory loss. 
 
Physical Disability – Borough Wide (population growth) 

 
2011 
(actual) 2015 2020 2025 2030 

65+ 105.0 119.0 130.4 142.6 158.7 

<65 24.0 23.5 24.2 24.8 24.1 

Total 129.0 142.5 154.7 167.4 182.8 

DP1 129 125.4 108.3 87.0 69.5 

DP2 129 131.1 122.2 108.8 95.0 
Notes: under 65s and over 65s have been split up with two different rates of population growth used. 
Data from POPPI for unders 65s used for people with a severe physical disability, for over 65s data 
used for people requiring a community based service 

 
Physical Disability by LAP (population growth) 

Congleton 
 2011 

(actual) 
2017 
 

DP1 
2017 

DP2 
2017 

 16-44  1.9 1.6 1.7 

 45-64  7.0 6.0 6.3 

 65+  33.1 28.5 29.8 

 Total 38.0 42.0 36.1 37.8 

Knutsford      

 16-44  0.7 0.6 0.6 

 45-64  2.6 2.2 2.3 

 65+  12.6 10.8 11.3 

 Total 15 15.8 13.6 14.2 

Macclesfield      

 16-44  1.9 1.6 1.7 

 45-64  6.5 5.6 5.8 

 65+  25.7 22.1 23.2 

 Total 32 34.1 29.3 30.7 
Crewe and 
Nantwich 

     

 16-44  1.7 1.5 1.5 

 45-64  5.6 4.8 5.0 

Page 33



Improvements to Adult Social Care - Business Case 2012 

 

16 | P a g e  

 

 65+  23.0 19.8 20.7 

 Total 28 30.3 26.0 27.3 
Wilmslow and 
Poynton 

     

 16-44  0.7 0.6 0.6 

 45-64  2.5 2.2 2.3 

 65+  11.6 10.0 10.4 

  Total  14 14.9 12.8 13.4 
Notes: Population growth method applied to current ratios of service usage. Weighting applied for 
different age groups. LAP Population data supplied by R&I Cheshire West and Chester 

 

Respite 
 
Dementia - Internal Respite Take Up (Borough wide)  

 2011 2015 2020 2025 2030 

 Total Service Users 
requiring respite services 

237.0 260.9 299.0 349.3 408.7 

DP1 237 189.6 154.1 118.5 83 

DP2 237 213.3 189.6 165.9 142.2 

Notes: Figures based on applying current percentages of respite take up to predicted dementia 
growth (source:  POPPI) 

Dementia – Respite by LAP area (number of service users) 

LAP 

Internal 
Respite 
Users 
2011 External 

Forecast 
Internal 
Respite 
Take Up 
2017 (no. 
of 
individuals) 

DP1 DP2 

Crewe and Nantwich 108 125 82.6 61.1 74.1 

Macclesfield 63 71 47.6 35.2 58.3 

Congleton 10 8 76.4 56.6 62.2 

Wilmslow and Poynton 43 51 45.3 33.6 28.0 

Knutsford 10 12 20.4 15.1 12.0 
Note: Figures calculated by applying current respite take up rate to dementia register (split by LAP 
area) adjusted for population growth.  

Page 34



Improvements to Adult Social Care - Business Case 2012 

 

17 | P a g e  

 

 
Learning Disability - Respite (Borough wide) 

Borough wide (based on population growth) 

 
2011 

(Actual) 2015 2020 2025 2030 
People aged 18-24  54 52 48 48 53 
People aged 25-34  52 60 65 65 64 
People aged 35-44  85 76 75 85 90 
People aged 45-54  65 67 63 55 57 
People aged 55-64 57 55 61 65 61 
Total population aged 18-64  313 311 312 319 324 
Total S.Users requiring respite 
services 87.0 86.4 86.7 88.7 90.1 
DP1 87.0 76.1 45.1 33.7 21.6 
DP2 87.0 79.5 76.3 46.1 36.0 
Note: POPPI data on Adults with severe learning disability used applying current proportion of respite 
take up (age range 18-64) 

Learning Disability Respite – LAP area 

LAP Actual 2015 2020 

Crewe and Nantwich 25.7 29.2 32.1 

Congleton 18.9 17.3 15.0 

Macclesfield 23.7 24.1 24.7 

Poynton and Wilmslow 9.7 12.1 14.8 

Knutsford 9.0 8.4 7.4 

Total 87.0 91.1 94.0 

DP1 87.0 80.2 48.9 

DP2 87.0 73.8 43.0 

Note:  Figures calculated by applying current proportion of respite service usage to day service data 
 
 
1.2.6 INDEPENDENT SECTOR PROVISION 

The commercial provision of residential and respite care continues to grow in 
Cheshire East. Whilst the Council no longer provides long term residential care the 
respite provision directly ‘competes’ with the services offered by Care4CE and, due 

Page 35



Improvements to Adult Social Care - Business Case 2012 

 

18 | P a g e  

 

to the introduction of personalisation, is increasingly diverting customers from those 
services. 

The table below illustrates current availability of care home beds. Not surprisingly it 
can be seen that those private sector beds are mostly concentrated on the wealthier 
areas within the borough, especially in respect of dementia care. Crewe and 
Congleton can readily be identified as having the lowest availability of such provision 
and are therefore most in need of council-run services until the external market can 
be stimulated to meet the required demand 

AREA CARE 
HOMES 

TOTAL 
BEDS 

BEDS 
PER 
1000 
POP’N 

CARE 
HOMES 
OFFERING 
DEMENTIA 
CARE 

DEMENTIA 
CARE 
BEDS 

DEMENTIA 
BEDS PER 
1000 
POP’N 

HOUSEHOLD 
INCOME 

KNUTSFORD 

(WILMSLOW) 

(POYNTON) 

18 930 14.3 9 563 8.67 £42,500 

£43,200 

£44,600 

MACCLESFIELD 30 1057 20.33 11 627 12.06 £38,100 

CONGLETON 25 820 11.5 11 450 6.3 £37,600 

CREWE 

(NANTWICH) 

25 974 11.19 15 552 6.3 £32,600 

£38,800 

 

1.2.7 OCCUPANCY LEVELS 

During the consultation on these proposals one of the key areas provoking questions 
from the public was that of the falling occupancy levels presented as part of the 
rationale for reviewing the usage of buildings 
 
It is difficult to be precise about such %-based figures because of the following 
factors: 
RESPITE/SHORT BREAKS 

• These figures are the more precise since they are based on physical 
bedrooms and it is therefore easy to count these and the number of nights 
they are occupied 

• However occupancy can be distorted downwards if the rooms are not 
adequately equipped to deal with higher levels of disability, particularly 

Page 36



Improvements to Adult Social Care - Business Case 2012 

 

19 | P a g e  

 

physical disabilities which demand specialist handling equipment and may 
preclude use of rooms where emergency evacuation would not be possible 

 

Page 37



Improvements to Adult Social Care - Business Case 2012 

 

20 | P a g e  

 

 
DAY CARE 

• Whilst staffing levels can be flexed to cope with different types of demand the 
physical capacity of a building to ‘house’ a given number of individuals should 
be simple to estimate. However this can also be affected by the level of need 
for any given person: for example someone using a large, motorised 
wheelchair will require more space to manoeuvre without risking injury to 
others. Others with greater mobility require less space and can access floors 
above ground level with reduced safety concerns 

• Staffing level in all buildings have been adjusted downwards to reflect falling 
demand giving lower levels of staffed capacity. However using this figure as 
the base for any percentage calculation would present a distorted picture (e.g. 
a building with a physical capacity of 20 might only be attended by 2 people 
suggesting 10% occupancy – if only staffed to match those two people’s 
needs then the occupancy could be said to be 100%) 

• Occupancy levels are also affected by the number of people who remain in 
the building for the full day. In recent years we have encouraged individuals to 
become involved in a wide range of community-based activities which often 
means that a centre is only used as a ‘check-in’ point before moving into the 
community. The number of people registered to attend will therefore always 
be higher than those that actually stay within the building – other venues 
could be used as that ‘check-in’ point 

• Attendance level are also affected by sickness and other reasons for absence 
– requiring a place to be ‘reserved’ but not filled on some occasions 

 
 
1.2.8 FUTURE VISION 

Cheshire East Council (CEC) is committed to developing a mixed economy of care 
to maximise choice for customers, under personalisation. 
 
We will continue to work with the independent sector, to encourage and develop 
alternatives to services provided by CEC in all areas; in line with what our customers 
are telling us they need and want. CEC will develop SMART (Skilled Multi Agency 
Response Team) teams; team hubs will be based in the 4 key population areas. We 
will continue to develop integrated neighbourhood teams aligned to GP practices. 
CEC will continue to provide day and respite services, which we will monitor and 
continue to redesign, in line with changing demand and expectations, and within the 
available resources. 
 

Page 38



Improvements to Adult Social Care - Business Case 2012 

 

21 | P a g e  

 

In relation to our specific LAP areas: 
 
Wilmslow/Knutsford: 

• Provide local specialist Older People (OP), Learning Disability (LD), Physical 
Disability (PD)  and  Dementia day services from Redesmere, for people with 
complex needs. 

• Develop day services for more independent (predominantly LD) in line with 
lifestyle developments. 

• Access Hollins View, Mountview and Warwick Mews, for Dementia, O/P and 
LD respite services 

• Develop integrated SMART and frontline team with Independent Living 
Centre, based in Lifestyle leisure centre development..  This will need to be 
temporarily based from Dean Row /Redesmere whilst the Lifestyle 
development is confirmed and completed.  

• Hot-desking in GP practices. 
• Retain LD day services in Knutsford. 
• Explore opportunities with Health for services in Knutsford; including 

modelling of Intermediate Care (Step Up/Step Down) provision. 
 
Macclesfield: 

• SMART team base at Alderley Building, Macclesfield District Hospital site. 
• Hot-desking in GP practices. 
• Offer Dementia and O/P day and respite support from Hollins View and by 

adapting the current Youth Offending Team building. 
• Continue to offer Intermediate Care provision from Hollins View. 
• Opportunity to redevelop Hollins View over the next 3 years to incorporate 

dual registration and offering nursing and residential intermediate care bed-
based services with Health (step up/step down facility). 

• Offer LD and PD day services from Mayfield. 
• Continue to offer LD respite from Warwick Mews in the short term, in line with 

possible opportunities with Hollins View redevelopment. 
 
Congleton: 
Phase 1:  

• Continue to offer LD day services from Carter House. 
• Continue to offer Dementia and PD day services from Salinae. 
• Offer Dementia and O/P day and respite support from Mountview. 
• Offer specialist LD respite from Mountview. 
• SMART based at Riverside. 
• Hot-desking in GP Practices. 

Page 39



Improvements to Adult Social Care - Business Case 2012 

 

22 | P a g e  

 

 
Phase 2: 

• Explore opportunities for Lifestyle opportunities development. 
• Evaluate demand from Dementia and LD day and respite provision, in line 

with occupancy at Mountview, Carter House and Salinae and make 
recommendations for future provision in Congleton. 

 
Crewe/Nantwich: 

• Provide O/P, Dementia and specialist LD respite at Lincoln House. 
• Continue to provide Intermediate Care beds in line with the Intermediate Care 

review with Health. 
• Evaluate current provision and opportunities for a lifestyle development 

(connections with Macon House/Jubilee House). 
• Develop Eaglebridge base for integrated SMART, frontline and ILC for South. 
• Hot-desking in GP Practices. 
• Continue LD day service provision in Nantwich at Cheyne Hall. 
• Potential development of Redsands to provide additional long term 

accommodation for people with complex needs (LD and MH) 
 

Page 40



Improvements to Adult Social Care - Business Case 2012 

 

23 | P a g e  

 

SECTION TWO 
 
 
 

LOCAL AREA SUMMARIES 
 

KNUTSFORD/WILMSLOW/POYNTON 
 

MACCLESFIELD 
 

CONGLETON 
 

CREWE/NANTWICH 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

LOCAL AREA SUMMARIES 
 
The following analysis is based upon the four areas around which social care is 
organised in Cheshire East. These areas are built up from the Local Area 
Partnership (LAP) footprints with some areas combining more that one LAP in order 
to give an approximately equal population distribution 
 
For each area we give a brief overview then list the social care establishments in 
operation together with a pen-portrait of each. We then go on to explain the options 
considered in relation to those buildings and summarise the final recommendations 
 
NB: The building occupancy figures quoted are the latest available at the time of 
writing and are based on analysis covering the period April 2011-January 2012 
 
 

Page 41



Improvements to Adult Social Care - Business Case 2012 

 

24 | P a g e  

 

 
 

2.1 KNUTSFORD/WILMSLOW/POYNTON 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

Page 42



Improvements to Adult Social Care - Business Case 2012 

 

25 | P a g e  

 

2.1.1 AREA PROFILE 
(Extracts from ‘Local Area Partnership Profile’ published by CEC Research & 
Intelligence – full version available at 
http://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/community_and_living/research_and_consultation/c
heshire_east_area_profiles/local_area_partnership_profile.aspx  ) 

 
 Knutsford is the LAP in Cheshire East with the second smallest population and 
has a population density of 1.34 people per hectare. The population age 
distribution was similar to that for England & Wales. It is worth noting that the 
proportion of the population in Knutsford LAP (14%) in the 15-30 age group is 
lower than for England & Wales (20%). 

 The unemployment rates in Knutsford LAP are lower than those for Cheshire 
East and England.  

 Average household income in Knutsford LAP was higher than the average for 
England & Wales and Cheshire East. 

 None out of the 17 LSOAs in Knutsford LAP were in the top 20% most multiply 
deprived nationally in the Knutsford LAP contained the ward with the highest 
estimated life expectancy in Cheshire East – Knutsford Norbury Booths (86.4 
years). 

 The proportion of people with a limiting long term illness or disability, the 
proportion of people claiming Disability Living Allowance and the proportion of 
people not in good health were similar to the proportions in Cheshire East. 

 
 Wilmslow LAP has the fourth largest population of all the LAPs in Cheshire East, 
and the second highest population density. It had a low proportion of 20-30 year 
olds in comparison with England & Wales.  

 Unemployment rates were lower than those for England and Cheshire East. 
Wilmslow was the LAP with the lowest percentage of unemployed people aged 
under 25. 

 Average household income in Wilmslow LAP was higher than the average for 
England & Wales and Cheshire East. 

 Two of the 22 Lower Super Output Areas in Wilmslow LAP (Wilmslow Town 
Dean Row & Handforth L4 and L6) were in the top 20% most multiply deprived 
nationally in the Index of Multiple Deprivation 2007. 

 The proportion of people with a limiting long term illness or disability, the 
proportion of people claiming Disability Living Allowance and the proportion of 
people not in good health were similar to the proportions in Cheshire East. 

 
 Poynton is the LAP in Cheshire East with the smallest population. The 
population age distribution differed from that for England & Wales. Poynton LAP 
had lower than the England & Wales average for every age group below 45-49 
years (except for 10-14 years) and higher than the England & Wales average for 
every age group from 45-49 years and older. 

 Unemployment rates were lower than those for England, and lower than the rates 
for Cheshire East.  

Page 43



Improvements to Adult Social Care - Business Case 2012 

 

26 | P a g e  

 

 Average household income in Poynton LAP was higher than the average for 
England & Wales and was the highest in Cheshire East. 

 None of the 17 LSOAs in Poynton LAP were in the top 20% most multiply 
deprived nationally in the Index of Multiple Deprivation 2007 

 Poynton LAP had the second highest proportion, after Nantwich, of people saying 
they had a limiting long term illness or disability in the Communities of Cheshire 
Survey. The proportion of people claiming Disability Living Allowance and the 
proportion of people not in good health were similar to the proportions in 
Cheshire East. 

 
 
2.1.2 CEC SOCIAL CARE BUILDINGS IN THIS AREA 
 
Redesmere 

Description of the 
service 

• Day service provision for older people and older people 
who have Dementia. 

• Registered office for Wilmslow Supported Living Network 
(SLN), which provides accommodation based support to 
people with learning disabilities in the community. 

• Also Office base for the OT Team and Choice Equip. 
• Base for the Ability Aware shop 

Description of the 
building 

Well maintained single storey building within large grounds 
which has a car park with safe drop-off  zone. The building is 
well equipped to meet the needs of customers who have 
significant support needs 

Occupancy • Average Daily attendance = 20 
• Number remaining in building each day = 20 
• Estimated capacity = 30 
• Occupancy level = 66% 

Dean Row 

Description of the 
service 

• Day service provision for Adults who have a learning 
Disability.  

• This service is split, with a number of customers who have 
less complex support needs receiving their support from a 
base at Wilmslow Leisure Centre (The lifestyle Group). The 
customers who receive their service from within Dean Row 
have more complex support needs, and require some 
specialist equipment to assist with their support. 

Description of the 
building 

The building is a large two storey building from which a day 
service has been provided on the ground floor for a number of 
years. The building has a number of meeting/activity rooms 
and a large well equipped light and sound room. 
On the first floor of the building are a number of office and 

Page 44



Improvements to Adult Social Care - Business Case 2012 

 

27 | P a g e  

 

meeting rooms which until recently were used by a social work 
team. The first floor can be accessed by a staircase or lift 

Occupancy • Average Daily attendance = 23 
• Number remaining in building each day = 23 
• Estimated capacity = 40 
• Occupancy level = 58% 

Stanley Centre (Knutsford) 

Description of the 
service 

Learning disability day service – Ground floor capacity is now 
estimated to be approximately  55, although there is an 
historical capacity of 60. The service is currently staffed for 40 
service users - dependent on need.                        

Description of the 
building 

The building comprises an older 3 storey side of the building 
and an adjoining, mainly single storey element. The original 
Stanley House building is over 80 years old, The more modern 
part of the building (Stanley Centre) Dates from 1985. 

The day service is provided on the ground floor. On the first 
and second floors of the building are a number of office and 
meeting rooms, some of which, until recently were used by a 
social work team. The first and second floors can be accessed 
by a staircase or lift.  

Occupancy • Average Daily attendance = 33 
• Number remaining in building each day = 33 
• Estimated capacity = 55 
• Occupancy level = 61% 

 

 

2.1.3 ORIGINAL OPTIONS PROPOSED FOR THIS AREA 
• Investing in Redesmere to provide for customers with learning disabilities and 

physical disabilities as well as a service for older people and those with 
dementia 

• Closure of Dean Row with customers moving to Redesmere 
• Closure of the Stanley Centre with customers transferring to Wilmslow 

lifestyle, Redesmere or local community options 
• Investment in Wilmslow leisure centre to enhance lifestyle accommodation 

and install Changing Places toilet 
 
2.1.4 ADDITIONAL OPTIONS NOW CONSIDERED 

• Retain the Stanley Centre as is 

Page 45



Improvements to Adult Social Care - Business Case 2012 

 

28 | P a g e  

 

• Retain the new part of the Stanley centre with some modifications to improve 
bathroom facilities and separate from Stanley House  

• Retain the new part of the Stanley centre with some modifications to improve 
bathroom facilities and separate from Stanley House. Develop to provide an 
alternative to East Terrace residential accommodation 

• Conversion of space within Knutsford Leisure centre into a  day care facility 
• Use of Plumley Civic Hall as an alternative day care base 
• Use of Knutsford Civic Centre as an alternative day care base 
• Use of St Johns Community Centre as an alternative day care base 
• Use of Winstanley House as an alternative day care base 
• Use of East Terrace as an alternative day care base 
• Closure of Redesmere with customers transferring to Dean Row after 

investment there to expand/improve facilities 
• Closure of Day care at Dean Row with investment in Redesmere to 

expand/improve facilities and capacity 
• Alternative service offerings from 3rd sector and other partners 

 
 
2.1.5 KEY POINTS CONSIDERED 
 

• Stanley Centre considerably underused but strong local feelings that some 
services should remain local 

• Difficult to find suitable, stable, accessible alternatives to Stanley centre 
• Customers had previously being successfully relocated from Bexton Court 

with minimal disruption and NO complaints 
• Lifestyle experience viewed favourably during consultation but obviously not 

suitable for all levels of need 
 
2.1.6 RECOMMENDATIONS FOR THIS AREA 

• Retain the Stanley Centre but with investment to separate it from Stanley 
House and improve bathroom facilities 

• Explore future options for Stanley House to include sale 
• Invest in Changing Places facilities at Wilmslow Leisure Centre 
• Bexton Court to be permanently closed 
• Closure of Day Care at Dean Row with investment in Redesmere to 

expand/improve facilities and capacity 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 46



Improvements to Adult Social Care - Business Case 2012 

 

29 | P a g e  

 

 

2.2 MACCLESFIELD 
 

 

 
 
 

 

Page 47



Improvements to Adult Social Care - Business Case 2012 

 

30 | P a g e  

 

2.2.1 AREA PROFILE 
(Extracts from ‘Local Area Partnership Profile’ published by CEC Research & 
Intelligence – full version available at 
http://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/community_and_living/research_and_consultation/c
heshire_east_area_profiles/local_area_partnership_profile.aspx  ) 
 
 

 Macclesfield LAP is the Local Area Partnership in Cheshire East with the 
third largest population but with a population density slightly lower than 
average for Cheshire East. The population age distribution was fairly similar to 
that for England & Wales, but had a significantly lower proportion of people 
aged between 20-39 years and a significantly higher proportion of people 
aged between 40-60 years. 

 Unemployment rates were lower than those for England, but higher than the 
average rate for Cheshire East. 

 Average household income in Macclesfield LAP was higher than the average 
for England & Wales and very similar to the average for Cheshire East. 

 Just one out of the 43 LSOAs in Macclesfield LAP (Macclesfield Town South 
L4) was in the top 20% most multiply deprived nationally in the Index of 
Multiple Deprivation 2007. This LSOA was also 6th in Cheshire East for 
Health Deprivation and Disability. 

 Macclesfield LAP contained the ward (Macclesfield Tytherington) with the 
second highest estimated life expectancy (85 years) in Cheshire East. 

 Macclesfield Town South had the highest hospitalised prevalence for mental 
health conditions in Cheshire East. 

 
 
2.2.2 CEC SOCIAL CARE BUILDINGS IN THIS AREA 
 
Hollins View  

Description 
of the 
service 

Community Support Centre, offering a total of 40 beds. These are 
made up of: 

• Intermediate care beds (Usually 10 beds, but additional beds 
can be ‘Spot purchased’ and will on occasions total 15 beds) 

• Adults respite (Up to 30 beds, dependent on the demand for 
intermediate care beds) these beds would usually be 
predominantly for over 65’s respite, but Hollins View also 
provides respite for younger adults, including younger adults 
who have a learning disability.  

• Also provide a 15 place OP day service 
Description 
of the 
building 

A large 2 storey red brick building with a pitched tile roof.  It has 4 
wings which each have 10 bedrooms. Two of the wings are downstairs 
and two of the wings are upstairs, There are lifts and stairs to the 2 
upstairs wings.  
On the ground floor there is a large secure open plan ‘day’ room and 
dining area – and off the main reception area are the offices and a 

Page 48



Improvements to Adult Social Care - Business Case 2012 

 

31 | P a g e  

 

small meeting room. 
On the same site as Hollins View is a separate building which is 
currently used by the Youth Offending Team – It is proposed that in the 
future this building may be used as a base to provide a Dementia day 
service. 

Occupancy Respite beds 
• Average Daily attendance = 24 
• Capacity = 30 
• Occupancy level = 81% 
Daycare 
• Average Daily attendance = 4 
• Estimated capacity = 15 
• Occupancy level = 25% 

Peatfields 

Description 
of the 
service 

Learning disability day service with some customers receive a service 
away from the building (Lifestyle activities) 

Description 
of the 
building 

Peatfields is a single storey building which is approximately 47 years 
old. Although the building itself is single storey there is a connecting 
door which could provide access to the Park Lane site, which is an 
office base. The building is on the Macclesfield Learning Zone site. 
If retained the building would require investment – particularly in 
relation to the kitchen and toilet/changing areas. 

Occupancy • Average Daily attendance = 45 
• Number remaining in building each day = 45 
• Estimated capacity = 65 
• Occupancy level = 69% 

Mayfield Centre 

Description 
of the 
service 

• The Mayfield Centre currently provides a day service for Adults who 
have Dementia (The Brockelhurst Group). 

•  The Mayfield Centre also provides a service for Adults who have a 
physical disability. 

Description 
of the 
building 

The Mayfield Centre was opened in 1977 and is a well maintained 
single storey building which has had investment over recent years to 
improve the toilet/changing facilities. The building is brick built with 
large windows and a mixture of flat roof and pitched roof. Currently the 
different day services are split across different areas of the building and 
the building is well equipped to meet the needs of individuals who have 
significant support needs. 

Occupancy • Average Daily attendance = 30 
• Number remaining in building each day = 30 
• Estimated capacity = 45 
• Occupancy level (Brockelhurst) = 67%, (PD Daycare) = 65% 

Page 49



Improvements to Adult Social Care - Business Case 2012 

 

32 | P a g e  

 

2.2.3 ORIGINAL OPTIONS PROPOSED FOR THIS AREA 
 

• Investing in Mayfield to provide for customers with learning disabilities and 
physical disabilities as well as a service for older people and  those with 
dementia 

• Investing in Hollins View to provide general respite and day and respite 
services for those with dementia and intermediate care services. 

• Transferring customers from Peatfields to facilities described above  
• Investment in Macclesfield leisure centre to enhance lifestyle accommodation 

and install Changing Places toilet 
 
 
2.2.4 ADDITIONAL OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 

• Expanding Hollins View into adjacent Youth Offending Team building to 
expand capacity for dementia day care 

• Improve access facilities to existing lifestyle accommodation 
• Move some customers from Mayfields to Mountview to free capacity to accept 

customers transferring from Peatfields 
• Move respite care customers from Warwick Mews to Mountview to allow re-

use for customers returning from out-of-area placements 
• Shared facilities with East Cheshire Hospice 

 
 
2.2.5 KEY POINTS CONSIDERED 
 

• Requirement to increase dementia services but without disrupting current 
customers at Hollins View 

• Lifestyle experience viewed favourably during consultation but obviously not 
suitable for all levels of need 

• Peatfields would need investment to make fit for purpose but this would 
continue over-capacity issues 

• Mountview is a higher quality building 
 
2.2.6 RECOMMENDATIONS FOR THIS AREA 
 

• Expand Hollins View by converting YOT Building 
• Transfer Dementia Services from Mayfields to expanded Hollins View 
• Close Peatfields with services transferring to Mayfields 
• Further invest in Leisure Centre expansion and disabled facilities 

 
 

Page 50



Improvements to Adult Social Care - Business Case 2012 

 

33 | P a g e  

 

2.3 CONGLETON 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Page 51



Improvements to Adult Social Care - Business Case 2012 

 

34 | P a g e  

 

2.3.1 AREA PROFILE 
(Extracts from ‘Local Area Partnership Profile’ published by CEC Research & 
Intelligence – full version available at 
http://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/community_and_living/research_and_consultation/c
heshire_east_area_profiles/local_area_partnership_profile.aspx  ) 
 
Congleton is the LAP in Cheshire East with the largest population and the third-
highest population density. The population age distribution was similar to that for 
England & Wales but had a higher proportion of people aged 55-64 and lower 
proportion of people aged between 20 and 30 years. 
Unemployment rates were lower than those for England and similar to the rates for 
Cheshire East. 
Average household income in Congleton LAP was higher than the average for 
England & Wales but was the second lowest in Cheshire East. 
One of the 58 Lower Super Output Areas in Congleton LAP (Congleton East L3) was 
in the top 20% most multiply deprived nationally in the Index of Multiple Deprivation 
2007. 
The proportion of people with a limiting long term illness or disability, the proportion 
of people claiming Disability Living Allowance and the proportion of people not in 
good health were similar to the proportions in Cheshire East. 
Congleton LAP contained the Middle Super Output Area with the lowest prevalence 
of hospitalisation for alcohol specific conditions in Cheshire East. 
 
 
2.3.2 CEC SOCIAL CARE BUILDINGS IN THIS AREA 
 
Mountview 

Description of the 
service 

Community Support Centre, offering 

• Dementia respite (10 beds) 
• OP respite (22 beds) 
• OP Day service (20 places) 
• LD respite (3 beds) 

Description of the 
building 

A large 2 storey red brick building with a pitched tile roof.  It has 4 
wings, with lifts and stairs to the 2 upstairs wings. The ground floor 
west wing contains a secure 10 bed dementia respite unit.  The ground 
floor east wing contains a new 3 bed learning disability respite unit and 
offices.  Adjacent to and connected to this unit is the day service, with a 
separate entrance, situated in the former conference room on the 
ground floor. 

Occupancy Dementia respite – 80% 
OP respite – 58% 
LD respite – new service, data not available 
Daycare: 
• Average Daily attendance = 13 
• Number remaining in building each day = 13 

Page 52



Improvements to Adult Social Care - Business Case 2012 

 

35 | P a g e  

 

• Estimated capacity = 20 
• Occupancy level = 63% 

Carter House 

Description of the 
service 

64 place Learning disability day service 

Description of the 
building 

Carter House is a newish (1980s) one storey brick building in the 
centre of Congleton, with a pitched slate roof.  The main part of the 
building is not well designed and  some thought may need to be given 
to the future layout.   
Modernisation and improvements are urgently needed to some areas, 
particularly the toilet / bathroom area. 

Occupancy • Average Daily attendance = 47 
• Number remaining in building each day = 27 
• Estimated capacity = 64 
• Occupancy level = 74% (42%) 

Salinae 

Description of the 
service 

• Salinae is a 30 place day service for people with physical & sensory 
disabilities.  

• The building is also used by Health and Childrens Services 
Description of the 
building 

Salinae is a modern building (1990s), with brick walls, large windows 
and a pitched slate roof. It is built on a slope leading down from Lewin 
Street to the canal, with 2 storeys at the front of the building and 3 at 
the back.  The building is shared with East Cheshire Community Health 
Trust who operate various clinics from Salinae (physio, chiropody and 
Health Visitors etc.) and with Children’s Services (Middlewich & 
Holmes Chapel Children’s Centre is based at Salinae).   
Most of the day service operates from the large ground floor, with good 
facilities for disabled people. 

Occupancy • Average Daily attendance = 19 
• Number remaining in building each day = 19 
• Estimated capacity = 30 
• Occupancy level = 63% 

48 & 54 Lawton Street 

Description of the 
service 

Office bases for  

• Congleton Supported Living Network (SLN), which provides 
accommodation based support to people with learning disabilities in 
the community – 48 Lawton Street 

• Shared Lives service (formerly known as Family Based Care) – 54 
Lawton Street 

Description of the 2 old terraced houses converted into offices, either side of the archway 
leading from Lawton Street to Carter House. The buildings are 

Page 53



Improvements to Adult Social Care - Business Case 2012 

 

36 | P a g e  

 

building inappropriate for office accommodation and there are issues with DDA 
compliance 

Occupancy • 48 Lawton St is the office base for Congleton SLN (learning 
disability network) and is used by about 6 staff per day 

• 54 Lawton St is the office base for Shared Lives (family based care) 
and is used by about 10 staff per day 

 
 
 
2.3.3 ORIGINAL OPTIONS PROPOSED FOR THIS AREA 
 

• Investing in Mountview to expand capacity as a specialist respite /short break 
facility for people with a learning disability (increase from 3 to 6 beds). 
Transferring service users from Peatfields 

 
 
2.3.4 ADDITIONAL OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 

• Closure of offices at 48/54 Lawton Street with staff transferring to other 
premises following investment 

• Move services out of Carter House, relocating customers with complex needs 
at an enlarged Mountview.  Develop community day services / lifestyle 
activities to enable customers with lower levels of need to be relocated. 

 
2.3.5 KEY POINTS CONSIDERED 
 

• Original proposals for expanded LD respite at Mountview would have given 
required increase in capacity but the consultation highlighted additional 
journey times for Queens Drive customers. Lincoln House proposals 
developed instead 

• Lawton street closures do not impact customers 
• Options around Carter House require further exploration in light of possible 

Lifestyle developments in this vicinity 
• Mountview dementia respite capacity is running at maximum levels – clear 

indications of additional capacity requirements for this service 
• Carter House in need of refurbishment to make fit for purpose 

 
2.3.6 RECOMMENDATIONS FOR THIS AREA 
 

• Close 48/54 Lawton St with staff relocated to other buildings 
• Develop Mountview as Dementia respite facility 
• Possible investment in Carter House for the essential improvements to make it 

fit for purpose. 
 
 

Page 54



Improvements to Adult Social Care - Business Case 2012 

 

37 | P a g e  

 

2.4 CREWE/NANTWICH 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 

Page 55



Improvements to Adult Social Care - Business Case 2012 

 

38 | P a g e  

 

 
 
2.4.1 AREA PROFILE 
 
(Extracts from ‘Local Area Partnership Profile’ published by CEC Research & 
Intelligence – full version available at 
http://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/community_and_living/research_and_consultation/c
heshire_east_area_profiles/local_area_partnership_profile.aspx  ) 
 
Crewe is the LAP in Cheshire East with the second largest population and the 
highest population density. 
The population age distribution was similar to that for England & Wales. 
Unemployment rates were about the same as those for England and higher than the 
rates for Cheshire East. 
Average household income in Crewe LAP was lower than the average for England & 
Wales and Cheshire East. Crewe LAP contained 8 out of the top 10 Lower Super 
Output Areas (LSOAs) in Cheshire East for proportions of people claiming working-
age benefits. 
Ten out of the 55 LSOAs in Crewe LAP were in the top 20% most multiply deprived 
nationally in the Index of Multiple Deprivation 2007, and Crewe LAP LSOAs ranked 
highest in Cheshire East for 6 out of 7 of the indicators. 
There are significant pockets of social and economic disadvantage in the areas of St 
Barnabas, and West Coppenhall and Grosvenor, which have communities with the 
highest scores on the Index of Multiple Deprivation 2007 in Cheshire East and which 
lie within the top 20% most deprived areas in England. 
Crewe LAP contained the Middle Super Output Areas (MSOAs) with the highest 
model-based estimates of the percentages of smokers, binge drinkers and obesity in 
Cheshire East, and the MSOA with the highest prevalence of hospitalisation for 
alcohol related conditions (2.4 times the national rate). It also contained the ward 
with the lowest estimated life expectancy in Cheshire East. 
 
Nantwich is the LAP in Cheshire East with the third smallest population and the 
lowest population density. 
The population age distribution was broadly similar to that for England & Wales, but 
Nantwich LAP’s proportion of people aged between 25-39 years was significantly 
lower than for England & Wales and the proportion of people aged between 60-79 
years significantly higher. 
Unemployment rates were lower than those for England and for Cheshire East.  
Average household income in Nantwich LAP was higher than the average for 
England & Wales and Cheshire East. 
Pockets of social and economic disadvantage exist in the area, largely in East 
Nantwich. East Nantwich L2 had the highest overall score on the Index of Multiple 
Deprivation (2007) in Nantwich LAP, ranking 25th (out of 231) in Cheshire East. The 
four highest scores for the indicator Barriers to Housing & Services were all in 
Nantwich LAP. 
Nantwich was the LAP with the highest proportion of people saying they had a 
limiting long term illness or disability in the Communities of Cheshire Survey. The 

Page 56



Improvements to Adult Social Care - Business Case 2012 

 

39 | P a g e  

 

proportion of people claiming Disability Living Allowance and the proportion of 
people not in good health were similar to the proportions in Cheshire East. 
 
 
2.4.2  CEC SOCIAL CARE BUILDINGS IN THIS AREA 
 
Macon House 

Description of 
the service 

A 55 place day service for people with learning disabilities in Crewe 

Description of 
the building 

A large, sprawling mid twentieth century brick building with many flat 
roofs and an increasing number of maintenance problems.  It was 
built as an adult training centre and is not fit for purpose as a 
modern day service.  The front of the building, nearest to the road is 
2 storeys and, in addition to the Macon House staff, it contains 
offices for several other staff teams - Occupational Opportunities, 
Mental Health Reablement (South) and Crewe & Nantwich SLN  

Occupancy Less than half of customers remain in the building.  They are 
receiving a community day service at the Oakley centre 

• Average Daily attendance = 50 
• Number remaining in building each day = 24 
• Estimated capacity = 55 
• Occupancy level = 91% (44%) 

Hilary Centre 

Description of 
the service 

A 30 place day service for people with physical and sensory 
disabilities in Crewe.  Merged with Jubilee House (older people’s 
day service when that closed in December 2010) 

Description of 
the building 

Attached to the Ethel Elks Children’s Centre. A one storey brick 
building just off Nantwich Road in Crewe. 

Occupancy • Average Daily attendance = 23 
• Number remaining in building each day = 23 
• Estimated capacity = 30 
• Occupancy level = 75% 

Cheyne Hall 

Description of 
the service 

A 40 place day service for people with learning disabilities in 
Nantwich 

Description of 
the building 

A newish building, built in the 1980s, attached to the fire station. 
Short of space 

Page 57



Improvements to Adult Social Care - Business Case 2012 

 

40 | P a g e  

 

Occupancy • Average Daily attendance = 38 
• Number remaining in building each day = 20 
• Estimated capacity = 40 
• Occupancy level = 50% 

Lincoln House 

Description of 
the service 

A 40 bed Community Support Centre in the west end of Crewe.  It 
includes a new dementia wing opened in 2010. Provides respite 
mainly to older people, but an increasing number of younger adults 
with complex needs now use the service 
Also houses a Dementia daycare service 

Description of 
the building 

Built as a CSC in the 1980s, it was completely refurbished and a 
new dementia wing added in 2010 

Has received £1M investment in 2009/10 to create 12 en-suite units, 
communal areas and a day care facility in a separate wing for older 
people with dementia. This allowed the transfer of the services 
previously provided at Santune House. 

Occupancy • Average Daily attendance = 36 
• Estimated capacity = 44 beds 
• Occupancy level = 82% 
 
Occupancy figure is across all beds, however the dementia beds 
usually run at close to 85%  

199 Queens Drive 

Description of 
the service 

LD respite unit in Nantwich with 6 bedrooms,  

Description of 
the building 

A 1950’s build domestic property converted for use as a respite 
centre 
Extension (garage converted into downstairs bedroom) 
approximately 1987 
Provides 5 respite beds, plus 1 emergency bed 
5 of the bedrooms are upstairs.  There is no lift.  Most new referrals 
are for people who have physical and learning disabilities. 
Not enough room for ceiling track hoists, en suites or wet rooms 
Too few beds to make provision of waking nights economically 
viable 

Occupancy • Average Daily attendance = 3.3 
• Estimated capacity = 6 beds 
• Occupancy level = 54% 

 
 

Page 58



Improvements to Adult Social Care - Business Case 2012 

 

41 | P a g e  

 

2.4.2 ORIGINAL OPTIONS PROPOSED FOR THIS AREA 
• Transferring service users from Queens Drive to enlarged facilities at 

Mountview 
 

 
2.4.3 ADDITIONAL OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

• Investment in Lincoln house to create a separate 5 bed wing to provide more 
local Learning Disability respite facilities   

 
2.4.5 KEY POINTS CONSIDERED 
 

• Original proposals for expanded LD respite at Mountview would have given 
required increase in capacity but the consultation highlighted additional 
journey times for Queens Drive customers. Lincoln House proposals 
developed instead 

• Queens Drive cannot cope with increasingly complex cases and cannot be 
practicably modified  due to site restrictions 

• Queens Drive cannot provide an economic waking nights service 
 
 
2.4.6 RECOMMENDATIONS FOR THIS AREA 

• Create separate LD respite wing at Lincoln House  
• Close Queens Drive with services transferred to Lincoln House and 

Mountview if closer for users 
 
 
 
 

Page 59



Improvements to Adult Social Care - Business Case 2012 

 

42 | P a g e  

 

SECTION THREE 
 
 

SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

Page 60



Improvements to Adult Social Care - Business Case 2012 

 

43 | P a g e  

 

 
3.1 SUMMARY PROPOSALS 
 
KNUTSFORD/WILMSLOW/POYNTON 

• Retain the Stanley Centre but with investment to separate it from Stanley 
House and improve bathroom facilities 

• Explore future options for Stanley House to include sale 
• Invest in Changing Places facilities at Wilmslow Leisure Centre 
• Bexton Court to be permanently closed 
• Closure of Day Care at Dean Row with investment in Redesmere to 

expand/improve facilities and capacity 
 
MACCLESFIELD 

• Expand Hollins View by converting YOT Building 
• Transfer Dementia Services from Mayfields to expanded Hollins View 
• Close Peatfields with services transferring to Mayfields 
• Further invest in Leisure Centre expansion and disabled facilities 

 
CONGLETON 

• Close 48/54 Lawton St with staff relocated to other buildings 
• Develop Mountview as Dementia respite facility 
• Possible investment in Carter House for the essential improvements to make it 

fit for purpose should the timescales for developing alternative proposals extend 
beyond 6 months  

 
CREWE/NANTWICH 

• Create separate LD respite wing at Lincoln House  
• Close Queens Drive with services transferred to Lincoln House and 

Mountview if closer for users 
 
 

Page 61



Improvements to Adult Social Care - Business Case 2012 

 

44 | P a g e  

 

3.2 SERVICE CHANGES 
 
The overall changes to service provision will be as follows: 
(Please note the capacity figures are service best estimates and will vary according to the level of 
need and the mobility of customers as explained in section 1.2.5) 

SERVICE CURRENT 
CAPACITY 

PROPOSED 
CAPACITY 

CHANGE 

Daycare – 
OP/PD** 

140 135 Reduction of 5 

Daycare – LD 
 

319 268 Reduction of 51 

Daycare – 
MH/Dementia 

15 15 No change 

Respite – OP/PD** 
 

84 67 Reduction of 17 

Respite LD 
 

13 12 Reduction of 1 

Respite – 
MH/Dementia 

22 32 Increase of 10 

** The distinction between OP and PD is blurring as Adults with PD become older 
hence they are combined here 
 
It can be seen that these proposals align with the earlier analysis suggesting that 
future demand will be for an increase in dementia respite services whilst other 
services start to reduce 
 
However the forecasting analysis in section1.2.5 clearly indicates that demand will 
continue to change in the future as more people exercise choice. It is therefore 
imperative that ongoing provision will need continual review in order to match those 
changes. 
 
 

Page 62



WHERE WHAT WHY CAPITAL COST
CAPITAL 
RECEIPT

REVENUE SAVING COMMENT

Stanley Centre - option1
(Day Care)

Retain the Stanley Centre as is, however would 
necessitate some building modernisation work 
to the older building (heating, bathroom etc)

Suggested by consultation £10K none
none - 

running costs of £440k 
continue

DECLINED
The worst solution since, although retaining services locally, it 
demands investment, continuance of higher than necessary 
running costs and delivers no revenue nor capital benefit

Stanley Centre - option2
(Day Care)

Retain the new part of the Stanley Centre, with 
some modifications to separate from the old 

building and improve security. Consider 
potential for offering dementia care.

Retains local service and allows for potential 
capital receipt from sale of the old building

£15K £74K

Minor (£40K?) - the bulk of 
current running costs would 
be incurred since they relate 

to staffing

DECLINED
See below - however the additional of dementia respite is not 
practicable since the smaller centre would be fuller and there is 
no potential to offer segregated facilities as preferred by 
customers

Stanley Centre - option3
(Day Care)

Retain the new part of the Stanley Centre, with 
some modifications to separate from the old 

building and improve security. 

Retains local service and allows for potential 
capital receipt from sale of the old building

£15K £74K

Minor (£40K?) - the bulk of 
current running costs would 
be incurred since they relate 

to staffing

RECOMMENDED OPTION
Retails local service with enhanced facilities whilst delivering a 
capital receipt

Stanley Centre - option4
(Day Care)

Complete closure and sale of entire site, service 
transferred to other venues inc. Wilmslow 

Lifestyle (non-complex needs) and Redesmere 
(for complex needs)

Maximises capital receipt and revenue 
savings

none £465K

Approx £150K? - many 
current staff would need to 

transfer to other venues 
alongside service users

DECLINED
Strong local opposition to complete closure and difficult in 
finding suitable alternative venues that would accommodate 
needs of all current customers

Knutsford Leisure 
Centre

(Day Care)

Conversion of some rooms to provide day 
centre functions and lifestyle base

DECLINED
Not feasible due to shared use with High School, now an 

Plumley Civic Hall
(Day Care)

Use of some rooms to provide day centre 
functions and lifestyle base

DECLINED
Not feasible due to existing booking patterns preventing regular 
use

Knutsford Civic Centre
(Day Care)

Use of some rooms to provide day centre 
functions and lifestyle base

DECLINED
Not feasible due to existing booking patterns preventing regular 
use

St Johns Community 
Centre

(Day Care)

Use of some rooms to provide day centre 
functions and lifestyle base

DECLINED 
To be outsourced via tender - future options therefore uncertain

Winstanley House
(Day Care)

Use of some rooms to provide day centre 
functions and lifestyle base

DECLINED 
No suitable rooms available 

East Terrace
(Day Care)

Use of some rooms to provide day centre 
functions and lifestyle base - several current 

Service Users live their

DECLINED 
Not feasible due to lack of space

Wilmslow Leisure 
Centre

(Day Care)

Extension to existing Lifestyle hub and  
installation of Changing Places toilet & facilities 

To allow expanded use as an attractive 
Lifestyle base

Cost Options 
listed below.

SEE BELOW

Wilmslow Leisure 
Centre

Extension of existing Dayroom facility £12,500
RECOMMENDED OPTION
Expands potential for current activities and additional customers

Wilmslow Leisure 
Centre

Changing Places (Option A) First Floor £48,455
DECLINED
Not the best location for ensuring maximum accessibility and use 
by public and customers

Wilmslow Leisure 
Centre

Changing Places (Option B) First Floor £44,331
DECLINED
Not the best location for ensuring maximum accessibility and use 

Not explored due to unsuitability
To provide an alternative venue for 

customers currently attending the Stanley 
centre thereby permitting its closure

Allows current lifestyle user base to grow 

KNUTSFORD/WILMSLOW

ADULTS BUILDINGS REVIEW OPTIONS SUMMARY 
@2/2/12

none
none directly although might 

permit other buildings to 

P
age 63



Wilmslow Leisure 
Centre

Changing Places (Option C) Ground Floor 
Corridor 

£52,214
RECOMMENDED OPTION
Provides disabled facilities for both Lifestyle customers and the 
general public

Wilmslow Leisure 
Centre

Changing Places (Option D) Ground Floor 
Reception

£83,645
DECLINED
Not the best location for ensuring maximum accessibility and use 
by public and customers

Wilmslow Leisure 
Centre

Changing Places (Option E) Ground Floor 
Reception

£81,895
DECLINED
Not the best location for ensuring maximum accessibility and use 
by public and customers

Wilmslow Leisure 
Centre

Installation of disabled changing area £16,000
RECOMMENDED OPTION
Provides disabled facilities for both Lifestyle customers and the 
general public

Redesmere(Day Care)
Alterations to allow user transfer from Dean 

Row. Keep ILC and IROT on site

Makes it more attractive and possible for 
users to transfer from Dean Row - linked 

alternative under investigation
£37K

£525K from 
Dean Row

If Dean Row closed = £102K

RECOMMENDED OPTION
Compared to Dean Row offers better parking and facilities for 
more complex needs. Adaptation proposed are much lower costs 
than dean Row and provide for a one-stop shop approach

Dean Row
(Day Care)

Alterations to allow user transfer from 
Redesmere

Makes it more attractive and possible for 
users to transfer from Redesmere - linked 

alternative under investigation
£596K

£500K from 
Redesmere

If Redesmere closed = £62K

DECLINED
Requires higher level of investment to make suitable for more 
complex needs and leaves the difficulty of accommodating the 
ILC and IROT service currently at Redesmere

Dean Row
(Day Care)

Move services to Redesmere and then declare 
surplus

Realises capital value and saves running 
costs

none
£525K from 
Dean Row

£129K

RECOMMENDED OPTION
Provides higher quality services at Redesmere and delivers 
higher capital and revenue benefit

David Lewis Centre
(Day Care)

none none

none directly although would 
permit other buildings to 

close, may be TUPE 
implications

DEFERRED
May be a longer term solution to be included in Phase 2 
consideration

Bexton Court
(Day + Respite Care)

Confirm permanent closure
No proven demand for CEC dementia 

respite given large independent sector 
provision

No 'new' savings

RECOMMENDED OPTION
Would require significant investment to bring back into service. 
Uncertainty exists about entire site given recent PCT proposals

Hollins View - option1
(Day + Respite Care)

Improvements to existing building  to provide 
specialist Dementia care 

Allows use for both Dementia Respite and 
day care facilitating moves from Mayfields 

to more local provision
£126K none

none directly although would 
permit other buildings to 

close

DECLINED
Most costly option re Hollins View causing difficulty in relocating 
current customers during building works

Hollins View - option2
(Day + Respite Care)

Conversion of existing YOT building on same 
site to increase capacity for Dementia care

Increased capacity permitting moves from 
Mayfields

£25K none
none directly although would 

permit other buildings to 
close

RECOMMENDED OPTION
Provides additional capacity at lowest cost. New dementia 
faculties would also be separate with garden area in line with 
best practice and CEC Dementia Strategy

Macclesfield Leisure 
Centre

Day Care)

Extension to existing Lifestyle hub and  
installation of Changing Places toilet & facilities 

To allow expanded use as an attractive 
Lifestyle base

costings and 
options shown 

below

SEE BELOW

Macclesfield Leisure 
Centre

Day Care)

Extension of existing room - Does not address 
any access issues, or incorporate Changing 

Places facility. (Option A)
£18,789

DECLINED
Extension not large enough to cope with predicted demand

Macclesfield Leisure 
Centre

Day Care)

Larger extension of existing room - Does not 
address any access issues, or incorporate 

Changing Places facility. (Option B)
£29,189

RECOMMENDED OPTION
Expands potential for current activities and additional customers

none directly although could 

Allows current lifestyle user base to grow 
and encourages use of facilities by general 

population. Potential for extra revenue 
generated for Leisure services

New provision by DLC of Day Care as independent sector solution

MACCLESFIELD

none permit other buildings to 
close

P
age 64



Macclesfield Leisure 
Centre

Day Care)

Largest extension of existing room - Does not 
address any access issues, or incorporate 

Changing Places facility. (Option C)
£33,589

DECLINED
Extension too large for predicted demand

Macclesfield Leisure 
Centre

Day Care)

Platform lift in addition to Options A-C to 
improve accessibility

£12,000
RECOMMENDED OPTION
Expands potential for current activities and additional customers

Macclesfield Leisure 
Centre

Day Care)

Move Lounge/Daycare room to improve 
accessibility

£59,221
DECLINED
Does not give the expanded capacity of Option B

Macclesfield Leisure 
Centre

Day Care)

Provide Changing Places facility at the main 
entrance

£60,540
RECOMMENDED OPTION
Provides disabled facilities for both Lifestyle customers and the 
general public

Mayfields
(Day Care)

Move dementia services to Mountview to free 
capacity for users to move in from Peatfields - 

will require consultation with Brockelhurst 
group

Allows consolidation of Peatfields none none
none directly although would 

permit other buildings to 
close

RECOMMENDED OPTION
Allows customers to move into higher quality facilities and avoids 
the investment needed to make Peatfields fit for purpose

Peatfields
(Day Care)

Declare surplus
Surplus once services consolidated - to 

retain would require significant investment  
and modification for use for complex needs

none £150K £99K

RECOMMENDED OPTION
Allows customers to move into higher quality facilities and avoids 
the investment needed to make fit for purpose

Warwick Mews
Move respite care to redeveloped Mountview 
in order to allow re-use for returning out-of-

area LD placements

Revenue savings from expensive out-of-area 
placements

none none
Not investigated further at 

this time

DEFERRED
May be a future option to be considered in Phase 2. However will 
be subject to consultation and monitoring of respite usage at 
Mountview

Mountview
(Day + Respite Care)

Investment to create 3 additional LD respite 
bedrooms & multi-purpose facilities inc LD day 

service

Allows some users to move from Queens 
Drive/Carter House

£24,915 none £102K from Carter House

DEFERRED
May be a future option to be considered in Phase 2. However will 
be subject to consultation

Mountview
(Day + Respite Care)

Conversion of 10 OP respite beds into 10 
additional dementia respite bedrooms 

Provides for increasing dementia demand £34,400 none none  

RECOMMENDED OPTION
Will provide expanded capacity for what is a currently over-
subscribed service and responds to the increasing demand 
suggested by demographics and consultation

Carter House
(Day Care)

Retain but with improvements to toilets etc
Urgently needed Investment to make fit for 

purpose
£20K none none  

RECOMMENDED OPTION
Investment needed if other alternatives not available within 6 
months, does not resolve over-capacity issue in the area which 
will be subject to further work

Carter House
(Day Care)

Close following development of Mountview - 
after consultation

Avoids investment needed to make fit for 
purpose

0 TBC £102K from Carter House
DEFERRED
May be a future option to be considered in Phase 2. However will 
be subject to consultation

48/54 Lawton St
Closure following staff relocation to other 

premises

Consolidation following staff moves. Avoids 
renovation costs and need to make DDA 

compliant
none £200K+ £12K

RECOMMENDED OPTION
Delivers savings with no impact on customers. Recent staff 
changes in other locations have made alternative 
accommodation available - details to be finalised

Salinae
(Day Care)

none
none directly although could 

potentially permit other 
buildings to close

CREWE

Allows current lifestyle user base to grow 
and encourages use of facilities by general 
population. Extra revenue generated for 

Leisure services

NO CHANGE

CONGLETON

P
age 65



Queens Drive
Closure following moves to Mountview or 

Lincoln House

Unable to cope with increasingly complex 
demand without investment.

5 bedrooms are upstairs with no lift. One 
bedroom is a converted garage not fit for 

purpose. Insufficient space to install ceiling 
track hoists or en-suite facilities. Too few 
beds to make waking nights service viable

none £230K £79K

RECOMMENDED OPTION
Unable to cope with complex demand - customers would receive 
higher quality facilities and service at either Lincoln House or 
Mountview, depending on journey times (88% would have 
shorter journeys)

Queens Drive Retain

5 bedrooms are upstairs with no lift. One 
bedroom is a converted garage not fit for 

purpose. Insufficient space to install ceiling 
track hoists or en-suite facilities. Too few 
beds to make waking nights service viable

None none None

DECLINED
requires significant investment but the building size makes this 
difficult to achieve economically

Queens Drive Adapt

Install lift, ensuite facilities. But problem of 
lack of space to do this. Reduction in rooms 
means greater cost of places. Would not be 

able to offer a waking nights service.

TBC but likely to 
be £30K+

none None

DECLINED
requires significant investment but the building size makes this 
difficult to achieve economically

Lincoln House

Create 5 LD respite beds here in Kensington 
wing.  There would need to be a partition, some 

alterations to bathrooms and toilets, secure 
doors fitted, along with some fencing to create 

an outside garden/patio area.

Would allow local delivery of respite in 
Crewe/Nantwich area. 

£31,192
£230K from 

Queens Drive
£79K from Queens Drive

RECOMMENDED OPTION
Provides local respite within enhanced facilities together with 
ability to offer a waking nights service

Private Provision Block book beds with the private sector 

Allows option of more local provision, 
means no capital outlay by the Council.

None
£230K from 

Queens Drive

£79K from closure of Queens 
Drive. More detail required 

although private sector 
staffing costs tend to be 

lower than in-house. May not 
realise savings from bringing 

in Out of Borough Placements

DEFERRED
Will be included as part of longer term, phase 2 considerations
However, would not allow separation of respite from normal 
residential care as no specialist independent sector respite places 
within Borough. Risk that costs may rise over time. Problem of 
whether provision available for Complex LD/PD.

Out of County 
Placements

Service users with more complex needs 
currently given respite out of county due to lack 

of facilities

Means no capital outlay but service users 
have to travel, relatively expensive for the 

Council
None None None

DEFERRED
Will be included as part of longer term, phase 2 considerations

Shared Lives Short breaks for older people in a carers home

Requires no capital investment by the 
Council, although finding the right 

placement not always straightforward. 
Unlikely to provide a solution for all 

customers (particularly for those with more 
complex needs).

None None

Might allow a smaller number 
of beds to be used in a 

building but further work 
required

DEFERRED
Will be included as part of longer term, phase 2 considerations

Redsands
Former Children's Home, located on outskirts of 

Nantwich
Is a much longer term solution which needs 

further exploration
TBC  TBC TBC

DEFERRED
Will be included as part of longer term, phase 2 considerations

Cheyne Hall
(Day Care)

Macon House
(Day Care)

£345K £1,180M £318K

NO CHANGE

NO CHANGE

TOTALS FROM PROPOSALS ABOVE

P
age 66



 

 

 

Improvements to Adult Social Care 
Consultation Report 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Produced by the Consultation and Participation Team,  
Children, Families and Adults Directorate, Cheshire East Council 

 

 

Page 67



2 
 

 

Executive Summary 
 
The consultation period for the Improvements to Adult Social Care 
Consultation ran from 20 September-13 December and involved a number of 
measures to engage with the public. These included three public meetings (111 
attendees) and 14 meetings at day centres with customers and carers (278 
attendees).  It also involved collating feedback that the Council received 
through questionnaire, by email, telephone or on a face to face basis (e.g. via a 
home visit).  

Feedback was ordered by the three different aspects of the consultation; the 
lifestyle vision, the specific changes to day services, and the proposal regarding 
the respite centre at Queens Drive. 

Lifestyle Vision 

• 59% of customers endorsed the lifestyle approach, with 22% against it 

• Many customers liked the idea of the greater choice and variety that the 
lifestyle vision promised for day services. However, some users felt that 
this variety should also be offered within existing day services. 

• The following options were the most popular of potential activities that 
could be offered; trips out, lunch, music and cooking. 

General (Day Services and Respite) 

• In total 53% disagreed with the principle of rationalising centres with 
30% agreeing. 

• Any transfer of day centre was viewed as creating a number of transport 
related problems for customers and carers e.g. because of the logistics 
of public transport and the increased time and cost of travelling. 

• Changes in centres were seen as being potentially disruptive to 
vulnerable groups of people e.g. people with learning disabilities 

• Occupancy rates at buildings were questioned by many users. Linked to 
this, there was also a feeling that personal budgets were negatively 
impacting on the sustainability of centres. 

Page 68



3 
 

• People generally valued the service they received at social care centres 
particularly the quality of staff. 

• Two petitions were received; one with 6290 signatures which 
emphasised the need to keep services local in Cheshire East and to 
preserve health and social care provision in Knutsford. The other 
specifically related to retaining the Stanley Centre (Knutsford) and 
comprised of 275 signatures (see Appendix 1). 

Day Centres listed in proposals: 
 

Stanley Centre (Knutsford): 

• No alternative buildings were seen as suitable in the Knutsford area by 
respondents. 

• The inconvenience of travel to alternative day centres (e.g. Redesmere - 
Handforth) was seen as excessive. 

• It was felt that the Stanley Centre already offered activities that fulfilled 
the lifestyle brief. The quality of care was also praised at the Stanley 
Centre and this was cited as superior to alternatives. 

• The meetings at the Stanley Centre and at Knutsford Civic Centre were 
characterised by strong feelings being expressed about the proposals. 
Petitions were also completed by Knutsford residents and others 
emphasising the need for the Stanley Centre to be retained. A detailed 
report was also completed by MENCAP on the consultation proposals. 

Bexton Court (Knutsford): 

• Few representations were directly received about Bexton Court. 
Although a petition was completed by Knutsford residents and others 
emphasising the need for dementia care services to be retained. 
Knutsford Town Council made the same case. 

• A drop in meeting was arranged for former users of Bexton Court and 
their family but nobody expressed an interest in attending. 

Peatfields (Macclesfield): 

• Comments were more limited for this centre although some carers were 
unhappy about the proposed decommissioning.  

Page 69



4 
 

• Transport was cited as a key issue for users of Peatfields e.g. many users 
live nearby the centre and are able to walk in 

• There were questions as to why Peatfields had been selected for closure 
above other centres. It was felt that it offered a personalised service 
which it would be difficult to replicate elsewhere. 

Dean Row (Wilmslow): 

• Customers of Dean Row appreciated the familiarity of the centre, the 
staff and its facilities. 

• Concern was expressed that attendance at Dean Row had deliberately 
been limited in order to allow it to be closed. 

• Comments were more limited for this centre although some carers were 
unhappy about the proposed decommissioning.  

Brocklehurst (Macclesfield): 

• A further proposal was developed to transfer customers from the 
Brocklehurst to Hollins View. 

• Generally carers were happy with the transfer although it was 
emphasised that staff should transfer with customers to ensure 
continuity of service, and that bathing facilities should be available. 

Respite - Queens Drive (Nantwich): 

• Strong feelings were expressed about Queens Drive at the meetings at 
Nantwich Civic Hall and Crewe Football Ground. 

• People valued the homely environment that Queens Drive offered and 
felt that the Council should have worked harder to find solutions to 
retain it. 

• Transport was seen as particularly problematical for users of Queens 
Drive who were mostly from the Crewe and Nantwich area. 

There were additional comments made about the consultation process itself; 
this included the information that was provided such as around occupancy. It 
also included remarks that the consultation was a done deal and over the 
anxiety and upset that the uncertainty was causing to customers and carers. 

Page 70



5 
 

 

Contents 
 

Executive Summary.................................................................................................................................2 

Chapter 1: Introduction ..........................................................................................................................6 

The Consultation Process................................................................................................................7 

General Questions Raised About the Consultation ......................................................................12 

Chapter 2: Analysis - Lifestyle ...............................................................................................................14 

Lifestyle .........................................................................................................................................14 

Feedback from the Questionnaire ................................................................................................15 

Responses at Meetings, By Letter etc...........................................................................................21 

The Lifestyle Pilots ........................................................................................................................23 

Chapter 3: Analysis – Day Centre Proposals .........................................................................................25 

The Questionnaire.........................................................................................................................25 

Analysis: by Area ...........................................................................................................................28 

Knutsford Area ..............................................................................................................................28 

Wilmslow Area..............................................................................................................................36 

Congleton and Middlewich Area ..................................................................................................39 

Crewe and Nantwich Area ............................................................................................................42 

Macclesfield Area..........................................................................................................................44 

Chapter 4: Analysis - Respite and Queens Drive...................................................................................47 

Chapter 5:  Key Themes ........................................................................................................................51 

The Consultation Process..............................................................................................................51 

Service Changes – Key Themes .....................................................................................................54 

Appendix 1:  Petition.............................................................................................................................57 

Appendix 2:  Responses from Organisations ........................................................................................62 

 

Page 71



6 
 

 
Chapter 1: Introduction 

The Improvements to Adult Social Care Consultation concerned the Council 
putting a vision forward for how the Council could deliver services in the 
future.  

The vision involved customers who currently receive day services being given 
more choice over what they do during the day. Customers would be able to 
attend lifestyle groups where they would be able to access a much greater 
range of activities. These activities would be appropriate to their social care 
needs and their interests. The lifestyle groups would be run from buildings 
based in the community such as leisure centres.  

Customers with more complex needs would still attend traditional day 
services. However, the number of these would be reduced. Some of the money 
from these changes would be used to re-invest in the remaining buildings.  

The specific buildings directly affected by the proposals were: Peatfields 
(Macclesfield), Dean Row (Wilmslow), Bexton Court (Knutsford) and the 
Stanley Centre (Knutsford). However, it was underlined for Knutsford that 
dialogue would take place over the most appropriate way forward. It was also 
stated that no one would lose a service as a result of these proposals (subject 
to the Council’s standard Fair Access to Care eligibility criteria).  

In addition to this, proposals were put forward for respite services. This 
involved the transfer of respite services from Queens Drive (Nantwich) to 
Mountview (Congleton) due to the fact that this building did not have the 
facilities for people with more complex needs. It also involved investment in 
Hollins View (Macclesfield). 

Full details of the vision and the proposals are available in the Information Pack 
which went with this consultation.  

The proposals were preliminary because there was a desire by the Council to 
involve the public in work at an early stage. Options were compiled for each 
area/centre on the basis of the consultation with the public. 

The time period for this consultation ran from 20th September to 13th 
December. 
 

Page 72



7 
 

The Consultation Process 
The Consultation was open to everyone in Cheshire East but was particularly 
aimed at customers, their families and carers. The Council was also keen to 
listen to organisations that play a part in delivering Social Care related support 
either because they represent customers or because they deliver care. 

A number of methods were available to stakeholders to give them the 
opportunity to make their views known during the consultation. This included 
by email, telephone or face to face via a consultation meeting. 

The Consultation meetings were held during the October/November period. 

• The formal meetings were for customers who attended centres and their 
family/carers. These were for centres directly affected by the proposals.  

• Informal meetings were also held at centres because the lifestyle ideas 
might be explored in these areas if this was of interest to customers. 
Explanation of the other proposals was also given. 

• The public meetings were open to all and were arranged in the evening to 
give an alternative time slot for carers working during the day. 

Meetings involved a presentation on the proposals, a question and answer 
session and the chance to speak to staff on a one to one basis. The format 
tended to vary slightly depending on the size and the needs of the audience. 
However, the key messages remained the same. 

A questionnaire was handed out following the presentation at the meetings. 
This was available in both standard and easy read format. The questionnaire 
gave the chance for everyone to comment on the proposals and allowed 
quantitative information to be collected. 

Staff at centres provided additional support to customers and carers to ensure 
that they understood the proposals and had a full chance to give their views. 
This included supporting them to fill in the questionnaire. 

Page 73



8 
 

 
Formal Meetings 

Location Date Attendance 

Hollins View Wednesday 5th October 2011 7 

Peatfields   Thursday 6th October 2011 27 

Stanley Centre  
(also for customers 
formerly based at 
Bexton Court) 

Friday 7th October 2011 48 

Redesmere  Tuesday 18th October 2011 18 

Dean Row Monday 24th October 2011 16 

Mountview Monday 31st October 2011 15 

Nantwich Civic Hall (for 
customers based at 
Queens Drive) 

Monday 31st October 2011 24 

 

Informal Meetings 

Location Date Attendance 

Mayfield  Monday 3rd October 2011 43 

Carter House  Wednesday 26th October 2011 15 

Lincoln House Wednesday, 2 November 2011 3 

Cheyne Hall  Monday 7th November 2011 11 

Macon House  Wednesday 9th November 2011 9 

Hilary Centre  Friday 11th November 2011 24 

Salinae  Friday 18th November 2011 18 

 
 

Page 74



9 
 

 
Public Meetings 

Location Date Attendance 

Knutsford Civic Hall 
(Cranford Suite) 

Tuesday 15th November 2011 63 

Crewe Football Ground 
(Carlsberg Lounge) 

Thursday 24th November 2011 33 

Wilmslow Leisure Centre  
(Evans Suite)  

Tuesday 29th November 2011 15 

 

Additional measures included: 

• Focus groups with customers using the Macclesfield and Wilmslow pilot 
lifestyle groups. 

• A Knutsford engagement group with customers who attended the 
Stanley Centre and their carers (expressions of interest were taken for 
this group) 

• Presentations and questions and answers at Learning Disability 
Partnership Boards 

• A follow up meeting for users of the Brocklehurst Unit 

• A drop in meeting was held on 1 November for customers of the Stanley 
Centre and their carers/family, due to disruption at the formal meeting 
at the Stanley Centre. Similarly, a drop in meeting was held on 8 
December for former customers of Bexton Court and their carers/family. 

The public meetings were generally attended by people related to or caring for 
customers or people from organisations, although customers were also 
present. The day centres meetings had much greater representation by 
customers although carers did attend these meetings as well.  

Petition 

A petition was also presented to the Local Authority before full Council on 15 
December 2011. The petition contained 6,290 signatures from people 
predominantly in Knutsford but also from those in Cheshire East (and outside 
its boundaries). The covering statement included the following: 

Page 75



10 
 

“We the undersigned petition Cheshire East Council and East Cheshire 
Hospital Trust: 
Save our social and health care –keep our services local 
Keep our Stanley Centre for disabled adults 
Return our dementia care services 
Return our intermediate hospital ward” 

The petition relates to the proposals to look at services within Knutsford 
(Bexton Court and the Stanley Centre) but also to services provided by health 
(the intermediate hospital ward) and more widely within Cheshire East. 
Another petition was also presented directly relating to the Stanley Centre. 
This was signed by 275 people. See Appendix 1 for full details. 

Publicity 

The consultation was publicised through a number of different methods. These 
included: 

• Posters in libraries, supermarkets, public buildings etc 
• Letters to customers using the Stanley Centre and those formerly using 

Bexton Court 
• Radio interviews with Silk FM, Canalside and BBC Radio Stoke 
• Publicity through Cheshire East LINk 
• Letters to relevant local health and social care organisations 
• Press releases 
• Engagement with Knutsford Town Council  
• Stakeholder meeting with strategic health and social care organisations 
• Circulation of posters and email reminder to relevant health and social 

care organisations 
• Internal Cheshire East staff newsletter (goes to 10,000+) 
• Engagement of customers through staff working at our social care 

buildings 
• Usage of the Council’s website including the ability to complete a 

questionnaire online 
 

Questionnaire 

A questionnaire is one of the best ways to receive feedback from a range of 
people. It is especially useful because of the way it can give quantitative 
information (numerical information) which can be used to give a general 
overall assessment of what people think of a particular policy. However, it is 
also important to allow open responses to questions in order to understand 
some of the reasoning behind the selection of a particular option. 

Page 76



11 
 

There were two versions of the questionnaire; a standard version and one 
aimed at customers with learning disabilities (although some people chose this 
because of the simpler language and pictorial approach that this offered). In 
all, 99 people completed the easy read questionnaire with 88 completing the 
standard questionnaire. 

Only the standard questionnaire recorded the client type of the customers 
(e.g. learning disabilities, physical disabilities etc) due to concerns about 
keeping the questionnaire as brief and as simple as possible for those with 
learning disabilities. As such, it would be expected that the overall proportion 
of customers with learning disabilities is somewhat higher than the proportion 
below. It is also likely that there is a greater response rate from older people. 

In total 187 questionnaires were received during the consultation. The majority 
of people (who indicated) were users of day or respite services (72%). 18% of 
all respondents used short break services with 70% using day services (note: it 
was possible to select both options). 

 If an assumption is made that those who did not indicate that they used a 
service in the easy read questionnaire were carers (to simplify this 
questionnaire ‘carers’ was not an option on this document) then carers can be 
said to have returned 32% of the questionnaires. (Note: some people indicated 
that they were both a customer and a carer so percentages are from total 
responses received. Other feedback received was from organisations or from 
general members of the public) 

Chart 1: Questionnaire received by client group (from standard questionnaire) 

 
The responses show a good spread of responses across the client groups.  The 
percentages are weighted towards people with learning disabilities but this 

Page 77



12 
 

reflects the fact that the main consultation proposals e.g. the Stanley Centre, 
Peatfields, Dean Row and Queens Drive relate to this client group (although 
there are also implications for others client categories). 

General Questions Raised About the Consultation 
Many general questions were raised about the consultation itself during the 
process. Reponses from the Council have been given here to some of the main 
questions posed. A fuller list of general issues raised about the consultation is 
included in the analysis section. 

Q: Will our views be listened? 

A:  The Council has tried to make this Consultation as transparent and as fair a 
process as possible. As such no final decision will genuinely be taken until 
Cabinet considers the revised proposals in March 2012. 
 
Q: Is this just about saving money? 

A: There are two important areas that the Council would contend to be 
improvements. Firstly, the lifestyle vision which if realised would see an 
increase in the range of activities and therefore the amount of choice available 
in the day to customers.  This could have a genuinely positive effect on 
customers’ wellbeing. Secondly, the investment that would be made in the 
buildings that the Council retained. One good example would be the potential 
ability for the Council to offer respite services for people with more complex 
needs. 

Q: Why are you saying the centre is under occupied when I know many 
people attend there? 

A: There were a number of people who disagreed with the way the Council had 
calculated occupancy rates in its buildings. This was particularly so for the 
Stanley Centre. 

Occupancy can be interpreted in a number of ways. For instance, it can mean 
the physical capacity of the building – the number of people who can 
reasonably fit in the rooms the building has. It can also mean the staff capacity 
- the number of people the current staffing in the building can support.  

There are also additional factors such as the fact that many individuals using a 
building may only use it as a ‘check-in’ point before accessing services in the 
community. Attendance levels are also affected by sickness and other reasons 

Page 78



13 
 

for absence – requiring a place to be ‘reserved’ but not filled on some 
occasions.  

Q: Why is the Council cutting services for vulnerable people? 

A: Everyone who currently receives a service will continue to receive one. As 
such the Council is not cutting services although it is possible that they may be 
delivered in a different location. 

Demand for social care services continues to grow as a result of factors such as 
the ageing population. This puts pressure on the Council’s limited resources. 
The Council therefore has a responsibility to regularly review services to try to 
ensure its services are delivered in as efficient way as possible. It is also 
important to ensure the needs of individuals are carefully taken into account.  

 

Further more general issues are picked up about the consultation process later 
in this document.

Page 79



14 
 

 

Chapter 2: Analysis - Lifestyle 
 

As stated in the introduction the consultation concerned three different areas; 
the lifestyle vision, specific proposals for day centres, a proposal for the respite 
centre Queens Drive. This commentary will take each of these proposals in 
turn, following the format of the original consultation information pack. 

The lifestyle analysis which follows is split into three main sections, feedback 
we received via the questionnaire and feedback we received from other 
sources e.g. consultation meetings, correspondence etc. There is also a 
separate section on the lifestyle pilots. 

Lifestyle 
 
The proposals that were put forward for day services had an underlying vision 
behind them known as the lifestyle concept. 

The idea of this was to try and give customers receiving day services more 
choice over what they do during the day. There would be a menu of lifestyle 
activities delivered by trained and experienced staff who would support 
individuals in what they wanted to do. Activities might include such options as 
swimming, using the gym, badminton, pottery, tea dances, IT buddy support 
sessions etc. 

Services would be offered in a range of buildings including Council leisure 
centres and libraries. The lifestyle buildings would act as a base from which 
customers could access community facilities such as health services, luncheon 
clubs, shopping trips etc. Such services would predominantly be offered to 
people who were more independent, with those with complex needs 
continuing to attend ‘traditional’ day services.  

Page 80



15 
 

 

Feedback from the Questionnaire 
 
What do customers, carers and families value about current day services? 

The first section of the questionnaire explored how people felt about their 
current day services. The standard and easy read questionnaires shared the 
same options apart from one (‘the fact my carer/family can have a break from 
looking after me’ – as such the percentage for this is worked out from the 
standard questionnaire responses only). 

The most popular option selected was ‘Being with friends’ (82%). This perhaps 
reflects the importance of customers having an established group that they 
were part of. Another option relating to this which was also popular was 
‘Going to a place I am familiar’ with (74%) respondents selecting this. 

A representative quote is: 

“The person for whom I care has chosen to travel from Macclesfield to 
the Stanley Centre at Knutsford.  He wished to be with his friends in 
surroundings to which he is familiar.” 

The second and joint third most popular options were ‘Taking Part in Activities’ 
(78%) and ‘Having something to do during the day’ (74%). It should be 
remembered that these options relate to current service provision and not the 
lifestyle vision. A statement relating to this was: 

“The Centre (Stanley Centre) gives P’s day a structure.  He feels safe 
there and confident in taking part in activities, which do not duplicate 
activities he does in his spare time.” 

“My daughter goes to Carter House twice a week and enjoys having the 
independence of going there on the bus and meeting her friends there. 
She likes the fact that it is regular and familiar.” 

‘Having someone to care for me’ and ‘the fact my carer/family can have a 
break from looking after me’ were the least popular options although were still 
selected by a sizeable majority of people.  

 

 

 

Page 81



16 
 

 

 

Chart 2: What do you value about current day services? 

  

What do customers, carers and families dislike about current day services? 

The easy read and the standard version of the questionnaires had a different 
range of choices here so results need to be commented on separately. 

For the standard questionnaire the overwhelming majority of people (88%) 
stated that they did not dislike anything about day services. Comments that 
reflect this include: 

“The carers and staff are so kind and helpful.” 

“Peatfields is a very good day centre.” 

However, six people did state that they did not like the distance they had to 
travel. For instance: 

“Transport to and from the day centre is expensive at £4.00 per mile, so I 
have to walk to and from the centre.” 

 

 

Page 82



17 
 

 
Chart 3: What do you dislike about your day service? (standard questionnaire) 

 

The response popularity was quite different for the Learning Disability version 
of the questionnaire. Here 28% of people stated that they did not have enough 
choice over what they did, 17% also stated that they disliked not being able to 
do things in the community. However, the majority of comments (69%) were 
from people ticking the ‘Other’ option. There was not a particular pattern in 
these remarks though aside from praise once again for day service staff. 

 

Chart 4: What do you dislike about your day service? (easy read questionnaire) 

 

Page 83



18 
 

 
What do customers like doing during the day? 

This question in the survey asked customers what they would like to do during 
the day in general terms. Marginally, the most people (63%) selected ‘being 
able to take part in leisure activities’ which is in some small way endorsement 
for the lifestyle approach. Likewise, 62% of responses were from people who 
stated that they liked mixing with other people in the community.  

The responses ‘being with family and friends’ (55%) and ‘choosing things you 
want to do/being more independent’ were also (51%) popular choices.  

Chart 5: What do customers like to do during the day 

 

Few additional comments were given by respondents to this question. The 
ones that were received again reiterated the need for familiarity and 
continuity of day centre. One statement was: 

“My disabilities mean most of the above are no longer practical.  I enjoy 
the activities available at Redesmere, but not sure if these are classed as 
'leisure'.  I am unable to undertake physical activities.  I enjoy being with 
my family but my children all live out of the area.” 
 

Would customers like to take part in ‘lifestyle activities’ during the day? 

A majority of respondents to this question (59%) stated that they would like to 
take part in lifestyle activities, with 19% stating they were unsure and 22% 
stating they didn’t wish to. It should be underlined here that the question 
emphasised that ‘these would take place at other buildings different from our 
day centres such as leisure centres or libraries’.  

Page 84



19 
 

This majority was noticeably higher in the easy read questionnaires with 70% 
of respondents here stating that they would like to take part in lifestyle 
activities (16% said they didn’t wish to, 15% didn’t know). In the standard 
questionnaire 44% stated that they would like to with 31% stating no (26% of 
people stated they were unsure).  

The open comments received do suggest a little caution is applied to these 
results because people do raise a number of anxieties. For instance, questions 
are raised about the suitability of some activities.  

 “Some of the lifestyle activities listed may be inappropriate because of 
the nature of disability and personal unfamiliarity or dislike of an 
activity.” 

“Not physically or mentally able to participate in any lifestyle activities” 

“It would be very difficult for C to take part in some things.” 

Transport was also seen as a problem in participating in a lifestyle group. For 
instance: 

“My strong preference would be to participate in 'arts' and 'social' 
activities, but only if these are provided at Redesmere.  I should be 
unwilling to travel away from Redesmere to access these.” 

“Needs to be local to where I live” 

“…for me to attend activities provided at locations outside my home 
(whether held in other public buildings or at a day centre) affordable 
transport would be needed to enable me to participate. The nearest bus 
stop is beyond my walking range at present.”  

Many people also felt that the lifestyle approach should be available in a 
traditional day service setting. There were also a few comments relating once 
again to the difficulty of people going to an alternative location. For instance,  

“Given the level of anxiety generated by unfamiliar places/situations, I 
doubt the benefits of any activities outside the community support 
centre.” 

What particular activities would customers like to do during the day? 

A wide range of activities were given as options in this question under the 
broad headings ‘active’, ‘arts’, ‘social’ and ‘helping with everyday life’. The 

Page 85



20 
 

range of options was slightly smaller for the easy read questionnaire to make it 
more usable for the individuals completing it. 

In the standard version of the questionnaire the most popular option was ‘trips 
out’ with 69% of respondents selecting this.  This was also the most popular 
(82%) for easy read respondents. ‘Lunch’ and ‘Music’ were also very commonly 
chosen by both sets of respondents (79% easy read, 50% standard; 65% easy 
read, 48% standard).   

Cooking received much more prominence with easy read respondents (67%), 
whereas swimming was more important for respondents to the standard 
questionnaire (35%).  

Chart 6:  Top 12 activities selected (standard questionnaire) 

Ch
art 7: Top 12 activities selected (easy read questionnaire) 

 

Page 86



21 
 

What is most striking from this data is that it is the socially related activities 
and ones that help people with everyday life that are most popular.  If further 
work is conducted by the Council into developing activities during the day this 
is invaluable information in understanding what to provide. 

There were a small amount of comments given on additional ideas for 
activities. These included: Horse Riding, Pottery, Wildlife and Nature, Going on 
Short Trips (1-3 days) to the Seaside (with support of competent, familiar 
carers). A few remarks were also made once again about the level of the 
customer’s disability making many of the activities listed unsuitable. 
 

Responses at Meetings, By Letter etc. 
The Consultation Meetings tended to be dominated more by people’s views on 
the proposals for day centres and Queens Drive rather than views on the 
lifestyle vision.  However, where it was raised people did express some anxiety 
with the approach. 

For instance, concerns were raised over whether it would be suitable for 
people with complex needs: 

 “B won’t go to the leisure centre, some people are cruel to him, it is not 
an option.” 

“The lifestyle service sounds great for some people but it is not 
necessarily appropriate for older people. I applaud giving people greater 
choice and for some people this would be great.  For my wife, who is 
losing skills, it is wholly inappropriate.” 

“I would suggest that it would not be simply a case of installing a 
disabled toilet to replicate the extensive facilities currently in use at 
Stanley House.”  

Note: it should be stated that the proposal was for people with complex needs 
to continue to receive support in a traditional day service setting. 

It was also felt that because the pilots were held at leisure centres that 
activities might be too orientated towards physical activity and thus activities 
should also be offered in the day centres.  

“How many people would want to go swimming five days per week.  The 
Stanley Centre doesn’t just offer sport.” 

Page 87



22 
 

“What are they going to do at a leisure centre all day except sport.  You 
are going to send them backwards instead of forwards.  They would 
learn nothing at a leisure centre.”  

There were also questions about how some of the logistics would work. For 
instance, transport to and from the centre, the problems of different people 
wanting to access different activities/services in the community, and related 
staffing related problems.  

“Bus services appear reasonable, but infrequent, and often several 
different buses are required to reach relatively nearby locations.” 
Knutsford Town Council 

Issues were also raised about how long the Council would stay committed to 
this model of service delivery. 

One further point raised at the Knutsford drop-in meeting was that it was felt 
that the lifestyle approach was potentially problematic because it split an 
established group of customers up. This would lead to those with less complex 
needs going elsewhere and mean that those with more complex needs would 
only be able to interact with each other. This could potentially damage their 
wellbeing and development. 

Organisations tended to give cautious support to the lifestyle approach. 
Although the opinion was given (e.g. Age UK Cheshire East) that traditional day 
centres should still be maintained as this approach was not suitable for all.  

“We applaud the Life Style concept for those users for whom it is 
appropriate and who are able to benefit.” Cheshire East LINk   

“The Lifestyle Activities detailed in the consultation covering physical 
activities, social and community activities, and activities which help a 
person in their day to day life, are a very similar approach to the 
activities provided by Age UK Cheshire East.“ Age UK Cheshire East 

“We agree that use of ordinary community buildings is a good thing so 
as to integrate people whilst offering a wider range of activities…” Crewe 
and Nantwich Open Minds 

Note: please see the appendix for the context these comments were given in 

One representative of an independent sector provider stressed that there was 
a general lack of awareness amongst customers and carers of alternative 
provision they could take up. 

Page 88



23 
 

A few carers did want to know if the pilots were deemed a success whether 
they would be implemented elsewhere. For instance, 

“If the pilots of the lifestyle services are successful at Wilmslow and 
Macclesfield will it be rolled out to leisure centres in other areas of 
Cheshire East Council?” 
 

The Lifestyle Pilots 
Focus groups were conducted with customers taking part in lifestyle pilots at 
Wilmslow and Macclesfield Leisure Centre. Each of these pilots make use of 
rooms in the leisure centre to serve as a base for customers. From here they 
could take part in different activities both in the leisure centre and in the wider 
community. In order to travel to different buildings, individuals might be 
assisted by a carer or use public transport accompanied by a member of staff 
as necessary. 

Customers in both locations felt that the lifestyle group was a genuine 
improvement over what they did before. In particular, they valued the greater 
choice over what they did during the day including the ability to use leisure 
centre facilities such as the gym or swimming pool. People also stated that 
they had formed friendships since they had started attending and thought the 
staff were excellent. 

“I used to go to the Methodist Church Community Day Service but I like 
the leisure centre better because there is more to do and I can play 
badminton and football.” 

“I like coming here because there are more things to do, I keep busy and 
it keeps me fit.” 

“I have made new friends coming to the leisure centre.” 

“It’s a bigger building and lots of activities going on, I like keep fit and 
walking.” 

The location of the leisure centre in Wilmslow was seen as a real plus. 
However, there were issues raised about Macclesfield. One customer 
mentioned that travelling to Macclesfield town centre by public transport was 
easy but actually getting to the leisure centre was not. 

Page 89



24 
 

There were also concerns raised by users of the Macclesfield Lifestyle Group 
about the small size of the room they used and access to it. For instance, the 
standard route to get to the room is circuitous and disabled access is only 
possible through the sports hall at the moment. Canteen facilities are offered 
upstairs as part of normal leisure centre facilities, however, this is not 
accessible to those with wheelchairs.  

 These issues were also picked up by respondents during the consultation. 

“Macclesfield Leisure Centre is a dump and isolated.  It is not nice enough 
for people with LD and how will you encourage people to get out into the 
community without good places for them to go to….You need to build 
relationships in the local community - Macc College and Wilmslow Guild 
are two really good resources and you should be working with them.” 

“We raised the matter of disabled access and were told that there were 
no wheelchair users at the moment.” Cheshire East LINk  

It should be noted that the Council intends to make further modifications to 
these facilities if the pilots are approved. 

Page 90



25 
 

 

Chapter 3: Analysis – Day Centre Proposals 
 
In order to realise the lifestyle vision there was a need to look at re-shaping the 
Council’s resources. The Council stated that this would also allow efficiencies 
to be realised, tackling for instance, the problem of under capacity at some 
centres and allowing the overall social care budget to be met. 

These proposals were to: 

• Invest in Redesmere and Mayfield to provide for customers with learning 
disabilities and physical disabilities as well as a service for older people and 
those with Dementia 

• Invest in Hollins View to provide general Respite and Day services for those 
with Dementia and intermediate care services. 
 

• Invest in Mountview as a specialist Respite/Short Break facility for people 
with a learning disability. This will also provide Day and Respite support for 
people with Dementia. 

 
• Consider what services need to be provided locally in Knutsford. 

 
• Transfer customers from Peatfields, Dean Row, Bexton Court, Stanley Centre 

and Queens Drive (currently a Respite centre). 
 

One further idea was also considered at an additional meeting which was: 

• To transfer customers from the Brocklehurst Unit, Mayfield to a building 
within the Hollins View complex. 

Although these proposals had been put forward for consultation, the Council 
was in no way decided about whether they would be implemented. It was 
stressed that the Council would listen to alternative options on a way forward. 
This was particularly emphasised for the Knutsford area. 

The Questionnaire 
The first part of the questionnaire related to the lifestyle ideas and the current 
operation of day services. These have already been analysed in the lifestyle 
chapter. The next set of analysis relates to the remaining questions which 

Page 91



26 
 

centre around the review of provision at day centres and the Queens Drive 
respite centre (although specific comments about particular centres are 
included in the area section). 

Did customers/carers agree with the reasoning behind the proposals? 
The key question in the survey relating to the proposals was: 
 

Ø How strongly do you agree or disagree with the principle that the 
Council should reduce the number of day and respite centres that it runs 
and should invest in the remaining buildings? 

 
This was phrased a little differently in the easy read version of the 
questionnaire to make it more understandable for individuals. 
 

Ø The number of people going to the day centres and short break services 
is getting less. The Council do not have enough money to continue to 
pay for services that are not being used.   Do you think it is a good idea 
for the Council to have less Day Centres and Short Breaks services? This 
is so they can spend money on making the buildings that are left better?    
Or do you think that would not be a good idea? 

 
Overall, a significant majority of respondents disagreed with the proposals 
(33% strongly disagreed, 20% disagreed, 15% agreed, 14% strongly agreed, 
17% neither agreed nor disagreed).  If we put these figures together we can 
see that 30% of people agreed with the proposals with 53% disagreeing. This is 
a sizeable majority against the principle underlying the proposals. 
 
How would the proposed changes affect customers/carers personally (if at 
all)? [the proposed changes were detailed below the question] 
 
One of the reasons for including this question was to understand the impact of 
proposals on customers/carers whether positive or negative. In particular, it 
was important to know if proposals would have a disproportionate impact on 
particular groups of individuals e.g. people with learning disabilities. 
 
The issue of transport was commonly referenced in responses. This concerned 
the increased distance customers would have to travel if they transferred 
centres and the cost of transport for them. Carers also raised issues such as 
that it might lead to them needing to provide greater transport assistance 
which could lead to reduced respite time for them. The Council’s recent 

Page 92



27 
 

decision to phase out fleet transport was cited as an issue compounding the 
problem.  
 

“Transfer from the Stanley Centre to a place other than in Knutsford 
would cause problems , especially as regards transport.  We have 
experienced this in the past when our daughter was transferred from 
Risley Street to the Centre.  The whole day was wasted waiting for 
transport and being transported.”  
 
“The transfer of respite services from Queens Drive to Mountview will 
involve considerable increase in transport cost for customers in the 
Nantwich, Audlem and Crewe area who will need to travel instead to 
Congleton.” 
 
“If the service of respite moves from Queens Drive to Mountview, it 
would be impossible for S as I myself care for S and I would not be able to 
take S as I am a none driver. The transport cost would be too much. I do 
not think it is right that all this extra pressure should be put on families 
with someone learning disabilities.” 
 
“How it would affect me as a carer is that the amount I currently 
contribute towards transport would go from £25 per week to £50 per day 
which is unfeasible.” 
 

Another important concern for respondents was the general disruption it 
would cause to the wellbeing of customers. It was felt that any transfer could 
be challenging for them especially those with more complex needs:  
 

“These changes would turn me upside down and make me sad because I 
know what to expect from my day centre, and everyone knows me and 
what I need and I like Dean Row” 
 
“It will be very hard for T as he soon gets upset, he does not like change 
but needs short stays as we are 80 and need a break” 

 
It was also felt by some that the lifestyle centre option might cause further 
related problems: 
 

“If C is not provided with stability & the structure of a day centre.  She 
will become more disturbed and challenging.” 

Page 93



28 
 

 
A couple of respondents felt that day services should be evenly spaced across 
Cheshire East in line with population centres and to minimise travelling.  

 
“It is assumed that the reorganised centres would be well-distributed 
over the area of Cheshire East. This is to optimise coverage and minimise 
travelling distances from the locations where there are clusters of 
potential users and avoid long and expensive taxi journeys.” 

 
General comments that customers/carers wanted to add 
 
Little feedback was received for this question which was intended to ensure 
there was an opportunity to capture any additional concerns people had. One 
respondent did question whether the Council was truly committed to the 
proposed re-investment in buildings: 
 

“I am not sure that I believe the council when they say they will improve 
and invest in the remaining buildings. I feel it is just an excuse to close 
some of the current facilities to save money and the remaining one's will 
probably just carry on as they currently do with no further investment. “ 

 

Analysis: by Area 
 
A great deal of feedback was received from customers and the Cheshire East 
public relating to specific areas and centres. To recap feedback sources were; 
comments in questionnaires received, comments and questions at day centre 
meetings, comments and questions from the public meetings, letters, face to 
face meetings, drop in meetings, telephone calls, emails etc. In order to make 
this section more concise and because similar issues were often raised this 
information has been grouped together under a single heading for each centre. 

Feedback has also been ordered by area because some of the proposals have 
knock-on effects for other centres (i.e. a centre may be affected by customers 
being moved there). A summary of the main themes is also provided later on in 
this document. 

Knutsford Area 
 

The original proposal was to ‘consider what service needs to be provided 
locally in Knutsford’. One of these options might include closing Bexton Court 

Page 94



29 
 

(already temporarily closed as a result of the closure of Tatton Ward by Health) 
and the Stanley Centre and transferring those users to other services. 

We received perhaps the most feedback of all during the consultation, on the 
proposal relating to the Stanley Centre. Much of this was powerfully 
expressed. This included emotive meetings at the Stanley Centre and at 
Knutsford Civic Centre. Feedback also included two petitions (with 6290 
signatures and 275 signatures respectively) which were made available in 
buildings in Cheshire East and other locations. See Appendix 1 for further 
details (including the covering statement by Knutsford Area for Knutsford 
Action, organisers of the larger petition). An extract from the main petition 
text is: 

“We the undersigned petition Cheshire East Council and East Cheshire 
Hospital Trust: 
Save our social and health care –keep our services local 
Keep our Stanley Centre for disabled adults 
Return our dementia care services 
Return our intermediate hospital ward” 

Other documents (e.g. reports from other agencies) were also submitted with 
the petitions (see Appendix 1). 

i) Disruption to Customers 
Many individuals expressed grave concerns about the ability of customers with 
learning disabilities to cope with the proposals being put forward.  A large 
number felt that the upheaval and change would cause a lot of distress 
amongst the customers.   

 “P has been at the Stanley Centre for 20 years now, and it is quite likely 
he will refuse to go anywhere else.” 

“The Stanley Centre is like a second home, customers would have a 
terrible time adjusting if it was taken away.” 

Many of them had attended the centre for many years and viewed it like a 
second home where they met regularly with their friends.  

Comments were made about the importance of the relationships that had 
been established at the centre, not just between customers but also between 
customers and staff.  One customer expressed her feelings about the 
proposals, and became quite emotional whilst doing so: 

Page 95



30 
 

“This is the first day centre I have been to, don’t take it away from us, 
you can’t take it away from us.  This is a big part of my life.  All of our 
staff are very nice people.  We will not be moved, you cannot make us.” 

A further comment was: 

“We all stick together because we don’t see our parents that much.” 

Some individuals questioned the ability of some customers with complex 
needs to make choices and to understand what the proposals meant to them.   

ii) Building facilities and condition 
Many parents and carers did not accept that the Stanley Centre was not fit for 
purpose.  Instead they felt the Stanley Centre section of the building was 
modern and purpose-built and would not take a great deal of investment to 
improve the facilities. They also questioned the financial feasibility of closing 
an existing centre and looking for alternative accommodation.  It was felt that 
for very little cash outlay, the Stanley Centre could be brought up to date thus 
eliminating the need to look for an alternative. 

“The Stanley Centre is NOT a decrepit building.  There is no reason that 
this facility cannot be brought to a reasonable standard without great 
expense, for less than would be needed to adapt any other premises in 
the Knutsford area.” 

Several comments were made regarding the activities provided at the Stanley 
Centre.  They felt it already provided for vocational and recreational needs. 

“Since attending the Stanley Centre my son has benefitted from their 
very well structured activities” 

“The Stanley Centre meets all of my needs and is local to my home in 
Knutsford.  I have attended this centre for 18 months and am familiar 
with the staff and surroundings.” 

The staff are described as excellent, caring and experienced and familiar with 
the majority of customers. 

”My son is unable to verbalise what he enjoys doing.  He is very rigid in 
what he will join in with.  Staff at the Stanley Centre encourage him to 

Page 96



31 
 

join in and have made some progress in widening his narrow range of 
interests.” 

“Andy (the Manager) is brilliant and knows exactly how to manage M, he 
wouldn’t get that elsewhere.” 

iii) Transport 
Transport provision was seen as a particular problem if customers were 
required to travel to another centre.  This was felt to be compounded by the 
removal of fleet transport as well as the limited public transport available into 
and out of Knutsford.  Costs and the time that they would potentially spend 
travelling were also of particular concern. Many felt that they could not afford 
to pay for increased travel costs if the person they cared for had to travel to a 
centre located further away.  Two representative comments were: 

“How can these be seen as improvements for adults with learning 
disabilities if their local services are cut and they are to be taxied to other 
areas of Cheshire?” 

“We can’t afford a taxi if (he) has to travel further” 

A further transport related point made was that the location of the centre was 
seen as ideal for many of the customers who attended.  It was stated that 
many of the Stanley Centre’s customers were able to walk there, but this 
would not be the case if the centre closed.  One parent in particular felt that 
public transport was not an option. 

“Only a minority of the customers at the Stanley Centre are independent 
enough to be able to cope with public transport.” 

MENCAP stated: 

“If the Stanley Centre were to close the next nearest centre would be 
Wilmslow. The council would have a duty to provide transportation to 
and from this centre which could prove very costly and would add a 
substantial amount of travel time for attendees.” 

A carer at the day centre meeting expressed concern about the additional 
distances to other centres should there be an emergency. 

Page 97



32 
 

“In the event of an emergency how would we get to them if they are too 
far away?” 

One issue that was particularly emotive was the fact that the centre minibus 
had been removed by Cheshire East Council.  It was felt that the range of 
activities had been restricted as a consequence.  A representative of the 
Knutsford Lions questioned why the offer of a minibus from them had been 
declined. It was felt that this had in itself limited the number of activities the 
day service was now able to offer. 

iv) Building usage 
Several attendees at the Stanley Centre meeting and at the drop-in meeting 
questioned the reliability of the occupancy figures supplied in the Consultation 
Information Pack.  Many felt that this misrepresented the actual occupancy 
rate as they deemed the capacity being based on Stanley House and the 
Stanley Centre (when it was felt Stanley House was not utilised).   

A few individuals felt the drop in occupancy rates at the centre were directly 
related to the introduction of Personal Budgets and Direct Payments.  
Concerns were raised as to whether Cheshire East staff promoted Personal 
Budgets/Direct Payments on an equal par with day services.  Questions were 
also asked as to why in-house services could not be purchased with a Personal 
Budget.  One individual suggested that Care4CE should become an 
independent arm of Cheshire East Council thus enabling customers to 
purchase in-house services with their personal budget. 

“The low occupancy is because of personal budgets, because people 
cannot pay for Cheshire East Council services with one, so this blocks 
people coming here.” 

“Give people a choice of what options are in place, ensure staff are 
promoting all alternatives” 

It was suggested that a reduction in Cheshire East Council staff could be 
responsible for the decline in referrals to the Stanley Centre. 

“The low levels of social workers at Cheshire East Council must be 
responsible for the low occupancy at day centres and the subsequent 
under utilisation.”  

Page 98



33 
 

A few comments were also made concerning the lack of transport affecting the 
attendance at the centre. 

One attendee suggested that as Knutsford was so closely situated to the 
border with Cheshire West and Chester Council that Cheshire East Council 
should work more closely with them to ensure local services were better 
attended. 

Portioning off Stanley House from the Stanley Centre and leasing the office 
space or selling the building was suggested by several individuals particularly at 
the drop-in meeting.  Many felt this was a good option. 

v) Carers 
Many carers expressed their concerns in relation to the proposals at the 
meeting at the Stanley Centre.  They felt that the proposals were adding more 
pressure to carers already at breaking point, were causing distress to the 
person they cared for and were unsuitable for many particularly in terms of the 
impacts of relocation. 

“My brother goes to the Stanley Centre, he is 54 now and has been going 
for many years, since he was in his 20’s.  You are talking about taking 
this away from him, his second home.  That is his life, you can’t move him 
or put him in a leisure centre” 

“Carers will be under greater pressure if facilities are not available in 
Knutsford and they have to travel” 

“Listen to your very valuable carers.  They are saving you money.” 

A further point raised was a belief of carers that the Stanley Centre offered in 
some way a superior service to alternative centres operated by Cheshire East. 

“The proposals are insulting, my son cannot go out.  I have always 
wanted the best for my son and this is being at the Stanley Centre.  Can’t 
you make things better here?  I spent a long time looking for an 
appropriate place, and that is the Stanley Centre.” 

vi) General 
In relation to the proposals, a respondent acknowledged that merging centres 
where they were close to each other was acceptable, but felt this should not 

Page 99



34 
 

be the case in Knutsford because there was a lack of suitable alternative 
provision. The lack of alternative places to take part in day activities was 
commented on by MENCAP in their response. 

Comments were raised in the drop-in meeting around the rumours circulating 
concerning the Stanley Centre/Stanley House land being earmarked for a super 
surgery.  Some parents felt the media speculation on this had been unhelpful, 
and that the Council should have given a clear statement of its position as it 
would have allayed many fears. 

The Knutsford Town Council Health and Social Care Public Consultation (Nov 
2011) recommended that the Stanley Centre was retained with some 
alterations and its usage increased out of hours.  It also recommended that: 

“Stanley House should ideally be retained as a facility for the community, 
with options considered for relocating other services into this building.” 

The facilities on offer at the centre were also commended.   

 
Knutsford Local Engagement Group 

Carers and customers were asked both by letter and at the Stanley Centre day 
centre meeting to indicate if they would like to take part in an engagement 
group looking at options for the Stanley Centre. In total one customer and five 
carers attended this meeting which was held in late November. 

Each member of the group was asked to state what they felt about the Stanley 
Centre and the consultation itself. The group then worked through a list of 
alternative options that had been raised by members of the public, 
organisations and Cheshire East Council, with comments being sought for each 
one. Options included; use of Plumley Chapel, East Terrace and Knutsford Civic 
Hall etc. 

The overwhelming opinion of the group was that it was unnecessary to 
consider alternative options for Stanley Centre users because none of them 
would deliver a better quality of service. By way of example, there would have 
been few toilet facilities at the Civic Hall and it was felt that it would have been 

Page 100



35 
 

inappropriate for people residing at East Terrace to also receive day services 
there. 

Bexton Court 

Although comments were expressed about Bexton Court in emails/letters and 
at the public and formal meeting in Knutsford, these were relatively meagre in 
comparison to those raised relating to the Stanley Centre. 

One argument that was raised on several occasions was that Cheshire East 
Council had always intended to close Bexton Court permanently despite the 
fact the initial closure in November 2010 was deemed temporary. 

“We were told that Bexton Court and Tatton Ward would be closed 
temporarily – untrue, stop telling untruths.” 

In addition to this it was stressed that it was important that dementia provision 
was still available in Knutsford.  

“You said you would provide something else in Knutsford, but there isn’t 
anything else in Knutsford.  Bexton Court has been closed.” 

“People relied on Bexton Court – you said Cypress Court was under 
occupied when it wasn’t.” 

A comment given by another respondent was that it didn’t matter who 
provided the services as long as they were available:  

“Dementia care respite beds are needed in Knutsford, but could be 
provided by the private sector.” 

An issue which was raised at the Stanley Centre meeting and Knutsford public 
meeting was whether the Local Authority had already developed plans for a 
new ‘super surgery’ on the Bexton Road Community Hospital site (consisting of 
Stanley House, Stanley Centre, Knutsford Community Hospital, Tatton Ward 
and Bexton Court). 

“What plans does Cheshire East have to sell off the Bexton Court site?” 

As a result of the disruption at the Stanley Centre Day Service Meeting (for 
carers/services users who used or formerly used Bexton Court or the Stanley 

Page 101



36 
 

Centre), letters were sent out to carers of people who used the service at 
Bexton Court as well as former customers (with capacity). This letter invited 
people to book a slot at a drop-in meeting to discuss issues to do with Bexton 
Court or to contact the Consultation Team by telephone or email if this date 
was unsuitable. However, the Consultation Team did not receive any resulting 
contact requesting a meeting. [Note: a similar meeting was held for the Stanley 
Centre which was well attended] 

Knutsford Town Council stated in their response document that they 
themselves did not receive representations on the subject of Bexton Court. 
However, they still felt it was an important facility in the local area particularly 
given its ageing population: 

“..This working group would therefore urge CEC to provide this type of 
facility within Knutsford, and should Tatton Ward re-open suggest that 
Bexton Court is also opened, at least until the future of the Bexton Road 
site is known, and an alternative venue secured.” 

Wilmslow Area 
 
The proposal put forward for Wilmslow entailed transferring customers to the 
Redesmere building from Dean Row.  
 
Dean Row 
 
i) Disruption to Customers 
In general, people’s comments in the questionnaire and at the Dean Row 
meeting reflected that they were happy with the service they received there 
and were concerned that the main driver behind the proposals was to save 
money rather than to improve services.  Strong feelings were expressed 
relating to this in the day centre meeting. The familiarity of the centre, the 
staff, facilities (such as the light and sound room) and the accessibility of the 
building for wheelchair users were particularly appreciated. 
 

Page 102



37 
 

“What are the plans for this building? My daughter has specific needs 
which she at present gets at Dean Row.  My Daughter has 24/7 care.  
There aren’t any problems, so why make changes?” 

“These changes would turn me upside down and make me sad because I 
know what to expect from my day centre, and everyone knows me and 
what I need and I like Dean Row.” 

There was a concern that if people from Dean Row and the Stanley Centre 
moved to Redesmere then it could be overcrowded. 

“What was the criteria used to close Dean Row and why is Redesmere 
better than Dean Row?” 

However, one respondent said they wouldn’t be against a change of buildings 
as long as the same facilities were available at the alternative centre. 

“I really do not mind changing buildings if the same facilities are 
available but a normal leisure centre is irrelevant” 
 

ii) Building usage 
There was scepticism about the occupancy rate of Dean Row, for example one 
person felt that there may be an underlying reason why this was low. 
 

“I was refused an extra day for my daughter as other people were 
waiting for places.  I have since found out this is not true as numbers are 
down.”    

iii) Transport 
There was also concern expressed about the extra travelling that would be 
required to get to the alternative day centre and the logistical problems it 
would cause. 
 

“No buses coming in” 

“It will make a difference to get people who live further away” 

However, the amount of comments was relatively limited. 

Page 103



38 
 

Redesmere Centre 
 
i) Disruption to Customers 
Although customers of Redesmere were not being asked to switch to another 
day centre, there were anxieties expressed that they might have their days cut 
as a result of people transferring to this centre (as a result of the proposed 
closure of Dean Row).  One person was concerned about the reference in the 
proposals to less demand for day care and respite.  They felt strongly that 
there is still high demand at Redesmere and that the issue was money to 
provide it. There was also concern about personalisation affecting the nature 
and quality of services. 
 

“A lady had to cut her days and was then transferred to Hawthorns” 
 
“People’s care keeps changing now that they no longer get council staff 
and have to use agency staff” 
 

But in general respondents said that they wouldn’t be impacted by the 
proposals in relation to Redesmere. An example comment was: 
 

“I assume that as long as I am allowed to continue to attend Redesmere 
and as long as the services at Redesmere are not reduced, removed or 
changed, then I should not be affected.”  

 
ii) Building usage 
Many people commented at the Redesmere Meeting that the low occupancy 
figures were not due to lack of demand for the day centres, but rather due to 
people not being able to afford services. The promotion of personalisation 
(and the opting out of Council run services) by Cheshire East was also seen as a 
factor. 
 

“The reason why people are not coming to day centres is because they 
can’t afford to and not because people are using other services.” 
 

Page 104



39 
 

“I noted that the occupancy of the Redesmere Day Service is given in the 
Pack as 45%. I visit the Redesmere Centre every week and my 
observation was that the occupancy is much higher than this.” 

 
iii) Building facilities and condition 
One person questioned why the proposals were to upgrade Redesmere but 
close the Stanley Centre when Redesmere is the older building. 
 
iv) Transport 
It was also felt that the overall proposals gave little thought to the impact on 
carers as respite could be shortened as a result of the carer having to transport 
the cared for a longer distance. 
 

“Quality of care will be affected if carers have to travel much further” 
 

Congleton and Middlewich Area 
 
Note: The proposed changes would not directly affect Carter House and 
Salinae but would have an impact on Mountview with an extra service being 
provided from there for adults with learning disabilities. 
 
Mountview 
 
i) Disruption to Customers and Carers 
In general, users of Mountview stated that they were very happy with the 
services they receive there.  It was felt it gave them social interaction which 
many required due to being housebound. In addition to this it gave them 
something to look forward to and a focus for the day.   
 
The respite support for families was cited as helping to avoid the need for 
nursing home care.  Staff were highly valued and the feeling was that they 
should also be considered when planning change. It was felt their expertise 
would be invaluable in ensuring a smooth transition of customers who may 
have to move.   
 

“The staff are our gold dust on whom we all critically rely.  Please 
proceed slowly and steadily to preserve the excellence we have and 
treasure.” 

Page 105



40 
 

 
“We get a break knowing that we can relax without worry and our 
relative comes home after respite rejuvenated. It's a joy to see. I am very 
pleased with the care received at Mountview.” 
 
“I'm asthmatic and I get very tired but I have a lovely relaxing break 
when my husband is in Mountview.” 

 
One additional point was that there were felt to be potential issues around 
how the two customer groups (older people and adults with learning 
disabilities) would mix.  For instance, would there be sufficient beds and 
availability to cover the respite people required? 

“My son keeps getting moved for respite which unsettles him for quite a 
while after.  The present service is wonderful and everyone is happy with 
it but suddenly it all changes.”  

“Don’t mind if the new service is better but find Queens Drive to be very 
good.” 

“Smaller places are better.” 
 

ii) Building facilities and condition 
Respondents were concerned that the physical constraints of the building 
would not be able to support additional customers. There were also concerns 
that the quality and availability of services there would suffer.  
 

“Very impressed with the service and the staff are excellent. Concerned 
that when adults with learning disabilities start to attend it will change.  
Would hope the changes will be slow so that it does not unsettle people 
who already use the service.” 

 
It was felt that staffing levels should be increased because of this. The question 
was also posed as to whether the building would be extended in the future to 
accommodate higher numbers. One carer wanted reassurance that customer 
needs would continue to be met despite pressure on services. 
 
 
 

Page 106



41 
 

iii) Building Usage 
An individual raised the explanation that the reason numbers might have been 
decreasing at centres such as Mountview was because transport was 
expensive and meal charges had increased. 
 
iv) General 
One respondent expressed views strongly that there was a lack of attention to 
mental health related issues in the consultation. It was also felt that there was 
a general lack of attention paid to this group of customers by the Council. It 
was felt that the comment in the information that ‘people with mental health 
disabilities are not affected by this consultation’ was inaccurate and 
misleading. 
 
There were a couple of miscellaneous comments. One respondent wished the 
Council to train staff to administer insulin injections to customers. Another 
respondent wished to know what the Council was doing for people with more 
complex needs who were 75+ and required nursing care. 
 
Carter House and Salinae 
 
i) Disruption to Customers and Carers 
As both these centres were not mentioned in terms of specific proposals, 
people felt that the changes would have little or no affect on them. 
 
However, customers that attended these services did state that they enjoyed 
their time there and valued the contact with other people.  The centres were 
felt to provide a change for a lot of people from the home environment which 
was important to the wellbeing of users and carers. : 
 

“My daughter likes being with her friends, if she didn’t go to Carter 
House she would just stay upstairs in her pyjamas, she loves taking part 
in activities.”  

 
ii) Lifestyle Services 
Respondents (with reference to Salinae) said that they enjoyed socialising and 
the activities that they do at this day centre but would not cope with the 
independence of going to lifestyle groups. However, more variety would be 
welcomed (e.g. computer or internet classes). Some individuals at Carter 
House commented that going to the Leisure Centre in Congleton enabled them 
to exercise which helped with their general wellbeing.  

Page 107



42 
 

 
iii) Transport 
One carer whose daughter uses Carter House expressed the view that any 
changes in transport would lead to less respite time for carers. It was also felt 
that people were now being asked to continue to come to the centre but 
without the Council assisting with travel as a result of the transport review.  
 
iv) General 
 
Some felt that the consultation itself generated a lot of unnecessary worry for 
customers not attending centres where modifications were proposed.   
 

“When the word ‘change’ comes up immediately you have a hostile 
audience.  Dementia sufferers need routine, structure and familiarity, 
these are really important.  Changes bring too much anxiety.”  

 
People at Salinae were also very concerned that if more people took personal 
budgets for their care needs and were unable to spend this on Council services 
the present service at Salinae would not continue.   
 
One other point that was raised was the impact of previous staff cuts. It was 
felt that this had led to a worse service because many of the most experienced 
staff had left.  
 

Crewe and Nantwich Area 
 
There were very few comments received by questionnaire on day services in 
Crewe and Nantwich. This was, perhaps, unsurprisingly as they were 
unaffected directly by the proposals although there was the opportunity to 
comment on the lifestyle vision. 
 
One organisation based in this area ‘Audlem and District Community Action’ 
stressed the need to retain specialist centres in the area for those with 
specialist needs. They also stressed the importance of day centres for 
providing social interaction. 
 
Cheyne Hall 
 

Page 108



43 
 

Respondents generally valued the service they received at Cheyne, seeing it as 
providing somewhere to visit that was both familiar and inclusive.  They also 
liked the advantages of mixing with people who had similar disabilities as well 
as the social activities that took place. A few respondents were interested in 
the lifestyle activities but remained unsure about attending a leisure centre . 
 
Macon House 
 
At the day centre meeting there were some more general questions and 
comments relating to the lifestyle service and personal budgets. For instance, 

“If the pilots of the lifestyle services are successful at Wilmslow and 
Macclesfield, will it be rolled out to leisure centres in other areas of 
Cheshire East Council?” 
 

But there was little on Macon House itself. Only one questionnaire respondent 
commented directly about the centre.  This person stated that their relative 
was happy at Macon House, that the service gives them some independence 
and provides them with activities that meet their needs.   

Hilary Centre 
 
Little comment was received directly relating to the Hilary Centre. One 
respondent stated that they had formerly attended Jubilee House and 
preferred going there. Another stated that they liked the computing facilities 
available at this centre. 
 
Lincoln House 
Lincoln House was not affected directly by the proposals so most of the 
comments at the Lincoln House meeting related to Queens Drive.  However 
one respondent did state that the activities at Lincoln were not always relevant 
to the person they care for. No questionnaire comments were received directly 
relating to this centre. 
 

Page 109



44 
 

Macclesfield Area 
 
Proposals for Macclesfield included the transfer of customers from Peatfields 
to Mayfield. Dementia users at Mayfield would in turn transfer to a specialist 
service at Hollins View. 
 
Peatfields 

i) Disruption to Customers 
A range of concerns were raised about the proposed transfer of day services 
from Peatfields to the Mayfield Centre.  Customers explained that the social 
interaction Peatfields provided was very important to them, and they were 
concerned this would be lost if they were moved.  The personalised nature of 
the service at this centre was also stressed. 

Many felt strongly that some of the customers would not cope with any 
change to their day service provision. 

“What will happen to people who have 24/7 care and have been 
attending Peatfields for years and don’t like change?” 

Some felt that if Peatfields had to close, there should be a period of transition 
between customers leaving the centre and moving to the Mayfield Centre. The 
importance of staff moving with users was also stressed. 

 “The right services should be provided before everyone is moved” 

In addition to this, the Gardening Club at Peatfields was clearly very important 
to some customers. Carers were keen to know whether there was a similar 
group at the Mayfield Centre. 

ii) Building condition and facilities 
One question raised concerning this why the Mayfield Centre had been 
earmarked for investment and Peatfields had not.  

iii) Building usage 
It was generally felt that Personal Budgets were responsible for the decline in 
attendance at day centres.  Questions were also raised concerning where 
people could go if they decided to take a Personal Budget. 

Page 110



45 
 

One question was asked concerning what would happen to the Peatfields 
building if it did close. 

iv) Transport 
One of the main concerns for people at Peatfields was the additional distance 
and cost which would be incurred if customers had to move to an alternative 
day centre. This included the fact that some were currently able to walk to the 
centre.  Alternative transport options were discussed as the meeting. 

v) General 
Some of the carers in attendance were cynical about the exercise because the 
previous consultation around transport had concluded in fleet transport being 
stopped. 

Mayfield 

i) Transport 
Transport was seen as a major issue for users of Mayfields. This was felt to be 
very much exacerbated by the move away from fleet transport by the Council. 
Example quotes were: 

“Not being able to afford the extra cost of a longer journey when they 
move to a different centre or leisure centre could lead to isolation of 
disabled people in their own homes.  There is no objection to paying from 
mobility allowance but transport is a big issue with the proposed 
changes.” 

“Transport, now that fleet transport has stopped dial-a-ride transport is 
in greater demand and if someone wants to go out during the day i.e. 
shopping there is no transport available.  Also dial-a-ride drivers not 
trained to support people.” 

Other issues touched on related to the safety and reliability of alternative 
transport options. 

ii) Lifestyle 
Feelings were expressed that the ability to do more during the day was 
appealing. However, it was felt that this was impossible in the day centre itself 
due to the low numbers of staff. One person stated: 

Page 111



46 
 

“There should be more staff because we want to go out and do things, 
bowling, shopping, eating out, and other activities.  We can't do these 
things at present.” 

It was also commented in the questionnaire with regards to the lifestyle 
approach: 

“But it is only what Mayfield Centre offered 5 years ago.  We used to go 
swimming , sewing, gardening, learning computers.  Drive through the 
country.  It's only what we used to do at Mayfield centre.” 

Mayfield – Brocklehurst  

Note: An additional meeting was held for Brocklehurst (part of Mayfield) 
customers on 3 February as a result of an amended consultation option. 
Information was also available on the Cheshire East website. 

Overall individuals were content with the proposal providing that staff 
transferred with service users. This was perhaps the key issue stressed in 
feedback. 

 “I think the whole idea of a purpose built facility for dementia care can 
only be welcomed.  I do feel the continuity of care staff will be essential, 
they all do such a fantastic job they are part of the family.” 

“I don’t mind about the change to my day care as long as we have M and 
J coming with us.  They make my day they are such wonderful ladies 
without them it won’t be the same.” 

Another point raised related to the importance of bathing facilities being 
available at the new unit at Hollins View. One person reported how they did 
not have facilities to bathe the cared for at home and that being able to use 
the Brocklehurst helped reduce the overall stress of this procedure. 

Hollins View 

There was little feedback received around Hollins View. One issue that was 
raised concerned respite provision here and how it would change as a result of 
the proposals. Other issues concerned the administration of medication and 
the availability of art classes. 

Page 112



47 
 

 

Chapter 4: Analysis - Respite and Queens Drive 
 
There was one proposal that specifically related to respite services. This 
suggested that customers using Queens Drive (Nantwich) would use 
Mountview (Congleton) instead due in part to the lack of facilities at Queens 
Drive for people with more complex needs. 

A consultation meeting was held at Nantwich Civic Hall for carers and 
customers. There was also a public meeting at Crewe which was attended by 
many people with an interest in Queens Drive. Both meetings contained 
people who strongly felt that Queens Drive should continue to be available. 
The strength of feeling was also apparent in the written feedback that was 
received. 

i) Building Condition 
One person questioned why Queens Drive can’t be improved for people so 
that there was a respite facility in the south of Cheshire East. There was a 
feeling that Queens Drive did not require investment but more thought about 
how it could be used.  One concept that was put forward was to use it as a 
training centre to prepare customers for independent living. 
 

“Queens Drive doesn’t need investment – it needs thought and planning 
to get it filled.  Leave it alone”.  (Strong reaction in favour from rest of 
attendees at meeting) 
 

Some individuals questioned the figures on usage of Queens Drive, feeling they 
were not an accurate reflection of its use by the community.   
 

“I feel the figures quoted on page 17 of the information pack are not 
accurate as they are based on occupancy of nine months not 12 months” 

 

ii) Disruption to Customers 

Page 113



48 
 

Respondents felt that if Queens Drive were to close it would have a 
significantly negative effect on the clients using it as they would find it hard to 
cope with the change.  They were also concerned about increased social 
isolation as customers might access services less in the future on account of 
them being further away. Some respondents felt that Mountview wouldn’t 
meet client need as well because it is larger and it would consist of a mixed 
client group. It was felt that this could potentially lead to increased stigma and 
a poorer quality service. 

“It will be very hard for T as he soon gets upset, he does not like change 
but need short stays as we are 80 and need a break” 
 
“Would you put a child of yours with a learning disability in service with 
older people?” 
 
“Why should they have to travel over to Congleton, to Mountview.  
Those youngsters will get labelled there.” 

 
The impact of the proposals and the disruption it would cause to customers 
was clearly and emotively expressed at the meetings and in questionnaire 
responses.  It was clear that the service at Queens Drive is highly valued by 
those that attend it and their families.  In particular people like the friendly, 
comfortable and homely atmosphere as well as the convenient location. 

“I’m concerned about the increase of social isolation by moving respite 
from Nantwich to Congleton.  It is important for people when using 
respite that they can still get visits from their family/friends but if they 
are far away from their local area this will be less likely” 

 
iii) Carers 
Respondents felt a closure of Queens Drive would have negative affects for 
carers as they would have to support the cared for in adjusting to provision at 
an alternative centre. They also felt respite might have to be reduced as a 
result of a need to travel further, with services no longer being local to Crewe 
and Nantwich.  It was even stated that the potential extra cost of transport 

Page 114



49 
 

might make it unaffordable for some people to continue to receive respite.  
This would all put extra pressure on carers potentially leading to crisis. 
 

“We as carers are not asking for much, just suitable respite in the area.  
We are already saving the council money!” 
 
“If you don’t provide respite that is convenient, carers are going to 
breakdown and that will cost the council more money” 

 
iv) Transport 
Respondents felt strongly that transport would be a major issue if respite was 
moved from Queens Drive to Mountview.  Issues raised concerned whether 
transport would be provided by the Council and the cost/affordability of 
respite if transport was not provided.   

“The move from Queen's Drive in Nantwich to Congleton is a move too 
far. The cost of transport and time spent on transport for the service 
users is too much. Congleton is an unfamiliar area and that is a worry.” 

One respondent also stated that as they didn’t drive it would be impossible for 
them to get respite if services were relocated to Congleton. 

“Our daughter attends Queens Drive.  We don’t drive so won’t be able to 
afford for her to attend Mountview.” 

 

v) General 
Note: usage of Lincoln House for respite was not in the original proposals but 
was suggested to Queen Drive carers/users as a possible alternative to 
Mountview. 

Some individuals raised concerns about customers from Queens Drive 
attending a centre which was seen as for older people. An additional concern 
raised by a carer was that some clients at Lincoln House might have a mental 
health disability. One respondent did endorse the Lincoln House idea providing 
respite provision for those with learning disabilities was made available at 
Lincoln House before Queens Drive was closed.  

Page 115



50 
 

There were also quite a few comments about looking at alternative buildings 
that are no longer used as a way of saving money. Many felt the south of 
Cheshire East was disadvantaged by the proposals as they felt that as well as 
respite being moved there to the north, improvements to buildings were also 
anticipated in this same area.  
 
A further comment relating to the Council’s overall approach to respite was: 
 

“Cheshire East is not very creative when it comes to respite / short breaks 
– there are other options”. 

Page 116



51 
 

 

Chapter 5:  Key Themes 
 
This consultation was a large scale exercise and one which provoked 
undeniably strong feelings at times. Perhaps, inevitably the majority of 
feedback was about specific proposals to decommission centres rather than 
the lifestyle vision or the potential improvements to buildings. 

The next section summarises some of the key themes from the preceding 
analysis, particularly points common to a number of day centres. There is also 
a précis of points raised about the consultation process itself. 

The Consultation Process 

 
i) The decision had already been taken 
 
A number of members of the public expressed the view that a decision had 
already been taken on the consultation. They felt the Council was just going 
through the motions and that whatever they said would make little difference. 
A typical comment was: 
 

“I believe that the Consultation Process is purely a case of ‘smoke and 
mirrors’ in an attempt to convince higher authorities that Cheshire East 
Council actively involves participation of the public in its decision-making 
process.  The truth is that the Council proceeds with its proposed actions 
irrespective of public opinions expressed at the consultation stage.” 

 
An extension of this was the feeling that the public had had little influence over 
previous consultations and this would be a case of more of the same.  
 

“This seems like the transport consultation – is it a done deal?” 
 
“What confidence will we have about the consultation, the council 
doesn’t have a good track record, carers don’t get listened to!  Focus 
should be on service users and carers.” 

 

Page 117



52 
 

Finance was often referred to as a key reason why this was the case. 
 

“Is it just about costs rather than about the quality of care for people?  “ 
 
“You say no decisions have been taken but it seems unlikely that these 
major changes are not going to be adopted.  You give a strong financial 
argument etc. these proposals will go ahead surely?” 

There was also a specific statement made by Knutsford Area for Knutsford 
Action (organisers of the main Knutsford petition) about the consultation 
process and the lack of general engagement in the Knutsford area on health 
and social care issues: 
 

“We petition Cheshire East Council on this day, Thursday, 15 December 
2011, to carefully consider the needs and rights of service users and carers 
and further to consider – in view of point 9 - whether any adequate  
‘consultation’ has ever – yet - taken place between Cheshire East Council 
and residents of the Knutsford Area, in respect of social care and health 
services.” 

Given these arguments, it was stated by some that the consultation should 
never have been termed ‘improvements to social care services’. 

“Where does improvement come into it?  All we’ve heard about is budget 
and cutting services.  It casts doubt on the credibility of the council.” 

One further issue was that it was felt that Councillors should have been more 
involved in the consultation as they were the ones making the final decisions. 
 
ii) Upset caused to customers and carers by the Consultation exercise 

 
Some carers felt that even consulting on proposals with customers was 
potentially very damaging. This was because it caused anxiety in often very 
vulnerable people. There was a feeling that the Council should try to ensure 
the status quo was retained as much as possible. A typical comment was: 

“These proposals are causing unnecessary stress to service users and 
carers.” 
 
“The uncertainty is a big worry at the moment.” 
 

Page 118



53 
 

There was also a remark relating to this from Cheshire East LINk 
 
“We were most concerned to note that the current consultation is 
causing anxiety and distress to some users. We were approached, as 
strangers wearing badges, almost as soon as we arrived by a user asking 
on several occasions, ‘Get us back our bus’. ‘Don’t close us down’” 
 

iii) Information Given 
 
Some points were raised which can be put under the theme of disagreement 
with the information provided by the Council. For instance, it was felt that 
occupancy information was inaccurate. This was particularly felt to be so for 
the Stanley Centre: 
 

“I dispute the numbers that are using for the Stanley Centre. Why does it 
say 38 people?  There are 50 on the register which equates to 85% 
occupancy.” 

“I feel the figures quoted on page 17 of the information pack are not 
accurate as they are based on occupancy of 9 months not 12 months.  
The proposals being put forward are therefore based on inaccurate 
information.” (from Macon House meeting) 

Similarly, it was felt that the Council had misrepresented the condition of some 
of the buildings proposed for closure.  Again, this was an issue particularly 
raised by people in connection to the Stanley Centre. 

A comment was made about the deteriorated state of the Stanley Centre 
building fabric: 

“In practice there was refurbishment undertaken not many years ago 
and currently in my opinion I would not suggest that further 
refurbishment work is needed.” 

One individual raised an issue of the lack of attention give to mental health 
services in the consultation information. An extract from their correspondence 
was: 

“Do you not consider People with mental health disabilities as forming 
part of your customer base? Do you believe that People with mental 
health disabilities do not use Day Care and/or Respite services? Have you 
decided that People with mental health disabilities will not in future have 

Page 119



54 
 

access to Day Care/Respite services?”  
 

Service Changes – Key Themes 
 
i) Lifestyle 

Many customers liked the idea of the greater choice and variety that the 
lifestyle vision promised for day services. However, some users felt that this 
variety should be offered within existing day services. It was also expressed 
that activities should be tailored around the individual and should have a 
particular emphasis on life skills and social type activities rather than merely 
making use of leisure facilities. 

A further issue was that it was felt that the lifestyle approach would only work 
for certain types of customers. Older people for instance, it was argued would 
be less interested in taking this option up.  

Customers taking part in the lifestyle groups at Macclesfield and Wilmslow 
were mostly very enthusiastic about the pilots. However, concerns were 
expressed regarding the room (including access to it) at Macclesfield Leisure 
Centre. 

ii) Transport 

Transport was seen to be problematic in any attempt to relocate customers. 
This was because it was felt that transport options were limited particularly 
following the withdrawal of fleet transport. The time and cost that would be 
incurred were seen as key factors. It was felt this could lead to social isolation 
in some cases with a service no longer taken up due to these obstacles. 

Issues with transport were raised particularly in relation to the Stanley Centre 
and Queens Drive. However, it was discussed at other meetings as well e.g. for 
Dean Row and Peatfields. 

As such, the importance of having local services was seen as key. A comment 
was received from the Stroke Association relating to this: 

“….I really hope that this will mean that services are ‘local’ to service 
users. I visit stroke survivors throughout East Cheshire and one of the 
biggest issues preventing people from maximising their recovery is that 
activities to help in their rehabilitation or care are not local.” 

 

Page 120



55 
 

 

iii) Personalisation 
 
Personalisation was looked on with suspicion by many people. Whilst they 
acknowledged it allowed greater choice, it was felt that it also decreased the 
viability of Council services for those who continued to wish to receive them.  
 
There was also concern that the Council was deliberately pushing customers 
and carers into personal budget or direct payment options (see consultation 
pack for further information on what these are) in order to be in a position to 
argue for centre closure. One comment from a meeting regarding Queens 
Drive was: 
 

“Numbers are dropping because referrals are being refused.” 
 
“Is the promotion of personal budgets a form of privatisation?”  

 
Frustration was expressed that people who opted to receive a direct payment 
could not buy in-house services. 
 

“With Direct Payments/Personal budgets people should have choice of 
purchasing private or traditional services.”   

 
iv) Disruption to Customers 
 
There were many comments raised about the problems that moving centres 
would cause for customers. Aside from transport problems, these concerns 
centred around the problems that users would have in adapting to new 
surroundings , in meeting new people and in coping with a change of routine.  
 

“As anyone who is closely involved with people with learning disabilities 
will know, they suffer huge stress and anxiety when taken away from 
their routine and comfort zone and find it hard to form new 
relationships.”   

 
It was also the case that many carers and customers disagreed that the 
alternative centre for service provision would be an improvement. This is 
reflected in the case of all proposed buildings for closure but was particularly 
so for the Stanley Centre. 

Page 121



56 
 

 
 
v)     Carers 
 
There were many concerns raised about the impact of the proposals on carers. 
These often stemmed from the previous two issues. It was felt that carers were 
being asked to provide more transport support than they had to before fleet 
transport had been phased out. It was stated this would lead to greater stress. 
Safety of customers was also expressed as a key concern because of the 
travelling they might be asked to do. For instance, a point was made about the 
difficulty of coping in an emergency if a customer was based further away.  

Page 122



57 
 

 

Appendix 1:  Petition 
 
Two petitions were presented in advance of full Council in December. The 
main one was organised by a group called KAFKA (Knutsford Area for Knutsford 
Action). The majority of signatures were collected in Knutsford or Cheshire 
East, with a small number placed outside of the Cheshire East boundaries. 

The message on the petition states: 
 

“We the undersigned petition Cheshire East Council and East Cheshire 
Hospital Trust: 
Save our social and health care –keep our services local 
Keep our Stanley Centre for disabled adults 
Return our dementia care services 
Return our intermediate hospital ward” 
 

The following table is a breakdown of the locations the petition was placed in 
and the number of signatures collected there.  

Place Number of signatures 

Allostock 59 

Congleton 182 

Cranage 128 

Crewe 67 

Goostrey 124 

Homes Chapel 422 

Knutsford 3081 

Lower Peover 8 

Macclesfield 50 

Middlewich 108 

Mobberley 82 

Northwich 23 

Page 123



58 
 

Over Peover 20 

Parkgate 433 

Plumley 4 

Sandbach 995 

Toft 258 

Wilmslow 38 

Winsford 149 

Online 59 

Total 6290 

 

In addition to this there was a petition solely concerning the Stanley Centre. 
275 signatures were collected for this at various locations. Its text stated: 

“SAVE THE STANLEY CENTRE 
 
By an accident of birth, my brother Paul was born with severe learning 
disabilities. 
 
Through no fault of his own, he will never be able to hold down a job. He 
will never experience simple joys such as reading the newspaper, driving 
a car, taking himself out for a meal or a pint with mates – or having a 
relationship. 
 
Paul (and those like him) need the opportunity to be part of the local 
community where he can have a sense of belonging, make friends and 
develop skills in a caring, safe environment surrounded by people he 
knows and trusts. 
 
Today such an environment exists in Knutsford- a day-care centre called 
‘the Stanley Centre’. It has helped make my brother feel happy and feel 
that Knutsford is his home. Without it, he would be isolated and lonely, 
with little access to his friends. 
 
East Cheshire Council are proposing to close the Stanley Centre as a cost 
cutting measure. 
 

Page 124



59 
 

We live in tough times, HOWEVER, to deprive people like Paul of the 
assistance they need is to attack the VERY WEAKEST AND LEAST ABLE in 
society. 
 
Please help speak for them, by taking the trouble to add your name to 
this, as we work to protect those with NO VOICE to speak for 
themselves. 
 
Thank you for taking the time to help. Simon”  

 

 

The petitions were presented with the covering sheet shown on the next page. 

Page 125



60 
 

 

 
In presenting this Petition, signatures of which have been gained over the short time of only two months (14 
October 2011 – 14 December 2011) Knutsford Area For Knutsford Action, states that it represents the view of 
more than 6000 people, who object to the current policy of removing local services for local people from local 
areas. 

What began as a serious attempt to gain support for a number of learning disabled adults who attend The 
Stanley Centre, caught fire across Cheshire East and over its borders. Carers and other volunteers have 
committed a large part of their valuable social time to this Petition, and invite Cheshire East Council 
Representatives to take very seriously the results obtained. 

We now present a three-part Petition.  

The first part consists of more than 3000 signatures gathered in Knutsford;  

The second part is a similar number of signatures gathered in towns and villages across Cheshire East and on 
its borders;  

The third part is a 275 signature petition on the single topic of The Stanley Centre, which was begun by family 
members of an adult who attends the Stanley Centre. 

To this petition we add,: 

1.  a copy of Cheshire East LINk Report on The Stanley Centre - 11 November 2011 

2. a copy of Knutsford Town Council Health and Social Care Work Group’s Report  - November 2011 

3. a Care Quality Commission Report on Bexton Court – showing that it was well run and appreciated 
by its service users and their carers - prior to its unnecessary closure – 14 April 2010 

4. A Knutsford Guardian news item on the recently issued MENCAP Report on The Stanley Centre 
showing the centre’s usefulness to the learning disabled and their carers – 14 December 2011. 

5. A Report to Cabinet, on Dementia Strategy – Building Based Services Review – showing an 80% 
occupancy of Bexton Court just before it was closed - produced by Director of Adult Services, Mr 
Phil Lloyd – 20 April 2010 

6. A copy of the Report of East Cheshire NHS Trust’s Director of Performance and Quality, Kath 
Senior on ‘Temporary Closure of Tatton Ward’ – 09 September 2010 

7. A copy of Cheshire East Council’s 05 October 2011 Health and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee 
Minutes, during which a formal request was made - and undertaking given - to look into the effect of the 
current difficulties and worries experienced by service users and carers, about the future of their Day 
and Respite Services – 05 October 2011 

KKKKAFKKKKA Save Our Services 

http://knutsfordareaforknutsfordaction.blogspot.com  

Page 126



61 
 

8.  Extract from Cheshire East Council’s Health and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee Work 
Programme – showing (Page 30) that the Health and Wellbeing aspects of the current crisis in social 
care was ‘To be prioritised’ -  presented with Agenda for 10 November 2011 Meeting effectively closed 
down all consideration of this matter for several months at that meeting. 

9.  Knutsford Guardian 01 December 2011 and email to Charlotte Peters Rock from Cheshire Police Area 
Commander, Michael Garrihy – 02 December 2011. 

We formally request a full response from Cheshire East Council, on all aspects of this broad-ranging Petition, 
and ask that it should take careful account of the legal requirements on public bodies, under the European 
Convention on Human Rights, and under the many aspects of disability legislation in operation within the UK, in 
respect of non-discrimination towards disabled people and the right of all people to have their family life 
uninterrupted unnecessarily by any official or public body.  
 
We petition Cheshire East Council on this day, Thursday, 15 December 2011, to carefully consider the needs 
and rights of service users and carers and further to consider – in view of point 9 - whether any adequate  
‘consultation’ has ever – yet - taken place between Cheshire East Council and residents of the Knutsford Area, in 
respect of social care and health services. 

15 December 2011 

Page 127



62 
 

 

Appendix 2:  Responses from Organisations 
 

See supplementary document 

Page 128



���������	
������
�������
������������
���
�

Page 129



Representations from Organisations 

 

Improvements to Adult Social Care Services 
Response to Consultation 

 
Age UK Cheshire East understands and supports the rationale and principles behind the 
changes being proposed to service delivery for Adult Social Care.  Where changes are being 
made that improve service quality, choice and control, and reduce travel time for the majority 
of older people in Cheshire East, we recognise that those changes need to be made. 
 
We believe that there will be ongoing demand for some level of day care for older people.  
Research published by DEMOS in 2009 found that 33% of older people, if they had a 
personal budget, would prefer to use day centre services.  In 2010, they published the 
findings of further research which built on this, exploring the preferences of a larger group of 
people with the aim of providing intelligence and an insight into market changes for both 
providers and commissioners.  When asked what sorts of activities older council funded 
social care users would like to carry out if they had a personal budget, 54% said socialising, 
48% said meeting new people and 43% said help going out.  
 
When asked about services they would purchase, 46% of older people said they would use 
day centres. Currently 45% of council funded older people use day centres, so this shows a 
slight increase. Around 40% of self-funding older people said that they use day centres. The 
chart below shows that other user groups said they would use day centres less if they had a 
personal budget, whereas older people with personal budgets would use them slightly more. 
 

 

Page 130



 
The research noted that people with learning disabilities and older people give very different 
responses.  For example, although the data suggest a general decline in their use, day 
centres remain a popular service. A third of care users say they will still use day centres after 
receiving a personal budget, and older people may use them slightly more than they do 

predominantly on choices made by different user groups. 
 
The Lifestyle Activities detailed in the consultation covering physical activities, social and 
community activities, and activities which help a person in their day to day life, are a very 
similar approach to the activities provided by Age UK Cheshire East.  Our Healthy Lifestyle 
service provides a wide range of physical activities, such as walks, keep fit classes, 
chairobics, Tai Chi, Zumba, and golf.  It also provides social activities including arts and 
crafts groups, scrabble, and reminiscence sessions, and activities which help people in their 
day to day life, such as cookery courses.  Other services such as Help at Home and 
Information and Advice provide these activities too, such as helping people getting to and 
from shops, and assistance with filling in forms.  Age UK Cheshire East has a Health and 
Wellbeing Centre in Macclesfield as a focus for this approach to service delivery, and plans 
to replicate this model to create hubs in other towns in Cheshire East, as funding 
opportunities are identified.  We also use a range of community venues such as sheltered 
accommodation, libraries, village halls and community centres.  Due to demand, we are 
currently seeking additional funding to expand our Healthy Lifestyle activities. 
 
It would make sense for us to work together in supporting the health and wellbeing of the 
older population. As the Lifestyle pilots focused on people with learning disabilities, we could 
offer our experience of working with older people in the planning and development of 
services.  We are currently working with Cheshire East Council to deliver a range of 
activities, including Be Steady Be Safe falls prevention classes, Nordic Walking, and 
badminton.  We have delivered activities in Leisure Centres and can offer to do more of this.  
We can also offer our community buildings as venues for activities.  We are also in a position 
to provide training based on our extensive experience of working with older people.  We are 
a registered Centre for delivering the Royal Institute of Public Health
Improvement course, an NVQ Level 2 which enables staff to work as health advocates, and 
support people in making choices about their health.  We are also a training centre for the 
walking the way to health programme, and can train people as walk leaders.  Our training 
services have a range of courses available, including on dementia awareness.  Finally, as a 
charity, we can access sources of funding to support service development. 
 
Our main priority is that older people have opportunities for physical, mental and social 
activity, and, as long as they are accessible, the locations in which services are based is not 
as important as their availability.  However transport is a key issue for many older people in 
this area, and we feel that the consultation an adult social care services need to liaise 
closely with the transport workstream of the Ageing Well programme to ensure that a whole 
system approach is taken to the issue.  Macclesfield Leisure Centre, for example, is out of 
town and difficult to access as it has no bus stop outside it.  Also, transport options for 
people with dementia need to reflect that the majority will need help from door to door, and 

 
 

Page 131



We would like to work with Cheshire East Council in whatever capacity is appropriate to 
develop long term solutions to the challenges of an ageing population, and to harness the 
assets of an ageing population in finding those solutions. 
 
 
 
 
Age UK Cheshire East 
Head Office 
New Horizons Centre 
Henderson Street 
Macclesfield 
SK11 6RA 
 
www.ageukcheshireeast.org 
 
 

 

Page 132



Response to the consultation from Audlem and District Community Action  
 
 
I am writing on behalf of Audlem & District Community Action as its Chairman 
to respond to the consultation on proposed changes to adult social care 
services with specific reference to day services. 
 
 
Our local charity was established in March this year and successful in bidding 
to take over the community day care for older people which operates one day 
per week in our village. We have a contract with your council to do this and 
are also in the process of expanding services to include a Friday morning 
coffee club and a befriending service. 
 
 
 
We currently have 20 people attending our day club each Tuesday, approximately 
half of whom have substantial or critical needs. 
 
 
 
Our committee have discussed the day service changes proposed and, and  
whilst we are not directly involved with the day centres included in  
your consultation, would like to make the following general points  
about day services for you to consider as part of the consultation  
process. 
 
 
 
1.   We agree that use of ordinary community building is a good thing  
so as to integrate people with a wide range of activities. This is what  
we do in Audlem by using Wulvern Housing sheltered accommodation  
complex for our day club 
 
 
 
2.  However, we understand the need to retain some specialist centres,  
on a multi- use basis, for people with complex needs which need  
specialist equipment and staffing. 
 
 
 
3.  We want to stress the importance of continuing to contract with  
local voluntary organisations to provide day activity and support  
particularly in rural areas like ours. We do certainly provide value  
for money as our costs are significantly less than those charged by  
larger national VOs. We also provide easily accessible local services  
including for people who already receive a care package funded by the  
Council and who, therefore, have significant needs. 
 
 
 
4.  We understand and support the development of more personalised  
services, hence the development of our own befriending service, but  
would want to stress the continuing importance of providing communal  
activity for people as in a day service. Not only does this help  

Page 133



physical and mental stimulation but prevents social isolation. It also,  
vitally, provides respite to carers. 
 
 
 
I  hope these comments are helpful 
 
 
 
yours sincererly 
 
 
 
Roger Millns  
 
Chairman ADCA 
 

Page 134



KNUTSFORD TOWN COUNCIL
HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE

PUBLIC CONSULTATION RECOMMENDATIONS

November 2011 

Knutsford Town Council 

Knutsford Council Offices 
Toft Road 
Knutsford 
Cheshire 

WA16 6TA 

T. 01565 653929 
www.knutsfordtowncouncil.gov.uk

townclerk@knutsfordtowncouncil.gov.uk 

Page 135



Health & Social Care Page 2 of 11 © KTC 2011 
Public Consultation Recommendations

Health and Social Care 
Public Consultation Recommendations 

Background 

In September 2011 a report, compiled by Cheshire East Council [CEC] Officers, was 
put forward to CEC Cabinet on the re-organisation of Social Care provision within east 
Cheshire.  Within this report was the recommended permanent closure of Bexton 
Court and the Stanley Centre, both located on the current Bexton Road Community 
Hospital site.  Relocation of these services to various locations across east Cheshire; 
Wilmslow, Macclesfield and Congleton was proposed. 

Meanwhile, the NHS Central and Eastern Cheshire Primary Care Trust [CECPCT], 
have engaged a consultant to look into the viability of providing a new medical centre 
in Knutsford, encompassing the existing GP surgeries, bed facilities and other social 
and health care services, with the possibility of private sector/commercial facilities, all 
under one roof. 

Knutsford has undergone several consultations over the past number of years with no 
progress seen.  The most recent consultation in 2009 ending without result. 

Knutsford Town Council resolved that a joined up thinking procedure was required, 
bringing together the knowledge and expertise of CEC Social Care, CECPCT, 
Knutsford GP’s, Knutsford Town Plan, and Knutsford Town Council, with input from 
those who use the facilities, the residents of Knutsford and surrounding areas. 

Knutsford Town Council established a panel consisting of the above bodies, and 
invited members of the public to come and talk to them about their health and social 
care needs. 

Two sessions where held, first on 16th November in Jubilee Hall, Toft Road.  The panel 
included; Mike Houghton and Andrew Malloy of Knutsford Town Council; Jason Oxley 
of CEC Social Services; Geoff Wood and Andy Bacon (Knutsford Programme Director) 
of CECPCT; and Peter Rose from the Knutsford Town Plan.  Nine individuals or 
groups presented to the panel on this occasion. 

The second session was held on 25th November at the Tatton Room of Knutsford Civic 
Centre with Mike Houghton and Andrew Malloy of Knutsford Town Council; Geoff 
Wood of CECPCT.  Again, nine individuals or groups presented to the panel on this 
occasion. 

Representatives from each of the three GP surgeries where invited to sit on and 
present to the panel, but decided they were happy to be represented by Andy Bacon. 

This report is a summary of the findings, culminating in a summary of the consensus 
for the way forward. 

Page 136



Health & Social Care Page 3 of 11 © KTC 2011 
Public Consultation Recommendations

This report is broken down into the following sections; 

• GP Surgeries and proposed Medical Centre 
• Day Care - Stanley Centre and Stanley House 
• Tatton Ward - Hospital Beds 
• Dementia Care - Bexton Court 
• Transport 
• Additional Observations 
• Overall Summary & Conclusion 

Knutsford Community Hospital, Bexton Road 

Stanley 
House 

Stanley 
Centre 

Tatton 
Ward 

Bexton 
Court 

Knutsford 
Community 
Hospital 

Page 137



Health & Social Care Page 4 of 11 © KTC 2011 
Public Consultation Recommendations

GP Surgeries and proposed Medical Centre 

From all of the presentations received, it was clear that no-one was dissatisfied with 
the services currently provided by any of Knutsford’s GP Surgeries.  The majority of 
people felt that the buildings, although not state of the art, where adequate for their 
needs.  There were a few concerns raised about operating over two floors, but most 
were happy that this was managed well by the surgeries. 

One comment was made that surgeries operating from ‘Victorian premises’ were 
unlikely to attract newly qualified medical professionals who would be seeking modern 
premises to practice from and this could be to the detriment of medical care within 
Knutsford moving forward.  Medical professionals have assured us of their belief that 
services would be greatly improved with a new medical centre. 

The Town Plan survey appeared to produce mixed views on the subject, confirming 
that patients were happy with the medical care they received, some raising concern 
over being able to see their own GP, and that services could actually suffer.  Travel to 
the new medical centre location was also a concern.

This Working Group feels that there are a number of items which must be assured 
should a centralised Medical Centre proceed; 

i. The existing GP Surgeries must be allowed to continue to operate individually, 
with separate waiting areas, and consultation rooms. 

ii. Transport to and from the new centre and adequate parking, must be in place 
before the move is finalised. 

iii. The centre must be designed to last long into the future.  It is not acceptable to 
get 25 years down the road to find the facilities are out-dated and redundant. 

iv. A centralised medical centre, should it replace the existing Community Hospital, 
must retain all existing but improved and updated services, and additional 
services.  For example a minor injuries facility has been mentioned by many. 

Any commercial partners which may be brought on board to help make the facility 
financially viable should be closely matched, with sensitivity.  Partners such as 
Dentists, Pharmacies, Holistic Treatments even Private medical care should be 
considered before retail or hospitality, which could detract from the purpose of the site 
and potentially take business away from the town centre. 

However, it has been made perfectly clear by CECPCT that there is no funding 
available to build any new facilities.  As such an alternative financial model is required 
should a new medical facility be built in Knutsford. 

Durrows, CECPCT’s consultants (specialists in health services management), are due 
to report on the financial model, options and viability by the end of the year. 

Page 138



Health & Social Care Page 5 of 11 © KTC 2011 
Public Consultation Recommendations

Day Care - Stanley Centre and Stanley House 

One point was made perfectly clear by the sheer volume of comment and love of this 
facility, which is that the facilities provided at the Stanley Centre by CEC Social Care, 
MUST be retained in Knutsford.  CEC Social Care professionals themselves have also 
confirmed during this consultation that it is their preferred option to retain either the 
Stanley Centre or at least its services in the town. 

CECPCT have also stressed that a new Medical Centre could be built without touching 
the land on which the Stanley Centre stands. 

The Stanley Centre would benefit from greater utilisation, with most use occurring 
weekdays between 9am and 4pm.  CEC should therefore consider greater use of the 
building outside of these hours, be it for additional events for the existing attendees, or 
potentially letting the premises in the evening to other groups – but the majority if not 
all of the time during the day (‘office hours’) should be kept for its current use. 

Concern remains over Stanley House.  Part of the ground floor is currently used by 
Stanley House attendees, but it is felt this is not essential for the continuation of 
Stanley Centre. 

The Stanley Centre recently received a glowing report by Cheshire East LINK (8th

November 2011).  The report states; 
“the older part of the building is not really fit for purpose.  However, we understand that 
it would be possible, with some adjustment… to run the current service using only the 
newer building.”  Link would “strongly recommend that this is seriously considered by 
the Local Authority.” 

LINK go further, highlighting the facilities that the Stanley Centre users were offered as 
an alternative at the local Leisure Centre.  The facility offered was a squash court, 
which was accepted by all as wholly inadequate. 

Stanley House is the “older part”, and is an old and interesting building.  Formerly a 
nurse’s home for the old Cranford Hospital, in recent years it has struggled to find a full 
purpose.  Both the Stanley Centre and Stanley House and a small part of the 
Community Hospital are within the Knutsford Town Centre Conservation area, so 
ideally they should be protected. 

Page 139



Health & Social Care Page 6 of 11 © KTC 2011 
Public Consultation Recommendations

Part of Knutsford Town Centre and St Johns Conservation areas (blue hatching)

Stanley House is fitted with a fully functioning lift, so should be deemed accessible.  It 
is undeniable that the building would require some alteration to make it usable for 
social or medical care. For example, to enable use by people with mobility issues, 
consideration must also be given to adequate escape facilities such as disabled refuge 
or upgrading the existing lift to a fire fighting lift. 

Alternatively, the building could be converted for commercial use, and provide either an 
income or become an asset to the community.  Conversion for serviced office space as 
provided by organisations such as Regus (a national office management company), 
should also be considered.  Meeting space remains in limited supply in Knutsford. 

Stanley Centre users lost their mini bus facility earlier this year at very short notice.  
Parents of attendees offered to buy the bus, as did Knutsford Lions, but this offer was 
rejected by CEC for some unknown reason.  This bus service provided an important 
service to the attendees, allowing them to get to and from the centre and take part in 
excursions beyond the local area. 

It has been highlighted that a mini bus at the Leisure Centre often sits unused, and 
options should be explored to see whether this could be shared by the Stanley Centre.  
Alternatively, other offers or fund raising should be encouraged.  Consultation with 
local charities (e.g. Dementia Care, MS Society, Age Concern, Mind, Mencap, Caring 
for Carers, to name a few) might lead to co-operation. 

Page 140



Health & Social Care Page 7 of 11 © KTC 2011 
Public Consultation Recommendations

Hospital beds and intermediate care - Tatton Ward 

Tatton Ward (operated by CECPCT rented from CEC) ‘temporarily’ closed in August 
2010 due to insufficient Consultant cover.  Due to the shared nature of services, this 
resulted in the later ‘temporary’ closure of Bexton Court in November 2010. 

Both centres were set to open in early 2011, but this did not happen. 

Since then there has been much speculation about the future of both facilities. 

CECPCT have confirmed they have now appointed the consultant needed to re-open 
Tatton Ward, however, due to uncertainty over the future of the site and a potential 
medical centre, it was decided to hold off re-opening the ward until the future was more 
certain. 

Durrows, a consultancy employed by CECPCT, are due to report on the viability of a 
new medical centre toward the end of 2011. 

It is the feeling of this working group that nothing is likely to happen to the Bexton 
Road site for at least two years, during which time funding, design, planning 
permissions and other issues would need to be resolved, and as such, we see no 
reason why Tatton Ward should not re-open as soon as possible. 

CECPCT have stated that any new medical centre would include beds, although the 
number is to be determined.  Opening Tatton Ward would surely help determine the 
demand required to finalise this decision, while providing the much needed care 
Knutsford people so obviously crave. 

Page 141



Health & Social Care Page 8 of 11 © KTC 2011 
Public Consultation Recommendations

Dementia Care - Bexton Court  

Unfortunately, this working group did not received representation relating directly to 
this facility, however below is a summary of readily available information. 

As stated earlier in this report, Bexton Court, temporarily closed in November 2010 due 
to the closure of Tatton Ward. 

Since that time, patients of Bexton, have had to find care elsewhere, either in other 
parts of Cheshire East or in private facilities in the Knutsford area. 

Sadly, the status of these patients appears to be unclear, with none coming forward to 
speak to our panel. 

Prior to the ‘temporary’ closure of Bexton Court, a Cheshire East report – Dementia 
Strategy – Building Based Services Review, 20th April 2010 – identified Bexton Court 
as having an average bed use (23 beds) of 80%, higher than any of the other Cheshire 
East facilities in Handforth, Macclesfield, Congleton and Crewe.  It has not however 
been possible to determine from which areas these users reside nor how they access 
similar services now. 

It is evident that Knutsford has an aging population.  A recent CEC Profile for the 
Knutsford Ward identified 14.6% as elderly, higher than the borough average of 9.3%.  
It also identifies 8.3% as “active elderly people living in pleasant retirement locations”, 
again higher than the borough average of 4.5%.

A number of nursing or residential homes also either exist or are proposed for 
Knutsford. 

As such, it is clear that Knutsford has its need for the services of centres such as 
Bexton Court. 

Due to the lack of evidence provided during the Town Council’s consultation, we do not 
feel able to summarise the feelings of Knutsford’s residents towards Bexton Court, 
except for that of historic concern for the facility. 

This working group would therefore urge CEC to provide this type of facility within 
Knutsford, and should Tatton Ward re-open suggest that Bexton Court is also opened, 
at least until the future of the Bexton Road site is known, and an alternative venue 
secured. 

Alternatively, the Stanley Centre and Stanley House could be considered for this 
facility. 

Page 142



Health & Social Care Page 9 of 11 © KTC 2011 
Public Consultation Recommendations

Transport 

Knutsford has a limited number of public transport facilities.  Although the town 
benefits from a Train Station, it is not actually possibly to access any other major 
Cheshire East town directly by train.  This leaves buses, taxis or cars. 

Bus services appear reasonable, but infrequent, and often several different buses are 
required to reach relatively nearby locations. 

If a centralised medical facility is to be built in Knutsford, local bus services must be 
improved, especially to outer lying areas of the town and local villages who look to 
Knutsford for their services.  A joined up, integrated approach to public transport is 
required.  This would benefit the town in far more ways than providing access to 
medical facilities.  Knutsford is known to suffer from large amounts of traffic, and 
parking issues.  Improved public transport could alleviate the already evident problems 
our town suffers. 

Mini-bus services are also important to the more vulnerable in our society, whether 
giving them access to services, or simply a day out with friends. 

Cheshire East Council have removed their fleet of mini buses earlier this year, with no 
viable replacement provided.  Options need to be seriously considered. 

Page 143



Health & Social Care Page 10 of 11 © KTC 2011 
Public Consultation Recommendations

Additional Observations 

It must be remembered that Knutsford has many unsung heroes – carers, volunteers 
and fund raisers.  Many times in the past, the people of Knutsford have joined forces in 
order to provide facilities which could not be provided any other way. 

The Knutsford League of Hospital Friends, for example, have long raised funds for 
equipment at Bexton Road. 

Knutsford’s Cottage Hospital (Memorial Hospital) was also funded through public 
subscription.  It was later sold off, with reduced services provided at the old Cranford 
Hospital site. 

We must also remember that carers are often not volunteers, but family members 
thrown into the situation through fate who either accept the caring responsibility out of 
love or because they have no alternative.  Many would not give up the responsibility, 
but would appreciate help and support in return in order to assist them in managing 
their demanding role. 

Views expressed included; 
How long will the people of Knutsford continue fund raising and volunteering, only to 
have services taken away? 

We urge Cheshire East Council and Central and Eastern Cheshire Primary Care Trust 
to give a little back to Knutsford. 

Page 144



Health & Social Care Page 11 of 11 © KTC 2011 
Public Consultation Recommendations

Overall Summary & Conclusion 

This Working Group recommends that, should the promises made to the people of 
Knutsford in relation to equal and improved services, be kept, a medical centre in 
Knutsford be given the backing of Knutsford Town Council. 

Such a centre must include some or all of the existing GP Surgeries, bed provision, 
and at least the existing services currently provided by Knutsford Community Hospital.  
Any additional services to be considered should include a minor injuries ward. 

This WG further recommends that the Stanley Centre is retained in the current building 
with some alterations to move out of Stanley House, and increase usage out of current 
hours.  Leisure Centres cannot provide adequate facilities for the users of the Stanley 
Centre.  If the Stanley Centre remains at risk, KTC should act to help ensure its future.  
Stanley House should ideally be retained as a facility for the community, with options 
considered for relocating other services into this building, whether they are a 
temporary provision of beds while the new medical centre is built, or admin facilities. 

Tatton Ward should be re-opened as soon as possible now that Consultant cover has 
been secured, and remain in place while the future of the Bexton Road site is 
confirmed.  Should temporary closure be required in the future, suitable local provision 
or adequate transport facilities must be provided to users. 

Dependent upon the above we suggest that Bexton Court also re-open along with 
Tatton Court, or an alternative local facility provided. 

Finally, transport options must be provided for the most vulnerable within our society. 

It is accepted that Macclesfield General Hospital as the primary centre of medical care 
in this area, must also be protected.  Knutsford’s services must act to support MGH 
rather than take services away. 

We would also like to thank all those who assisted this working group during this 
consultation. 

Page 145



LINK  

Cheshire East Council Consultation Premises based care for Service Users with 
Learning Disabilities: Response from Cheshire East LINk 

 
We understand the Consultation to looking at reprovision of services in three 
areas: 
 
1. Life Style concept 
2. Traditional premises based support   
3.  Respite care 
 
In an attempt both to ascertain the current provision, and to understand the proposed 
changes, Cheshire East LINk has undertaken Enter and View visits to facilities and also sat in 
on some consultations with users and carers.  Other feedback has reached the LINk by 
contacts expressing concern.   
All of the Enter and View Reports together with observations on user and carer consultation 
are submitted in support of this overall comment. 
 
An over riding concern is the cost and lack of transport and we are told that some users 
have had to reduce their attendances at Centres due to cost.  In one instance we were told 
of a user paying £100 per week.  We understand the intention is to ensure care as near to 
home as possible and users tell us that there has been an assurance that travel will not be 
more than 10 miles.  However 
 one widely expressed concern in the Nantwich area is the proposal to close the Queens 
Avenue Respite Centre reproviding the care at Mount View Support Centre in Congleton .  
There is much concern here regarding the distance users and carers would have to travel, 
certainly more than ten miles. 
 
We applaud the Life Style concept for those users for whom it is appropriate and who are 
able to benefit.  Many of the users with whom we have spoken are most enthusiastic.  
However we do have concerns regarding the current accommodation, although we 
understand there are plans to improve this.  Even among the most enthusiastic users there 
is a dislike of rooms without windows and to some this is the reason they do not wish to use 
this facility. 
As regards access, in one case Macclesfield Leisure Centre, there is currently no possibility of 
disabled access and the Council is in breach of its own policies.  We understand there to be 
architect plans pending the results of this consultation. 
 
We understand the problems in continuing to provide services within short distances of 
each other but in one instance, the Stanley Centre at Knutsford there would appear to be no 
clear alternative proposals as to where the service would be provided should this centre 
close.  It was in visiting this centre that we encountered marked anxiety and distress on 

  In this instance we would most strongly urge that the service  continue to 
be provided on this site using the newer build,  which we understand to be a possibility. 
Please find the attached reports in support of this overall comment.  

Page 146



Feedback from Cheshire East LINk 
 

Cheshire East  LINk  
Observation 

of 
Consultation for users of Cheyne Hall and their carers concerning 
the proposed closure of Queen's Drive Respite Centre in 
Nantwich 

Date 7/11/11 
Authorised 

Representatives 
Celia Bloor and Ian Bloor 

 Thanks to the Consultation team, staff and service-users for allowing us to 
observe 

Background Representatives for 4 service users, out of 40, were at the meeting; two 
couples, one father and one sister.  There had already been one meeting 
held at the Civic Hall Nantwich.  We were told that 18 people attended but 
do not have details except that Cllr Flude was there. 

A few service users attended.  They had to be reassured that it was not their 
homes which would be closed or moved. 

There have been no further proposals involving closure of Dedicated Day 
Care centres in the Crewe and Nantwich area.  This might come in a 'Phase 2' 
of the moves to improve Adult Care Services in the area, but there would 
have to be separate consultation.   

Several Buildings in the area have been closed already. 

 Santune House (Dementia respite transferred to the new wing at 
Lincoln House in Crewe)  

 Jubilee House (Older people day care transferred to The Hilary 
Centre) 

 Primrose Ave, Haslington NHS respite centre (was available for 
emergency beds and for those with severe health needs) ................. 

 291 Nantwich Rd (Mental Health day centre/activity groups 
transferred to The Hilary Centre and The Oakley Centre) 

As local leisure centres and other buildings are already being used there is no 
argument for change.  Nantwich only has one Learning Disabilities Day Care 
Centre.  The users of Cheyne Hall have choice and control already.  It is 
important they should be advised that direct payments cannot be used for 
care provided by the council, and that a mixture of payment methods can be 
arranged if they wish to retain council services. 

The discussion mainly centred on the transfer of respite care from Nantwich 
(6 beds) to Mount View, Congleton.  It should be remembered that a few 
beds should always be available for use in emergency (e.g. Carer illness). 

Observations  At least one person uses Queen's Drive for Day Care, because their complex 

Page 147



Feedback from Cheshire East LINk 
 

needs were not suited by Cheyne Hall when first tried some years ago.  They 
have been going to Queen's Drive ever since.  There has been no suggestions 
about the future for this service-user should Queen's Drive be closed.   

All the carers agreed that Queen's Drive is like a 'family home' and that the 
users enjoyed their stays there.  It was acknowledged that this 'family' feel 
would be lacking at Congleton, but indicated that 'economies of scale' are 
necessary. 

The lack of a lift at Queen's Drive is not usually a problem, but it is has been 
suggested that one could be installed to the exterior of the building to 
improve accessibility.  At present there is no 'waking night' service which 
would cost about £45,000 p.a.(using council's stated charge of £125 for a 
waking nightto an individual).  It was said that 20 to 30 users were needed to 
make waking night staff economic. 

At Mountview, Congleton, a wing would be dedicated to users with Learning 
Disabilities and 24 hr care provided during their stay. 

It was suggested that a separate wing at Lincoln House would be preferable, 
as it is in the Crewe and Nantwich area, but apparently Lincoln House is over-
subscribed at present. 

At the Macon House consultation it was stated that people with Learning 
Disabilities could use Lincoln House if they wished.  Some liked mixing with 
other users but some felt there were too many old people there. 

The difficulty of transport was cited as a major problem; taxis costing £36, or 
more, for a single journey.  Some carers do not drive or are not sufficiently 
confident to go as far as Congleton.  Many service-users are not able to 
travel on public transport, even if there was a convenient bus.  The length of 
the break for carers, when they have to take a service-user a great distance  
is dramatically shortened, by the time taken to get the user to a respite 
centre.  During respite, users would prefer to spend time at their familiar 
centre during the day, which would not be possible if the respite centre is far 
away. 

An important point was made that service-users in respite at a great distance 
from their 'home', would be taken out of their GPs area, which would cause 
difficulty if they were taken ill.  Apparently some users at present travel from 
Congleton to Nantwich for respite (no figures given).  

The question of travel during the winter was raised.  From the geography of 
the area it would seem more sensible to locate respite centres on the lower, 
more level areas, than to move them closer to the Peak District. 

It was felt that South Cheshire was always neglected.  The reply was that 
each area feels itself neglected. 

There was general dissatisfaction with penalising this vulnerable minority 
who have little if any voice and, often, no vote. 

The view was expressed that consultations are a waste of time. 

Page 148



Feedback from Cheshire East LINk 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

There was concern that service-users' and carers' views were ignored as 
evidenced by the alterations to transport arrangements.. One family is 
paying £100 a week for taxis.   

In addition, the implications of removing 'guides' from buses did not seem to 
have been considered.  A person in a wheel chair would be at risk whenever 
the driver had to leave the vehicle, or if a passenger was taken ill, seizures 
being quite common. 

It was said that Alsager had managed to keep their transport. 

Summary Those at the meeting did not want Queen's Drive to be closed and certainly 
did not want to have to take service-users to Congleton. 

Conclusions So far as service-users and carers who use Cheyne Hall are concerned, the 
only immediate effect of the proposed changes would be the closure of the 
Queen's Drive respite and day-care facility, which would impact seriously on 
the quality of life, and safety, of both the service-users and their carers, 
simply through the extra distances that they would be required to travel. 

It will also be difficult for many service-users to find alternative, local, 
alternatives. 

It was said that Service-users and Carers in Knutsford have generated enough 
pressure to force a re-think of the proposals that affect their services. 

Page 149



Feedback from Cheshire East LINk 
 

Cheshire East  LINk  
Observation 

of 
Consultation for users of Macon House and their carers 
concerning the proposed closure of Queen's Drive Respite 
Centre, Nantwich. 

Date 9/11/11 
Authorised 

Representatives 
Celia Bloor and Ian Bloor 

 Thanks to the Staff, Service-users, Carers and the Consultation team for 
allowing us to observe 

Background Some Macon House service-users have respite at Queen's Drive, Nantwich.    
Cheshire East's proposals for 'Improvements to Adult Social Care Services'  
include closure of Queen's Drive and the creation of a specialist Learning 
Disabilities wing at Mountview in Congleton. 

Observations  5 service users and 6+ carers attended the Consultation Meeting. 

Carers raised a number of questions about proposals, and about some of the 
the data presented in the 'Improvements to Adult Social Care services' 
Information Pack. 

The occupancy figures for Queen's Drive given on p16 of the Information 
pack were challenged, because it had been revealed that they were for the  
period from Jan 2011 to end of August 2011, rather than for a full year, thus 
excluding a time when occupancy might be high.  It is also important to 
analyse figures for preceding years so as to identify long-term trends. 

It was suggested that since the NHS facility at Primrose Avenue has closed , 
some of those users might need respite. 

The need for 'Emergency beds' must be considered too, as we should not be 
tempted to rely on 'out of county' to supply them. 

It was suggested that another ground-floor bedroom could be created at 
Queen's Drive, if the office was moved upstairs.  Apparently this would have 
been costed already and been rejected. 

Mountview would be able to have 8 or 10 fully accessible bedrooms devoted 
to Learning Disability respite. 

It was claimed that the journey to Mountview, from Crewe, would not be 
significantly longer than the journey to Queen's Drive.  In fact, taking Crewe 
Rail Station as a typical point in Crewe, the distance to Mountview is twice 
the distance to Queen's Drive. 

It was pointed out that, using the figures given on p14 of the proposals, the 
population of Crewe and Nantwich, which have for a long time been 
considered as a single area, is 32.5% of the population of Cheshire East.  
making it the largest 'town' in the unitary authority, and yet Crewe and 
Nantwich is losing facilities.  It was suggested that any new, alternative 
respite centre should be in Crewe or Nantwich. 

Page 150



Feedback from Cheshire East LINk 
 

The presenters suggested that Lincoln House could be used for respite, but 
acknowledged that demands on the facility for respite for older people and 
those with dementia is very great, and that a specialist Learning Disabilities 
wing cannot be created, under the present circumstances. 

When a service user is able to live in their own home, with paid carers rather 
than with parents or other family members, then respite is not needed. 

The point was made that at present there is no known private provision in 
the area for respite for Learning Disabilities, which makes it impossible for 
respite to be arranged by families. 

Because it is not possible to use a 'Personal Budget' to pay for 'council' 
services, any service user who wants to access council services should turn 
down a personal budget or ask for a mixed budget.  One carer stated that it 
had taken 2 years of argument with Social Services to get a mixed budget. 

Shavington and Oakley Leisure centres may get investment in the next phase 
of changes.  It is the aim that all leisure centres will eventually have a 
'changing places' toilet. 

It was noted that no councillors were present at the meeting, and the view 
was expressed that this showed contempt for the ratepayers and service 
users. 

Summary The main concerns of the carers present were that: 

 Closure of the Queen's Drive in Nantwich, and transfer of the respite 
facility to Mountview would be stressful for service-users who had 
become accustomed to the 'family feel' of the Queen's Drive unit, and 
would involve more travelling for family carers, these effects 
combining to significantly reduce the effective length, and 
effectiveness of the respite stay. 

 The justification for the closure of Queen's Drive on the basis of low 
'occupancy' was based on incomplete data. 

 The proposals do not include provision for the development of any 
new facilities in Crewe and Nantwich, although it is the largest single 
centre of population in the Unitary Authority. 

 The absence of Councillors was a matter of great concern. 

Service-users from the Oakley Centre groups expressed support of the 
activities and experiences that they are involved in under the 'Life Style' 
Approach. 

 

 

 

 

Page 151



Cheshire East  LINk - Enter and View Report 

Enter and 
View Visit to  

 
Stanley House Community Support Centre, Knutsford 

Date 8th November 2011 

Authorised 
Representatives 

 

Geoff Gray and Barrie Towse 

Background  
Stanley House is a Day Care Community Support Centre for those with 
Leaning Disabilities run by Cheshire East Council.  In the light of the 
ongoing Consultation by Cheshire East Council into the use of these 
facilities the intent of the visit was to understand the current provision of 
service. 
 
 

Observations   
This was an unannounced visit and the Centre Manager, Andy Brandon 
was busy, although we did manage to have a conversation with him later. 
Julie Fox, Supervising Senior Support Worker kindly showed us round the  
facility. 
 
The centre consists of two parts, one part extending into the ground floor 
of Stanley House and a newer build joined by a link corridor.  We arrived at 
the same time as some of the service users and were able to observe the 
pleasant manner with which the Receptionist dealt with them as they 
were paying for lunches etc.  We understand that with the increase in 
prices more users now bring a packed lunch. At this time we were also able 
to exchange pleasantries with those arriving. 
 
The centre caters for 48 service users with learning disabilities, usually 
about 37 a day.  We understand that the majority of users are from the 
Knutsford area with six coming from Macclesfield, one from Congleton and 
two from Wilmslow.  This we were told is user choice. 

skills is in coping with challenging behaviour. 

rooms at the end of the older part of the building and speak briefly with 
this small group of service users.  Again this is a service not provided 
elsewhere. 
We did note that the rooms at this end of the building smelt a little of 
damp and there was water leakage through one leaded window. 
 
 
 

Page 152



We were shown into all the rooms and the activities which take place 
there were explained.  There is an art room, a library which tends to be a 
quieter room.  A computer room is used in the main for playing games.  

 ne service user likes 
to type. 
 
There is a Salon catering for hair, make up and nail care.  A TV lounge 
caters for quiet times for example after meals when users like to watch TV 
and at the end of the week they can watch a video of their choice.  This 
room also has a wii console and dancing is very popular.  There is the 
provision for music in every room. 
 

ly completed jigsaws and 
these are very popular with some users.   
 

couch.  This was in use at the time of the visit. 
 
The service users are very keen on recycling and we noticed a notice board  
in the corridor with photographs and the names 

  Waste is separated into different containers and users walk to 
the Leisure Centre with this.  In the past when the Centre had the use of 
their bus this was taken to Waste Disposal Centre.  
Since the loss of the bus the Centre has had to look at innovative ways of 
continuing external activities. 
 
There was cooking activity ongoing in a small kitchen and users showed us 
the recipes they were preparing.  The finished result is taken home for tea.  
On one day a week users can prepare their own lunch. 
 
We visited the dining room and were able to see the kitchen where lunch, 
chicken curry, was being prepared.  One user helps in the kitchen. 
 
Service users choose which of the many group activities in which they wish 
to participate. We were able to see the time table for these activities. 
  
Many life style activities take place outside the Centre.  Some service users 
are supported in the use of public transport and small numbers visit the 
Leisure Centre to use the gym.  The high usage of the swimming pool by 
school groups prohibits the use of this by the Centre service users.  
There are walking and rambling groups.  The loss of the bus has meant the 
rambling  activities are restricted. 
Groups volunteer at the Farm at Tatton Park and also with litter collection 
at Lower Moss Wood. 
 
 
 

Page 153



 

 

 

Gardening is popular and there is a well stocked greenhouse.   
 
We understand that there is soon to be a Coffee Morning with the funds 
raised going to Macmillan.   
 
We understand that a small group of service users visited the Leisure 

once a week.  However the facility on offer was a squash court without any 
external light source and this and the noise factor was felt to be 
oppressive.  It was decided that the facilities on offer were not suitable. 
The Leisure Centre is used for sports activities. 
 
 
 

Summary  
This was pleasant visit and we valued the opportunity to speak with 
service users.   
We were most concerned to note that the current Consultation is causing 
anxiety and distress to some users.  We were approached, as strangers 
wearing badges, almost as soon as we arrived by a user asking on several 

 
. 

Conclusions   
We agree that the older part of the building is not really fit for purpose.  
 
However we understand that it would be possible, with some adjustment 
in the usage of the rooms, to run the current service using only the newer 
build.   

experience in dealing with challenging behaviour we see this as a viable 
alternative for the Centre and strongly recommend that this is seriously 
considered by the Local Authority. 
 
The Representatives would like to thank Julie Fox and Andy Brandon, and 
indeed all the staff, for their time and courtesy particularly as this was an 
unannounced visit. 
 
  

Page 154



Mencap Summary 13-12-11 
Stanley Day Centre  A true representation 

Introduction 
 Mencaps document outline concerns by Mencap and also families/carers and 

clients affected by the proposal relating to the Stanley Centre. 

 The document criticises the consultation claiming it includes factually 

a learning disability. 

Impact  
 The document includes impact assessments: four statements by parents of 

people attending the Stanley Centre.  They outline what the impact would be, 
on their son/daughter and also on themselves as carers, if the Stanley Centre 
were to close. The common themes are; 

o They all strongly oppose the proposal to close the Stanley centre and 
express the anxiety the proposals have caused. 

o The clients are very happy at the Stanley Centre as it meets their 
needs, provides a safe environment where they see people they know 
and trust.  It also provides varied activities to suit different interests and 
capabilities. 

o If the proposals went ahead this would cause much distress to the 
clients. 

o The lifestyle option would not be suitable for various reasons 
(accessibility, staffing, appropriate activities, security) 

o they felt it 
is important to have a service local to Knutsford and that the other 

they would be bigger and mixed client groups. 

Personal Budgets 
 It is Mencaps view that personal budget are not a valid option for the vast 

majority who attend the Stanley Centre.  This is partly due to a lack of 
information about whether there are activities accessible in the community 
that people could spend their personal budgets on.   

 The document includes a timetable of activities at the Stanley Centre such as: 
Art, Numeracy, Keep Fit, Wii, Computers, Crafts, Cooking, Sensory, Dance, 
Walking Group and the staff/client ratio for each activity. 

 A statement by Nicola Thomson (mother of Ben who attends the centre) 
explains that she has looked to see what activities (out of those provided at 

Page 155



the centre and cited in the Cheshire East consultation are available in 
Knutsford community.  A limited amount was found and of those available 
many were inaccessible for a lot of the people who attend the centre.  She 
concludes that there is nothing in the community that comes close to offering 
what is provided at the Stanley centre. 

Alternative Venues in Knutsford 
 This section summarises the views of attendees of the Stanley centre and 

their families over the use of other buildings in Knutsford as an alternative 
to the Stanley Centre.  It concludes that none of them are appropriate, so 
the only option is to retain the Stanley Centre or a centrally located 
purpose built building. 

Evaluation from consultation with people with a learning disability and there 
families 

 This summarises feedback from Mencaps easy read  questionnaire. 
 For people attending the centre it is an integral and essential part of their 

life.  They feel comfortable, safe and secure at the centre. 
 The building is fit for purpose and in a convenient location. 
 Staff at the centre understand individual needs. 
 They are happy with the activities offered at the centre  

provision. 
 Felt the consultation is tokenistic and information is misleading.  People 

attending the centre lack comprehension about the proposals. 
 For majority of attendees personal budgets and lifestyle option would not 

be appropriate. 
 

Conclusion 
 The centre provides a safe, social & educational environment and is 

conveniently located. 
 Personalisation, while often championed by Mencap is not appropriate for the 

majority of clients at the Stanley Centre. 
 If the Stanley Centre were to close the next nearest centre would be 

Wilmslow.  The council would have a duty to provide transportation to and 
from this centre which could prove very costly and would add a substantial 
amount of travel time for attendees. 

 Mencap will continue to campaign against closure by a variety of means. 

Page 156



 
 
 
Analysis of feedback from the Cheshire East Partnership Boards 
for Adults with Learning Disabilities 
 
There are three Partnership Boards, the main Partnership Board is made up of 
Commissioners from statutory services, carers and self advocates and is chaired by the 
Associate Director for Joint Commissioning, Central and Eastern Primary Care Trust.  The 
two local Partnership Boards are sub groups to the main Board.  They have a wider 
representation including advocacy services, provider services in house and independent and 
are chaired by carers. 
 
The feedback is from three meetings in October, November and December. 
 
Cheshire East Partnership Board meeting on 24 November 2011 
Disruption to Service Uses and Carers 
One of the self advocates at the meeting representing the Macclesfield Speaking Up 
Speaking Out Group raised concerns from the group about the proposal to close Peatfields.  

 
 
Transport 
This was highlighted as an important factor when closing buildings.  The cost to some people 
will be a lot higher.  There are several people who walk to their day service and with the 
changes will have to take a bus or taxi and will need support.  This will take away their 
independence.   
 
Lifestyle Services 
A member of the Time Out Group said that it is a good idea for people to have better access 
to community facilities.  The Time Out Group (a charity) support adults to go out in the 
evenings.  This has been very successful but it does mean that pace for 
more people to join.  The Time Out Group model can be shared with the Partnership Board 
and it was suggested that voluntary services and statutory services could work together on 
this.   
 
North and South Cheshire Local Partnership Boards  meetings on  
Disruption to Service Users and Carers 
The Stanley Centre closing would be a huge disruption for all the people who use it that live 
in Knutsford.  There are no suitable options in the area. 
 
There were two very different opinions from carers at the North meeting.   Some carers feel 
that they need day centre especially as they, the carer gets older.  Another opinion was that 
you can set up trust funds etc which means the cared for does not need to  
go to a day centre even if the parents are no longer around.  People with complex needs 
and lack of capacity can still have a personal budget and pay someone to manage the 
budget for them. 
 

Page 157



Transport 
There will be a cost implication for travelling to different buildings.  Higher costs will stop 
people going to day centres because they can't afford to. 
 
General 
Rumours have been around for some time that the Stanley Centre is to close.  This could 
account for low referrals. 
 
A response from an independent provider  I went to all the public meetings which I 
thought were very good but the vision is blinkered when it comes to other providers of 
social care.  There are other providers and alternatives.  Ideas should be fed into the 
consultation.  
The response to this from a carer was not aware of other options especially in the 
Knutsford area and now I find that there are quite a few community options available.  
The council has done a disservice by not mentioning private providers in the consultation. 
 
Concerns from the South Local Partnership Board were that the changes are mainly in the 
North for now but will the South be the next target. 
 
Comment: 
Cheshire East is not very creative when it comes to respite / short breaks - there other 
options, carer comment. 
 
Lifestyle Services 
Several service users agreed that people need to be given the choice to do more with their 
lives. 
 

 
The council is not pushing personalisation enough and is actually encouraging people to use 
day centres. 
 
Some of the comments about the changes were very positive.  A service user said she likes 
the idea of doing different things in the community. 
 
 

Page 158



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT FORM                                                                 

1 

 

Equality impact assessment is a legal requirement for all strategies, plans, functions, policies, procedures and services under the Equalities Act 2010.  We are also legally 
required to publish assessments.   

Section 1: Description  
Department Childrens, Families and Adults Lead officer responsible for assessment 

 
Jacqui Evans 

Service  
 

Adult Services Other members of team undertaking 
assessment 

Nik Darwin 

Date 16/02/12 
 

Version 
 

4 

Type of document (mark as appropriate) 
 

Strategy 
x 

Plan Function Policy Procedure Service 
x 

Is this a new/existing/revision of an existing 
document (mark as appropriate) 

New Existing Revision 

Title and subject of the impact assessment 
(include a brief description of the aims, 
outcomes , operational issues as appropriate and 
how it fits in with the wider aims of the 
organisation)   
 
Please attach a copy of the 
strategy/plan/function/policy/procedure/service 
 
 

Improvements to Adult Social Care Services 
 
The Improvements to Adult Social Care Consultation concerned the Council putting a vision forward for how the 
Council could deliver services in the future. The vision involved customers who currently receive Day Services being 
given more choice over what they do during the day. Customers would be able to attend lifestyle groups run from 
buildings in the community where they would be able to access a much greater range of activities than they do 
presently to meet their assessed needs and interests.   

Customers with more complex needs would still attend traditional day services. However, the number of these would 
be reduced. Some of the money from these changes would be used to re-invest in the remaining buildings.  

The specific buildings put forward for potential decommissioning were: Peatfields (Macclesfield) and Dean Row 
(Wilmslow). Discussions were also to be had on services in Knutsford including Bexton Court (Knutsford), Stanley 
Centre (Knutsford). An additional proposal put forward was to transfer respite services from the centre at Queens 
Drive (Nantwich) to Mountview (Congleton) due to the fact that this building was unsuitable for people with more 
complex needs. 

P
age 159



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT FORM                                                                 

2 

 

 
Who are the main stakeholders?   
(eg general public, employees, Councillors, 
partners, specific audiences) 
 
 

Customers, their families and carers 

 
Section 2: Initial screening  

Who is affected?   
(This may or may not include the 
stakeholders listed above) 

Customers and their families and carers, members of staff at the affected centres (including respite services), organisations 
which deliver day type services in Cheshire East 

Who is intended to benefit and how? 
 

Customers from taking part in an increased variety of activities during the day. These will also occur at places within the 
community thus increasing their integration with local people.  Customers with complex needs using respite services. 

Could there be a different impact or 
outcome for some groups?  
 

 
Lifestyle 
One tenet of the lifestyle approach is that it is only suitable for those with lower levels of need, with customers with more 
complex needs continuing to receive care in a traditional day centre setting. It is also more focussed on people with learning 
disabilities. As a result of both these factors there could be a differing impact on equality groups. In addition to this there are 
potential issues that changes may cause for carers.  
 
Day Care/Respite 
Whilst the proposals to decommission centres and transfer users predominantly affect people with learning disabilities (e.g. 
Peatfields, Stanley Centre, Dean Row, Queens Drive) the proposal to close Bexton and to move people from the Brocklehurst 
Unit also affects people with dementia. There are, however, indirect effects on other groups as well as a result of customers 
transferring to centres. Affected centres include: Hollins View, Redesmere, Mountview and Mayfield. In addition to this there 
are potential issues that changes may cause for carers. 
 
A specific question relating to the impact on individuals was included in the consultation questionnaire to record issues. Other 
feedback was also analysed for further information on this topic. 
 

P
age 160



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT FORM                                                                 

3 

 

Does it include making decisions based 
on individual characteristics, needs or 
circumstances? 

Decision making will take into account a customer’s individual needs, including factors such as the degree and type of their 
disability.  

Are relations between different groups 
or communities likely to be affected?  
(eg will it favour one particular group or 
deny opportunities for others?) 

Issues have been raised during the consultation regarding the treatment of people with learning disabilities. It could be 
construed that they have been disadvantaged over other groups because of the number of day centres that they use that are 
affected by the proposals although people with dementia etc are involved in the changes as well. 
 

Is there any specific targeted action to 
promote equality? Is there a history of 
unequal outcomes (do you have enough 
evidence to prove otherwise)? 

The lifestyle approach may be seen as targeted action as one of its principles is to encourage integration between groups of 
people with disabilities and the wider community 

Is there an actual or potential negative impact on these specific characteristics?  (Please tick)  
Age 

Y  
Marriage & civil 
partnership 

 N 
Religion & belief  

 N 
Carers Y  

Disability  Y  Pregnancy & maternity   N Sex  N Socio-economic status Y  

Gender reassignment   N Race   N Sexual orientation   N    

What evidence do you have to support your findings? (quantitative and qualitative) Please provide additional information that you wish to 
include as appendices to this document, i.e., graphs, tables, charts 

Consultation/involvement 
carried out 

 Yes No 
Age 
 

There are a number of potential impacts on different age groups as a result of the 
consultation proposals affecting different client types (e.g. those with learning 
disabilities etc.). However, it is deemed that this is best addressed under the disability 
section. 

Overall usage of day care is highest amongst older people. Although there is a small 
peak of customers in the lower age bands as well as a result of learning disability 
customers. Please see Appendix 1 for data. There are similar proportions for respite 

Y  

P
age 161



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT FORM                                                                 

4 

 

(also see Appendix 1). 

The Lifestyle approach has the potential to have a positive impact on the wellbeing of 
older people e.g. see research contained in ‘Looking Forward to Old Age’ by the Kings 
Fund. 

Disability 
 

The lifestyle approach contains a number of potentially positive benefits for 
customers with a disability. This is due firstly to the increased choice and control that 
it offers (for instance in the choice of activity they could have). See Appendix 1 for a 
breakdown of the number of people with disabilities making up day centre usage. See 
Chapter 1 of the Consultation Report for information on the number of customers 
with a disability who responded via the questionnaire. It also tries to put into practice 
the findings given in the SCIE (Social Care Institute for Excellence) guide “Community-
Based Day Activities and Supports for People with Learning Disabilities”. 
 
The physical element of some of the activities as well as those that assist with every 
day life (e.g. healthy eating, cooking) also have the potential to impact favourably on 
customer’s health. Studies have shown people with a learning disability are 58 times 
more likely to die aged under 50 than other people. There are also four times as 
many people with a learning disability who die of preventable causes compared to 
people in the general population. There are also numerous studies on the benefits of 
physical activity for older people. For instance, the NICE document ‘Active for life: 
Promoting physical activity with older people’ gives evidence of the potential benefits 
in terms of longer life expectancy and quality of life that aerobic activity can give. The 
social aspect of the lifestyle approach is also highly likely to have a positive impact on 
customer’s mental wellbeing. 
 
However, it is also the case that the proposals could have a number of potentially 
negative impacts on people with disabilities. The extent of these impacts will depend 
on the type and level of their disability. Examples include; transport (inc. potential for 

Y  

P
age 162



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT FORM                                                                 

5 

 

reduced time in day care as a result of increased travelling time), facilities that can be 
accessed, disruption to wellbeing caused by change in location. The latter could be 
particularly detrimental to those with learning disabilities or dementia. 
 

Gender reassignment 
 

No impacts were recorded on this protected characteristic during the course of the 
consultation process. There is also no other evidence to suggest an impact is likely. As 
such, the effect of the proposals is deemed neutral on this protected characteristic. 

Y  

Marriage & civil partnership 
 

No impacts were recorded on this protected characteristic during the course of the 
consultation process. There is also no other evidence to suggest an impact is likely. As 
such, the effect of the proposals is deemed neutral on this protected characteristic. 

Y  

Pregnancy & maternity 
 

No impacts were recorded on this protected characteristic during the course of the 
consultation process. There is also no other evidence to suggest an impact is likely. As 
such, the effect of the proposals is deemed neutral on this protected characteristic. 

Y  

Race 
 

No impacts were recorded on this protected characteristic during the course of the 
consultation process. The proportion of respondents of different ethnicity broadly 
correlates with what would be expected given the composition of Cheshire East (see 
appendix 2), the composition of day care users (see appendix 1) and the number of 
responses received. Copies of the consultation information pack were circulated to a 
range of groups associated with this protected characteristic. However, further work 
is required to understand the impact of any service transfers on local areas.  

Y  

Religion & belief 
 

No impacts were recorded on this protected characteristic during the course of the 
consultation process. The proportion of respondents of different religions broadly 
correlates with what would be expected given the composition of Cheshire East (see 
appendix 2), the composition of day care users (see appendix 1) and the number of 
responses received. There is also no other evidence to suggest an impact is likely. As 

Y  

P
age 163



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT FORM                                                                 

6 

 

such, the effect of the proposals is deemed neutral on this protected characteristic. 
See Appendix 3 for a profile of the religion of respondents and Appendix 1 for a 
profile of the religion of customers. Copies of the consultation information pack were 
circulated to a range of groups associated with this protected characteristic. 

Sex 
 

There is a much larger ratio of females to male service users in Cheshire East (see 
Appendix 1). This can largely be explained by the differences in life expectancy 
between the sexes. As such a greater proportion of female service users are likely to 
receive day and respite services. However, the policy in itself is not deemed to have 
disproportionate effects for either gender. No impacts were recorded on this 
protected characteristic during the course of the consultation process. However, 
further work needs to be done to look at gender issues related to staff employment. 

Y  

Sexual orientation 
 

No impacts were recorded on this protected characteristic during the course of the 
consultation process. There is also no other evidence to suggest an impact is likely. As 
such, the effect of the proposals is deemed neutral on this protected characteristic. 
See Appendix 3 for data on the sexual orientation of respondents to the consultation.  

Y  

Carers 
 

The Office of National Statistics estimates that 10% of the population are likely to be 
carers i.e. 36,500 people in Cheshire East. However, the proposals are likely to have 
an impact on a defined group of carers; those who care for people using respite or 
day services. Particular concerns would be; changes to service location and its 
resulting transport requirements (this could bring about a reduction in the overall 
respite that was taken up by carers), increased pressure brought about on the caring 
role as a result of the disruption caused to customers.  
 

Y  

Socio-economic status 
 

Both people with a disability and those who support them are often cited to have 
reduced economic advantage compared to the overall population. For instance, the 
Cabinet Office Report, “Improving the Life Chances of Disabled People”, states that 
disabled people are more likely to be economically inactive, more likely to experience 

Y  

P
age 164



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT FORM                                                                 

7 

 

problems with housing and more likely to experience problems with transport. As 
such any policy needs to be carefully evaluated to understand its potential economic 
impact on these groups. The proposals to relocate users may entail increased 
transport costs on them and as such there is the potential for it to disproportionally 
impact on this group.  

 
Proceed to full impact assessment?  (Please tick) Yes   Date: 06/02/12 

 
If yes, please proceed to Section 3. If no, please publish the initial screening as part of the suite of documents relating to this issue  

Section 3: Identifying impacts and evidence  
This section identifies if there are impacts on equality, diversity and cohesion, what evidence there is to support the conclusion and what further action is needed 

Protected 
characteristics 

Is the policy (function etc….) likely to 
have an adverse impact on any of the 
groups? 
 
Please include evidence (qualitative & 
quantitative) and consultations 
 

 

Are there any positive impacts of 
the policy (function etc….) on any of 
the groups? 
 
Please include evidence (qualitative 
& quantitative) and consultations 

 Please rate the impact 
taking into account any 
measures already in 
place to reduce the 
impacts identified 
High: Significant 
potential impact; 
history of complaints; 
no mitigating measures 
in place; need for 
consultation 
Medium: Some 
potential impact; some 
mitigating measures in 
place, lack of evidence 
to show effectiveness 
of measures 

Further action  
(only an outline needs to be included 
here.  A full action plan can be included at 
Section 4) 

P
age 165



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT FORM                                                                 

8 

 

Low: Little/no 
identified impacts; 
heavily legislation-led; 
limited public facing 
aspect 

Age 

 

It has been highlighted that there is the 
potential for a disproportionate impact 
on people who are elderly because 
proportionally more attend day services 
than from other age bands (see Appendix 
1). There is also a small ‘bulge’ in day 
centre usage amongst younger age 
groups due to customers with learning 
disabilities. As issues are identical to 
those under disability they are addressed 
in this section 

 Medium  

Disability  

 

Learning Disability  

Opinion expressed during the 
consultation and through expert 
knowledge states that people with 
complex learning disabilities can find 
moving to a new building (or the transfer 
of other customers from or to the 
building they are in) stressful to their 

Lifestyle 
 
Health and Wellbeing 
 
The emphasis on lifestyle options 
that is in the proposals may bring 
about improved health and 
wellbeing for disabled customers in 
general. The extent that this occurs 

High Disruption 
1.Work should be conducted to 
investigate how the impact of change 
should be managed in a person centred 
way. Good practice from national research 
and local knowledge should be utilised e.g. 
‘Having a Good Day’ by the social Care 
Institute for Excellence and guidelines 
from the the Dementia Coalition  

                                                           
1 Michigan Department of Community Health,Moving Persons with Dementia, http://www.dementiacoalition.org/resources/pdfs/Caring6.pdf  

P
age 166



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT FORM                                                                 

9 

 

wellbeing. The proposals put forward 
may lead this to occur in a number of 
instances. A number of carers/families 
have put this issue forward as a potential 
problem. 

An example quote from the consultation 
is: “These changes would turn me upside 
down and make me sad because I know 
what to expect from my day centre, and 
everyone knows me and what I need and I 
like Dean Row.” 

Some carers/families indicated that the 
lifestyle option as an alternative would 
not be suitable for their loved one. 
Feedback can be summarised as stating 
that their mental and physical capacity is 
the chief issue. It is true to state 
however, that there has always been an 
awareness in policy-making that people 
with complex needs would continue to 
attend traditional day services. 
Nevertheless it should be emphasised 
that taking up the lifestyle option should 

will depend on the number of 
customers who opt to receive this 
service and the nature of their 
disabilities (physical activity will be 
more limited for those with severe 
physical disabilities). People with a 
learning disability are 58 times more 
likely to die aged under 50 than 
other people. There are also four 
times as many people with a learning 
disability who die of preventable 
causes as people in the general 
population.2  

Activities and variety 

The lifestyle options have the 
potential to offer much greater 
choice and variety for customers. 
Proposals would involve retaining 
the Wilmslow and Macclesfield pilot 
sites and the possible future roll out 
of other groups. The principal of 
providing services away from a 
traditional day service building is 

http://www.dementiacoalition.org/resour
ces/pdfs/Caring6.pdf. Giving sufficient 
time for transition to take place and taking 
the needs of each individual into account 
in a person centred way will be key.  
[Note: this was referenced in the 
Information Pack and the presentation in 
day centres]. A focus should be had on 
minimising the amount of moves by 
customers with complex needs.  

Staffing would also need to be taken into 
account so that if any customers do move 
they would still see familiar faces which 
would ease transition. This should also 
ensure that they transfer with service 
users that they also socialise with (where 
possible).  

Transport 
2. Customers must have a viable transport 
option in order to get to a day centre. 
Options would include Dial a Ride, public 
transport (supported by travel training) or 
volunteers/carers providing transport. 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   
2 MENCAP website, What is a Learning Disability, http://www.mencap.org.uk/page.asp?id=1684  

P
age 167



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT FORM                                                                 

10 

 

be related to need and be a matter of 
choice.  

It was flagged by Stanley Centre carers 
that If customers with lower level needs 
opted to attend lifestyle services it might 
mean that peer groups were split. 
However, it is also true to say that 
removing this choice for this group of 
customers (with less complex needs) 
could reduce their individual life chances. 

Continuity of staffing and other 
attendees has been sighted as another 
issue that is important to individuals with 
learning disabilities. 

Issues of separation between client 
groups was also raised as a concern 
during the consultation process. For 
instance in relation to possible relocation 
to Redesmere. 
 
Transport 

Transport was also cited as a key issue for 
those with learning disabilities. This 
would be a concern for those relocating 

well established in other areas of 
Cheshire East and these proposals 
will build on this practice.  The 
success of this approach has been 
captured in questionnaires and in 
focus groups. A majority of 
respondents to the consultation 
(58%) stated that they would like 
customers to have the opportunity 
to take up ‘lifestyle activities’. 

Physical Disabilities 
One element of the proposal is to 
invest in Mountview and Lincoln 
House so that it has facilities for 
people with severe physical 
disabilities. Queens Drive which is 
the only provision for Learning 
Disability respite at the moment 
does not have the facilities to 
provide this care. 

The provision of care at Mountview 
and Lincoln House might also mean 
that a higher level of care can be 
provided due to other staff and 

Assessment of viability needs to be done 
carefully including taking income into 
account. Review of the issues that have 
come up in this process should take place 
so that learning can lead to a more refined 
process in the future.  

Lifestyle 
3. A longer term policy decision may relate 
to personal budgets being offered as part 
of the transition to lifestyle groups. If this 
is the case a personal budget should be of 
a sufficient level to cover customer social 
care needs. They should also at least have 
the potential to provide sufficient hours of 
occupation during the day (e.g. the time 
spent in day services should not fall as a 
result of this policy unless the customer 
chooses to opt for more expensive 
activities which result in this) 

4. Procedures need to be put in place to 
ensure that an informed decision is made 
by a customer over whether the lifestyle 
option is right for them. Advocates should 
be involved where necessary. Customers 
should have the option of remaining in 

P
age 168



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT FORM                                                                 

11 

 

to a new centre e.g. Peatfields, Queens 
Drive and Dean Row. A basic travel 
analysis (see appendix 4) purely based on 
road and time distance between the 
users home and proposed centre finds 
that most customers are only marginally 
impacted by relocation. For Peatfields 
customers, there would be an increase of 
0.2 miles in travel and 0.4 miles for Dean 
Row customers. In the case of Queens 
Drive there would be a 3.3 mileage 
reduction. Nevertheless, many transport 
issues were raised during the 
consultation in connection with these 
centres. For instance, it was stated that 
some Peatfields customers walk to their 
centre and would no longer be able to do 
so following a move. This could mean 
increased travelling time and reduced 
physical and mental wellbeing. Cost of 
transport was also raised as an issue (this 
also related to the removal of fleet 
transport). Difficulty of convenient public 
transport was also raised. 

Dementia 
A new environment can be challenging 

facilities being available on site. traditional day services should they so 
wish. A re-assessment of a person’s needs 
should be conducted if this has not taken 
place for some time. 

5. Whilst touched on in strategy, it should 
be emphasised that positive links should 
be made with services in learning and 
employment so that the lifestyle approach 
is not just an end in itself but a 
springboard to improved life chances for 
disabled people. 

Respite 

6. The proposed respite care for service 
users with learning disabilities at 
Mountview and Lincoln House should be a 
separate unit designed around their needs 
(e.g. décor could reflect the younger 
nature of this client type). This should also 
include a separate entrance (if this does 
not incur excessive expense). Separation 
should be easily achieved at Hollins View 
for dementia customers. 

7. Transport options should be 
investigated for customers moving from 

P
age 169



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT FORM                                                                 

12 

 

for a person with dementia. Although this 
point should be tempered by research 
that has shown that it generally takes a 
person less than three months to adjust 
to their new surroundings (depending on 
the level of their dementia)1. This 
includes both a person moving to a 
centre and disruption caused by new 
customers being moved to an individual’s 
centre.  This particularly concerns the 
transfers that have already taken place 
from Bexton Court, and those proposed 
from the Brocklehurst Unit. Continuity of 
staffing was particularly stressed during 
consultation in connection with the 
latter.   

One relevant comment from the Salinae 
Centre meeting was: “Dementia sufferers 
need routine, structure and familiarity, 
these are really important. Changes bring 
too much anxiety.” 

Transport  

Following analysis of former customers of 
Bexton Court (see appendix 4) we can see 

Queens Drive to ensure that any day 
service arrangements can be maintained.  

8. Changes in service demand should be 
monitored and service planning adjusted 
where practicable. This would aim to 
ensure that customer choice was 
maintained i.e. that there would be 
sufficient supply of internal places for 
customers to meet demand. 

9. Further work required to understand 3rd 
sector groups making use of day centre 
buildings which may be decommissioned 
with alternative venues explored. 

P
age 170



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT FORM                                                                 

13 

 

that 61% were not based within the 
Knutsford LAP area. Out of former 
customers of Bexton who continue to 
receive day or respite services 50% would 
find their alternative centre closer, with 
50% being nearer to Bexton. 4 people are 
currently receiving day services who live 
in the Knutsford LAP, whereas 22 users of 
respite live in this LAP area. Few issues 
were raised specifically on Bexton during 
the consultation although the need for 
local services was highlighted. 

Analysis of location for customers of the 
Brocklehurst finds that the vast majority 
of customers would benefit from the 
change in centre at least in terms of 
reduced road mileage. No transport 
issues were raised during the 
consultation regarding Brocklehurst. 

Physical Disability 
The proposals will also impact on people 
with physical disabilities even if services 
are not specifically stated as for this 
customer group. 

P
age 171



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT FORM                                                                 

14 

 

Transport is perhaps even more of a key 
issue for this customer group. Any change 
in centre is likely to therefore have  
impact on this group of customers.  See 
previous comments on transport for 
further information. 
 
The Council needs to ensure that a viable 
transport option is available for 
customers. Further details of this 
approach is contained within the 
separate Transport EIA (although some 
actions are also suggested in this EIA). 

Further Respite related Issues 
 
Queens Drive is a small building in a 
residential area predominantly provides 
respite care to people with physical and 
learning disabilities. As such, carers 
stated during the consultation that they 
value the homely environment that this 
centre provides. Whilst Mountview and 
Lincoln House will bring about more 
specialist provision for customers, it is 
not possible to replicate this environment 
fully. 

P
age 172



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT FORM                                                                 

15 

 

 
A further point that was raised in the 
consultation is that there might be a 
‘stigma’ attached to people with learning 
disabilities attending a centre for older 
people. One comment was: “Would you 
put a child of yours with a learning 
disability in service with older people?”. 
Although to some extent it might be 
argued that this is a unfair attitude to 
hold (something asserted by an attendee 
during the consultation meeting at Crewe 
Alexandra Football Ground). Staff and 
carers have stressed the fact that 
different client groups will require 
separation within a building because of 
the different needs and a different way of 
identifying themselves. Physical 
arrangements to arrange this have 
already been investigated. 

One additional point that was raised 
during the consultation was that 
changing respite location can impact on 
the ability of customers to receive their 
day service at a familiar location. For 
instance, there was reference to a 

P
age 173



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT FORM                                                                 

16 

 

gardening club. A review of customer 
transport and social care needs should be 
used to take this into account. 

Mental Health Disabilities 
Some customers have mental health 
disabilities who use day and respite 
services (although this does not mean 
that this is necessarily their primary client 
type). Most of the issues raise with this 
set of customers do not stand apart from 
fore mentioned concerns.  These include 
over disruption to customers and 
transport provision. However, it should 
be stressed that as part of care planning 
planning day services should be 
considered as an option for mental health 
users if there is a joint agreement that it 
would be to their best advantage. 

Demand 

Present decisions could have 
ramifications for the ability of future 
customers to take up internal services. 
However, forecasting analysis (see the 
business case) would suggest that 

P
age 174



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT FORM                                                                 

17 

 

proposals would meet short-medium 
term demand.  

General 

Some 3rd sector groups which provide 
services for people with disabilities 
currently use day service buildings to 
hold meetings. Any decommissioning of 
buildings could potentially result in these 
groups being required to find other 
premises.  

Gender 
reassignment  

 

 No impacts were recorded on this 
protected characteristic during the 
course of the consultation process. 
There is also no other evidence to 
suggest an impact is likely. As such, 
the effect of the proposals is 
deemed neutral on this protected 
characteristic. 

  

Marriage & 
civil 
partnership  

 

 No impacts were recorded on this 
protected characteristic during the 
course of the consultation process. 
There is also no other evidence to 
suggest an impact is likely. As such, 
the effect of the proposals is 

  

P
age 175



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT FORM                                                                 

18 

 

deemed neutral on this protected 
characteristic. 

Pregnancy and 
maternity  

 

 No impacts were recorded on this 
protected characteristic during the 
course of the consultation process. 
There is also no other evidence to 
suggest an impact is likely. As such, 
the effect of the proposals is 
deemed neutral on this protected 
characteristic. 

  

Race  

 

There are potential impacts on local areas 
of centres closing. For instance, less 
throughput of customers in local shops. 
Analysis also required of ethnicity of 
people over these shops to ensure that 
there isn’t any disproportionate impact 
on any ethnic group. No other impacts 
were recorded on this protected 
characteristic during the course of the 
consultation process. There is also no 
other evidence to suggest an impact is 
likely. As such, the effect of the proposals 
is deemed neutral on this protected 
characteristic. 

   

P
age 176



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT FORM                                                                 

19 

 

Religion & 
belief  

 

 No impacts were recorded on this 
protected characteristic during the 
course of the consultation process. 
There is also no other evidence to 
suggest an impact is likely. As such, 
the effect of the proposals is 
deemed neutral on this protected 
characteristic. 

  

Sex  

 

Whilst arguably it is the case that due to 
the greater proportion of service users 
who are female that these proposals 
have a potential to disproportionally 
impact on this group. It is currently felt 
that these issues are better picked up in 
the category of disability. 

In the longer term the general 
movements towards the lifestyle 
approach has the potential to mean that 
there is a boost in the support given by 
Health and Wellbeing staff  and a 
corresponding decrease in Adult social 
care staffing. This could potentially 
impact greatest on women who make up 
the majority of social care staff. 

 Medium 1. The staff balance between Adult Social 
care and Health and Wellbeing may shift 
as a result of implementing  the lifestyle 
vision. The Council should do its best to 
redeploy staff to these services so that the 
impact particularly on female workers in 
minimised. 

 

P
age 177



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT FORM                                                                 

20 

 

Sexual 
orientation  

 

 No impacts were recorded on this 
protected characteristic during the 
course of the consultation process. 
There is also no other evidence to 
suggest an impact is likely. As such, 
the effect of the proposals is 
deemed neutral on this protected 
characteristic. 

  

Carers 

 

1. Transport  
During the consultation Carers cited 
transport as a significant issue for them in 
any relocation of day service.  This was 
due to pressure carers felt they would be 
under to provide transport to the new 
centre which might be located further 
away. This would mean extra time and 
cost would be incurred. 

An example comment was: “Our 
daughter attends Queens Drive.  We 
don’t drive so won’t be able to afford for 
her to attend Mountview.” A further 
quote relating to Queens Drive was; “If 
you don’t provide respite that is 
convenient, carers are going to 
breakdown and that will cost the council 

Relocation of Learning Disability 
respite to Mountview may benefit 
some carers/customers resident in 
other locations e.g. Holmes Chapel, 
Sandbach, Alsager. For these users 
Mountview is more conveniently 
placed. The newly put forward 
option of Lincoln House would help 
to mitigate the impact of closure of 
Queens Drive because for many 
users this is actually in a nearer 
location (see Appendix 4). 

 

High 1. For more general transport issues see 
the disability section above. 

As part of the standard review of transport 
needs it must be ensured that any 
transport provided by carers is mutually 
agreed. Any additional travel should not 
be so great that it could potentially lead to 
future carer breakdown. 

2. Performance Monitoring 

Work should be conducted to ensure that 
there are joint standards between centres 
and that perceived quality is high for all. 
This includes greater standardisation of 
care such as activities offered in each 
centre (subject to local amenities). This 
should feed into the Care4CE and 

P
age 178



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT FORM                                                                 

21 

 

more money” 

Although the analysis suggests that for 
Queens Drive customers (if Lincoln House 
is agreed as a proposal), Peatfields, 
Bexton Court and Dean Row the impact is 
small, the public transport issues that can 
be faced with travelling to another centre 
even if it is nearer should not be 
discounted.  See the transport summary 
under disability for further information 
on these issues. 

More specific issues about transport are  
dealt with in the Transport Equality 
Impact Assessment.   
 
2. Respite 
Some carers stressed in the consultation 
that day centres provide crucial respite 
for them. One comment was, “Quality of 
care will be affected if carers have to 
travel much further”. However, the level 
of support provided to the cared for is 
unlikely to change under the current 
lifestyle proposals (longer term personal 
budget issues are covered elsewhere in 

department plan. 

3. Personal Budgets 

Whilst it is recognised that this is more 
within the scope of the Personalisation EIA 
it is also important to stress here that 
carers/customers  should have a choice 
over whether to take up internal or 
external services (via a personal budget or 
direct payment) and this should be 
informed by relevant information. The 
correct briefing / training of individual 
commissioning staff will be crucial to this 
process. (See “Developing new lifestyles 
with disabled people” by Joseph Rowntree 
foundation for evidence of results) 

 

P
age 179



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT FORM                                                                 

22 

 

this EIA). Issues with the suitability of the 
respite care are stated in the disability 
section. 
 
3. Learning Disabilities Facilities/Care 
Some carers highlighted a perceived 
variation in the standard of care and 
facilities between centres. For instance 
the Stanley Centre was perceived as 
offering a superior service to alternatives 
and as such some customers travel there 
from further afield e.g. Macclesfield.  This 
was seen as to positively impact on their 
caring role. Evidence for this is anecdotal 
rather than the result of any deliberate 
policy by the Council or demonstrated by 
data analysis.  

4. Personal Budgets 
Some carers felt that there was a 
deliberate policy of the Council  
encouraging customers to take personal 
budgets/personal budgets so that they 
can opt out of Council run services. This 
caused occupancy to fall in centres and 
potentially made it harder for customers 
to access Council services in the future. 

P
age 180



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT FORM                                                                 

23 

 

One comment stated in the consultation 
was “With Direct Payments/Personal 
budgets people should have choice of 
purchasing private or traditional 
services.”   

Socio-
economics 

 

As detailed in the initial assessment there 
are potential issues with greater costs 
being incurred because of increased 
transport cost for some customers. 
However, from transport analysis it 
would appear that many customers 
would also benefit from being located 
nearer to their centre.  

There are potential impacts on local areas 
of centres closing. For instance, less 
throughput of customers in local shops. 
Analysis also required of ethnicity of 
people over these shops to ensure that 
there isn’t any disproportionate impact 
on any ethnic group. 

 Low 1. The cost of transport needs to be one of 
the issues that is monitored when 
transport assessment is conducted. This 
should apply both to costs incurred by 
customers and potentially by carers who 
may be in a lower socio-economic bracket. 

2. Analysis work to be conducted on 
potential impacts to local areas of centres 
closing and how these could be mitigated. 

Is this project due to be carried out wholly or partly by contractors? If yes, please indicate how you have ensured that the partner organisation complies with equality 
legislation (e.g. tendering, awards process, contract, monitoring and performance measures) 

Section 4: Review and conclusion  

P
age 181



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT FORM                                                                 

24 

 

Summary: provide a brief overview including impact, changes, improvement, any gaps in evidence and additional data that is needed 

The lifestyle element of the strategy has the potential to have real positive impacts on customers if it is managed in a careful person centred way. The proposals to transfer 
customers from particular centres on the other hand is likely to cause negative impacts on customers and carers although they can be mitigated to an extent by following 
prescribed actions. Further engagement with customers and carers would be crucial in any transition process. 

Specific actions to be taken to reduce, justify or remove any adverse impacts How will this be monitored? Officer responsible Target date 

Work should  be conducted to manage any transition process in a person centred way. 
Good practice from national research and local knowledge should be utilised e.g. 
http://www.dementiacoalition.org/resources/pdfs/Caring6.pdf. Sufficient time should 
be also given for the transition to be take place. The number of past and future moves 
for customers should be minimised as much as possible. 

Customer complaints, detailed 
documentation of transition 
plans, monitoring of reviews of 
customers social care needs 

DW/ PK Dependent on 
timescales of 
customer 
transfers 

The Council transport policy should be applied in full so that it is ensured that 
customers have a viable transport option to get to a day centre. Financial Assessment 
should take into account the full range of the individuals and carers circumstances. 
Any extra travel support by carers should be mutually agreed and deemed 
manageable. Review of the problems/ issues that have occurred in transport planning 
should be assessed regularly so that learning can take place inc. the actioning of any 
remedial measures. Transport options should be investigated in particular for 
customers moving from Queens Drive (who may be most affected by changes) to 
ensure that any day service arrangements can be maintained. 

Customer complaints, issues 
raised during review by 
customers 

AMc Dependent on 
timescales of 
customer 
transfers 

Personal budgets offered as part of the transition to lifestyle should be of a sufficient 
level to cover customer social care needs. They should also at least have the potential 
to provide sufficient hours of occupation during the day (e.g. the respite provided for 
carers by a day service should not fall as a result of this policy unless the customer 

Customer complaints, monitoring 
of options selected by customers  

Individual Commissioning 
Senior Managers 

Dependent on 
longer term 
application of 
Personal Budgets 

P
age 182



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT FORM                                                                 

25 

 

chooses to opt for more expensive activities which result in this) to lifestyle 
groups 

An up to date assessment of a person’s needs should be in place in order to inform 
decision making over whether the individual might be suitable for the lifestyle option. 
This should be conducted in conjunction with a carer’s assessment. Procedures and 
working practice should be on the basis that the customer must opt rather than be 
compelled to attend a lifestyle group. Advocacy should be available where necessary. 

Procedure documents, existence 
of social care review records 

Individual Commissioning 
Senior Managers/ Care4CE 
Resource Managers 

Dependent on 
timescales of 
customer 
transfers 

Links should be made with services in learning and employment so that the lifestyle 
approach is not just an end in itself but a springboard to improved life chances for 
disabled people. 

Data on number of people in 
lifestyle groups who have 
received training/ qualifications. 
Data of people who have on from 
lifestyle groups to employment 
or volunteering. 

Lifestyle Resource 
Managers 

Ongoing 

The staff balance between Adult Social Care and Health and Wellbeing may shift as a 
result of implementing the lifestyle vision. The Council should do its best to redeploy 
staff to these services so that the impact particularly on female workers in minimised. 

Monitoring of staff redundancies, 
transition plan in place to look at 
practicalities of redeploying staff 

DW/PK Dependent on 
timescales of 
customer 
transfers/ 
application of 
lifestyle 
approach 

The proposed respite care for service users with learning disabilities at Mountview 
and Lincoln House should be a separate unit designed around their needs (e.g. décor 
could reflect the younger nature of this client type). This should also include a 
separate entrance (if this does not incur excessive expense). Separation should be 

Consultation groups made up of 
potential customers/carers of 
Mountview and Lincoln House 

DW/PK, Resource 
Managers 

Summer 2012 

P
age 183



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT FORM                                                                 

26 

 

easily achieved at Hollins View for dementia customers. 

Changes in service demand should be monitored and service planning adjusted where 
practicable. This would aim to ensure that customer choice was maintained i.e. that 
there would be sufficient supply of internal places for customers to meet demand. 

Monitoring of take up of internal 
and external services through 
business activity reports 

Individual Commissioning 
Senior Managers 

Ongoing (to be 
carried out on a 
minimum of an 
annual basis) 

Work should be conducted to ensure that there are joint standards between centres 
and that perceived quality is high for all. This includes greater standardisation of care 
such as activities offered in each centre (subject to local amenities). This should feed 
into the Care4CE and department plan. 

 Individual 
Commissioning/Care 4ce 
Senior Managers/ 

Summer 2012 

Customers (with reference to carers where appropriate) should have a choice over 
whether to take up internal or external services (via a personal budget or direct 
payment) and this should be informed by relevant information. The correct briefing / 
training of individual commissioning staff will be crucial to this process. 

Training plan for individual 
commissioning staff  

Individual Commissioning 
Senior Managers 

Summer 2012 

Analysis of impact of local economy should be conducted e.g. local shops where 
centres are to be closed, and the protected characteristic of people who own these. 

Existence of report Strategic Commissioning Summer 2012 

The opportunities of the new lifestyle approach should be positively promoted to 
equality groups e.g. gypsies and travellers, Polish communities etc 

Marketing plan Strategic Commissioning Dependent on 
roll out of 
lifestyle 
approach 

Further analysis required to understand 3rd sector groups making use of day centre 
buildings for meetings. Any decommissioning should aim to minimise problems that it 
may cause such as exploring alternative rooms at other CEC buildings. 

Evidence of contact with relevant 
3rd sector groups 

Care4CE Senior Managers Summer 2012 

P
age 184



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT FORM                                                                 

27 

 

Please provide details and link to full action plan for actions  

When will this assessment be reviewed?   Review of EIA to take place six months after Cabinet if proposals adopted 

Are there any additional assessments that need to be undertaken in relation to this 
assessment? 

No 

 

Lead officer signoff   Date  

Head of service signoff   Date   

 

Please publish this completed EIA form on your website 

P
age 185



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT FORM                                                                 

28 

 

 
Appendix 1 

Day Services Usage  

Note: Figures taken from ‘snapshot’ of service users Autumn 2011 

By Age Band 

Age Total 
18-34 149 
35-49 151 
50-64 108 
65-74 88 
75-84 103 
85+ 115 
Total 714 
 

By Age Band – Learning Disability Day Care 

18-24 43 
25-34 109 
35-44 93 
45-54 95 
55-64 48 
65-74 31 
75-84 10 
85+ 2 
TOTAL 431 

P
age 186



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT FORM                                                                 

29 

 

 

By Age Band – Dementia Day Care 

45-54 0 
55-64 2 
65-74 11 
75-84 30 
85+ 29 
TOTAL 72 

 

By Age Band – Physical Disability Day Care 

18-24 1 
25-34 1 
35-44 7 
45-54 8 
55-64 17 
65-74 23 
75-84 24 
85+ 48 

 

By Disability – Day Care 

Visual Impairment 53 
Older Person 336 
Physical Disability  28 

P
age 187



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT FORM                                                                 

30 

 

Learning Disability  350 
Total 714 
 

By Sex – Day Care 

M 2072 38% 

F 3426 62% 

 

By Ethnic Group – Day Care 

A1 White - British 727 
A2 White - Irish 3 
A3 White - Other 15 
B1 White & Black Caribbean 1 
B2 White & Black African 0 
B3 White & Asian 0 
B4 Other Mixed Background 1 
C1 Indian 1 
C2 Pakistani 1 
C3 Bangladeshi 0 
C4 Other Asian Background                             1 

D1 Black Caribbean 3 
D2 Black African 0 
D3 Other Black Background 1 

P
age 188



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT FORM                                                                 

31 

 

E1 Chinese 2 
E1 Chinese 2 
E2 Other Ethnic Group 1 
F2 Refused To Disclose 0 
F3 Information Not Available 0 
F5 Not Appropriate To Ask 0 
F6 Institution 0 
Null 0 
T1 Traveller Of Irish Heritage 0 
T2 Gypsy/Roma Traveller 0 

 

By Religion – Day Care 

Not Stated                                         270 
Roman Catholic                                     23 
Church Of England / Episcopali                     185 
Methodist                                          11 

Other Christian                                    13 
Christian                                          206 
United Reformed / Presbyterian                     0 
Any Other Religion                                 18 
None                                               22 
Refused To Disclose                                0 
Pentecostal                                        0 
Baptist                                            2 

P
age 189



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT FORM                                                                 

32 

 

Jehovah's Witness                                  3 
Jewish                                             0 
Muslim                                             1 
Hindu                                              0 
Null 1 
Buddhist                                           0 
Seventh Day Adventist                              0 
Sikh                                               1 

 

Respite Usage 

By Age Band – Dementia Respite Usage (internal)   

45-64 2 
65-69 2 
70-74 18 
75-79 30 
80-84 53 
85-89 79 
90-94 43 
95+ 12 
Total 237 

 
By Age Band – LD Respite Usage (internal) 
 
18-44 63 

45-64 18 

P
age 190



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT FORM                                                                 

33 

 

65+ 6 
 

P
age 191



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT FORM                                                                 

34 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix 2: Cheshire East and UK Statistics 

 

Cheshire East Ethnic Group Statistics  (2001 Census) 

 

 
Cheshire 
East 

North 
West England 

Cheshire 
East % 

North 
West % 

England 
% 

 
Unitary 
Authority Region Country 

Unitary 
Authority Region Country 

All Ethnic Groups 360,700 6,864,300 51,092,000 100.0 100.0 100.0 

White 347,600 6,324,600 45,082,900 96.4 92.1 88.2 

White: British 337,000 6,137,800 42,736,000 93.4 89.4 83.6 

White: Irish 2,800 69,800 570,500 0.8 1.0 1.1 

White: Other White 7,700 117,000 1,776,300 2.1 1.7 3.5 

Mixed 3,300 85,400 870,000 0.9 1.2 1.7 

P
age 192



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT FORM                                                                 

35 

 

Mixed: White and 
Black Caribbean 1,100 27,800 282,900 0.3 0.4 0.6 

Mixed: White and 
Black African 400 13,300 114,300 0.1 0.2 0.2 

Mixed: White and 
Asian 1,000 25,200 260,900 0.3 0.4 0.5 

Mixed: Other Mixed 800 19,100 212,000 0.2 0.3 0.4 

Asian or Asian British 5,000 304,200 2,914,900 1.4 4.4 5.7 

Asian or Asian British: 
Indian 2,300 99,900 1,316,000 0.6 1.5 2.6 

Asian or Asian British: 
Pakistani 1,500 143,900 905,700 0.4 2.1 1.8 

Asian or Asian British: 
Bangladeshi 500 34,800 353,900 0.1 0.5 0.7 

Asian or Asian British: 
Other Asian 700 25,600 339,200 0.2 0.4 0.7 

Black or Black British 2,000 75,200 1,447,900 0.6 1.1 2.8 

Black or Black British: 
Caribbean 800 25,500 599,700 0.2 0.4 1.2 

P
age 193



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT FORM                                                                 

36 

 

Black or Black British: 
African 1,000 42,600 730,600 0.3 0.6 1.4 

Black or Black British: 
Other Black 200 7,000 117,600 0.1 0.1 0.2 

Chinese or Other 
Ethnic Group 2,700 74,900 776,400 0.7 1.1 1.5 

Chinese or Other 
Ethnic Group: Chinese 1,600 46,200 400,300 0.4 0.7 0.8 

Chinese or Other 
Ethnic Group: Other 
Ethnic Group 1,200 28,700 376,100 0.3 0.4 0.7 

 

Cheshire East – Religious Belief (2001 Census) 
 

 Cheshire East 
North 
West England 

Cheshire 
East North West England 

 
Unitary 
Authority Region Country 

Unitary 
Authority% Region % % 

All People 351,817 6,729,764 49,138,831 100.0 100.0 100.0 

Christian 282,432 5,249,686 35,251,244 80.3 78.0 71.7 

P
age 194



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT FORM                                                                 

37 

 

Buddhist 551 11,794 139,046 0.2 0.2 0.3 

Hindu 617 27,211 546,982 0.2 0.4 1.1 

Jewish 562 27,974 257,671 0.2 0.4 0.5 

Muslim 1,375 204,261 1,524,887 0.4 3.0 3.1 

Sikh 170 6,487 327,343 0.0 0.1 0.7 

Any other 
religion 593 10,625 143,811 0.2 0.2 0.3 

No religion 42,757 705,045 7,171,332 12.2 10.5 14.6 

Religion not 
stated 22,760 486,681 3,776,515 6.5 7.2 7.7 

P
age 195



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT FORM                                                                 

38 

 

 

Appendix 3: Consultation – Equality and Diversity Monitoring 

 
Nationality 
 

Answer Options 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Count 

British or Mixed British 19% 14 
English 78% 57 
Scottish 1% 1 
Welsh 1% 1 
Any Other (please specify) 0.0% 0 
 
Race 

Answer Options 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Count 

Any white group 100.0% 59 
 
Sexuality 

Answer Options 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Count 

Hetrosexual/straight 100.0% 46 
 

Religion 

P
age 196



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT FORM                                                                 

39 

 

Answer Options 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Count 

Christian (includes: Church of England, 
Catholic, Protestant & all other Christian 
denominations) 

Christian (includes: Church of England, 
Catholic, Protestant & all other Christian 
denominations) 

91.9% 57 

Agnostic Agnostic 4.8% 3 
Atheist Atheist 1.6% 1 
Jewish Jewish 1.6% 1 
Buddhist Buddhist 0.0% 0 
Hindu Hindu 0.0% 0 
Muslim Muslim 0.0% 0 
Sikh Sikh 0.0% 0 
Prefer not to say Prefer not to say 0.0% 0 
Any other Religion or Belief (please specify)  Any other Religion or Belief (please specify)  0.0% 0 

 

P
age 197



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT FORM                                                                 

40 

 

 
Appendix 4: Travel Data 

1. Proposal – Peatfields to be decommissioned, customers to move to Mayfields 

Peatfields closer for 15 customers 
Mayfields closer for 6 customers 
Average Peatfields travel distance 2.8 miles 
Average Mayfields travel distance 3.0 miles 
Average Peatfields travel time 6.6 mins 
Average Mayfields travel time 8.7 mins 

 

2. Proposal – Dean Row to be decommissioned, customers to move to Redesmere 

Dean Row closer for 15 customers 
Redesmere closer for 14 customers 
Average Dean Row travel distance 3.7 miles 
Average Redesmere travel distance 4.1 miles 
Average Dean Row travel time 9.9 mins 
Average Redesmere travel time 9.4 mins 

 

3. Proposal – Bexton Court to be decommissioned 

All former customers of Bexton % 
In LAP 16 40% 

P
age 198



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT FORM                                                                 

41 

 

 

Customers switched to alternative Internal Day Care 

Bexton nearer 7 customers 
Alternative provision nearer for 9 customers 
Average Bexton travel distance 8.6 miles 
Average alternative day centre travel distance 9.6 miles 
Average Bexton travel time 19.3 mins 
Average alternative centre travel time 19.9 mins 

 
Customers switched to alternative Internal Respite Care 

Bexton closer 4 customers 
Alternative provision closer for 5 customers 
Average Bexton travel distance 8.6 miles 
Average alternative respite centre travel distance 8.6 miles 
Average Bexton travel time 15.9 mins 
Average alternative respite cental travel time 16.7 mins 

 

4. Proposal – Queens Drive to be decommissioned 

Queens Drive closer for 2  customers (compared to 
Mountview or Lincoln House) 

Lincoln House closer for 23  customers (out of a choice of 

Not in LAP 24 60% 
Total 40  

P
age 199



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT FORM                                                                 

42 

 

Mountview or Lincoln House) 

Mountview closer for  2 customers (out of a choice of 
Mountview or Lincoln House) 

Average Queens Drive travel distance 6.4 miles 

Average Queens Drive travel time 15.6 minutes 

Average  travel distance to nearest 
centre (Lincoln House or Mountview) 

3.1 miles 

Average  travel time to nearest centre 
(Lincoln House or Mountview) 

9.0 minutes 

 

5. Proposal –  Stanley Centre to be decommissioned, customers to travel to an alternative (leisure centres or Carter House, Mayfield or Redesmere) 

Alternative closer for 11 customers 
Stanley Centre closer for 36 customers 
Average alternative centre travel distance 8.6 miles 
Average Stanley Centre travel distance 3.3 miles 
Average Leisure Centre travel distance 18.2 miles 
Average alternative centre travel time 20.2 mins 
Average Stanley Centre travel time 7.4 mins 
Average Leisure Centre travel time 38.2 mins 

 

P
age 200



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT FORM                                                                 

43 

 

 
6. Proposal –  Customers to transfer from Brocklehurst Unit (Mayfield) to Hollins View 

Mayfield closer for 7 customers 
Hollins View closer for 21 customers 
Average Mayfield travel distance 2.9 miles 
Average Hollins View travel distance 2.6 miles 
Average Mayfield travel time 7.7 mins 
Average Hollins View travel time 7.4 mins 

 

 P
age 201



P
age 202

T
his page is intentionally left blank



CHESHIRE EAST COUNCIL 
 

REPORT TO: CABINET 
 
 
Date of Meeting: 

 
5th March 2012 

Report of: John Nicholson – Strategic Director, Places and 
Organisational Capacity 
 

Subject/Title: Investing To Implement the Cheshire and Warrington 
Local Broadband Plan 
 

Portfolio Holder: 
 

Councillor Jamie Macrae, Cabinet Member for 
Prosperity. Councillor David Brown, Cabinet Member 
for Performance and Capacity 

 
1.0 Report Summary 
 
1.1 This report updates on progress for the Cheshire and Warrington Local 

Broadband Plan and sets out the investment case for a quality superfast 
broadband (SFB) infrastructure for Cheshire East. It also details the 
programme of the wider Connecting Cheshire partnership between the 
Cheshire East, Cheshire West and Chester, Warrington and Halton 
Councils’. 

 
1.2 The UK Government has set the objective to deliver the best superfast 

broadband network in Europe by 2015 and has allocated £570,000 to 
Cheshire East Council to support private sector investment. This forms 
part of the wider Broadband Delivery UK (BDUK) award of £3,240,0001 to 
the four unitary authorities of Cheshire East Council, Cheshire West and 
Chester Council, Warrington Borough Council and Halton Borough 
Council. More recently the government has applied tight deadlines for the 
agreement for funded Local Broadband Plans by the end of April 2012. 

 
2.0 Decision Requested 
 
2.1 To receive and endorse the Cheshire Warrington and Halton Local 

Broadband Plan. See Appendix B 
 
2.2 To note the council investment of £1.2 million profiled over three years to 

provide for 90% superfast broadband coverage across the Borough, with 
an ambition to achieve 100% coverage by leveraging European Grant 
Funding. 

 
2.3 To approve that the Strategic Director Places and Organisational Capacity 

and the Director of Finance & Business Services, in consultation with the 
Cabinet Member for Performance and Capacity, be given delegated 
authority to make necessary decisions on approved matters to enable the 
delivery of the SFB project.  

                                            
1 £3,240,000 is distributed as - £570,000 Cheshire East ¦£1,650,000 Cheshire West and 
Chester ¦ £570,000 Halton ¦£450,000 Warrington 

Agenda Item 6Page 203



 
2.4  For the Director of Finance and Business Services, the Borough Solicitor 

and the ICT Manager to prepare, negotiate and sign off  legal 
documentation required between the Council and the Secretary of State, 
and the Connecting Cheshire Partnership, as required. 

 
Reasons for Recommendations 
 
3.1 To enable the Council to take forward Superfast Broadband services for 

the Borough, transforming business and connecting communities. 
 
3.2 To enable efficient delivery of the project through delegated authority to 

make necessary decisions on approved matters. For example; 
• Deciding on competitive dialog or framework routes for procurement. 
• Extent of business support package 

 
4.0      Wards Affected 
 
4.1 All 
 
5.0 Local Ward Members  
 
5.1 All 
 
6.0 Policy Implications  
 
6.1 The case for investment into SFB for Cheshire East has been established 

in the following key policy documents. 
• Cheshire East Sustainable Community Strategy: Ambition for All 

(2010)  
• Cheshire East Economic Development Strategy (2011) 
• Cheshire East ICT Strategy (2011) 
• Cheshire Crewe Vision All change for Crewe (2011)  
 

6.2 SFB is a key priority for the Cheshire and Warrington Local Enterprise Partnership. 
 

7.0 Financial Implications (Authorised by the Director of Finance and Business 
Services)  

 
7.1 The proposal gives rise to two costs: 

1) The capital investment to access the BDUK grant and to attract private 
sector investment for SFB coverage.  

2) Project management, procurement, business support and legal costs 
associated with the Council’s role in delivering the project. 

 
7.2  Funding for superfast broadband investment will come from three main 

sources – government grant allocation, private sector match and public 
sector investment. The BDUK allocation represents 25% of the investment 
required and must be matched by the public sector (25%) to gap fund the 
private sector 50% investment. 

 
1) Grant allocation – BDUK; An allocation of £570,000 for Cheshire East.  
2) Private Sector –gap funded procurement procedure.  

Page 204



3) Public Sector – Local Authority investment. 
 
7.4 The investment required to achieve 90% coverage is accounted for in the 

Cheshire East Business Plan for 2012-15 and is profiled over three years. 
This would provide SFB connectivity for c46,000 residents and c3,730 
businesses in Cheshire East. 

 
Estimated 
Spend Profile 

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 Total 

90% Coverage £400,000 £690,000 £110,000 £1,200,000 
 
7.4 The Cheshire and Warrington SFB project is being taken forwards within 

the Connecting Cheshire partnership for the four unitary authorities of 
Cheshire East Council, Cheshire West and Chester Council, Warrington 
Borough Council and Halton Borough Council.  

 
7.5 To provide 90% SFB coverage to the wider partnership area will require 

the following Local Authority investment.  
 

Estimated Spend Profile (90% Coverage) 
  
Local Authority 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 Total 
Cheshire East £400,000 £690,000 £110,000 £1,200,000 
Cheshire West 
and Chester £790,000 £1,465,000 £120,000 £2,375,000 
Halton £312,000 £575,000 £50,000 £937,000 
Warrington £300,000 £700,000 £51,000 £1,051,000 

Totals £1,802,000 £3,430,000 £331,000 £5,563,000 
 
7.6 All figures are based on detailed data provided by BDUK but it is noted 

that the exact budget will be determined by formal procurement. 
 
7.7 A bid is under development to the European Regional Development Fund 

for additional funding. If successful, this will provide for additional 
coverage and may reduce the Local Authority financial commitment for 
years two and three of the delivery programme. 

 
8.0 Legal Implications (Authorised by the Borough Solicitor) 
 
8.1 Section 2 of the Local Government Act 2000 of the Act gives Local Authorities 

power to take steps which they consider are likely to promote the economic 
social or environmental well being of their area or its inhabitants. In doing so, no 
action can be taken which would contravene any specific statutory prohibition 
restriction or limitation. Regard must also be had to the Community Strategy. The 
actions proposed in this report fall within this power.  

 
8.2 Cheshire East Council would act as the Accountable Body for the funding, 

manage the procurement process, and enter into the contract with the 
successful commercial operator on behalf of the Connecting Cheshire 
partnership.  

 

Page 205



8.3 A binding agreement, subject to legal advice, will be developed and 
agreed between the members of the Connecting Cheshire partnership to 
establish responsibilities, actions and liabilities to the SFB programme. 

 
9.0 Risk Management  
 
9.1 The investment represents a state intervention into the private sector 

market, for which European Commission approval is required.  The 
Government’s BDUK Team are preparing a single application to the EU 
seeking approval which will be available to authorities to apply to local 
procurements. 

 
9.2 The grant from BDUK is for receipted expenditure by the end of 2015. This 

will require prompt commitment to the procurement of the private sector 
SFB delivery partner. The Local Broadband Plan sets out a programme to 
deliver on this. 

 
9.3 A principal issue for the prompt commencement of the procurement 

process is the requirement for early activation of the BDUK procurement 
framework for Cheshire, Warrington and Halton. The Local Broadband 
Plan has in place a contingency option to mitigate against delays by 
pursuing an alternative Competitive Dialogue process. This will be subject 
to discussion with BDUK.  

 
10.0 Background and Options 
  
10.1 The Cheshire and Warrington SFB project is being taken forwards as a 

collaborative project between the four unitary authorities of Cheshire East 
Council, Cheshire West and Chester Council, Warrington Borough Council 
and Halton Borough Council. Cheshire East Council is the accountable 
body for the partnership. 

 
10.2 The Local Broadband Plan establishes the case for SFB as a vital 

infrastructure for the future growth of the sub region’s economy. It has the 
potential to increase growth, innovation and productivity, generate new 
jobs and enhance the attractiveness of the sub-region as a business 
location. 

 
10.3 The recent report on the ‘Value and Impact of Superfast Broadband for 

Cheshire, Warrington and Halton’ (2012) projects that full SFB coverage 
for Cheshire East would, on a central estimate, generate a gross impact of 
£380 million GVA over 15 years and create over 3,900 jobs. 

 
Local Broadband Plan 

 
10.4 The current position is that while c70% (by population) of Cheshire, 

Warrington and Halton will be able to access superfast broadband 
services by August 2012, investment is needed to address the ‘digital 
divide’ impact to the c65% on the geographical area which will not have 
access to superfast broadband services. This has a direct impact on more 
than 110,000 homes and businesses. Ref Appendix A; Map 1  

10.5 Once the BDUK funding is secured, a procurement exercise through a 
government framework will be run to select a private sector partner to 

Page 206



deliver SFB infrastructure. Additionally, an EU State Aid approval process 
is underway to permit the public sector investment. Both of these activities 
will be complete by the summer, with implementation commencing in 
autumn 2012, with completion by the end of 2015. 

 
10.6 Doing nothing is an option but would put the authority in conflict with the 

Secretary of State direction and will lead to a digital divide between urban 
and rural areas. A direct impact would be that Cheshire, Warrington and 
Halton would lag behind neighbouring areas which are investing in 
Superfast Broadband for economic growth. Further, it will limit the 
opportunity to deliver quality public services more efficiently though ‘digital 
by default’ service delivery. 

 
10.7 Modelling of BDUK data projects that 90% SFB provision will provide an 

increased geographic coverage as illustrated in Appendix A; Map 2 .  
 

Addressing the final 10% for Cheshire East  
 
10.8 The government supported 90% SFB coverage funding model will leave 

c18,000 homes and 1,000 businesses in Cheshire East at a ‘digital divide’ 
disadvantage. The financing of the final 10% presents challenges across 
three key aspects: 

 
• Weak business case for commercial market intervention. 
• High infrastructure costs to connect dispersed localities. 

 
10.9 For Cheshire East the total cost to achieve the final 10% coverage has 

been estimated at and additional £7.34M, which would require a total 
council investment profiled over four years not exceeding £3.9 million to 
bridge the commercial investment funding gap. 

 
10.10 Scope exists to begin to bridge the gap through c£410,000 from the Rural 

Development Programme for England funding and an EoI has been 
submitted to the Rural Community Broadband Fund for a local scheme for 
the Burleydam area. 

 
10.11   The Council is actively supporting community based projects in white 

areas (areas of market failure). 
 
10.12 A major proposal is under development to the European Regional 

Development Fund which, if successful, could provide for 100% SFB 
target by 2015, with no additional public sector investment.  

 
11.0 Access to Information 
 
11.1 The background papers relating to this report can be inspected by contacting the 

report writer: 
 

Name: Julian Cobley:  
Designation: Head of Technical Strategy and Planning 
Tel No:01270 686170 
Email: Julian.cobley@cheshireeast.gov.uk 
 

Page 207



 
 
 
 

Appendix A - Map 1 
 

Current Superfast broadband coverage - Red and amber areas represent poor broadband performance 
 

P
age 208



 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Appendix A - Map  2 
 

BDUK 90% superfast broadband coverage. Purple/Blue: private sector investment, Green: 90% public sector investment.  Hatched: final 10% 

P
age 209



Page 210

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

BDUK Broadband Delivery Project 

Cheshire Warrington and Halton 
Local Broadband Plan 
 

This version of the Local Broadband Plan 
is subject to change further to dialogue 

with Broadband Delivery UK 

Page 211



Department for Culture, Media and Sport 
BDUK Broadband Delivery Project  
 

 
 
APPLICANT INFORMATION 
 
Project Name:  
 
Cheshire and Warrington Superfast Broadband Programme 
 
Lead organisation - include address with and postcode and type of organisation  
(eg Local Authority, LEP): 
 
Cheshire East Council 
Emperor Court 
Electra Way 
Crewe 
Cheshire 
CW84DN 
 
Local Authority 
 
Lead Contact Details (Name) and position held:  
 
Mr Julian Cobley 
Head of Technical Strategy and Planning 
 
Contact telephone number:  01270 68170 / 07770678944 
 
Email address:  Julian.Cobley@cheshireeast.gov.uk 
 
Postal address:       
Cheshire East Council 
Emperor Court 
ElectrTha Way 
Crewe 
Cheshire 
CW84DN 
 
If the bid is a joint proposal, please enter the names of all participating bodies and 
specify the co-ordinating authority 
Cheshire and Warrington Local Enterprise Partnership 
Cheshire East Council 
Cheshire West and Chester Council 
Warrington Borough Council 
 
Cheshire East Council is acting as the co-ordinating authority. 
 
Start Date of Project: April 2012 
 
End Date of Project: 31 December 2015 
 
 

Page 212



SECTION A – PROJECT OVERVIEW 
 

A1.    Vision and strategic context  
 
The strategic need for broadband infrastructure improvement should be set out and should look at: 
transformation of public services, economic development, links to corporate plans, social inclusion and existing 
broadband initiatives.  This should include a brief description of the economic and social issues in the 
geographical area and the role of broadband in addressing those issues.  
 
Please describe the outcomes you want to achieve from your local broadband plan between now and 2015 and 
the rationale for your approach.   
 
In addition, please outline any further aspirations you may have for the period beyond 2015 to 2020.  Please 
note: all local bodies should aim to achieve 100% broadband coverage in their area by 2017 at the latest, using a 
mix of technologies.      
 

STRATEGIC CONTEXT SUMMARY 
 
CONNECTING CHESHIRE - PROJECT VISION 2015 
 
Superfast broadband is accepted as the fourth utility for Cheshire and Warrington (C&W) 
and its businesses and residents have access to a wide range of both content and service 
choice that is delivered over reliable high capacity superfast broadband at market 
competitive prices. Timely investments made in superfast broadband infrastructure has 
unleashed the potential for the region to compete in emergent knowledge economy and 
become favoured position to attract inward investment.  
 
Superfast Broadband is the enabling technology which connects the community and has 
supported sustainable and equitable economic growth. It has unlocked new ways of working, 
doing business and accessing citizen centric services which has created jobs and provided 
GVA growth. Public sector costs and the environmental impact is lower. Educational 
opportunities have increased and attainment improved with a shift from traditional classroom 
based to rich content delivered online. 
 
The most vulnerable in our society have seen significant improvements in their well-being by 
becoming less socially isolated and the quality of their care improved through the ability to 
deliver services away from residential care and hospitals into their own homes using 
advanced technologies. 
 
Programme Vision 
 
To ensure Cheshire and Warrington has 100% coverage of superfast broadband services by 
2015, connecting the community and developing the digital economy. 
 
Project Objective 
 
To deliver 90% superfast broadband coverage by 2015, with an enhanced target to achieve 
100% provision by 2015, subject to ERDF grant funding award. 
 
Project Scope: 
 

• To secure public sector funding from multiple funding sources including BDUK and 
the Local Authorities which will be matched by private sector investment.  

• To select a strategic investment partner/consortium through the BDUK framework 
who will contribute matched investment to enable the rollout superfast broadband in 
the areas of market failure at market competitive rates in Cheshire and Warrington 
services for residents and businesses. 

Page 213



Department for Culture, Media and Sport 
BDUK Broadband Delivery Project  
 

• To secure European Union State Aid approval to allow investment of public money in 
superfast broadband infrastructure in areas of market failure within Cheshire and 
Warrington (State Aid White Areas). 

• To engage with businesses and residents, and the public sector to exploit superfast 
broadband technologies. 

• To stimulate the market and capture residential and business demand. 
• To meet and exceed levels of service uptake in line with funding criteria. 
• To promote the use of superfast broadband as an enabler of public sector 

transformation and greater social inclusion 
• To secure additional sector funding from multiple funding sources including, ERDF 

and RDPE to target the achievement of 100% SFB coverage. 
 

STRATEGIC NEED 
 
A1.1 All Local authorities across Cheshire and Warrington have made superfast 
broadband one of their top priorities, as demonstrated by the significant financial 
commitment they are making to this plan. It is embedded in economic development plans, 
local development frameworks and relevant corporate strategies. 
 
A1.2 The Plan is supported by the MPs and MEPs from the area, the Cheshire and 
Warrington Local Enterprise Partnership (CWLEP), Chambers of Commerce, the Federation 
of Small Businesses and Sustainable Community Partnerships. All regard Investment into 
superfast broadband as the single greatest action which will drive economic growth and 
improve the quality of life for all Cheshire and Warrington residents and businesses in this 
decade. It will underpin future business investment and growth, educational attainment, the 
transformation of public service delivery and a range of everyday activities carried out by 
individuals, households and community organisations.  
 
A1.3 Superfast broadband will be delivered by the Cheshire and Warrington LEP 
Superfast Broadband Connecting Cheshire Partnership. The partnership represents a 
tri-unitary authority commitment to secure SFB to the area by Cheshire East Council, 
Cheshire West and Chester Council and Warrington Borough Council. The partnership 
reports direct to the Sub Regional Leadership Board and Cheshire and Warrington LEP 
Board. 
 
A1.4 It is noted that the BDUK indicative allocation included Halton, and detailed 
negations are nearing their conclusion towards including Halton Borough Council as a fourth 
partner to the programme. The plan will be amended at that point to include Halton related 
outputs. In order to allow for consistency with the BDUK allocation process, costings have 
been included to reflect the case for Halton joining the partnership. 
 
A1.5 It is further noted that Cheshire West and Chester Council are considering an 
extension for the funding package to allow for increased SFB coverage to provide for 100% 
superfast broadband coverage by 2015. The plan will be subject to amendment for outputs 
on the determination of the additional funding decision. This aspect will be a clear addition to 
the 90% objective, therefore the base BDUK funding position will not be impacted upon. 
 
A1.6 Superfast Broadband is an underpinning element of infrastructure which is 
essential for Cheshire and Warrington to realise its core spatial objectives, in particular:  
 

• Warrington – Warrington has the capacity for significant expansion as a business 
and commercial centre through regeneration of its central area, phased urban 
extensions at Omega, and growth in other important sites. Its central location in the 
emerging Atlantic Gateway and its key positioning on both the strategic road and rail 

Page 214



networks provides the basis for it to form an important a regional driver of economic 
growth.  

• Crewe - Following the development of a comprehensive strategic visioning for 
Crewe, there is agreement that the town needs to significantly increase its economic 
productivity, and is well positioned to do so in terms of unique strategic connections 
and major development sites.  To facilitate this, there is a clear emerging ambition to 
have super-charged growth in Crewe – in the order of 25% growth in jobs and 
population – to fulfil its wider potential, which the Basford strategic employment site 
will play a key role in delivering.  

• Chester and the Deeside Hub  - reinvigorating the dynamic contribution of Chester 
to the cultural, heritage and visitor economy of the region, as well as extending its 
offer as a high quality office location, and an important retail destination, is of 
significant importance to growth and development. The impact of the Deeside Hub 
extends beyond the sub-regional boundary to the Mersey Dee Alliance Area, with 
Chester as its centre. 

• Ellesmere Port - The Atlantic Gateway programme raises the potential opportunity 
of Ellesmere Port as a residential and employment Growth Point effectively serving 
as Chester’s development zone involving the re-use of the significant stock of 
brownfield land released as a result of the decline of previous industrial uses, in 
accordance with the emerging Vision and Economic Development Framework. 

• North East Cheshire – Macclesfield and North East Cheshire are the focus of the 
region’s most productive businesses and entrepreneurial people, built on a dynamic 
symbiotic relationship with the economy of Greater Manchester.  To maintain its 
competitiveness, targeted growth and collaboration with key employers, while 
maintaining its key heritage and landscape assets, will enable it to maintain its 
contribution to competitiveness and its role as an important economic driver. 
Macclesfield is a key employment location for the future of the sub-region, providing 
the home base for thousands of highly skilled workers that commute to Manchester, 
and the base also for key micro businesses in our regional capital’s supply chain, 
particularly the media sector.  Similar demands exist from its own globally significant 
employers – including Astra Zeneca, McCann-Erickson and Barclays. 

• Employment sites:  There a wide range of other potential employment sites as well 
as existing business parks that would benefit significantly from the availability of SFB 
to the premises.  

• Sustainable market towns – our market towns and larger villages are an important 
component of economic growth in C&W – functioning as the ‘home office’ for many of 
our skilled residents whose office base is in nearby Manchester and Liverpool, and 
also as service centres for the rural and agricultural communities. 

• Rural – the rural area represents approximately 80% of the total land area of the 
sub-region, where 40% of the population lives and hosts over a third of all jobs. 
Support will be directed to provide sustainable economic development across the 
rural area, in improving the competitiveness of local businesses and providing the 
conditions where enterprise can flourish. 
 

A1.7  Our overarching ambition is to achieve universal superfast broadband coverage 
in Cheshire and Warrington, but this is only part of the superfast broadband programme. Its 
true value will only be realised when the technology is put to best use. The diagram over 
indicates the 6 interlinked themes which will develop the digital economy and connect the 
community through the exploitation of the superfast broadband technology. 
 

Page 215



Department for Culture, Media and Sport 
BDUK Broadband Delivery Project  
 

 
 
Transformation of Public Services 
 
A1.8 All local authorities recognise access to high speed broadband is a primary 
technology enabler to transform the organisation centred on 6 core themes – Customer 
Access, Local Communities, Education Learning and Skills, Economic Regeneration, Health 
and Wellbeing, and the Environment. Furthermore, Broadband coverage has been selected 
as one of 15 key corporate indicators on which the authority will judge its performance.  
 
A1.9 The local authorities of Cheshire and Warrington recognise the best way to truly 
transform the services they provide to their citizens is to put them in control of how they 
interact and engage with the public sector. A commitment has been made to transform the 
customer access channels to ‘digital by default’. 100% SFB infrastructure is an important 
factor for the provision of high quality services and certainty of access for Cheshire and 
Warrington’s businesses and residents. 
 
A1.10 Under the direction of Members, the corporate management teams are 
communicating with their directorates and requesting senior managers to consider how a 
fast reliable internet connection in every home / business will influence their business plans 
over the next 5 years. Superfast broadband is expected to completely change the way public 
services collaborative with one another and the citizens they serve. 
 

• It is recognised that Telecare and Telemedicine are becoming increasingly vital 
in supporting people in their homes. This is particularly pertinent in Cheshire and 
Warrington as in the next twenty years people over the age of 65 will increase by 
over 35% and the number of people over 80 will double. 

• The Councils and other partners including NHS, PCT and Local Housing 
Associations are already investigating opportunities to pilot how ICT services 
delivered over high speed broadband can be used to support people to stay in their 
homes for longer using assistive technologies.  

• A pilot project is underway in Cheshire East between the local authority and local 
residential landlords investing how the use of telecare services will have a 
transformational impact on caring for the elderly at home. Initial findings indicate 

Page 216



£2.5m can be saved annually in preventative costs. Furthermore assistive 
technologies are playing a large part in the development of care for people with 
dementia. An awarding website has recently been launched in Cheshire East to 
promote this agenda (http://www.demenshare.com/ ). 

• Public sector flexible working: All Local Authorities are developing flexible working 
policy, to promote effective home working to improve productivity and reducing 
commuter trips. 

• Increasing efficiency across emergency services: Action is well underway as a 
Cheshire and Warrington public sector collective, including the three local authorities, 
police, fire and PCT to consider how SFB technology can act as the catalyst to create 
a public sector network (PSN). This will reduce public sector costs associated with 
the ICT infrastructure and offer new ways of delivering services to the citizen. 

• Of significant note, Cheshire West and Chester Council are one of 4 Local 
Authorities across the country piloting Community Budgets to drive responsive local 
services, social action and the highest quality of life. The provision of SFB 
infrastructure will bean important aspect for the delivery of responsive and interactive 
services 
  

Economic Development 
 
A1.11 The Cheshire and Warrington Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) has indentified 
superfast broadband as a key priority to develop and enhance the local economy. A principal 
challenge for Cheshire and Warrington is the fact that SFB provision in metropolitan centres 
is emerging at an accelerated rate, yet governmental data confirms that two-thirds of 
Cheshire and Warrington (by area) is outside the scope for private sector provision of 
superfast broadband. This represents a direct disadvantage to c107, 000 Cheshire and 
Warrington homes and businesses and c355,000 people. 
 
A1.12 As outlined in the recent Local Economic Assessment (July 2011), Cheshire and 
Warrington has a strong economic base with significant potential to grow and help support 
national economic recovery. However, the provision of SFB, especially in rural areas, has 
been identified as a constraint to unlocking the full potential of the sub-regional economy.  
 
A1.13 SFB is required to unleash the next step growth potential of Cheshire and 
Warrington with 37% of the Information and communication sector citing broadband 
coverage as a barrier to growth in the Cheshire and Warrington Business Needs survey 
(April 2011). Cheshire and Warrington has particular potential to maximise the proximity 
impact of MediaCityUK as a quality of life, lifestyle and business location of regional 
significance.  
 
A1.14 Economic growth will be built on existing strengths in science and the knowledge 
economy, with a focus on research and development and key sectors such as 
pharmaceuticals, chemicals, advanced manufacturing, financial and business services, 
digital and creative, ICT, environmental, energy and nuclear industries. Other sectors such 
as the visitor economy, health and related activities will be important, especially in relation to 
employment generation.  
 
A1.15 Cheshire and Warrington has an existing strength for digital and creative 
industries employment with the highest proportion in the region and amongst the largest 
creative industries workforce in the UK. SFB will provide the connectivity for the sector to 
maximise the business generator capacity of MediaCityUK. 
 
 

Page 217



Department for Culture, Media and Sport 
BDUK Broadband Delivery Project  
 

A1.16 Face-to-face connectivity will remain important for business growth and 
development particularly for rapidly changing and not easily codified business dynamics. 
SFB will provide an electronic business infrastructure to complement the existing excellent 
road, rail and air network in place to provide the ideal base for accelerated business growth.  
 
A1.17 To build and strengthen working relationships between education and business 
growth, the project team is working closely with the education community of Keele 
University, Manchester Metropolitan University, Chester University and Reaseheath College  
to understand how better broadband services can transform the way we live and work. The 
project team intend to use its links with these academic institutes to contribute to the 
Research Councils’ UK Digital Economy programme. 
 
A1.18 The recently completed study: ‘The Value and Impact of Superfast Broadband 
for Cheshire, Warrington and Halton’(2012)’ reports that full coverage of superfast 
broadband would, on a central estimate, generate a gross impact of £1.3 billion in GVA over 
15 years and create 11,500 jobs. It would also generate an additional £330m of economic 
benefits to households. 
 
Social Inclusion 
 
A1.19 SFB will offer the means to transform the relationship between the local 
authorities and Cheshire and Warrington residents. Universal access to a Cheshire and 
Warrington superfast broadband infrastructure network is a fundamental requirement to 
enable online access to become the default channel for delivering public services. The new 
broadband strategy is a vital part of our commitment to improving the lives of people living in 
rural communities. 
 
A1.20 Although Cheshire and Warrington is perceived to be a wealthy area it has areas 
of significant deprivation. For example Crewe and Macclesfield have some of the worst 
areas of deprivation in the country.  In areas such as this citizens typically can’t afford 
internet connectivity. Cheshire East Council is working with the local residential social 
landlord (RSL) Wyvern Housing and telecommunications companies on a project for the 
provision of high capacity broadband services to its customers at reduced rates. If 
successful the project could be expanded to other RSLs and incorporated into the superfast 
broadband project. 
 
A1.21 Poor broadband connectivity means that ability to access even basic internet 
services such as booking a flight ticket is unachievable. Public sector service provision is 
also markedly more expensive as citizens cannot take advantage of the wide spectrum of 
online public services offered such as the renewal/reservation of library books, payment of 
bills, return of annual tax/VAT returns, to more recently, the ability to complete the 2011 
census online. 
 
A1.22 The Cheshire and Warrington Connecting Cheshire Partnership is committed to 
develop SFB capabilities in the following indicative areas: 

 
• Access to the workplace for those groups which may be less mobile (e.g. disabled and 

people with child-care responsibilities who wish to work part-time). 
• Learning and skills, in terms of extending the teaching environment outside traditional 

class room and via delivery platforms for teaching/learning modules. 
• Social connection, especially for the older generation. 
• Carbon reduction through teleworking, video links and information access. 
• Telehealth and extended home care. 
 

Page 218



Existing Broadband Initiatives 
 
A1.23 Cheshire East Council and Cheshire West and Chester Council have a shared 
corporate network which connects over 700 offices and schools throughout Cheshire. 
 
A1.24 Cheshire ICT Shared Service, Cheshire East Council and Cheshire West and 
Chester Council are working collaboratively to progress opportunities to integrate ICT 
networks and services with other public sector organisations in the local area. For example 
the ICT shared service is providing data centre hosting services to Warrington Borough 
Council. Also Cheshire Shared Services is providing Internet connectivity to Cheshire Fire 
and Rescue services through the local authority network.  
 
A1.25 There is only one community broadband network in operation in the Cheshire 
and Warrington area which provides wireless connectivity in a rural community. The 
founders of this community broadband network have expressed the service is difficult and 
time consuming to manage and would prefer to replace it with a broadband service from a 
national carrier provider as part of the strategic broadband project. 
 

OUTCOMES  
 
A.1.26 The Cheshire and Warrington superfast broadband project will deliver a number 
of outcomes which realise a range of socio-economic benefits. Strategic outcomes include; 
• Increasing coverage of superfast broadband from 67% to 90% by 2015 will play a 

significant part in the Coalition Government achieving its ambition to deliver the best 
broadband network in Europe by 2015 

• To achieve an overall Ofcom broadband score rating of 1 based on the following factors  
o >80% broadband Take up 
o >90% Superfast Broadband Availability 
o >16% Average  Modem Sync Speed 
o <5% Receiving less than 2 Mbits/Second 

• >£40M infrastructure investment in the Cheshire and Warrington area. 
• Provide a powerful national demonstration of our Local Enterprise Partnerships in action 

and working collaboratively on a shared agenda – responding to one of our business 
community’s highest barriers to growth. 

• Enable around 700,000 more people and over 10,000 more businesses to access 
superfast broadband. 

• Contribute to national economic recovery through increasing our GVA by £86 million per 
annum by 2020. 

• An exemplar public/private partnership test bedding new innovative ways of working 
driven by technology 

• Adoption of broadband infrastructure standard for new builds 
• Enablement of the five economic ‘place’ priorities for Cheshire and Warrington. 
• Joint demand stimulation and marketing team promoting superfast broadband between 

public sector and strategic investment partner. 
• Integration with the Cheshire and Warrington Infrastructure plan to best apply the 

provision of superfast broadband with other infrastructure initiatives. 
• To provide Fibre Hubs in villages/hamlets where they are requested. 
• Take-up of superfast broadband services by businesses and residents will be greater 

than 40%. 

Page 219



Department for Culture, Media and Sport 
BDUK Broadband Delivery Project  
 

 
RATIONALE 

 
A1.27 The rationale for SFB investment is fully embedded in the following 
interconnected suite of corporate policy documents: 
 
• Sustainable Community Strategy: Ambition for All (2010) has set as a priority action 

to: “Provide a leading broadband infrastructure”, working to a target to develop SFB to 
the point where “We will have a leading, reliable, high-speed broadband infrastructure 
serving businesses and residents in all parts of Cheshire East.” 

• The Cheshire and Warrington LEP Economic Strategy “Unleashing the Potential” (2010) 
commits to SFB as crucial to the sustainable economic development of Cheshire & 
Warrington. 

• Economic Development Strategy (2011) is working to:”actively seek and promote 
opportunities to implement next generation broadband speeds across Cheshire East:” 

• Crewe Vision: All change for Crewe (2011) has identified the need to “create a state-
of-the-art broadband internet network” as one of five key actions to unlock the huge 
potential of the town and surrounding area to become an economic powerhouse by 
2031.  

• The Rural Regeneration Strategy & Action Plan (2011) has set a key ambition to: 
“address market failure where it affects quality of life and economic success through the 
provision of public transport services and high speed broadband.” 

• Cheshire and Warrington Business Needs Survey (April 2011) recognises business 
value broadband connectivity for their needs and require access to high speed reliable 
services at market competitive prices. 

 
ASPIRATIONS 2015 - 2020 

 
A1.28 The Connected Cheshire Partnership has aspirations to provide for SFB beyond 
the BDUK sponsored 90% target. Our enhanced target to achieve universal provision by 
2015 will be delivered through promotion of the investment case to telecom providers, 
supported by additional funding from ERDF sources. 
 
Addressing the final 10%  

 
A1.29 The government supported funding model provides for 90% SFB coverage, 
which will leave c47,000 residents and businesses at a ‘digital divide’ disadvantage. The 
financing of the final 10% presents challenges across three key aspects: 
 

• Weak business case for commercial market intervention 
• High infrastructure costs to connect dispersed localities 
• No Government funding support 

 
A1.30 The total cost to achieve the final 10% coverage has been estimated at c£20.6M. 
Funding is being sought from the European Regional Development Fund to address the 
public sector match to deliver Superfast Broadband to the final 10% of the population. 
Outline approval has been obtained for a submission of £13,586,169 which also includes 
scope to provide business support to promote SFB uptake for all Cheshire and Warrington’s 
SMEs. If successful, this funding could ensure we reach our 100% superfast broadband 
coverage target by 2015  

Page 220



 
A2.    Background 
 

Please describe the current broadband position including covering, speeds, usage, residential/business split and 
roll out to date. 
 
A2.1          BT is the main service provider of ADSL broadband in Cheshire and Warrington. 
A small proportion of the area (<5%) in the towns Macclesfield, Warrington and Ellesmere 
Port have cable service provided from Virgin Media.  
 
A2.2         There are 106 telephone exchanges in Cheshire and Warrington. Only a 1/4rd of 
these exchanges have been unbundled therefore the majority of the exchanges are limited 
to services provided by BT Wholesale. Over 50% of the telephone exchanges are Ofcom 
Market type one.  
 
A2.3 Broadband speed published by Ofcom in July 2011 rates Cheshire and 
Warrington as level ‘4’ (very poor) in terms of slow internet connections. The three local 
authorities of Cheshire East, Cheshire West and Chester, and Warrington Council have a 
lower average modem sync speed than the national average (6.9 compared with 7.5 for the 
UK), a higher than average number of people have an internet connection less than 2 
Mb/second (17% compared with 14% for UK) and a higher than average take up of services 
than the national average (70% compared with 68% for the UK). 
 
A2.4 Currently 70,126 premises fail to meet Universal Service Commitment of 
>2Mbps broadband connectivity, which is impacting over 156,000 people. This is primarily 
caused by the challenging geographical dispersion of telephone exchanges to the premises 
served (i.e. line distance/quality vs bandwidth degradation), long lines to the premises from 
the telephone exchange, and the proliferated use of aluminium rather than copper telephone 
lines which has poor signal attenuation. These issues result in not/poor spots as can be 
seen as red markers in figure 1.  
 
Figure 1: Broadband Speed Analysis of Cheshire & Warrington area 

 
 
A2.5 This digital divide in the inequitable provision of premises located in our sub-
region is demonstrated below. The average number of properties receiving <2Mbps based 
on individual telephone exchange areas is currently 26% of total, with line test evidence 
suggesting that some areas are served at a significantly lower level. See fig 2 over. 

Page 221



Department for Culture, Media and Sport 
BDUK Broadband Delivery Project  
 

 
Figure 2: Percentage of Premises by Telephone Exchange Area not meeting 2Mbps USC  

 
 
A2.6 BT Openreach has committed to rollout superfast broadband services to 24 of 
the 106 telephone exchanges and seven telephone exchanges have superfast broadband 
services available to purchase. All as detailed on Map 3.3 
 
A2.7   It is known and noted that for those areas where SFB rollouts have been 
announced a significant proportion (typically 10-20%) of that area will not have SFB access 
due to the financial or technical issues impacting the street and exchange footprint. 
 
A2.8   In total this means c107,000 dwellings are considered to be disadvantaged by 
not receiving SFB services and are classified as being in areas which are State Aid White. 
See Map A2-8 
 
 Numbers 
• Residential 65,195 
• Business 12,256 
• Within SFB enabled exchange area  

(but without SFB connection ~10% premises) 
29,761 

TOTAL 107,212 
 
A3.    Local Broadband Context Evidence of Need/ Gap Analysis 
The need for broadband investment should be set out supported by evidence.  In order to support the evidence 
the following information would be beneficial: 
 
-       area map showing topography, rurality- using baseline coverage and infrastructure data provided by 

BDUK; 
 
-       population density information; 
 
-      current telecoms infrastructure including community networks; 
 
-      Regional assets (motorways, canals etc); 
 
- Public sector assets – Public sector networks and contractual status. 
 
Please note local bodies should identify where it may be possible to re-use existing public sector networks as 
part of the solution including identifying existing assets and contracts that are suitable for re-use. 

 
Baseline Coverage and Infrastructure Data 
 
A3.1 Over 60% of Cheshire and Warrington is deemed to be rural. This characteristic 
coupled to the dispersed settlements and businesses characteristics of the area are major 

Page 222



factors which explain why Cheshire and Warrington does not yet have full coverage of first 
generation broadband (up to 2 Mbps).  
 
A3.2 GIS analysis of the distribution and reach of BT exchanges shows that a 
significant proportion of the rural area remains underserved in respect of broadband, 
resulting in a poor level of connectivity for communities in this area. A study carried out by 
Analysys Mason found that the area does not provide broadband suppliers with sufficient 
economies of scale to deliver ubiquitous next generation broadband access. 
 
A3.3 Over half of the 106 telephone exchange covering the sub region are currently 
classified as Ofcom Market type 1, indicating consumers residing in these areas have no 
other choice but to go with BT Wholesale as the sole service provider of broadband services.  
 
A3.4 Current marketplace forecasting offered by Analysys Mason through BDUK 
clearly indicates BT is the incumbent broadband provider.  Map A3-1 demonstrates that 
future coverage by geographic area is only expected to reach a third of the sub-region.  
 
A3.5 Virgin Media has a small presence of its cable infrastructure in Cheshire and 
Warrington, although it is no more than 5% by area and has no future plans to increase its 
broadband footprint for our region. There only exist a few isolated pockets, around 1% by 
area, where both providers have a presence thereby enabling consumers to have a real 
choice in selection of a SFB provider. 
 
A3.6  Current and future planned rollout of SFB by private sector telecom providers up 
to 2013 is shown in map A3-3.  
 
A3.7 Where SFB service rollouts have been announced for a telephone exchange, 
many consumers will still be left disappointed as 10-20% of premises will not benefit from the 
upgrade due to technical or financial reasons. A subsequent infilling exercise will need to be 
undertaken within these areas to ensure there is universal provision of SFB. Map A3-2 helps 
to highlight this further.  
 
Population & Dwelling Demographics 
 
A3.8 The average population density for the sub region is 589 people per sq/mile   
which gives an average density ranking of 50% when compared with other local authority 
areas in the UK. This average figure is made up as 312 per sq/mile in Cheshire East, 357 
per sq/mile in Cheshire West and Chester and 1099 per sq/mile in Warrington. In conclusion 
the area is sparsely populated apart from its key service towns. 
 
A3.9 60% of the sub region is designated as rural. This is clearly demonstrated by 
both population density map A3-4 and dwelling density (from BDUK data set) map A3-5. 
This sparse distribution of the population and settlement clusters form a key barrier in 
limiting further private investment from that which has already been committed for the 
expansion of SFB in the region. The timeframe for the return on investment required by 
telecoms suppliers’ commercial models cannot be met with investments from the private 
sector alone. 
 
Telecoms infrastructure  
 
A3.10 By definition of the limits of the private sector investment, it follows that no 
business case exists for private sector investment into the rural areas of Cheshire and 
Warrington. This means that there is a real danger that a rural ‘digital divide’ will result in 
those living in remote and rural communities being unable to access the new economy and 
the new society made possible by digital communication 

Page 223



Department for Culture, Media and Sport 
BDUK Broadband Delivery Project  
 

 
A3.11 The poor provision of last mile high capacity broadband is an unrealised 
opportunity when contrasted with the substantial presence of backhaul infrastructure in 
Cheshire and Warrington; as identified in map A3-6.  The project team would work to apply 
this backhaul infrastructure to be employed to achieve its broadband coverage ambitions.  
New ways of working would be promoted to introduce breakout points from this infrastructure 
which will reduce the deployment costs 
 
Regional Infrastructure Assets 
 
A3.12 Alongside this rich carrier backhaul infrastructure, many options are open to 
investors for consideration that may increase the viability of universal provision of SFB, lower 
their deployment costs and reduce the time to market. We believe exploitation of these 
assets could significantly reduce this cost and lower social/environmental disruption.  These 
assets would include:  
 
• Co-share council owned urban traffic control & street lighting ducts. 
• British Waterways - 'Cheshire ring' canal side towpaths - talks already underway to 

establish low cost fibre backbone transit routes without the need for costly and intrusive 
road closures. See map A3-7  

• Brine Pipelines to establish low cost fibre backbone transit routes without the need for 
costly and intrusive road closures. See map A3-8 

• Power line and Gas line infrastructure.  
• Sewer infrastructure - pilot mapping already been undertaken.  
• Farm and Community based Self Dig Schemes A3-9 
• Road and rail infrastructure A3-10 
We are committed to work alongside potential partners to highlight these commercial 
opportunities.  
 
Public Sector Assets  
 
A3.13 eCheshire Public has been established since 2009 and is a Public Sector ICT 
alliance group led by Cheshire East Council with membership comprising of Cheshire West 
& Chester Council, Warrington Borough Council, Cheshire Police, Cheshire Fire & Rescue 
and the PCT/NHS. This group is currently evaluating joint public sector infrastructure 
harmonisation, with a vision to create a ubiquitous Public Sector Network (PSN). It has 
already completed  

• Full mapping of public network infrastructure and buildings   
• Baselined the total cost of network ownership 
• Completed a register of contracts terms and conditions. 

 
A3.14 The group are keen to work with suppliers to understand the benefits and 
opportunities that the SFB programme would bring to them either as partial or full 'anchor 
tenants'. In addition there is a strong desire to explore how surplus network capacity, land 
ownership and property assets could assist in improving digital connectivity for wider 
community good. Maps A3-12 and A3-13 demonstrate the work already undertaken to 
register the geographical distribution of its 1,200 networked public sector buildings. 

Page 224



 
A4.     Scope of Project (describe your project). 
 
Please outline the scope of your project.  This is to include: 
 
-     the objectives of the project and any constraints; 
 
-     the geographical area(s) it will cover and number of properties/postcodes; 
 
-     the number of partners single Tier 1 authority, LEP, several authorities; 
 
-     phasing of the project/roll out; 
  
-     prioritisation of areas and match to anticipated service level (including any trade-offs you expect to make 

between speed and coverage);   
 
-     identified need for community broadband hubs, and potential public-sector locations.   
 
Programme Vision 
 
A4.1 To ensure Cheshire and Warrington has 100% coverage of superfast broadband 
services by 2015, connecting the community and developing the digital economy. 
 
Programme objective 
 
A4.2 To deliver 90% superfast broadband coverage by 2015, with an enhanced target 
to achieve 100% provision by 2015, subject to grant funding award. 
  
Programme Scope   
 

• To secure £20m public sector funding from multiple funding sources including BDUK, 
ERDF and RDPE which will be used to gap fund private sector investment.   

• To select a strategic investment partner/consortium through the BDUK framework 
who will contribute match investment and  rollout superfast broadband in the areas of 
market failure in Cheshire and Warrington and deliver services to residents and 
businesses. 

• To secure European Union State Aid Approval to invest public money in superfast 
broadband infrastructure in areas of market failure within Cheshire and Warrington 
(State Aid White Areas). 

• To engage both externally with businesses and residents, and internally within the 
public sector to make best use of superfast broadband technologies. 

• To stimulate the market and capture residential and business demand. 
• To meet and exceed levels of service uptake in line with funding criteria. 
• To promote the use of superfast broadband as an enabler of public sector 

transformation and social inclusion 
 
Constraints 
 
A4.3 Although the local broadband plan is designed for the whole of Cheshire and 
Warrington, public funding for investment into SFB infrastructure is restricted to areas of 
market failure.  
 
A4.4 The following factors are recognised and understood  
 
• grant monies secured from BDUK will be for use exclusively for broadband infrastructure 

investment and not for other activities i.e. demand stimulation, project management. 

Page 225



Department for Culture, Media and Sport 
BDUK Broadband Delivery Project  
 

• grant monies secured from ERDF and RDPE funding programmes have specific criteria 
associated with how the money is spent and what outputs are delivered. For example 
both are restricted to SME business connectivity. 

• capacity of the telecommunications industry to deliver superfast broadband projects 
could be strained. 

• BDUK have limited resources and can only play a facilitation role in the delivery of the 
Cheshire and Warrington project 

• A contractual agreement and robust governance framework will be in place between the 
local authorities in Cheshire and Warrington to deliver the project. 

• There will be a financial envelope (limit) to the project and technical solution or scale of 
the rollout of superfast broadband this may be restricted depending on responses from 
the market. 

 
Geographical area 
 
A4.5 The Cheshire and Warrington Broadband Project will cover all areas of market 
failure (state aid white) within Cheshire and Warrington area.  This area includes three 
unitary authorities and covers 2,263 square miles where 892K people live and is expected to 
include greater than >65% of the area by geography, which includes 60 telephone 
exchanges.  In terms of postcodes it is expected to impact 18,441 of 27,114 postcodes in the 
local area. 
 
The cost of deploying a broadband network in our area is high. An analysis of the ‘geotypes’ 
in our area shows that the proportion of premises in the last six geotypes (those with the 
highest cost of deployment) is 45%, compared to 35% nationally. The geotype definition is 
the one conducted for the BSG fibre cost modelling study, which considers factors including 
population density, the number of lines connected to an exchange and the distance of 
premises to an exchange. The analysis is taken at a postcode level. It demonstrates that our 
area has significantly greater topology and network architecture challenges than the UK 
average. 
 
Partners 
 
A4.6 The Cheshire and Warrington SFB project is being taken forwards as a 
collaborative project between three unitary authorities and the Cheshire and Warrington 
LEP. The partnership team reports directly to the strategic sub-regional leadership team, 
which include the LEP Board.  Partnership members include; 
 

• Cheshire East Council 
• Warrington Borough Council 
• Cheshire West and Chester Council 
• Cheshire and Warrington Local Economic Partnership  

 
A4.7 Being a single unitary Council partnership will provide for efficient working at a 
strategic level across the whole of the area. Within the context of this bid, it affords a number 
of strengths:  
• More efficient and democratic decision making for the identification of areas for 

investment.  
• A wider pool of project support, expertise and capacity to deliver large scale projects.  
• More uniform and consistent methods for engagement with businesses and citizens.  
• Coordination of street works to coordinate joint projects reducing disruption and to work 

more efficiently.  
• Communications are managed centrally and can reach all of Cheshire and Warrington, 

quickly and consistently.  

Page 226



 
A4.8 A network of secondary partners is also in place for the dissemination of 
information, steering consultation, and community/business engagement. These partners 
include: 
 

• Reaseheath Health College • Manchester Metropolitan University 
• Keele University • Chester University 
• North West Business Leaders 
• Cheshire Association of Local 

Councils (Chalc) 
 

• Cheshire Community Action (ARCE) 

Phasing  
 
A4.9 The project will be delivered as a single phase project within two years of the 
contract commencing. Sub-tranches of delivery will be determined by agreement between 
the local authorities and the strategic delivery partner(s), although underpinning principles 
will be applied based round spatial priorities, local need and value for money. 
 
A4.10 Clear demarcation between tranches will be planned to act as control 
mechanisms and impact measurement for the rollout project.  
 
Prioritisation 
 
A4.11  Priority will be given based on two criteria – businesses and deep rural areas. 
This will complement the economic strategic priorities of Cheshire and Warrington and 
address the areas of severe market failure in the rural areas. 
 
A4.12  Businesses: Priority will be given to support business growth in and around the 
five sub regional economic place projects centred on Chester, Warrington. Crewe, Ellesmere 
Port and Macclesfield. Priority will be given to areas of business concentration.  
 
A4.13 Deep Rural Areas; Priory will be given to those areas on the limit of the 90% 
coverage . Such an approach will better allow for possible extension of announced SFB 
provision with no contribution from the public sector.  
 
Trade-offs between speed and coverage 
 
A4.14 Prioritisation will also need to consider the dependencies of grant funding award 
criteria, and what is achievable with the financial envelope of the project. This means there 
may be trade-offs between the speed of connection and coverage. 
 
A4.15 It is the desire of the project to extend the reach of fibre as far as possible across 
Cheshire and Warrington. Priority of service will be geared towards businesses who would 
ideally receive a symmetrical dedicated fibre connection, while acknowledging the 
appropriateness of FTTC or wireless for the residential market. 
 
Community Hubs and Public Sector Locations 
 
A4.16 Although there are active community groups passionate about better broadband 
throughout Cheshire and Warrington, the realisation of community broadband projects is 
limited. An EoI submission has been made to the Rural Community Broadband Fund and the 
project has been designed to complement the broader Local Broadband Plan objectives.  
 

Page 227



Department for Culture, Media and Sport 
BDUK Broadband Delivery Project  
 

A4.17 The project team is aware of a number of community groups which are activity 
considering an interim  broadband solution ahead of the strategic solution and the project 
team have committed to support the community aspirations. 
 
A4.18  The project team is working with local community groups and town/parish 
councils to understand their requirements. Where a community fibre distribution hub is 
requested this will be provided. 
 
SECTION B – CUSTOMER AND COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT 
 
 
B1.     Demand stimulation 
 
This section should describe the proposed approach to demand stimulation and any funding 
allocated to undertake this activity.   
 
The potential customer base, the actual/potential take up of broadband and the annual 
spend per household are the important components in understanding demand stimulation.  
Outline your proposals to stimulate broadband demand for: businesses, users of public 
services and citizens (public). 
 
B1.1 Revenue funding for programme support has been approved by the partner 
authorities to promote the uptake of SFB services. We will contract with the selected 
broadband partner to supplement these resources from their own marketing activities. No 
funding from BDUK is being sought to fund our demand stimulation plans. 
 
B1.2 Stimulating demand for broadband is a vital first phase in raising awareness of 
the benefits of SFB, with the provision of impartial advice and information on how to access 
it. We recognise the need to stimulate the community and business demand for broadband 
coupled with recording this demand in a manner that can be used to help us to understand 
local circumstances and priorities.  The team has made live a website portal whose key 
objectives are to provide information that raises awareness of SFB; provides citizens and 
businesses with a better appreciation of what broadband can offer; a registration demand 
form that enables to begin evidencing demand. This site can be found at: 
 

http://www.connectingcheshire.org.uk  
 
B1.3 The website will be updated to reflect how the programme develops to ensure 
relevant and local information is available, such as case studies to help site visitors relate to 
the programme.  The website is developing to capture the underlying Cheshire and 
Warrington SFB attributes below;  
 

• 420,000 dwellings (based on BDUK data) 
• 360,000 premises with telephone lines (telephone analysis data) 
• 50,000 businesses (>80% SMEs) 
• One of the largest digital and creative workforce in the country 
• 882,000 residents 
• 70,000 dwellings that don’t have access to broadband services, <2Mbps 
• 107,000 dwellings including 20% of businesses which will not benefit from superfast 

broadband services. 
• 13,300 businesses which will not benefit from superfast broadband services. 

 
 

Page 228



Connecting Cheshire and Warrington Launch: 24 July 2011. 
 
Connecting Cheshire and Warrington was successfully launched at an event held at 
Cranage Hall on the 24 June 2011.  
 
The event was attended by 100 delegates, which included MPs, Councillors, Town and 
Parish councils, members of the community, Internet Service Providers and local 
businesses.  The delegates heard a range of presentations during the day from speakers 
such as BDUK, Analysys Mason, The Cheshire and Warrington LEP, Julian Cobley.  The 
local community and business through Wychwood Park and the Bolesworth Estate also had 
an opportunity to highlight to problems they face with accessing faster broadband and 
delegates have the opportunity to voice their opinions during the Q&A session and the 
workshops.   
Feedback from the day was extremely positive with all attendees supporting the ambition 
vision.  

 

B1.4 The demand stimulation programme is focused on six core themes which will 
unite the public sector in Cheshire and Warrington and put the use of services delivered over 
superfast broadband at the centre of its corporate priorities. These areas are:  
 

• Economic Development 
• Customer Access 
• Education Learning and Skills  
• Health and Wellbeing 
• Local Communities 
• The Environment 

 
B1.5 These six themes are being driven forwards focusing on four user communities; 
businesses, local communities, public sector and education, and the telecommunications 
market. 
 
Focus: Businesses  
 
B1.6 Cheshire and Warrington has a rich environment of micro and SME businesses 
and a high volume of business start ups, which collectively contribute a significant proportion 
to the regional economy. The large volume of businesses in the digital and creative sector 
(notoriously heavy users of broadband capacity), coupled with the supply chain opportunities 
to MediaCityUK mean access to high capacity broadband is a paramount requirement to 
business and economic growth. See Map E4-1. 
 
B1.7 The team have been working with a number of businesses including Pochin 
Construction, Albs, and Peter Wilson as case study examples to model the wants and needs 
of local businesses.  An indicative list of the businesses and the business support 

Page 229



Department for Culture, Media and Sport 
BDUK Broadband Delivery Project  
 

companies we have been working with is noted below. All are fully aware and supportive of 
the broadband programme. 
 
Business Community 

• Pochin Construction ( land/property development case study) 
• Albs  ( rural creative/digital case study) 
• Peter Wilson (Nantwich  based creative/digital case study) 
• NLP (existing assets – case study (Brine pipe lines) 
• British Waterways (existing assets – case study (Canal Infrastructure) 
• Peel Holdings (existing assets – case study (Manchester ship canal) 
• Barrowmore Estate  
• Grosvenor Estate 
• Bolesworth Estate 

 
Business Support 

• Reaseheath College 
• Reaseheath Rural Enterprise Hub 
• South Cheshire Chamber of Commerce 
• Cheshire and Warrington Local Enterprise Partnership 
• New Economies Manchester 
• North West Business Link 

 
B1.8 A Cheshire and Warrington business survey of over 1,500 businesses has 
recently been completed which included a question regarding broadband services and 
satisfaction. The result of this survey will inform business demand registration schemes 
going forwards. 
  
B1.9 A ‘thrive and survive’ local business event for SME business was held in June 
2011 which was attended by over 80 delegates. The event was a great opportunity to 
directly engage with local businesses to communicate the benefits of superfast broadband. 
The Connecting Cheshire Partnership continues to maintain engagement with the business 
sector. 
 
Focus: Local Communities 
 
B1.10 A comprehensive demand stimulation programme is underway with the local 
communities. As part of work to develop a rural partnership framework and a sustainable 
market towns network, the team have participated in road shows and workshop events 
discussing the impact of broadband in the local community. These events have proven very 
popular and have helped form a network of community champions who are driving the 
awareness of superfast broadband. A list of the community groups engaged can be seen 
below: 
 

• Over Peover Action Group 
• Over Peover Parish Council 
• Rainow SFB Action Group 
• Nantwich Business Group 
• Gawsworth Local Community 
• Wychwood Park Broadband Action Group 
• Lymm Action Group 
• Norbury Action Group 
• Cheshire East Market Towns networks 
• All Change for Crewe 

Page 230



• Winsford Community Forum 
• Huntington Parish Council 
• Utkinton Parish Council 
• Cheshire Association of Local Councils (Chalc) 
• Cheshire Community Action 
• Digital Champion Group (in excess of 50 town/parish councils and community 

groups) 
 
B1.11 Cheshire East Council has pledged a commitment to Raceonline2012 to support 
community engagement and to get citizens online. Over 12,000 people have been trained 
through the local libraries where people volunteer the time to train people on basic computer 
skills. 
 
B1.12 A workshop was held at the Cheshire West and Chester Rural Conference on 
23rd June 2011. This workshop was used as an engagement process, where members of the 
community who had attended the event could ask questions, input any foreseeable 
implications in their areas, and put forward their comments on the programme as a whole.  
The workshop went well and the questions and comments were recorded as part of the 
ongoing engagement log that has been set up within the project team.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SFB Workshop at Rural Conference 23/06/11 
 
B1.13 The team is acting as an aggregation point to understand the wants and needs 
of its businesses and residents. We have listened to our digital champions following the first 
event and have designed and developed a new version of the toolkit which has been sent 
out to the 60 digital champions who attended our introduction event on 25/10/11.  
 
 

 
Digital Champion Event 25/10/11 

 

Page 231



Department for Culture, Media and Sport 
BDUK Broadband Delivery Project  
 

B1.14 This event was done in partnership with Cheshire Community Action and 
Cheshire Association of Local Councils (ChALC).  We recognise that community groups are 
important to the development of the toolkit and will regularly review the documents to ensure 
they are still relevant.  The toolkit promotes digital champions in local area and will help 
communities raise awareness of the technology. 
 
B1.15  Since the various community engagements have taken place we have 
developed a digital champion engagement programme that aims to target areas that were 
not represented in the initial events and bring those who were together to discuss their 
progress. This engagement programme will see workshop events happening to develop 
community understanding of the need for broadband and how to develop demand in local 
communities.  
 
Focus: Public Sector  
 
B1.16 Superfast Broadband has been made a key indicator on which Cheshire East 
Council will judge its performance and is central to public sector decentralisation and 
localism agendas. 
 
B1.17 As well as looking externally from the council, the project team has been looking 
internally at how superfast broadband could be a key technology enabler which will drive 
transformational change. The transformational nature of a fast broadband connection to 
every home and business has resulted in access to superfast broadband being recognised 
as a corporate priority and a leading delivery objective of the Cheshire and Warrington Local 
Enterprise Partnership. It will transform customer access channels and will present new 
ways of working which to date has not been possible, revolutionising healthcare provision 
and lowering the cost of public sector engagement.  
 
B1.18 A public sector steering group is in place and a number of focus groups are 
scheduled to run in the coming months which will stimulate cross-department and cross-
public sector working. Engagement is well established with the following public sector 
organisations; 
 

• Cheshire East Council 
• Cheshire West Council 
• Warrington Borough Council 
• Cheshire PCT and NHS 
• Cheshire Fire and Rescue Services 
• Cheshire Police 
• Cheshire East MPs 
• BDUK and BIS 
• Cheshire East Local Strategic Partnership 
• Raceoneline2012 
• Cheshire and Warrington LEP 
• Broadband Stakeholders Group 

 
Focus: Telecommunications Market 
 
B1.19 The importance of stimulating and understanding the telecommunications market 
can not be underestimated. To this end the project team have been working very closely with 
telecommunications suppliers to encourage their investment into Cheshire and Warrington.  
 
B1.20 Dialogue, awareness building and engagement channels are open with the 
suppliers noted below. All suppliers are fully aware of the Cheshire and Warrington 

Page 232



broadband programme and were invited to the supplier day in May 2011, standing alongside 
local telecommunications companies. Vitesse Networks, Geo, BT, Fujitsu and Updata have 
all already indicated strong interest in the Cheshire and Warrington programme. The 
informal dialogue with all the suppliers listed over the last 18 months, and their excitement 
about being part of the project indicates a healthy competitive market for selecting an 
investment partner. 
 
Suppliers 
• Updata 
• BT Openreach 
• BT Global Services  
• Geo Networks 
• Fibre Speed  
• Boundless  

Communications 
• Networks by Wireless 
• Gridline Communications 

• Cable and Wireless 
• Virgin Media 
• Networks by Wireless 
• Vitesse Networks  
• Logicalis 
• Fujitsu  
• MLL Telecom 
• Network Extender 

• Cisco 
• Compendium 
• Gridline and 

Exstream 
• Kcom 
• Global Crossing 
• Rutland Telecomm 
• Acatel Lucent 
• Arelink 

 
B1.21 To ensure the project has a balanced view of the telecommunications market, 
and to keep pace of the fast changing world of broadband provision, the project team has 
engaged informally with a number of telecommunications consultants and advisors including; 
 

• ADIT North East • ADROIT economics 
• INCA • Action with Communities in Rural England (ACRE) 
• Regeneris • Broadband Stakeholder Group 
• Analysys Mason • Community Broadband Network (CBN) 
• Grey Sky • Independent Networks Cooperative Association (INCA) 

  
B2.     Demand registration 
 
Do you have evidence of demand from the following groups? 
 
-     consumers; 
 
-     small to medium enterprises (SMEs); 
 
-     communities; 
 
-     public sector organisations. 

 
Demand registration 
 
B2.1 Maximisation of demand registration of businesses and residents is central to the 
Cheshire and Warrington SFB programme and the project team has developed a demand 
registration site on the Connecting Cheshire website.  
 
B2.2  Activities undertaken by local community groups is being captured. For example 
the Wychwood action group found 75% of residents on the estate would pay for a better 
service after a self conducted survey of over 390 residents. A further example is the 
Bolesworth Estate who, as major rural landowners and commercial property owners are 
looking into ways to bring SFB and new businesses into the rural areas. These types of 
examples and case studies will be applied to demonstrate the demand and help stimulate 
the demand further. 

Page 233



Department for Culture, Media and Sport 
BDUK Broadband Delivery Project  
 

Case Study: Wychwood Action Group 
 
Wychwood Park consists of 390 houses on a 1000 acre, gated community. Members of this 
community wished to investigate an independent community led demand registration 
scheme. They developed; hand delivered and collated survey results which showed these 
houses have, at the highest, speeds of 2.98Mbps and the lowest 0.2Mpbs. The maximum 
upload speed is 0.5Mbps and the cost for these speeds per month ranged from £10 to £35. 
When the community members found that 75% of the residents would change their internet 
provider for a better service it led them to the position they are in now. Wychwood Park 
members are currently liaising with Cheshire East council, Internet Service Providers and 
other nearby communities with an aim to bring superfast broadband to their community. 
This is a real example of community led demand registration.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Business demand Survey 
 
B2.3 A series of SFB related questions were included in the area wide business 
survey recently undertaken for the Cheshire and Warrington Economic Development 
Strategy. The results have identified a high demand for high speed broadband in order to 
address a barrier to their growth, with 37% of the information and communication sector 
citing broadband coverage as a barrier to growth in the Cheshire and Warrington Business 
Needs survey (April 2011) 
 
SFB demand by Sector 

Case Study:  The Bolesworth Estate 

The Bolesworth Estate is a 6,000 acre estate centred on the villages of Tattenhall, 
Burwardsley and Harthill. The Estate has pioneered the provision of rural employment 
space and now has over 125 businesses located within its buildings. This arrangement 
was working well until a large business wanted to move to one of the offices on the site 
and needed a broadband speed of at least 40Mbps.  The Bolesworth Estate quickly 
began exploring the options available and discovered that with being the land owner, they 
could connect businesses on their estate with fibre optic cables in a self dig set up.  This 
could provide numerous benefits; offices that are paying large costs to get broadband 
could see their outgoing costs reduced if the estate begin to manage the broadband 
connection, and endless opportunities could arise if the faster speeds are offered in a 
rural location.  

Page 234



Case Study:  Peter Wilson Antiques – Nantwich 
 
Peter Wilson is an Auction house situated in Nantwich. This is a SME business that 
has been trying to compete with other auction houses and expand the selling 
potential of auction lots by using a real time auction website, meaning people on a 
global scale can bid for items.  They have been severely struggling with their internet 
connection which is intermittent and slow.  Their connection impacts then in terms of 
the time it takes to uploading images of lots, having that crucial reliable and resilient 
connection whilst the bid is in process and being online to carry through the 
transaction process once the hammer has fallen.  

 

Cheshire and Warrington Business Needs survey (April 2011) 
 

Rural Demand Workshops 
 
B2.4 To address the needs of rural communities, a focused rural consultation process 
has been undertaken. Five workshops were held, each lasting for approximately two hours 
on the following dates and venues:  
 

• Frodsham, Castle Park 26th October 2010  
• Tarporley, Community Centre 28th October 2010  
• Malpas, Jubilee Hall 2nd November 2010  
• Neston, Town Hall 3rd November 2010  
• Byley, Village Hall 3rd November 2010  

 
B2.5 The workshops were attended by representatives from Town and Parish 
Councils, Local Area Partnerships of the Local Strategic Partnership and a wide range of 
local service partners such as the Police, Primary Care Trusts, Education bodies and 
voluntary sector. The consensus view of the workshops, as outlined in the priority ranking 
exercise, was that internet speeds are currently too slow and represent a real barrier to 
social and economic inclusion for rural areas. The impact of poor connectivity was 
recognised in terms of:  

• Constraining businesses’ activity, particularly those in knowledge based sectors, and 
undermining the competitiveness of areas remote from the urban fringe;  

• Limiting access to information and services provided by the local authority;  

 

Page 235



Department for Culture, Media and Sport 
BDUK Broadband Delivery Project  
 

• Limiting the capability of students living in rural areas to access educational 
resources;  

• Undermining rural sustainability, as local communities are forced to travel to access 
employment and services;  

• Reducing the attractiveness of rural areas for younger groups;  
• Putting remote communities at risk of becoming even more peripheral.  

 
B2.6 Group discussions emphasised the opportunities associated with the provision of 
high speed internet access, with real growth potential as a consequence of having highly 
qualified resident population and a significant number of small businesses. It was also 
highlighted that higher speeds and improved reliability could promote home working, with 
clear sustainability benefits in terms of reducing out-commuting, retaining a higher day time 
population and, potentially, securing a higher level of spend within local services. 
 
B2.7 A priority ranking exercise was undertaken to provide an indication of the relative 
importance attached to a range of issues. Participants were given the opportunity to rate a 
range of issues from 1 (not at all important) to 10 (very important). Some 104 survey 
responses were collected from across the five workshops. The need for universal access to 
broadband was registered in the top quartile. 
B3.     Stakeholders  
 
Please note, the broadband investment must deliver services to those users who currently do not have access to 
broadband.  The wider public sector (hospitals, schools) and the needs of the business community and individual 
communities need to be considered.  Please outline your approach to date and future plans for stakeholder 
consultation, communication and engagement.  This section should include a list of partners who support the bid 
including, tier 2 authorities, businesses and community organisations. 
 
Please state the steps you plan to take with the successful bidder to work with stakeholders in identifying 
opportunities to reduce any streetworks related disruption, e.g. through co-coordinating rollout with other planned 
works. 
 
Please also describe what steps have been taken to inform elected Members of the proposal, including any 
corporate impact it may have, and the level of commitment to this bid and the project gained to date. 

 
B3.1 A wide range of stakeholders are actively involved with the Cheshire and 
Warrington project. The submission is with full support from the following bodies. 
 
• Cheshire and Warrington LEP 
• Cheshire East Council 
• Cheshire West and Chester Council 
• Warrington Borough Council 
• Cheshire and Warrington Rural Partnership 
• Cheshire Community Action 
• Cheshire Association of Local Councils 
• Bolesworth Estate 
• Grosvenor Estate 
• Lower Peover action group 
• Rainow SFB action group 
• The bid is further supported by all the bodies registered under B2 
 
Stakeholder input into Local Broadband Plan  
 
B3.2 A comprehensive engagement programme has been established for the 
stakeholders who have an interest or play a part in the broadband programme. The project 
team is using this programme to manage stakeholders appropriately and is fully connected 

Page 236



Case Study – Independent living using ICT technologies 
DemenShare.com is an online peer support network for people who are living with 
dementia in central and east Cheshire. It will answer questions and put people in touch 
with others to get the local support and advice they need, when they need it. 
DemenShare.com aims to encourage independent living through friendship and mutual 
support. 
 
It has been developed in partnership by Cheshire East Council, Central and Eastern 
Cheshire PCT, Age UK Cheshire and Opportunity Links. DemenShare.com is supported 
by Efficiency and Transformation Capital funding from Local Government Improvement 
and Development. 
 
A Telecare pilot is running where some of the most vulnerable members of the 
community have been able to remain in the security of their own homes, with access to a 
support worker through the internet.  

to the Sustainable Towns programme and Local Area Partnerships under the Sustainable 
Communities umbrella. 
 
B3.3 The engagement programme has been highly successful both with citizens and 
businesses external to the local authority(s) and internal to the various business services, 
ensuring that broadband is recognised as a corporate priority which everyone can benefit 
from. 
 
Successful bidder relationship with stakeholders 
 
B3.4 The Cheshire and Warrington Connecting Cheshire Partnership will provide the 
framework to ensure that SFB provision is for the people and businesses of Cheshire and 
Warrington; not to them. This will put local communities and SMEs at the centre of the 
deployment programme by: 
 

• Inclusive representation for the local community and business community in the 
project board 

• Registering local community and business  demand/requirements 
• Tailoring local deployment plans to accommodate local wants and needs 
• Encourage ‘self help’ connectivity models to a digital ‘village pump’  
• Encourage the local communities and businesses to participate in action learning 

sets to resolve localised deployment/take up issues 
• Implement a public/private partnership superfast broadband stimulation and take up 

programme for businesses and residents. 
• Ensure the benefits of broadband are central to the transformation agenda of the 

public sector by providing a series of action plans demonstrating how the technology 
will support new ways of working, such as customer access and Telehealth. 

 

 
Supporting delivery 
 
B3.5  The project is engaged with the planning process and is also engaging with the 
Countryside Alliance and major land holders to both support future wayleave and access 
requirements for the delivery of broadband services. For example Boleworth Estate, 
Grosvenor Estate and NLP. The Project Team includes a suitably qualified project officer to 

Page 237



Department for Culture, Media and Sport 
BDUK Broadband Delivery Project  
 

lead on the delivery of this element of our Plan and liaise with planning teams, as part of a 
wider engagement role. 
 
B3.6 The project team has active dialogue with British Waterways regarding the use of 
its canal corridors as a distribution network for new broadband infrastructure. Cheshire has a 
fantastic network of waterways which offer soft dig opportunities.   
 
Street works and future-proof development 
 
B3.7 The three constituent partners to the Cheshire and Warrington SFB programme 
are unitary authorities with attendant responsibility and control for street work licences. All 
future streetworks will be proofed for SFB requirements in accordance with the overall 
Cheshire and Warrington SFB programme.  
 
B3.8 The core strategies and Local plans for the three authorities will be developed 
under guidance and direction provided by the Cheshire and Warrington SFB project team to 
meet, at a minimum the requirements of : ‘Data Ducting Infrastructure for New Homes: 
Guidance Note (DCLG March 2008)’ and ‘PAS 2016:2010 – Next generation access for new 
build homes guide (BIS & BSI Dec 2010)’ These coordinated actions will minimise disruption 
of street works and maximise planning gain. 
 
Elected Member Engagement 
 
B3.9 Elected Members and local MPs in Cheshire and Warrington have been 
engaged in the development of the Cheshire and Warrington SFB programme. Regular 
updates have been made to respective councils, MPs and Local Strategic Partnerships, and 
Local Enterprise Partnership. All parties are fully committed to the broadband programme 
and it has their full endorsement. This is demonstrated by; 
 

• Regular dialogue with David Rutley MP, Graham Evans MP,  Edward Timpson MP, 
David Mowat MP, Derek Twigg MP, Fiona Bruce MP and George Osborne MP 

• Regular briefings to the councils of Cheshire East Council, Cheshire West & Chester 
Council and Warrington Borough Council. 

• Endorsement and Support from the Cheshire East Local Strategic Partnership 
demonstrated by the sustainable community strategy. 

• Cheshire East Council has adopted broadband coverage as one of its core indictors 
on which the council will judge its performance. 

• The Cheshire and Warrington LEP have made broadband a priority. 
• Recognition by local authority transformational teams that broadband is a central 

enabler to their business transformation agenda, supporting public sector reform. 
• Rural Broadband is being championed by local MPs and Councillors at a national 

level with Fiona Bruce MP leading a Westminster Hall Rural Broadband debate on 
19th October 2011 

 
SECTION C – FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
 
C1.     Funding Requirements 
 

Please provide an indication of the total funding required to deliver the Local Broadband Plan (LBP) and a 
breakdown of how you expect this funding will be phased from 2011-2012 to 2014-2015 (in the funding table 
below) and any anticipated funding in 2015-2016 and 2016-2017.  Where a Plan is being delivered through a 
phased project, or one or more projects, then Local Bodies should separately state the firm amount funding that 
is being requested for the initial phase and the indicative funding required for future phases.  The degree of 
interdependency of the phases should be described. 
 

Please describe this in relation to the total funding set out in the funding table below.  Local Bodies should allow 
sufficient time to develop projects and award contracts to suppliers before draw down of funds related to 

Page 238



implementation.  BDUK will want to understand what match funding (ERDF/Private Sector/Local Authorities) has 
been identified and the status of the funding. 
 

BDUK acknowledges the challenges that local bodies have in developing a robust funding profile at this stage.  
Please outline any areas of uncertainty around funding and key factors which may influence both the level and 
timing of funding required.   
 

Please also note that BDUK expect that capital contributions from Local Bodies will be reflected in corporate 
capital programme planning processes.   
 

Finance Plan 
 
C1.1 The commercial model for the Cheshire and Warrington broadband programme 
is based on blended public sector finances including grant award, matched with an equal or 
greater commitment from a private sector investment partner(s). 
 
C1.2 Our plan includes three inter-related elements: delivering a broadband network 
(capital), managing procurement and delivery (revenue), and a demand stimulation 
programme (revenue). To deliver our Plan to 2015 a BDUK contribution to the capital costs 
is required. The revenue elements of our programme are fully funded by approved local 
authority contributions to 2015. Our programme works to deliver on two twin-track objectives: 
• deliver 90% superfast broadband coverage by 2015.  
• maintaining a parallel focus on providing for the enhanced target to achieve 100% 

provision by 2015 
Project Objective: 90% coverage  
 
C1.3 The 2012-2015 business plans for the four partner authorities have allocated an 
investment of £3.94 million for capital expenditure and c£1 million for revenue for project 
costs.  
 
C1.4 Modelling based on BDUK data projects that the cost to achieve 90% coverage 
will be £12.96 million. This will provide for the connection of over 90,000 premises and will 
increase coverage of superfast broadband from 67% of premises to 90% across the 
programme area.  
 
C1.5 The total capital investment fund of £12.96 million has been identified to 
implement BDUK 90% SFB coverage.  
• £6.48 million of match funding from the successful bidder(s) (subject to contract)  
• £3.24 million from BDUK  
• £3.24 million of match from Local Authorities 
 
C1.6 The Local Authorities have allowed for an additional £1.4 million to address the 
projected 20% infill within current SFB areas; to be 50% matched by private sector telecom. 
 
C1.7 The capital contributions from the local authorities are reflected in their corporate 
business plans and are duly authorised.  
 
C1.8 Further capitalised revenue expenditure of £1.6 million from the local authorities 
to cover project management, demand stimulation and business support has been confirmed 
in the 2012-15 corporate business Plans  
 
Programme Vision: 100% coverage  
 
C1.9 Additional funding to the BDUK and private sector investment is being sought 
from the ERDF programme where an active call is in progress, with a projected award date 
being autumn 2012. Dialogue with the DCLG North west ERDF programme team has 

Page 239



Department for Culture, Media and Sport 
BDUK Broadband Delivery Project  
 

resulted in an investment to support the roll out of super fast broadband and adoption of ICT 
by businesses.  
 
C1.10 The ERDF programme has the potential to provide further capital and revenue 
funding from ERDF to provide for  extended infrastructure deployment and an enhanced 
supporting demand stimulation programme for SME enabled businesses.  
 
C1.11 The capital funding will deliver SFB connectivity to 11,100 SMEs in market failure 
areas while the revenue will provide an enhanced package of support to businesses to adopt 
broadband services with free tutorials, business support and training to equip all businesses 
to ensure the maximum utilisation and realisation of economic benefit from the SFB 
infrastructure investment.  
 
C1.12 c£410K has been secured from the Rural Development Programme for England 
(RDPE) for a rural broadband fund which will contribute towards the broadband programme 
in Cheshire and Warrington. This money will be used to support the take-up of superfast 
broadband services for businesses in deep rural areas beyond the 90% limit. 
 
C1.13 It is noted that the ERDF funding is predicated on match funding being in place. 
This will require the funding process for the Local Broadband Plan to progress in parallel to 
the ERDF process.  
 

Page 240



Funding Table  
Total funding required 
(GBP) 

2011-
2012 

2012-
2013 

2013-
2014 

2014-
2015    

2015-
2016 

2016-
2017 

£ millions millions millions millions millions millions 
Private sector (Telecom 
Company) 90% investment 

0 2.16 4.32    

Private sector (Telecom) 
Infill investment 

 0.35 0.35    

Private sector (Telecom) 
ERDF infrastructure 

 2.50 4.0 5.00   

Private sector (Telecom) 
RDPE infrastructure 

 0.41     

Sub Total 90%  2.51 4.67 0.00   
Sub total 100%  5.42 8.67 5.00   
BDUK funding 
Other funding 
 (Local Authority 90% 
(confirmed) 
Local authority Infill 
(confirmed) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

1.08 
 
1.08 
 
0.35 
 

2.16 
 
2.16 
 
0.35 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Sub total 90%  2.51 4.67 0.00   
Other funding  
Local Authority project 
management 
Local Authority 
Business support 
ERDF Infrastructure 
(subject to agreement)  

 
 
 

 
0.39 
 
0.218 
 
2.50 

 
0.21 
 
0.218 
 
4.00 

 
0.21 
 
0.218 
 
5.00 

 
0.14 
 
 
 
 

 

ERDF Business support 
(subject to agreement 

 0.218 0.218  0.218  

RDPE infrastructure 
(subject to agreement) 
 
Sub total 90% 
Sub total 100% 
 

 0.41 
 
 
0.39 
3.736 

 
 
 
0.21 
4.646 

  
 
 
0.21 0.14 
5.646 0.14 

 

TOTAL 90% 
TOTAL 100% 

 5.41 
11.666 

9.55 
17.986 

 0.21 0.14 
10.646 0.14 

 
 

 
 
number of postcodes 
covered by the funding 
 
 
Number of premises   

White Areas 
 

Residential 
Non Residential 

 
 
9,000  
(all white 
areas) 
 
107,212 
 
89,647 
17,565 

  Grand total 90% = 15.31
  Grand total 100%= 40.438 

NB:  
1. Costed to allow for inclusion of Halton within project scope 
2. Number of postcodes data is based on Ordnance Survey data source 
3. Number of premises impacted is based on BT line area & Business Link data source 

4. ERDF grant funding to provide for business stimulation package.

Page 241



Department for Culture, Media and Sport 
BDUK Broadband Delivery Project  
 

 
Detailed Local Authority Spend Profile (90% Coverage) 
 
 
Estimated Spend 
Profile (90% Coverage) 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 Total 

Cheshire East £395,610 £631,402 £70,136 £84,735 £1,181,883 
Cheshire West and Chester £809,438 £1,331,668 £101,425 £131,668 £2,374,199 
Halton £312,303 £479,365 £66,556 £79,365 £937,589 
Warrington £349,733 £557,981 £65,633 £77,981 £1,051,329 

Total £1,867,083 £3,000,417 £303,750 £373,750 £5,545,000 
 
 
C2.     Funding Structure  
 
Please provide any further details regarding the proposed technical solution, why it is 
expected to be appropriate for meeting the project objectives and any justification for the 
costs proposed above.  
Please describe how the capital funding above is to be spent and who would own the 
infrastructure.  For example, do you propose to lease equipment from the private sector 
contractor (cabinets) or own the capital investment (laying cable, installing wireless)?  
 
Choice of Technologies 
 
C2.1 It is expected last mile superfast broadband services will be provisioned using 
technology which is future proof to meet and exceed targets set by the government by 2015 
and European Union by 2020.  
 
C2.2 While remaining technically neutral (to conform with state aid legislation) it is 
preferable the chosen technical solution uses fibre technologies as the primary method of 
choice for last mile delivery, given its ability to scale in capacity compared with wireless and 
copper based media.  Equally it is recognised it may be cost prohibitive and unnecessary to 
deploy end-to-end fibre to all premises in Cheshire and Warrington and therefore it is 
expected the final technical solution will be a mixture of fibre, copper and wireless 
technologies which will make both the deployment and service provision to the end user cost 
effective. We recognise that the competitive dialogue within the mini competition will 
determine the precise mix of technologies deployed 
 
C2.3 Cheshire and Warrington benefits from a large number of carrier providers 
owning high capacity backhaul infrastructure in the local area. The last mile superfast 
broadband infrastructure will be designed and contracted to connect to suitable capacity 
backhaul infrastructure. 
 
Technology Deployment 
 
C2.4 A number of technical deployment scenarios are being considered, including;  

• Greatest need (most deprived): deep rural first working backward to the more 
urban area. 

• Premise type: Businesses and residents may have different technical solutions to 
meet their needs 

• Return on investment:  Areas of greatest population/business density first. 
• Complementary Technology: an adjacency model to existing areas of superfast 

broadband deployment or existing broadband infrastructure. 

Page 242



• Hot Spots: Deployment based on demand from local communities and businesses. 
• Reusing existing assets: using existing assets such as public sector networks, 

public sector land and property assets, brine pipelines, canal/waterways network, 
road and rail infrastructure corridors.   

• Community Broadband: local community lead deployment projects integrating with 
strategic provision. 

 
C2.5 The local authority preference is to connect all business and residential premises 
in the deep rural areas as a priority. The final deployment model will be agreed with the 
selected implementation partner(s) and could involve one or more of these deployment 
models. Wherever possible reuse of existing assets will be encouraged as this will lower 
deployment costs and could reduce the time to market.  
 
Access to Services: 
 
C2.6 It is proposed that broadband services will be open access at a passive and 
active level to encourage market competition, this will maximise customer choice and ensure 
a competitively priced market for service provision by internet service providers. 
 
C2.7 Conforming with OFCOM legislation mandated on the telecommunications sector 
signification market powers, the contract will provide for the physical and passive 
infrastructure to be open to stimulate market competition.  
 
Justification of Costs Proposed 
 
C2.8 The indicative cost to provision future proof superfast broadband to remote/rural 
areas is typically £1000/property (Broadband Stakeholder Group). Modelling completed by 
the project team with a leading telecommunications superfast broadband provider (BT) 
indicates 100% coverage in Cheshire and Warrington could be achieved by as low as £300 
per premise, therefore the best case scenario would be that BDUK grant fund contribute 
between 1/6th of the total value required to fund the project.  
 
How will the Capital investment be spent: 
 
C2.9 The proposed financial model is built on public sector gap funding to stimulate 
the private sector to invest in the delivery of superfast broadband services to Cheshire and 
Warrington. 
 
C2.10 The sustainable commercial model to deliver universal superfast broadband is 
built on private sector provisioning broadband services to citizens and businesses. The 
private sector partner(s) will own and manage the infrastructure. This model supports 
public sector reform, allowing the public sector to focus on delivering core services to its 
citizens, while jobs are created in the private sector.  
 
Managing Risk 
 
C2.11 Working to the BDUK framework model will provide suitable due diligence, both 
in terms of value for money and delivery. Onward management and revenue risks will be 
met by commercial sector service providers.  
 
C2.12 The project team will have corporate access to all necessary legal and financial 
support for the management of the project. 
 
C2.13 Compliance with State Aid legislation will be tightly managed with the strategic 
investment partner. 

Page 243



Department for Culture, Media and Sport 
BDUK Broadband Delivery Project  
 

 
SECTION D – COMMERCIAL INFORMATION 
 
D1. Commercial Case 
 
Please describe the commercial models which are being considered in order to deliver this 
project.  BDUK anticipates a gap fund model will be preferred by most local bodies, but 
recognises other models may provide better value for money to achieve a local body’s 
objectives.  If other models are under consideration, please explain the rationale for adopting 
this approach.  
 
The Final 3rd 
 
D1.1 This BDUK submission is a complementary action to SFB provision which has 
been secured by promoting the commercial market to accelerate its investment in areas 
where there is a demonstrable financial case to do so. Public funding is being sought to 
support the deployment of SFB in areas where there is a genuine requirement for 
government intervention. This “push and pull” approach will maximise the investment 
opportunities across the public and private sectors and will accelerate the realisation of our 
superfast broadband delivery objectives.  
 
Effective gap funding 
 
D1.2 A number of commercial models have been considered within the context of the 
programme, with the council recognising that it does not have the expertise to set-up and 
fully manage its own telecoms business and that such an approach would be a high risk 
compared to a gap funded approach. At the present stage within the programme a gap 
funding model for infrastructure that is built, owned and operated by the contractor is 
deemed to be the most suitable approach for the council. The gap funded model is 
dependent upon good levels of market take-up and would be incumbent upon both the 
Council and the service provider to generate this demand. 
 
D1.3 In recognition of the value of the revenue stream that the asset will generate, the 
Council expects substantial gap funding from a successful supplier. Informal research 
indicates this is an achievable expectation and is consequently reflected in our funding 
model.

Page 244



 
 
D2.     Market engagement 
 
Please note:  Local bodies are reminded that while early market engagement is considered good practice, under 
European procurement law it must be undertaken on an open and transparent basis, with suppliers treated with 
fairness, equality and in a non-discriminatory way.  It is therefore important to develop a strategy and plan to 
control, ensure consistency and record what is being communicated to the market before commencement of a 
formal procurement process. 
 
The level of ‘market testing’ that is appropriate at this stage would depend on the uniqueness of any requirement 
that is being investigated by the local body.  BDUK maintains relationships with major UK suppliers to inform 
them about the programme pipeline and to understand their UK plans.  However, consultation by a local body 
with local suppliers about their plans will be necessary to justify intervention in ‘white’ State aid areas. 
 
Please describe any research already undertaken to understand who the potential local providers are, what their 
existing footprint is and what their three-year plans are for the area.  Please also describe how you plan to 
engage with the market if you are successful in securing funding for your project. 

 
Market Engagement 
 
D2.1 The project team has been working very closely with telecommunications 
suppliers such as BT, Virgin Media and Fibrespeed who have a significant market presence 
in Cheshire and Warrington area to maximise their investment in the area. BT Global 
Services have been encouraged to deploy their superfast broadband services to a significant 
number of Cheshire and Warrington exchanges as part of their primary rollout phases, and 
we are actively working with Virgin Media and Fibrespeed to increase their market presence 
in the area. 
 
D2.2 The project team has been in contact with a wide range of both local and 
national telecommunications providers. Dialogue, awareness building and engagement 
channels are open with the suppliers shown below.  
 
Suppliers 

• Updata 
• BT Openreach 
• BT Global Services  
• Geo Networks 
• Fibre Speed  
• Boundless  

Communications 
• Acatel Lucent 
• broadband anywhere 

 

• Cable and Wireless 
• Virgin Media 
• Networks by Wireless 
• Vtesse Networks  
• Logicalis 
• Fujitsu  
• MLL Telecom 
• Arelink 
• ITS 

 

• Cisco 
• Compendium 
• Gridline and 

Exstream 
• Kcom 
• Global Crossing 
• Rutland Telecomm 
• Fibre Solutions 
• Intellect 

D2.3 All suppliers are fully aware of the Cheshire and Warrington broadband 
programme and participated in the Cheshire and Warrington local broadband day held on 
24th June 2011.  
 
D2.4 In the interests of being fair and equitable all engagements are taking place in a 
fully transparent and open nature. This will ensure the procurement/state aid process is 
competently followed.  
 
D2.5 All supplier engagements conducted so far have been held under guidance from 
internal legal/procurement teams. The project in adherence with Prince2 project 
methodology adopted ensures all meeting are formally recorded and requests for 
information\action are registered. 
 

Page 245



Department for Culture, Media and Sport 
BDUK Broadband Delivery Project  
 

D2.6 Mapping of broadband infrastructure across Cheshire and Warrington has been 
completed using data provided from the major telecommunications providers and local 
infrastructure services providers. This mapping shows their planned investment over the 
next three years. Further details can be seen in Map 3.4 
 
Knowledge Sharing and Research 
 
D2.7 The project team has had regular dialogue with a number of broadband industry 
experts and consultants to act as a sounding board for the project development. These 
include Regeneris, Adroit, SQW and Analysis Mason. 
 
D2.8  The project team has developed a knowledge sharing partnership with other 
localities taking forwards broadband initiatives. Parties involved in this partnership include; 
New Economy Manchester, Manchester MDDA, INCA, Wirral Council, Suffolk Council, 
Lancashire Council, Cumbria Council, and Shropshire Council. 
 
D2.9  It is from this knowledge sharing partnership that experiences and expertises are 
being shared which is reducing the cost, time and complexity of delivering our local 
broadband project. 
 
D3.     Procurement Strategy  
 
It is expected that the Local Authority will procure a private sector broadband partner.  Outline your procurement 
and delivery options: 
 

-     outline the approach to procuring a broadband partner, how will you go about  
 

       procurement and what methodology will you follow (eg competitive dialogue?) 
 

-     are you procuring more than one delivery partner? 
 

-     will you enter into a contract or some form Public Private Partnership (such as a joint venture company)? 
 

-     how will you ensure delivery at a local level? 
 

-     what would be the procurement evaluation criteria? 
 

-     how will you assess value for money? 

 
Procurement Approach 
 
D3.1 The objective of the procurement process is to maximise the investment of a 
private sector partner(s) making best value of public sector funding. To this end, the potential 
partners will be invited to provide costs for their proposal and to indicate the volume of public 
sector match required, in the form of a mini competition from within the BDUK framework. 
 
D3.2 The delivery will be undertaken by the winning bidder using their internal 
resources to support the infrastructure and project management for deployment. Local 
Authority support will be provided to identify and support the phasing and rollout priorities 
across the county and monitor progress against set targets.  
 
D3.3 Considerable experience exists within council procurement, legal and 
programme management teams to engage with BDUK with the Framework. These teams 
are already embedded into the Connecting Cheshire Programme. Evaluation of a technical 
nature of the tender or mini call-off proposals will be provided from the council’s Corporate IT 
department which has telecoms specialism’s and this would be supported by specific 
consultancy if required.  
 
D3.4 The programme will be staffed and resourced until 2016 and will be funded from 
the £0.95 million revenue budget of the programme with an opportunity to continue past this 

Page 246



date. Support for this theme of the programme will also be a requirement of the successful 
bidder, in particular supporting business to adopt technologies that are supported through 
high speed connectivity. 
 
Delivery at a local level 
 
D3.5 The Cheshire and Warrington Connecting Cheshire Partnership will work with 
the  contracted  strategic partner(s) in final solution design to influence the investment 
priorities to match local economic\broadband requirements through a combination defining 
local project requirement and call-off negotiation.  
 
Procurement Evaluation Criteria 
 
D3.6 The weighted evaluation criteria for procurement would be based on a 
combination of the metrics below. These will be further aligned with additional guidance 
offered through BDUK: 
 

• Coverage & Rollout 
o Percentage of fibre deployment (FTTP) 
o Percentage of copper deployment (FTTC) 
o Percentage of wireless deployment  
o Backhaul Capacity 
o Scalability and future proof items above  
o Reuse of existing infrastructure  

(links to previous programmes of work) 
o Ability to service the PSN agenda 

(Connectivity, Integrity and Security) 
 

• Service offered to the market 
o Number of service providers 
o The cost of end services – businesses / residents 
o The SLAs of the service – businesses / residents 

 
• Coverage 

o Percentage of Cheshire and Warrington covered 
§ Businesses 
§ Residential 

 
• Project Financing 

o Supplier capital investment  
o Supplier experience  
o Supplier commitment to invest in the infrastructure going forwards 

 
• Connectivity 

o Measurement of capacity  
(Contention ratios – cabinet level, exchange level & Backhaul)  

o Measurement of latency 
o Uplift broadband connectivity  

 
• Deployment 

o Time to Market 
o Rollout schedule  
o Capacity to deliver  
o Experience of State Aid  

Page 247



Department for Culture, Media and Sport 
BDUK Broadband Delivery Project  
 

o Strength of Customer References\Site Visits 
o Experience of collaborative of working with Local Authorities  
o Creation and use of apprenticeships   

 
• Marketing & Demand Stimulation support 

o Marketing Budget 
o Marketing Plan  
o Marketing Activities for Businesses 

 
Value for Money assessment 
 
D3.7 The project will look to the implementation partner to offer best value. This will be 
assessed against, but not limited to, the following principles. These will be fully developed 
and agreed as part of the procurement process. 
 

                             Gap Fund Cost                        . 
SFB VfM     =   Uplift in SFB Provision + Take-up of SFB services  
(where take up of services reflects measure and monitor items in E3)  

 
SECTION E – DELIVERABILITY 
 
E1.     Project management, resourcing and funding   
 
Please describe how this Project will be managed and the budget you will set aside for advisors, project team 
costs and demand stimulation work in the table below. 
 
Delivering a broadband investment programme is complex and time consuming.  You will need to set out: 
 
-     your proposed resource(s) and structure(s) to deliver the programme; 
 
-     governance arrangements you propose to put in place.  This should include project board, project sponsor, 

steering group, decision making protocol; performance management, quality assurance and monitoring and 
evaluation approach; 

 
-     a project management structure diagram and supporting detail (named full time project manager, internal 

resources, skills, capacity); 
 
-     any external support needed (eg will advisors be engaged?); 
 
-     any additional needs identified that the local body is expecting BDUK to provide; 
 
-     the project/programme management methodology you propose to use (eg PRINCE2/MSP);   
 
-     confirmation that sufficient resources and a quantifiable budget will be in place to procure the proposed 

broadband investment. 
 
Programme Design 
 
E1.1 The business model works to three key themes, whereby under ‘enable’ the 
case for private sector investment is promoted for areas where there is a demonstrable 
financial case to do so, and public funding is sought to support the deployment of superfast 
broadband infrastructure in areas where there is a genuine requirement for government 
intervention.  
 

Page 248



 
 
E1.2 The scope of the  ‘exploit’ and ‘engage’ strands on the business model are 
central to the Local Authority Transformation programmes  and will be utilised to deliver on a 
wide range of service delivery objectives including customer access, health and wellbeing, 
local communities, and climate change. 
 
Programme Governance  
 
E1.3 The Cheshire and Warrington superfast broadband project is being managed as 
a collaborative project between the three local authorities of Cheshire East Council, Chester 
West and Chester Council and Warrington Council. Cheshire East Council is the 
accountable body for the project and a tri-party contract is in place between the authorities to 
bind and underpin the partnership.  
 
E1.4 A dedicated board will be responsible for the delivery of the project and it will be 
chaired by Julian Cobley as the project executive under the Cheshire and Warrington LEP. 
At its core the board will include the economic directors of the three local authorities, the 
managing director of the Cheshire and Warrington Economic Commission, and the 
managing director of Marketing Cheshire, plus a senior sponsor from the Cheshire and 
Warrington LEP, and senior representation from the local community and business 
community.  Selection of its members has been made on their ability to represent the diverse 
spectrum of stakeholders likely to benefit from superfast broadband. 
 
E1.5 A network of community broadband champions will support the project team for 
the dissemination of knowledge. Action plans have been put in place to realise the benefits 
of superfast broadband.     
 
E1.6 A visual representation of the programme governance structure can be seen 
over 

Page 249



Department for Culture, Media and Sport 
BDUK Broadband Delivery Project  
 

 
 
Project Resources  
 
E1.7 The project team is in place, suitably resourced and working to deliver against 
the business model. The team comprises of high calibre individuals selected from across 
each of the councils with knowledge and experience in their specific area of expertise, 
including communications, technical, and administration from the three local authorities. The 
project is supported by an internal resource pool of specialist knowledge and skills including 
legal, procurement. 
 
Project Team and programme resource funding table 
 2012-2013 2013-2014 2014-2015 2015-2016 total 
Project management, incl 
demand stimulation 

200,000 250,000 250,000 250,000 950,000 

Business support 125,000 125,000 125,000 125,000 500,000 
      
Totals 325,000 325,000 375,000 375,000 1,400,000 
 
E1.8 The project team comprises of four key workstreams – procurement, funding, 
state aid and engagement with each having a lead officer. The team work to a matrix 
management structure to provide capacity to each work stream as required. 
 
E1.9  The structure chart below is a visual representation of how the project team 
resource structure and includes names of the individuals in the team. Full details of roles and 
responsibilities can be provided on request. 
 
 

Page 250



 
 
External Support 
 
E1.10 The core team will be complemented by contracted external resources to provide 
the following discrete activities 
 
• Demand stimulation: Marketing Cheshire, as the lead marketing body for Cheshire and 

Warrington, have been commissioned to lead on the external promotion of SFB. 
• State Aid: The work to align the Cheshire and Warrington project with the BDUK State 

Aid umbrella notification will be undertaken by contracted consultants 
• Business support: The C&W LEP have committed to lead on the development of a 

comprehensive business support package 
• ERDF: The ERDF submission is being progressed as a parallel activity with contracted 

resources to cover additional project design activities over and above the scope of the 
Local Broadband Plan 

 
Interface to BDUK 
  
E1.11 The project team has been designed to dovetail with the BDUK delivery 
programme as a sub-project. Julian Cobley is the primary point of contact to BDUK. 
The Cheshire and Warrington partnership intend to deliver its project through the BDUK 
framework and as such it is expected BDUK will assist with the application of State Aid and 
to act as a centre of excellence using the Huddle site for the sharing of procurement 
knowledge and standardised documentation. 
 
E1.12  No additional needs of BDUK are required over and above those outlined in 
paragraph E1.11.  

Page 251



Department for Culture, Media and Sport 
BDUK Broadband Delivery Project  
 

 
Project Control 
 
E1.13 A monitoring and control strategy will be put in place given that the Cheshire and 
Warrington project is largely reliant on public sector grant funding which have specific output 
criteria. The monitoring and control strategy will include a framework to track and record 
process built on the BDUK programme monitoring framework. 
 
E1.14 A number of control measures are in place to ensure the project is delivered on 
time, within budget and to mitigate risk including;  
:  

• Prince2 project Management 
• MSP Programme management  
• Quality Processes/Procedures (certified to ISO 9001) 
• Audit and scrutiny 
• Industry best practice in deployment of SFB infrastructure 
• Conformance to State Aid regulation 
• Internal risk management  
• Performance management framework and SLAs 
• Internal procurement management procedures 
• Establish corporate cross matrix project team with supplier embedded into core PM 

team.  
 
E1.15 Day to day decision making will take place within the project team lead by the 
project executive. Key decisions will be taken to the project board. 
 
 

Page 252



E2.     Timetable  
The Local Broadband Plan should set out the approach for improving broadband 
infrastructure within the whole of the local body’s area.  This is likely to involve a  
multi-phased project to be implemented between now and 2015.  It should include both 
upgrades to superfast access and ensuring that everyone can get a basic level of service.   
A timetable (see table below for completion) needs to be outlined for the initial phase of the 
programme.  Please also identify any critical path (dependencies, external factors, EU 
Funding etc) which might affect the timetable.  An indicative plan should be developed for 
the later phases of the project.  It is critical that this planning is aligned with the indication of 
likely funding requirements. 
 

 Work 
Stream 

 
Key milestone* 

 

Expected  
Date Status 

 §  
 Project Start-Up Apr 2010 ü  

1 Policy  Project approval by tri-council  partnership   Nov 2010 ü  

2 Marketing  Start of Market Demand Stimulation Jun 2010 ü  

3 Funding  RDPE Expression Of Interest submission  Aug 2010 ü  

4 Funding  RDPE Bid Re-Submission - £1.8M  Sep 2011 ü  

5 Funding  BDUK Wave 1 submission  
(Expression Of Interest)   Dec 2010 ü  

6 Funding  RDPE Bid Re-Submission – 500 Euro  Dec 2010 ü  

7 Funding  Regional Growth Fund Submission Jan 2011 ü  

8 Funding  RDPE Award Notice Jan 2011 ü  

9 Procurement  Issue of Prior Information Notice (PIN)  Apr 2011 ü  

10 Funding  BDUK  Wave 2 Submission Apr 2011 ü  

11 Policy 
Adoption by Cheshire & Warrington LEP of 
investment broadband as a key  priority 
  

Apr 2011 ü  

12 State Aid  Community Engagement Day Jun 2011 ü  

13 Funding 
 ERDF programme rewrite accepted. 
 (£43m ring fenced for broadband investment in 
North West areas suffering market failure) 

Jun 2011 ü  

14 State Aid  Official Launch of Community Engagement  
Programme (& Demand Registration Tool) Jun 2011 ü  

15 Procurement  Industry Broadband Briefing Day – both for 
suppliers and local business\resident communities Jun 2011 ü  

16 Funding  Commissioning  of Value & Impact  study   for 
Cheshire & Warrington Jul 2011 ü  

17 Funding  BDUK Wave 3 Submission Jul 2011 ü  

18 Funding  Completion of Economic Value & Impact Study.  Jan 2102 ü 

19 Procurement 

 Governance, contractual terms and conditions 
sign-off by Cheshire East Council, Cheshire West 
& Chester Council, Warrington Borough Council 
and Cheshire & Warrington LEP.  

Feb 2012 ü 

Page 253



Department for Culture, Media and Sport 
BDUK Broadband Delivery Project  
 

20 Funding Resubmission of LBP to BDUK Feb 2012 ü 
21 Funding  ERDF draft Bid Submission March 2012  
22 Funding Approval of LBP April 2012  
23 Procurement  BDUK Framework established Apr 2012  

24 Funding  RDPE Contract Award issued to Cheshire East  
Council for the award of £500k RDPE funding Aril 2012  

25 State Aid 
 EU approval for BDUK to administer local state 
aid exemptions for UK based Broadband 
investment. 

May 2012  

26 State Aid  Submission of Cheshire And Warrington   
localised State Aid application to BDUK  Jun 2012  

27 State Aid  Approval of compliance with state aid 
 umbrella notification obtained by BDUK   Jul 2012  

28 Procurement  Invitation to participate in BDUK framework and 
call-off development. Aug 2012  

29 Procurement Participation in mini call-off competition (Group 1-
2) Aug 2012  

30 Funding  BDUK Award Notice Sep 2012  
31 Funding  ERDF  Bid Submission Sept 2012  
32 Procurement  Strategic Partner selection  Jul 2012  
33 Procurement Contractual sign-off of ERDF & BDUK funds.  Aug 2012  
34 Procurement  Final Contract award Aug 2012  

35 Technical  Begin infrastructure analysis & design.  
 (including special planning notices)  Aug 2012  

36 Funding  ERDF Award Notice  Dec 2012   

37 Marketing  Launch of joint marketing campaign with strategic 
partner Aug 2012  

38 Technical  Infrastructure Deployment  Jan 2013  

39 Technical  First SFB connectivity available  as a result of 
BDUK funding  April 2013  

40 Funding  RDPE funding reporting up to programme closure Aug 2013  

41 Funding  BDUK funding reporting up to programme closure Mar 2015  

42 Funding  ERDF funding reporting up to programme closure Mar 2017  

 §   Project closedown  Mar 2017  

 
 

Page 254



1-0Project 

Connecting Cheshire - High Level Project Plan 2010 - 2015

TECHNICAL 
ANALYSIS  
& DESIGN

2010 2013 2014

INFRASTRUCTURE DEPLOYMENT 

NGA CONNECTION AVAILABILITY 

2015

Contingency for special 
Planning notices

Financial 
Year 2015 -

Financial Year 
2012 -2013 

Financial Year
2013 -2014 

2012
Jan       Apr        Jul       Oct        Jan      Apr        Jul       Oct        Jan      Apr        Jul       Oct        Jan       Apr        Jul       Oct        Jan       Apr        Jul       Oct        Jan       Apr        Jul       Oct        

STATE AID 
APPLICATION

SPEND & REPORTING PERIODWave 3 – CONTRACT AWARD

Financial Year
2014 -2015 

Financial Year
2011 -2012 

W
O
R
K
S
T
R
E
A
M
S

2011

MARKET DEMAND STIMULATION
(Business & Residential)

Call-off through
mini competition

SPEND & REPORTING PERIODRDPE – SUBMISSION & CONTRACT AWARD

SPEND & REPORTING PERIODERDF – SUBMISSION & CONTRACT AWARD

BDUK Wave 2

G
ro

up
 2

G
ro

up
 3

PROJECT- PROGRAMME  MANAGEMENT

DIRECT MARKETING CAMPAIGN 
WITH STRATEGIC PARTNER 

Wave 1

Pilot Projects

Financial Year
2010 -2011 

PROCUREMENT 
BDUK FRAMEWORK
DEVELOPMENT

Local 
Feasibility 
studies

 
 

P
age 255



Department for Culture, Media and Sport 
BDUK Broadband Delivery Project  
 

 
 
E3.    Expected Strategic Benefits  
 
Broadband investment will lead to quantifiable and non-quantifiable benefits which should be 
described.  Bidders should outline how they propose to measure and monitor the delivery of 
those benefits which can be quantified.  
 
Strategic Benefits  
 
E3.1 The vision and key benefits achievable through investments made in improving 
broadband infrastructure are outlined within section A1. The importance of gaining these 
benefits are fully recognised by inclusion through organisational policy and full cabinet 
endorsement of the project gained on 28/02/11  
 
E3.2  The motivations for access to improved broadband capacity by either residents 
or business will differ, as will the benefits they are looking to secure. The distribution of these 
benefits whether quantifiable or non-quantifiable in nature can be split across three broad 
categories Economic, Social or Environmental. 
 
Economic Uplift 
 
E3.3 Cheshire &Warrington has a very strong business base providing some 429,000 
employee jobs. It has particular strengths in key sectors including advanced manufacturing 
(especially engineering, chemicals and automotive), food and drink, energy and nuclear, 
financial and insurance services, public administration and health, the visitor economy 
(including business tourism), and creative industries.  
 
E3.4 The recently completed  study: ‘The Value and Impact of Superfast Broadband 
for Cheshire, Warrington and Halton (2012)’ reports that full coverage of superfast 
broadband would, on a central estimate, generate a gross impact of £1.3 billion in GVA over 
15 years and create 11,500 jobs, with a further  £330m of economic benefits to households. 
 
E3.5 The report highlights the investment return from investment in the Knowledge 
economy where Cheshire & Warrington has one of the highest proportions of knowledge 
economy workers and high technology businesses outside London and the South East. 
Cheshire and Warrington has an existing strength for digital and creative industries 
employment with the highest proportion in the region and amongst the largest creative 
industries workforce in the UK. SFB will provide the connectivity for the sector to maximise 
the business generator capacity of MediaCityUK. 
 
E3.6 Cheshire and Warrington has key sectoral strengths of the sub region’s economy 
which include ICT, Digital and Creative Industries, Business and Professional Services 
Advanced Manufacturing, Chemicals, Pharmaceuticals, R&D and Financial Services. The 
presence of Daresbury Science and Innovation Campus provides the hub to a growing 
cluster of science based businesses. 
 
E3.7 These are the high value sectors which have thrived in the sub-region and which 
will play an important role in driving future economic growth. Use of ICT is high in each of 
these sectors, and access to SFB will help businesses to remain competitive, access new 
markets and create new employment opportunities. The key points to note are as follows:  
• The greatest impact is expected to be in Business and Professional Services where 

100% coverage could generate £430m in GVA and create 4,000 jobs over a 15 year 
period. The roll out of SFB is expected to generate the greatest benefits for those sub-

Page 256



sectors populated by smaller businesses such as accountants, consultancies and labour 
recruitment. The financial services sector will also benefit, however this sector in C&W is 
dominated by a small number of very large financial companies who operate on such a 
scale that they tend to invest in their own high bandwidth, secure connection, and are 
therefore unaffected by the wider deployment of fibre.  

• The Digital and Creative sector could generate around £110m in GVA, supporting 
around 800 new jobs. The greatest impact here will be in the ICT sub-sector which has 
flourished in the sub region, and includes software consultants and software developers. 
This sub-sector has one of the highest rates of adoption of SFB. Firms in this sector are 
likely to have the greatest awareness of potential benefits of SFB and are the most likely 
to cite low bandwidth as a constraint on growth. The roll out of SFB will therefore remove 
an important barrier to the further growth of this sector in the sub region.  

• All sectors will benefit from the roll out of SFB and not just knowledge based industries. 
SFB will make it easier to start a business in any sector which uses information 
technology. SFB makes it easier and less costly to start a new business as Cloud 
computing will allow entrepreneurs to rent computing power and storage from a service 
provider and pay on demand for the services they use. This shifts capital expenditure in 
ICT into operating costs, reduces the fixed costs of entry start up, and allows businesses 
to more easily vary their scale of operations.  

 
Social Uplift  
 
E3.8  The impact of applications that are emerging through the availability of superfast 
broadband are likely to attenuate the benefits available to residents in the areas of health 
delivery, delivery of richer content educational resources, enhancing and multiplying social 
ties and improving quality of life through improvements in the work\life balance. 
 
Environmental Uplift  
 
E3.9  The aggregated benefit on broadband on the climate will be significant. This will 
be made from dematerialisation from greater online consumption, teleworking – reducing the 
need for personal travel, lowering the impact of transport infrastructure and the usage of 
commercial office space  
  
Measure and Monitor 
 
E3.10 A comprehensive set of baseline data set has already been compiled. These 
data sets will then be tracked against an independent value and impact study already 
commissioned to measure changes in quantifiable and non-quantifiable   
 
E3.11 The project outcomes on an intermediate and long term basis will be tracked 
against and recorded through a combination of qualitative and quantitative techniques. i.e. 
surveys, focus groups, individual interviews against the baseline positions.  
 
E.3.12 The Connected Cheshire project team will work alongside early other 
implementers of superfast broadband to share knowledge gained directly with BDUK, local 
authorities and the wider audience to best support an approach to maximise and measure 
benefits realisation.  
 
E3.13 Guidance will be sought from BDUK to confirm best practice measurement and 
monitoring to be adopted for the management of the Cheshire and Warrington Local 
Broadband Plan 

Page 257



Department for Culture, Media and Sport 
BDUK Broadband Delivery Project  
 

 
Key quantifiable measures that would be used are outlined in the table below. 

QUANTIFIABLE MEASURES 
ECONOMIC BENEFITS 
Area Indicator  
GVA § Change in GVA 
Wage Levels § Changes to median income levels.   
Property Values  § Comparison in the trends of average house prices between rural and 

urban areas.  
§ Comparison of trends of ‘rental rates’ for residential/business 

accommodation between rural and urban areas.     
Employment § Direct Jobs Created 

§ Jobs Safeguarded 
§ New Jobs Created 

Council Transformation § The number of Services delivered online 
§ The number of services accessible online only. 
§ Trends in number of online transactions conducted 
§ Trends in total online customer spend. 
§ Customer visits to website 
§ Cost of ownership of public network infrastructure 

Business § Business Birth Rate 
§ Business Growth (by industry sector) 
§ Numbers of VAT registered Businesses. (by industry sector) 
§ Numbers of Non VAT registered Businesses (by industry sector) 

SOCIAL BENEFITS 
Area Indicator  
Education § Educational attainment NVQ level 
School Age Registration § Trends in school age registration in rural area 
Quality of Life Indicators § Over 55s Usage of Internet 
Health § No. of hospital Admissions 

§ No. of 80+ still living at home 
§ Online GP Consultations 

ENVIRONMENTAL BENEFITS 
Area Indicator 
Car Usage § Impact on transport infrastructure - Journey made by car 
C02 § Travel to work data 

§ C02 emissions 
 
Key non- quantifiable measures that would be used are outlined in the table below. 
NON-QUANTIFIABLE MEASURES  
Business  Uplift  Benefit Description 
E-communication Reducing the need for business travel 
Smart Devices Digital communications to monitor/control energy consumption e.g.  
Home Working Improve work-life balance.   
Social Uplift Benefit Description 
Virtual Service Delivery Telehealth and Telemonitoring 
Digital Social 
Communication 

Reducing Social Isolation by improving accessibility to wider world e.g. 
email, online forum, Online video,  

Environmental Uplift   Benefit Description 
Smart Devices Digital communications to monitor/control energy consumption 
Home Based Business Ability to create new businesses from home 
Online Training Reduced the need to travel for tuition in classroom based environment. 
Online Consumption  Consumption of goods\services online   e.g. Movies, Software, Newspaper & 

Magazines 
.

Page 258



E4.     Risk management/log 
 
A high level risk log limited to 20 risks should be developed and submitted, setting out the key risks to your broadband programme, how you have assessed them and how they 
will be mitigated. An example is provided below 

 
Cheshire and Warrington Connecting Cheshire Partnership Risk log: 

Risk Risk Assessment 
(Low, Medium, High) 

No Description Likelihood Severity 

Threat to Project / Mitigation 
(L,M, H) 

1 
Lack of 
organisational 
commitment 

L H 

MEDIUM 
§ Project has received Tri-Council endorsement and LEP approval. 
§ Broad Infrastructure Investment adopted by LEP as key priority 
§ Tri-Council contractual agreement to determine financial undertaking & project governance  
§ Broadband is embedded as strategic measure of council performance. 

2 
Lack of 
Organisational 
Capacity 

L M 

LOW 
§ A fully resourced and experienced team is in place with individuals that have a proven track 

record of partnership working in delivery of major ICT/Civil Infrastructure Projects.  
§ Funding for external expertise already secured.  

3 Cost Overrun M M 

MEDIUM 
§ A comprehensive financial modelling exercise already undertaken through knowledge transfer 

between peers and industry.  
§ Further refined through independently commissioned cost modelling to aid best value through 

procurement process.    
§ Bidders will be made aware that the grant is capped. 

4 
Failure to 
achieve 
outputs 

L M 

LOW 
§ Key criteria for supplier(s) selection will be how they plan to work in partnership with to support 

market demand stimulation.  
§ Take up targets agreed within terms of contract 

5 Delays & 
Slippages M M 

MEDIUM 
§ Project Planning has been verified with key telecom infrastructure suppliers to ensure that 

timescales are reasonable and sufficient capacity is available. 
§ Industry standard contingency already built into project planning   
§ Contractual Obligations placed upon Supplier against delivery timescales through penalty 

notices. 

P
age 259



Department for Culture, Media and Sport 
BDUK Broadband Delivery Project  
 

6 
Match Funding 
does not 
materialise 

L H 

MEDIUM 
§ Commitment already received from suppliers in telecoms industry that substantial Private 

Sector match funding would be available subject to securing to Public Sector match fund.  
§ Successful lobbing resulting in ring fencing of £43M to support broadband investment in North 

West. 
§ Continue to actively review additional sources of Public Grants  
§ Re-think scope and vision of project  

7 External 
Issues L M 

LOW 
§ Local Authority representation at Director Level from Highways and Planning Departments at 

Programme board to ensure speedy and efficient processing of planning control  

8 Environmental 
Risks L H 

MEDIUM 
§ Ensure strict adherence to both regularity and best practice in deployment of SFB  

infrastructure 
9 State Aid L H MEDIUM 

§ Engaged with peers that have or are undertaking State Aid Applications for to learn from 
their experiences and adopt best practice. 

§ Look to participate in localised BDUK sponsored umbrella notification of EU state aid early 
engagement with BIS State Aid Unit.  

§ Appointment of specialist advice to support State Aid, Legal, Procurement work streams  
§ Ensure that provision for SFB would be exempt from State Aid Regulation by  

o Subsidy would be required for only White Areas  
o Adopt open tender process for supplier selection 
o Open Access to infrastructure 
o Reverse Payment Mechanism to ensure excess profit re-invested  

§ Planning and resources already secured to undertake individual state aid exemption 
should BDUK be unsuccessful in securing umbrella notification  

10 Procurement M H MEDIUM 
§ Look to participate in supporting development of BDUK framework. 
§ Well established dialogue with organisations on demand and supply side of SFB provision to 

adapt to best practice.   
§ Planning in place for appointment of external specialist expertise to undertake OJEU 

compliant procurement process only subject to undue delay/inappropriate BDUK framework. 
11 Ongoing 

Public 
Investment 

L L LOW 
§ There would be no legacy funding commitment required due to Gap funded business model 

based on self sustaining private sector intervention only.  

P
age 260



12 Loss of key 
Personnel 

L L LOW 
§ Strong emphasis on knowledge sharing. 

13 Failure to 
achieve 
Internet 
Penetration 
Target    

L M LOW 
§ Contractual obligation placed on supplier(s) for coverage. 
§ Use of innovate fibre deployment methods. Self-Dig, Fibre by Pole, etc 
§ Detailed mapping has already been completed to identify high growth business clusters   in 

rural localities. These have been mapped at sub-regional (see maps E4-1 to E4-6) down to 
individual telephone exchange level (see maps E4-7 to E4-9).  

14 Un-replicable 
model for 
Local 
Enterprise 
Partnership 
Intervention 
Model 
For Provision 
of Universal 
provision of 
SFB. 
   
 
 

L M LOW 
§ Ring fence specific resources to ensure knowledge transfer through production of a blueprint 

design for Local Enterprise Partnership led broadband Intervention model. This model would 
include:   

o Communication And Supplier Management to maximise interest and investment  
o Development\training for ‘NGA Champions’ to enable rural businesses and resident 

community’s better articulate ambition for SFB. 
o Toolkits & training for ‘Community based provision of broadband  
o Champions’ to enable rural businesses and resident communities better articulate 

ambition for SFB. 
o Establish a framework to capture demand to maximise private investment.  
o Provide best practice on co-ordination activities between Highway Authorities and 

Telecom Providers for efficient provisioning of NGA networks.  
o Offer lessons learned from best practice for being a test bed in the deployment of 

innovate forms of fibre deployment E.g. fibre to farm, fibre over the pole, self dig etc 
o Fund Case studies to promote innovate service delivery over SFB  

15 

Official 
protests for bid 
process 
(Alcatel period) 
and State aid 

L H MEDIUM 
§ Legal review of each stage, Document audit trail, OJEU compliance 

16 Bidder 
withdrawal 

L M MEDIUM 
§ Looking to utilise BDUK framework to maximise participation and minimise risk.  
§ Exit Strategy in place to find replacement supplier 
§ Look to adopt contractual obligation for clawback of gap funding paid 
§ Look to adopt impositions of financial penalties for withdrawal 

 

P
age 261



 

CEO sign off/Section 151 officer/Executive Member (portfolio holder)  
 
Portfolio Holder: 

 
 
Section 151 Officer: 

 
 
 

Full applications should be sent to BDUK and should consist of a completed Local 
Broadband Plan, covering all the topics as set out in this template.  Proposals should not 
exceed 30 pages in length.  Please do not include supplementary material other than 
mapping information and a project plan.  
 
Three hard copies of bids and supporting material should be submitted to:  
 
Jill Patrick  
Broadband Delivery UK 
Department for Culture, Media and Sport (DCMS) 
2-4 Cockspur Street 
London 
SW1Y 5DH 

 
Envelope is marked ‘Re-Submission BDUK Cheshire and Warrington Local Broadband 
Plan.  
 
An electronic copy has been submitted to kevin.hanlon@bis.gsi.gov.uk 

 

Page 262



CHESHIRE EAST COUNCIL 
 

REPORT TO: Cabinet 
 
 
 

 

Date of Meeting:   5 March 2012 
Report of: Strategic Planning and Housing Manager 
Subject/Title: Review of Local Plan Timetable 
Portfolio Holder: 
 

Councillor David Brown, Performance and 
Capacity 

                                                                  
 
1.0 Report Summary 
 
1.1 This report presents options for a revised programme for preparing the 

draft Local Plan which, if changes are agreed, will be incorporated into 
the Local Development Scheme for 2012-2014. 

 
1.2 The Local Development Scheme (LDS) is a statutory document that 

sets out the plans and policies that the Council seeks to rely on in 
decision making. The benefits and risks associated with the options 
within the LDS are set out in the report. 

 
 
2.0 Decision Requested 
 
2.1 That the proposed Core Strategy and Site Allocations Timetable as set out in 

Appendix 3 be included within the Local Development Scheme  
 
2.2 That notwithstanding the powers already delegated by full Council and 

recorded in the Constitution, but for the avoidance of doubt, the Portfolio Holder 
for Performance and Capacity be granted delegated power to approve all 
elements of the Final Local Development Scheme as would be lawfully 
exercisable by the Cabinet. 

 
2.3 That Cabinet further consider measures and resources that would enable an 

improved ‘two stage’ timetable for site Allocations to be achieved. 
 
 
3.0 Reasons for Recommendations 
 
3.1 To ensure that the Council has an approved three year programme for 

the preparation of the various documents that will make up the Local 
Plan. 

 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 7Page 263



4.0 Wards Affected 
 
4.1 All Wards 
 
 
5.0 Local Ward Members  
 
5.1 All Members 
 
 
6.0 Policy Implications including - Carbon reduction  
                                                              - Health 

6.1 The Cheshire East Local Plan will set out the vision, objectives, spatial 
strategy and policies for the development of Cheshire East (outside the 
National Park) to 2030.  It will interpret national planning policies within 
the context of Cheshire East Borough and will aim to ensure that the 
future development of the Borough is planned in a sustainable manner. 
It will be developed in co-operation with other adjacent local authorities 
to ensure that it contributes to the strategy for the future development 
of the sub-region.  

6.2  The Local Plan will take into account other strategies and plans 
produced by the Council and its Local Strategic Partners in order to 
present a shared vision and strategy to ensure consistency in 
programme delivery. It will deliver the spatial aspects of the Cheshire 
East Sustainable Community Strategy, “Ambition for All”. 

6.3 The preparation of the Local Plan will include a Sustainability Appraisal 
which will assess the options for the policies and proposals for the plan 
against a number of social, economic and environmental objectives. 
These include objectives to reduce carbon emissions, health impacts 
and equality and diversity impacts.  

 
 
7.0 Financial Implications  
 
7.1 The report gives consideration to the need for financial and staffing resources 

required to meet the revised timetable. It is considered that whilst the 
programme is rigorous, there are sufficient resources in place to achieve the 
adoption of the Core Strategy by the end of 2013. 

 
7.2 If an improved timetable or revised consultation programme is considered 

desirable for the Site Allocations document, then the resource implications will 
be set out in a further report. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 264



8.0 Legal Implications  
 
8.1 Local authorities are required by Section 19 of the Planning and Compulsory 

Purchase Act 2004 (as amended by subsequent legislation) to prepare 
documents to form their Local Plan in accordance with their Local Development 
Scheme. 

  
8.2 Section 15 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended 

by subsequent legislation and the Localism Act 2011) sets out the roles of the 
local planning authority and the Secretary of State in relation to an authority's 
Local Development Scheme. Every local planning authority must prepare and 
maintain a local development scheme specifying the documents that will be 
local development documents, their subject matter and area and the timetable 
for their preparation and revision. The local planning authority must submit their 
local development scheme to the Secretary of State who can direct changes to 
the scheme as he thinks appropriate. PPS12 sets out guidance on the 
preparation of Local Development Schemes. 

 
8.3 Section 15 requires Local Planning Authorities to revise their Local 

Development Schemes "at such time as they consider appropriate".  This 
Council’s current Scheme was produced in January 2011 and has guided 
the preparation of the Local Plan throughout the year.  The revised 
timetable has been developed in order to ensure that sufficient time is 
included in the process of preparing the Core Strategy for input from 
members, local Councils and key stakeholders in the spirit of localism, 
whilst moving in a timely way towards submitting the Core Strategy to the 
Secretary of State for consideration at the public examination.  

 
 
9.0 Risk Management  
 
9.1 The Local Development Schemes sets out the risks associated with the 

preparation of the Local Development Framework. Two new risks were added 
in January 2011: 

 
• Uncertainties about the proposed revisions to the plan making process 

announced by the Coalition Government  
• Uncertainties about the possible reduction in Spatial Planning staffing 

and revenue budgets from April 2011.  
 
9.2 The legislation and regulations governing the preparation of Local Plans 

(Development Plan Documents) is largely unchanged.  However, the Localism 
Act was passed in November 2011 and this will in time change the emphasis of 
plan making towards a more localised agenda, with the revocation of Regional 
Spatial Strategies and the introduction of Neighbourhood Plans.  The 
government has also consulted on the draft National Planning Policy 
Framework in summer 2011. The proposals aim to introduce slimmer  national 
planning policy and government guidance with a greater emphasis being 
placed on local policy making. 

 

Page 265



10.0 BACKGROUND AND OPTIONS 
 
The Form of the Local Plan 

10.1 The Local Plan will be divided into three main sections, shown in the 
diagram below. The Core Strategy will provide the central thrust of 
growth and development in the Borough – and will include strategic 
sites (ie. housing sites of 500 homes +). The Development Policies will 
be used primarily in planning application decisions – whilst the site 
allocations document will provide the detail of all new site specific 
proposals, large and small. All these documents will then feed into the 
accompanying Infrastructure plan 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

These four documents are the Core Outputs of the Local Plan process. Whilst 
the Core Strategy will contain a number of policies, for the most part detailed 
policies will accompany the site allocations document  

Plan Preparation – Current Timetable 

10.2 Local Development Scheme sets out a programme and timetable for 
the preparation of documents for the Cheshire East Local Development 
Framework. The current timetable is set out in Appendix 1  

10.3 The Council has made representations to the Secretary of State to 
make it easier for Council’s to accelerate the process of plan 
preparation. To some extent the revisions included in the Localism Act 
meets some of those aspirations, by giving Council’s greater flexibility 
over decision making.  

10.4  The Leader of the Council has recently met with Bob Neill MP, 
Parliamentary Under Secretary of State at the Department of 
Communities and Local Government to discuss the Local Plan and 
proposed planning reforms.  In addition officers also met last month 
with the CLG Chief Planner.  Although no formal commitment was 
given to support a revised programme, CLG commended the growth-
led strategic position of the Council and agreed to continue to work with 

CORE SRATEGY 
 

• Key Policies 
• Growth 

strategy 
• Housing 

numbers 
• Strategic Sites 

DEVELOPMENT 
POLICIES 

 
• Detailed  

Planning 
Policies 

 
 

SITE 
ALLOCATIONS 

 
• Proposals 

Map 
• Site 

Allocations 
• Supporting 

Site Policies 
 

 
INFRASTRUCTURE PLAN 

Page 266



us to support where possible over the coming months.  CLG confirmed 
that they could not advise the Planning Inspectorate on any preferred 
route to producing the plan, and gave clear direction that whatever 
programme the Council agrees we must have a robust evidence-led 
process to satisfy current legislation. 

10.5 The Place Shaping consultation has revealed the complexity of 
preparing a completely new plan for a Borough with a population of 
some 370,000 and extending over 1,158 sq km. Initial work in some of 
the main settlement centres has also revealed that infrastructure 
provision will be a significant influence on the Plan’s preparation – and 
that more detailed work is required to fully understand the infrastructure 
implications and constraints of new development.  

10.6 In addition, the Place Shaping and Neighbourhood Planning exercise, 
though hugely beneficial in engaging local communities, is also very 
resource intensive – especially during the consultation phases.  

10.7 In the light of this experience, it is evident that we will not be in a 
position to commence consultations on the Preferred Options (first 
draft) stage of both the Core Strategy and Site Allocations documents 
in May 2012 as scheduled in the 2010-2014 Local Development 
Scheme.  

Plan Preparation – The Benefits of Adoption 

10.8 It is essential that we make rapid progress towards the adoption of the 
Local Plan. There are many benefits to be gained from having an up to 
date plan in place, including:   

• Greater certainty for developers and investors 
• Communities know where they stand 
• Potential for CIL to be introduced sooner 
• Assisting in making planning decisions and reducing costs arising 

from appeals 
• Boosts housing land supply 
• Ensures a strong planning framework for our rural areas 

10.9 At present many planning decisions, especially for new housing 
provoke considerable debate, prompted largely by the uncertainties of 
not possessing a 5 year supply of housing land. Two important appeal 
‘test cases’, now with a national profile, are currently progressing 
through the courts. All issues such as these would be avoided with a 
new Local Plan in place. 

Options for a Revised Timetable 

10.10 There is a need to both mitigate the slippage in the Plan preparation 
and look for ways of streamlining the process to minimise the risk of 

Page 267



further delay. Four main options were considered  by the Council’s 
Local Plan Panel: 

Option 1 – Current programme with revised timetable (Core 
Strategy adopted Oct 2014 and Site Allocations adopted Oct 2015) 

Option 2 – Revised programme with current timetable (Core 
Strategy adopted Dec 2013 & Site Allocations adopted December 
2014) 

Option 3  - Revised programme with resource ‘boost’ (Core 
Strategy adopted  Dec 2013 & Site Allocations adopted June 2014) . 

Option 4 – Revised programme with a Core Strategy and Limited 
Site Allocations combined (Core Strategy and Limited Site 
Allocations both adopted September 2014) 

10.11 A summary of these timetables is set out in Appendix 2  

Preferred Option  

10.12 The Local Plan panel considered on balance that the current objectives 
of Cheshire East can best be achieved by opting to go directly to a 
Final Plan rather than having two formal stages of consultation. 
Therefore with regards to the Core Strategy Option 2 is recommended. 

10.13 In relation to the Site Allocations Document, the Panel requested that 
measures be explored and further resources considered that would 
allow for two full stages of consultation, with adoption by the end of 
2014 at the latest. If possible an improvement on that timescale was 
sought. 

10.14 The key priority for the Council is to progress the Core Strategy. 
Accordingly its important that this is not waylaid whilst future options 
around site allocations are considered. Accordingly its recommended 
that the Local Development Scheme is completed based on a 
simplified process for both the Core Strategy and Site Allocations – 
with an end date of December 2014. The approval of the finalised LDS 
will rest with the portfolio holder 

10.15 Should any revisions be thought appropriate to the site allocations 
timetable, these can be considered and approved subsequently 

Local Member Engagement 

10.16 A programme of local Member engagement will be put in place during 
2012 to provide opportunity to shape the emerging proposals and to 
ensure Members have the right information and background knowledge 
to promote the benefits of the plan at a local and Borough level. 

Page 268



 

 

Role of the Local Plan Panel 

10.17 The role of the Local Plan Panel remains critical to driving forward the 
programme and drawing together all policies at a Borough-wide level. 

10.18 Monthly meetings will mean that Members at a strategic level are 
involved in the preparation of the plan, and it is proposed that each 
meeting focuses on two or three strategic issues to be explored either 
on a place basis or theme to assist and advise the Officer Team. 

10.19 It is also proposed that the Panel provides regular feedback into 
Cabinet on an informal basis to discuss issues and update on progress. 

Corporate Engagement 

10.20 The production of the Local Plan by the Senior Management Team as 
one of the major priorities for the next two years.  A Corporate Local 
Plan Task Group has been established with Senior Officers 
representing all Services which will provide the link between strategic 
priorities of each area of the Council with the draft Plan. 

10.21 Resources to support the production of the Plan over the next two 
years will be kept under constant review to ensure additional support 
from across the Council can be provided at peak workload points in the 
process. 

Other Factors to Consider 

10.22 It will be necessary for the Council to be able to demonstrate to the 
Inspector at the examination that it has considered the options carefully 
in consultation with stakeholders and has selected the most 
appropriate. All stages of the plan preparation, including all 
consultation responses, have to be fully recorded and will be subject to 
close scrutiny by the Inspector and respondents at the Examination.  

10.23 The draft National Planning Policy Framework highlighted the need for 
up to date Local Plans and that in areas where plans were absent, out 
of date or silent there was a presumption that most development would 
proceed.  Since its publication, there have been suggestions that 
transitional arrangements would protect existing plans.  However no 
detail of these have been published. Accordingly, it is prudent to plan 
for a replacement of existing Plans as soon as is practicable 

10.24 The Local Plan also facilitates considerable new development which 
will be beneficial to the Borough. Consequently early adoption allows 
for earlier investment in key projects and developments. The adoption 

Page 269



of the Core strategy also allows for the Community Infrastructure Levy 
to be fully adopted – bringing the benefits of comprehensive approach 
and new funding to infrastructure provision. 

10.25 Cheshire East covers a wider rural area, important for food production 
and other economic activities. It also has a rich environmental and 
cultural heritage – with some 481 European, National and Local nature 
conservation designations, 2,638 listed buildings and 76 conservation 
areas. A comprehensive Local Plan will help secure an appropriate 
balance between these different considerations. 

10.26 Regardless of which detailed process is followed, the following risks are 
associated with preparing the Local Plan  

• Challenges from developers, interest groups and residents at 
examination and subsequently through courts 

• Failure to get plan correct will result in Council being asked to 
withdraw the plan after submission or  risk being found unsound  

10.27 Accordingly the Council will need keep the entire process under close 
review – not only to maintain progress but also to review the risks and 
issues that emerge as the plan develops. 

 
11.0 Access to Information 
 

The background papers relating to this report can be inspected by contacting 
the report writer: 

 
 Name: Adrian Fisher 
 Designation: Strategic Planning & Housing Manager 

 Tel No: 01270 686641 
 Email: Adrian.fisher@cheshireeast.gov.uk 
 
 
 
LIST OF APPENDICES 
 
 
Appendix 1     Current Timetable 
 
 
Appendix 2  Summary Timetable of Options  
 
 
Appendix 3  Proposed Timetable 
 
 
 
 

Page 270



 
APPENDIX 1 

 
 
Current Timetable 
 

 
 

 
 
 

  

Page 271



 
APPENDIX 2    SUMMARY OF TIMETABLE OPTIONS 
 
 
SUMMARY OF OPTIONS APPENDIX 3

OPTION 1
CORE STRATEGY

SITE ALLOCATIONS

OPTION2
CORE STRATEGY

SITE ALLOCATIONS

OPTION3
CORE STRATEGY

SITE ALLOCATIONS

OPTION4
COMBINED STRATEGY

OPTION1 – KEEP PROCESS & REVISE TIMETABLE (CORE STRATEGY)
OPTION2 – REVISE PROCESS & KEEP TIMETABLE (CORE STRATEGY)
OPTION3 – REVISE PROCESS & KEEP TIMETABLE (CORE STRATEGY) & ACCELERATE SITE ALLOCATIONS
OPTION4 – COMBINE CORE STRATEGY WITH REDUCED SITE ALLOCATIONS

2012 2013 2014 2015

 
 
 

 

P
age 272



 
 

  APPENDIX 3 
 
Proposed Timetable 
 
 

 

Page 273



Page 274

This page is intentionally left blank



CHESHIRE EAST COUNCIL 
 

REPORT TO: CABINET 
____________________________________________________________________ 
 
Date of Meeting: 

 
5th March 2012 

Report of: Director of Finance and Business Services 
Subject/Title: Annual Audit Letter 2010-11 
Portfolio Holder Councillor Michael Jones 

___________________________________                                                                       
 
 
1.0 Report Summary 
 
1.1 The report summarises the Audit Commission’s findings from the 2010-11 

audit.  It comprises a summary of the Audit opinion on the Council’s financial 
statements, assessment of the adequacy of its arrangements for securing value 
for money and outlines some of the future challenges facing the Council. 

 
2.0 Recommendation 
 
2.1 That members receive and comment on the Annual Audit Letter for 

2010-11. 
 
3.0 Reasons for Recommendations 
 
3.1 The appointed auditors are required to report to those charged with 

governance. 
 
4.0 Wards Affected 
 
4.1 Not applicable. 
 
5.0 Local Ward Members  
 
5.1 Not applicable. 
 
6.0 Policy Implications including – Carbon Reduction, Health 
 
6.1 None. 
 
7.0 Financial Implications (Authorised by the Director of Finance and 

Business Services) 
 
7.1 As covered in the report. 
 
8.0 Legal Implications (Authorised by the Borough Solicitor) 
 
8.1 None. 

Agenda Item 8Page 275



 
9.0 Risk Management  
 
9.1 The Annual Audit letter has been prepared to meet the requirements 

set out in the Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors. 
 
10.0 Background and Options 
 
10.1 The Annual Audit Letter is attached as Appendix 1 to the report and 

sets out the findings from the Council’s statutory audit for 2010-11.  
The detailed findings of the audit were reported to the Audit and 
Governance Committee on 29th September 2011 in the form of the 
Annual Governance Report.  The Annual Audit Letter summarises the 
content from that report and includes additional details about the 
challenges going forward, it also includes details on the final level of 
audit fees. 

 
10.2 The Audit Letter confirms the Council has received an unqualified 

opinion for its 2010-11 Accounts and that the audit had been 
completed within the required timescales.  The recommendations on 
improvements to the process for 2011-12 are being addressed. 

 
10.3 The Audit Letter also sets out the results of the Audit Commission’s 

assessment of the Council’s arrangements for securing value for 
money in its activities.  The overall conclusion is that the Council has 
adequate arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources. 

 
10.4 The Audit Commission will be attending the meeting to answer any questions 

raised by members on the Annual Audit Letter. 
 
11.0 Access to Information 
 

          The background papers relating to this report can be inspected by contacting    
the report writer: 

 
Name:  Lisa Quinn 

  Designation: Director of Finance and Business Services 
            Tel No: (01270) 686628 
            Email:  lisa.quinn@cheshireeast.gov.uk 
 
  Appendix 1:   Annual Audit Letter 2010-11 

Page 276



Audit Commission Annual Audit Letter 1

Annual Audit Letter
Cheshire East Borough Council 

Audit 2010/11 

P
age 277



Audit Commission Annual Audit Letter 2

Contents
Key messages..............................................................................................................................................................3

Financial statements and internal control.................................................................................................................5

Value for money...........................................................................................................................................................7

Current and future challenges ...................................................................................................................................9

Closing remarks ........................................................................................................................................................11

Appendix 1 - Fees......................................................................................................................................................12

Appendix 2 - Glossary...............................................................................................................................................13

P
age 278



Audit Commission Annual Audit Letter 3

Key messages 
This report summarises the findings from my 2010/11 audit which I carried out in accordance 
with the Audit Commission’s Code of Audit Practice. It also includes comments on future 
challenges facing the Council.

Work under the Code Key findings 

Audit opinion on the 
financial statements 

I issued an unqualified opinion on the Council’s financial statements on 30 September 2011. The preparation of the Council’s 
2010/11 accounts was particularly challenging this year as a result of changes in reporting requirements due to the 
introduction of International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the upgrade of its major financial systems, including 
revenues and benefits. In response, the Council increased the capacity of the finance team to manage these changes. 

Although its IFRS timetable slipped the Council was largely successful in coping with this change. However the draft financial 
statements contained two material errors and a significant number of other errors. This resulted in a lot of extra work for both
Council staff and auditors. I also did extra work to address weaknesses in controls over general ledger access and the 
revenues systems.

The Council needs to improve its arrangements for preparing accurate accounts and returns if it is to avoid additional fees in 
the future. A more robust quality assurance process during the drafting of the financial statements could reduce the volume of 
errors.  I made a number of recommendations in my Annual Governance Report (AGR) which have all been accepted. 

Arrangements to 
secure value for money

I gave an unqualified value for money conclusion on 30 September 2011. The Council has proper arrangements in place to 
achieve economy, efficiency and effectiveness. The Council made significant progress in developing its arrangements in 
2010/11. It is now better placed to closely monitor the delivery of its budget and planned savings for 2011/12. In August 2011 
the Council published its new Business Planning process for 2012 – 2015. The plan is supported by the new performance 
management system. The Council is prioritising its resources within tighter budgets by achieving cost reductions and 
improving efficiency and productivity through the budget setting and challenge process  

The Council is facing additional budget pressures in 2011/12. Its mid year report forecasts service overspends of £16m. 
Redial actions are in hand and further plans are being developed to close this gap. Strong leadership and decisive action will 
continue to be necessary to ensure that in year financial pressures are managed effectively and that planned savings are fully 
delivered.

P
age 279



Audit Commission Annual Audit Letter 4

P
age 280



Audit Commission Annual Audit Letter 5

Financial statements and 
internal control  
The Council's financial statements and annual governance statement are an important means by 
which the Council accounts for its stewardship of public funds. 

The detailed findings from my audit of the Council are set out in my Annual Governance Report which I presented to the Audit and Governance 
Committee on 29 September 2011. The report is on the Council’s website and can be found by following this link: 

Annual Governance Report

Key findings 

Quality of financial statements The preparation of the 2010/11 accounts was particularly challenging due to the upgrade and replacement of four 
major financial systems and the introduction of new reporting requirements under IFRS. In preparation, the Council 
increased capacity within the Finance team. Although there was slippage in its timetable, the Council was largely 
successful in restating its financial statements to comply with the new requirements.  

The financial statements were prepared in line with the statutory deadline and presented for audit on 4 July as 
agreed at the June 2011 Audit & Governance Committee. My audit identified two material errors and 59 adjusted 
errors. This error rate resulted in considerable additional work for both the Finance and Audit teams, in order to meet 
the 30 September accounts deadline. It also delayed the certification of the Whole of Government Accounts return. 

Stronger quality assurance checks during the drafting of the accounts would improve the standard of the accounts 
presented for audit and reduce the number of accounts compilation errors.   

Weaknesses in internal control Towards the end of 2010/11, the Council implemented 3 major new revenues and benefits systems to replace 9 
existing systems inherited from predecessor councils. During my audit of the financial statements, I found 
inconsistencies between the year end reports produced by the revenues ledgers used to support the preparation of 
the financial statements and two major grant claims. In addition, there were inconsistencies between the cash and 
refunds figures reported by the revenues ledgers and in the main financial ledger. As a result of the differences, I 

P
age 281



Audit Commission Annual Audit Letter 6

Key findings 

carried out significant additional work in order to demonstrate that the figures in the accounts were materially 
accurate.

The Council also carried out a major upgrade of its main financial ledgers during which weaknesses in the operation 
of controls over access rights to the main accounting system were identified. Further work was undertaken by 
Internal Audit and my audit team in order to satisfy ourselves that these weaknesses did not lead to unauthorised 
access to financial information. 

The Council is taking action to address these issues in 2011/12. 

The following recommendations were made in my Annual Governance report to Members in September 2011. 

Recommendations

R1 Quality of financial statements 
 Council to strengthen its accounts quality assurance processes to ensure the draft financial statements are free from errors and internal 

inconsistencies

R2 Revenues reporting 
 Council to implement monthly reconciliations for cash and refunds between the revenues ledgers and the main financial ledger 

 Council to review consistency and accuracy of year end reports produced by the revenues ledgers 

R3 Access controls 
 Council to strengthen operation of access controls to main financial ledger 

The weaknesses in controls and level of errors noted during my audit of the financial statements meant that additional work was undertaken over and 
above that assumed when setting the original fee for the audit. I have discussed and agreed an additional fee of £25,000 with the Director of Finance 
and Business Services, to cover some of the costs incurred by the extra work. The revised fee is set out in Appendix 1.  

P
age 282



Audit Commission Annual Audit Letter 7

Value for money 
I considered whether the Council is managing and using its money, time and people to deliver 
value for money.  I assessed your performance against the criteria specified by the Audit 
Commission and have reported the outcome as the value for money (VFM) conclusion. 

I assess your arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in your use of resources against two criteria specified by the  
Audit Commission. My overall conclusion is that the Council has adequate arrangements to secure, economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 
resources.

My conclusion on each of the two areas is set out below. 

Value for money criteria and key messages 

Criterion Key messages 

The Council has proper arrangements in 
place to secure financial resilience.

The Council has effective arrangements for managing financial risks and maintaining a stable 
financial position. The key elements of the Council’s medium term financial plan are included 
within the annual budget report. This included a savings target of £7.7m for 2010/11. The Council 
revised its Sustainable Community Strategy and Corporate Plan and the corporate priorities set 
out in these documents were used to inform the budget cycle for 2011/12.   

During the year the Council experienced significant budget pressures particularly in Children’s 
and Adults services. This led to further plans to deliver additional savings. At the year end, the net 
service overspend was £9.5m before taking account of under spends in other areas of £7.3m. 
The Council planned to repay £4.3m to general fund reserves during the year. This fell to £2.3m 
at the year end mainly because of the net service overspend. The reported closing balance on 
the general fund is £12.5m. This is higher than forecast during the 2011/12 budget setting round 
but does not fully cover the Council’s assessed financial risk of £14.7m. By end of 2011/12, the 
Council plans to increase its general fund to £15m. 

P
age 283



Audit Commission Annual Audit Letter 8

Criterion Key messages 

In July 2010, the business planning cycle for 2011/14 was launched. It aims to produce a single 
integrated business plan and budget setting out how the Council would achieve its objectives 
both in budgetary and service delivery terms. An efficiency group, comprising officers and 
members, was established to lead the process and to provide challenge around the Council’s 
transformation programme. 

The Council has proper arrangements for 
challenging how it secures economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness.

The Council is prioritising its resources within tighter budgets through its budget setting and 
challenge process. The 2010/11 budget included a number of proposals to improve efficiency and 
/ or reduce costs. Additional financial pressures during 2010/11 required further action to contain 
costs and find extra savings of £10.5m. This was done through a combination of service redesign 
and short term measures.  

Delivery of the savings targets was monitored by the corporate management team on a weekly 
basis against remedial action plans drawn up by directorates. These processes operated 
throughout the year but it is difficult to clearly establish what proportion of the total savings 
delivered relates to efficiency projects as opposed to corrective action taken to manage the in 
year pressures. For 2011/12 the Council has implemented a traffic light system to report progress 
against agreed savings targets.  

The Council is proactive in reviewing its services and comparing performance and costs with 
other organisations. This approach is set out in the Council’s VFM strategy. The Council has 
already identified gaps in available benchmarking data and is looking to develop service specific 
benchmarking.

In August this year OFSTED reported on its inspection of the Council’s Looked after Children and 
Safeguarding services. Overall, these services were assessed as adequate. The inspection team 
recognised the additional financial investment made by the Council. Action taken has resulted in 
improved performance and practice in most safeguarding areas.  

Since issuing my report on the Value for Money conclusion, the Council has published its mid year financial report. It forecasts a £16m overspend in 
service budgets, before contingencies and other remedial actions, and a £2m reduction in the level of the general fund balance by the year end. I 
discuss the impact of the financial pressures facing the Council below. 

P
age 284



Audit Commission Annual Audit Letter 9

Current and future challenges 

Economic downturn and pressure on the public sector The economic downturn and reductions in Government funding are having a significant 
impact on local government. Central government funding for the Council is reducing by 
£11.2m over the next three years. However further changes, particularly in relation to 
schools funding and business rate allocations, could change this position significantly. Any 
further changes will be challenging as the Council anticipates that it will need to deliver 
savings of £29m over the same period. Plans are in place to deliver more for less in the 
future but growing demand for services particularly in Adults and Children’s services is 
placing further pressure on the Council’s finances.  

At the end of September 2011, the Council is forecasting a service overspend of £16m for 
2011/12. Despite achieving £15.1m in savings during the first half of the year, there has 
been significant slippage in delivering savings across the Council.  

For 2011/12, the Council initially planned to increase its general fund balance to £15m by 
the year end. This would bring reserves back in line with the minimum level considered 
necessary to manage the Council’s financial risks. If the current level of service overspends 
remains at £16m the closing general fund balance will fall to £10.5m. This will adversely 
impact on the Council’s financial resilience and its ability to manage its finances. 

The Council has arrangements in place to identify financial pressures and develop and 
monitor the delivery of its savings plans but slippage in implementing planned savings this 
year will have a continuing impact on future financial years. Swift action will be required to 
implement long term solutions as well as the shorter term measures taken to manage the 
current year position.

Joint arrangements / shared services Following local government re organisation in 2009, the Council shared 32 services with 
Cheshire West & Chester Council. Many of these were transitional arrangements and have 
since ended. Ten longer term shared service arrangements will continue into 2012. The 
councils are working together to develop separate legal entities for some services, for 
example, human resources. The main challenges are extending collaboration to include 

P
age 285



Audit Commission Annual Audit Letter 10

other local authorities, achieving further efficiencies and resolving some of the operational 
difficulties with the current arrangements.  

P
age 286



Audit Commission Annual Audit Letter 11

Closing remarks 
I have discussed and agreed this letter with the Chief Executive and the Director of Finance & Business Services. I will present this letter at the Audit 
Committee in January 2012. The Council will provide copies to all members. 

Further detailed findings, conclusions and recommendations in the areas covered by our audit are included in the reports issued to the Council during 
the year. 

Report Date issued 

Audit fee letter April 2010 

Opinion audit plan January 2011 

Annual Governance Report September 2011 

Annual Audit Letter November  2011 

The Council has taken a positive and constructive approach to our audit. I wish to thank the Council staff for their support and co-operation during the 
audit.

Judith Tench 

District Auditor 

November 2011 

P
age 287



Audit Commission Annual Audit Letter 12

Appendix 1 - Fees          

Scale fee £397,500

Rebates: IFRS transition -£22,297

Reduction in work due to stopping of CAA -£12,750

Sub total £362,453

Additional charge for extra work on Accounts £20,000

Additional charge for extra work on WGA £5,000

Total £385,453

The following areas required significant additional audit work: 
 Collection Fund 
 Access controls to Oracle Financial Ledgers 
 Checks on revised sets of financial statements 
 WGA. 

P
age 288



Audit Commission Annual Audit Letter 13

Appendix 2 - Glossary       
Annual governance statement

Governance is about how local government bodies ensure that they are doing the right things, in the right way, for the right people, in a timely, 
inclusive, open, honest and accountable manner. 

It comprises the systems and processes, cultures and values, by which local government bodies are directed and controlled and through which they 
account to, engage with and where appropriate, lead their communities.  

The annual governance statement is a public report by the Council on the extent to which it complies with its own local governance code, including how 
it has monitored the effectiveness of its governance arrangements in the year, and on any planned changes in the coming period.

Audit opinion

On completion of the audit of the financial statements, I must give my opinion on the financial statements, including:  
 whether they give a true and fair view of the financial position of the audited body and its spending and income for the year in question; and
 whether they have been prepared properly, following the relevant accounting rules.   

Opinion

If I agree that the financial statements give a true and fair view, I issue an unqualified opinion. I issue a qualified opinion if: 
 I find the statements do not give a true and fair view; or 
 I cannot confirm that the statements give a true and fair view. 

Value for money conclusion 

The auditor’s conclusion on whether the audited body has put in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its 
use of resources based on criteria specified by the Audit Commission.  

If I find that the audited body had adequate arrangements, I issue an unqualified conclusion. If I find that it did not, I issue a qualified conclusion 

P
age 289



Audit Commission Annual Audit Letter 14

.

P
age 290



If you require a copy of this document in an alternative format or in a language other than English, please call:  
0844 798 7070

© Audit Commission 2011. 
Design and production by the Audit Commission Publishing Team. 
Image copyright © Audit Commission. 

The Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies issued by the Audit Commission explains the respective responsibilities of auditors 
and of the audited body. Reports prepared by appointed auditors are addressed to non-executive directors, members or officers. They are prepared for 
the sole use of the audited body. Auditors accept no responsibility to: 

 any director/member or officer in their individual capacity; or  
 any third party.  

www.audit-commission.gov.uk         December
2011

P
age 291



P
age 292

T
his page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 10Page 293
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 298

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 299
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 300

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 301
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 302

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 303
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 304

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 11Page 305
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 314

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 315
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 348

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 349
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 360

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 361
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 376

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 377
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 378

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 12Page 379
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 388

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 13Page 389
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 392

This page is intentionally left blank



P
age 393

B
y virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2 of P

art 1 of S
chedule 12A

of the Local G
overnm

ent A
ct 1972.

D
ocum

ent is R
estricted



P
age 394

T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of Previous meeting
	5 Key Dec 33 Improvements to Adults Social Care Services
	Appendix B BBR Business Case final version 220212
	Appendix C bbr summary v7 Adults Soc Care
	Appendix D1 BBR Consultation Report 22-02-12
	Appendix D1 BBR Consultation appdx2
	Appendix E EIA BBR v5

	6 Key Dec 36 Superfast Broadband Initiative
	APPENDIX B__LOCAL_BROADBAND_PLAN_V0 4

	7 Key Dec 38 Review of Local Development Scheme and Timetable
	8 Annual Audit Letter 2010/11
	Appendix - AAL 201011 CEast Council v5

	10 Key Dec 32 Pyms Lane/Minshull New Road, Crewe - Sale of Land
	Appendix 1 Land at Pyms Lane Crewe
	Appendix 2  Land at Minshull New Road Crewe
	App 3 Pyms Lane

	11 Key Dec 35 Options for Waste Treatment PFI Project
	Appendix 1 Viridor Revised Cost Proposals 21 October 2011
	Appendix 2 TandH  MM  Legal analysis of Viridor proposals Microsoft Word - 1528053_2
	Appendix 3 SKM Enviros JW300166-Critique of Viridor's Proposals for Reducing the Unitary Charge
	Appendix 4 - waste pfi project options dec 08 V1

	12 Procurement of Transfer Station Capacity in the North
	13 Workforce Change
	Appendix A ~ 050312 workforce change


